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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may be considered “forward-looking statements” as that term is defined in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The forward-looking statements contained herein are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and
other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by any such forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements that refer to projections, forecasts or other characterizations of future events or
circumstances, including any underlying assumptions. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intends,” “may,” “might,”
“plan,” “possible,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “would” and similar expressions may identify forward-looking statements, but the absence of these
words does not mean that a statement is not forward-looking. Forward-looking statements may include, for example, statements about: our future financial
performance; our plans for expansion and acquisitions; and changes in our strategy, future operations, financial position, estimated revenues, income or loss,
projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management.
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These forward-looking statements are based on current information available, and current expectations, forecasts and assumptions, and involve a number of
judgments, risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, forward-looking statements should not be relied upon as representing the Company’s views as of any subsequent
date, and we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date they were made, whether as a
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws. As a result of a number of known and unknown
risks and uncertainties, actual results or performance may be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements.

Some factors that could cause actual results to differ include, but are not limited to:

. supply chain disruptions, inflationary pressures resulting from supply chain disruptions or a tightening labor market;

. negative impacts on customer payment policies and adverse banking and governmental regulations, resulting in a potential reduction to the fair value
of our assets;

. the performance and financial viability of key suppliers, contractors, customers and financing sources;

. economic, industry, business and political conditions including their effects on governmental policy and government actions that disrupt our supply

chain or sales channels;

. fluctuations in interest rates;

. the market price for our equipment;

. collective bargaining agreements and our relationship with our union-represented employees;

. our success in identifying acquisition targets and integrating acquisitions;

. our success in expanding into and doing business in additional markets;

. our ability to raise capital at favorable terms;

. the competitive environment for our products and services;

. our ability to continue to innovate and develop new business lines;

. our ability to attract and retain key personnel, including, but not limited to, skilled technicians;

. our ability to maintain our listing on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”);

. the impact of cyber or other security threats or other disruptions to our businesses;

. our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of acquisitions or divestitures, rental fleet and other organic investments or internal reorganizations;
. federal, state and local government budget uncertainty, especially as it relates to infrastructure projects and taxation;

. currency risks and other risks associated with international operations; and

. other risks and uncertainties identified in the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this annual report on Form 10-K and other filings with the United

States ("U.S.") Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

The foregoing list of factors is not exclusive and undue reliance should not be placed upon any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
made.



PART 1

References herein to “the Company”, “Alta”, “we”, “our” or “us” mean Alta Equipment Group Inc., and its wholly owned subsidiaries, unless the context
requires otherwise.

Item 1. Business.

Overview

We own and operate one of the largest integrated equipment dealership platforms in North America. Through our branch network, we sell, rent, and provide
parts and service support for several categories of specialized equipment, including lift trucks and other material handling equipment, heavy and compact
earthmoving equipment, crushing and screening equipment, environmental processing equipment, cranes and aerial work platforms, paving and asphalt equipment,
other construction equipment and allied products. We engage in five principal business activities in these equipment categories:

(6] new and used equipment sales;
(il)  parts sales;

(iii)  repair and maintenance services;
(iv)  equipment rentals and

) rent-to-sell equipment.

Within our territories, we are primarily the exclusive distributor of new equipment and replacement parts on behalf of our Original Equipment Manufacturer
(“OEM?”) partners. We and our regional subsidiaries enjoy long-standing relationships with leading material handling and construction equipment OEMs, including
Hyster-Yale, Volvo, JCB, CNH, McCloskey and Kubota, among many others as well as master dealer rights throughout North America for environmental processing
equipment with Doppstadt and Backers, among others. We are consistently recognized by OEMs as a top dealership partner and have been identified as a nationally
recognized Hyster-Yale dealer and multi-year recipient of the Volvo Dealer of the Year award. More recently, given the Company’s successful history with
electrified fork lifts, battery charging and power generation as well as its material handling customer base, where customers typically employ large fleets of
commercial over-the-road vehicles in their day-to-day operations, we are pursuing a strategy focused on the distribution and powering of commercial electric
vehicles in the over-the-road vehicle segment. While our electromobility (“e-mobility”) business, and the industry in general, is in its early stages of development,
we believe that our first-mover advantage and expertise in this emerging market represents an exciting future growth opportunity.

We are committed to providing our customers with a best-in-class equipment dealership experience. Our customers are principally focused on equipment
reliability and uptime, and our teams of skilled technicians and commitment to service are key to establishing and maintaining long-term customer relationships,
representing a critical competitive advantage. Parts and service are also our most predictable and profitable businesses, with the dealership model structured to drive
aftermarket parts and service revenues. Through our new and used equipment sales and our sale of lightly used rental fleet, we populate our exclusive territories
with serviceable equipment. As the field population ages, we capitalize on aftermarket parts and service sales through the equipment maintenance cycle.

Products and Services

New equipment sales. We sell new material handling, construction, crushing and screening, and environmental processing equipment and are a leading dealer
for nationally recognized OEMs. Our new equipment sales generate customers for our parts sales and service operations, which grow with an expanding equipment
field population in our territories. Additionally, we provide warehouse design and build services, automated equipment installation and system integration solutions
within our Material Handling segment.

Used equipment sales. We sell used equipment, primarily sourced from equipment trade-ins and the purchase of lease return assets. Used equipment sales,
like new equipment sales, generate parts and services business for us.

Parts sales. We are the exclusive distributor of OEM parts in substantially all of our territories. Our in-house parts inventory is extensive, enabling us to
provide timely service support to our customers.

Service support. We provide maintenance and repair services for our customers’ equipment and maintain our own rental fleet. In addition to repair and
maintenance on an as needed or scheduled basis, we provide recurring maintenance services and warranty repairs for our customers.
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Equipment rentals. We rent material handling and construction equipment to our customers. We view our rental fleet as an important component of our one-
stop-shop model, and customers rely on our rental equipment to integrate into their business over the long term when flexing up their fleet capacity for a project or
when customer-owned equipment is being serviced. Our rental business also supports our rent-to-sell strategy, in which we sell equipment from our rental fleet to
customers who prefer to purchase lightly used equipment. As with new and used equipment sales, the rent-to-sell approach to the market generates parts and service
revenues as equipment is sold into our territories.

Industry Background

The industries for material handling, construction, and environmental processing equipment are driven by a broad range of economic factors and trends in
certain end markets, including, but not limited to, manufacturing, distribution and logistics activity, e-commerce, food and beverage, medical, general construction,
aggregate and mining, infrastructure, biofuel, composting, recycling and waste management. In addition, regional factors have an impact, particularly where
equipment dealerships have territorial exclusivity with OEM partners.

OEMs have pushed for consolidation in their dealership networks, and we have been and continue to be one of the few consolidators in our industry. We are
one of a very limited number of public equipment dealerships, and we believe our public profile will be a significant advantage when sourcing and competing for
acquisition targets. Furthermore, many equipment dealerships are family-owned operations, and retiring management teams have struggled to develop succession
plans. We are a recognized consolidator in the material handling and construction equipment industries, and many incumbent dealership owners have approached
our management about potential sale transactions as a result. We believe these dynamics will contribute to a consistent acquisition pipeline at attractive valuation
levels, over the long run.

Competitive Strengths
We believe the following attributes are important to our ability to compete effectively and achieve our financial objectives:

Integrated Dealership Platform Providing Full Scale Solutions to Customers. Our integrated equipment sales, service, and rental platform provides a one-
stop-shop for a highly diverse group of customers, enabling us to profitably grow our revenues over time and providing a competitive advantage over our single
channel competitors and traditional equipment rental houses, which may have difficulty expanding due to the infrastructure, training, and relationships necessary to
support a growing population of equipment in a designated territory and that typically have limited parts and service offerings. With our over 80 dealership
locations, we believe our scale will help us be the leading provider of material handling, construction, and environmental processing equipment and aftermarket
parts and service support in each of our territories.

Leading Dealer for Equipment Manufacturers. We are a leading U.S. dealer for many globally recognized material handling, construction, and
environmental processing equipment OEMs, including Hyster-Yale, Volvo, JCB, Kubota and Doppstadt. Our primary dealer agreements grant us exclusivity for new
equipment, replacement part sales, and diagnostic service software in our territories. The OEM relationships also promote our acquisition strategy, as the OEMs
prefer to partner with fewer, larger, financially stable dealerships and view us as a prominent consolidator.

Superior Parts and Services Operations Supporting Customer Relationships. We provide parts and service to our customers 24 hours a day, 365 days a year.
Our parts and service capabilities support customers in maximizing equipment uptime, which we believe is a key consideration when an equipment customer is
making a selection among competing product offerings. The aftermarket parts and service businesses provide us with a predictable, high-margin revenue source that
is relatively insulated from the typical business cycle.

Ability to Attract and Retain Skilled Technical Employees. We believe we provide best-in-class parts and service support to our customers, and the ability to
attract and retain skilled technicians is critical to aftermarket performance. We have partnered with trade and technical schools in all of our territories and these
relationships, along with our recruiting prowess, provide us with a pipeline of skilled employees. To retain employees, we offer attractive benefits, clean facilities
with the most advanced diagnostic software, modern tools and OEM parts. Above all, we view our technicians as key contributors to future success, and we accord
respect to our skilled technicians.

High-Quality Rental Fleet for Rent-to-Sell and Rent-to-Rent Programs. Equipment rental is complementary to our new and used equipment sales and is an
important component of our one-stop-shop model. Rental operations are fully aligned with our dealership strategy, as the rent-to-sell solution provides an additional
sales channel through which we are able to populate our territories with equipment and generate high-margin parts and service revenues thereafter. In addition, our
existing equipment customers rely on our rental fleet when facing short-term equipment needs and when customer equipment is being serviced.

Experienced Management Team. Our senior management team is led by Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) Ryan Greenawalt, Chief Financial Officer
(“CFO”) Anthony Colucci, Chief Operating Officer (“COQO”) Craig Brubaker and Chief Legal Officer and
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General Counsel, Jeffrey Hoover, each of whom has substantial experience in the equipment distribution industry. Our senior leadership is well known and highly
respected in the industry. Industry relationships provide a meaningful portion of our acquisition pipeline, as dealership owners frequently approach our management
team to discuss a sale. Additionally, our senior leadership team is experienced in managing our business throughout the business cycle.

Business Strategy
We employ the following business strategies:

Align with World-Class OEMs by Securing Dealership Agreements for Exclusive Territories. We contractually agree with best-in-class material handling,
construction, and environmental processing equipment OEMs to represent them exclusively in designated territories (i.e., a state or province). These exclusive
agreements allow us to take a long-term view to a given market place, build a complementary product offering which drives market share with customers and
ultimately allows us, and our OEMs, to focus on growing market share within the territory. Importantly, these agreements give us exclusive rights to purchase OEM
parts and access to OEM software which allows us to safely and effectively repair our customers equipment.

Grow the Field Population of Equipment in Our Territories and Leverage that Equipment to Grow Parts and Service Revenues. We actively populate our
territories with new and used equipment, which generates predictable, high-margin parts and service revenues. We follow this strategy with each of our acquisitions
into new territories and with new OEM partnerships, growing the field population of equipment through our new, used, and rent-to-sell sales channels upon market
entry. As a result, we expect future benefits from increasing aftermarket parts and service revenues driven by the equipment maintenance cycle.

Recruit Skilled Technicians to Expand the Parts and Service Operations. We depend on our teams of technicians to provide customers with best-in-class
parts and service support, and we have developed a multifaceted strategy to recruit skilled mechanics. We regularly hire mechanics away from independent rental or
service businesses in our markets, where a lack of access to OEM parts and diagnostic tools make servicing increasingly sophisticated equipment difficult.
Additionally, we have been successful in hiring skilled technicians from other industries, such as the automotive industry. Also, our partnerships with technical
schools and community colleges provide consistent access to new technicians. We intend to replicate this strategy as we acquire additional dealership territories.

Pursue Strategic Acquisitions. Our management team has successfully completed 16 acquisitions since 2020. We have two primary areas of focus when
pursuing acquisitions:

. Territory In-Fill. Within our existing territories, we pursue acquisitions that may provide for new OEM relationships whose equipment will
complement the existing product portfolio in a territory, new customer relationships and pools of skilled technicians. These acquisitions advance the
parts and service strategy by simultaneously increasing the field population within the existing territory and expanding the number of skilled
technicians to generate predictable, high-margin parts and service revenues.

. Territorial Expansion. Our geographic footprint has grown through acquisitions, from our original Michigan lift truck territory to a leading
equipment dealer with operations in the Midwest, New York, New England, Florida, Nevada, and the Canadian provinces of Ontario and Quebec. In
selecting additional territories for acquisition, we prioritize markets with a high density of equipment users.

Pursue Synergistic Verticals. With our existing expertise with commercial equipment dealerships, we pursue strategic opportunities to leverage our
knowledge in operating equipment dealerships to grow into other tangential verticals of commercial equipment. As an example, to leverage our prowess in e-
mobility and meet the growing demand for commercial electric vehicles within our existing territories, we entered the over-the-road vehicle dealership industry by
virtue of our partnership with Nikola and various charging and infrastructure related OEMs. Similarly, with our historic success and customer relationships in
equipment distribution for OEMs in exclusive territories, we will pursue growth opportunities in the wholesale equipment distribution sector, where we look to
contractually possess master dealer rights to distribute OEM equipment in a significant geographic territory (e.g., North America). Our 2022 acquisition of Ecoverse
Industries, LTD ("Ecoverse") represented our entrance into the wholesale equipment master distribution sector.

Customers

Our customer end markets include diversified manufacturing, food and beverage, automotive, municipal/government, education, pharmaceutical and
medical, wholesale and retail distribution, construction, agriculture, road building, mining, recycling and waste management among others. Our customers vary
from small, single machine owners to large construction contractors and leading multi-national commercial companies. In 2023, no single customer accounted for
more than 1% of our total revenues. Our top ten customers combined accounted for approximately 7% of our total revenues in 2023.
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Floor Plan Financing

New equipment inventory is primarily financed with OEM floor plan facilities with an initial promotional period that is either subsidized or interest-free.
OEMs provide this financing to enable dealers to carry equipment in anticipation of customer orders and to increase market share. In many cases we sell the
equipment before the expiration of the promotional interest period. We view floor plan financing on new equipment inventory that is less than a year old as a
component of our working capital, and do not consider floor plan financing on new equipment as part of our corporate indebtedness.

Sales and Marketing

We have organized our sales forces to be aligned around specific equipment types, which allows our sales teams to develop expertise in certain end markets
which allows them to effectively meet the demands of our diverse customer base. We have commission-based compensation programs for our sales forces.

We provide extensive training, including frequent factory and in-house training by OEM representatives regarding the operational features of our equipment
to further develop our sales team’s knowledge and experience. This training is essential, as our sales personnel regularly call on customers’ job sites and facilities,
often assisting customers in assessing their immediate and ongoing equipment needs.

We utilize a customized Enterprise Resource Planning (“ERP”) tool, called e-Emphasys, which includes a sophisticated customer relationship management
("CRM") functionality. e-Emphasys was designed specifically for equipment dealerships. We believe our ERP and its CRM functionality enhances our territory
management capabilities by increasing the productivity of our sales teams and tracking equipment service history to advance our customer support goals.

While our specialized, well-trained sales forces strengthen our customer relationships and foster customer loyalty, we also promote our business through
marketing and advertising, including industry publications and trade shows, digital marketing, direct mail campaigns, television and radio, and our website at
www.altg.com. The information contained on such websites is not a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is not deemed incorporated by reference into this
Annual report on Form 10-K or any other public filing made with the SEC. Advertising and marketing costs are expensed as incurred and for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were $10.2 million $5.4 million, and $5.5 million respectively.

Suppliers

We purchase a significant amount of equipment and parts from a large number of manufacturers with whom we have distribution agreements. We purchased
approximately 47% of our new equipment, rental fleet, and replacement parts from five major OEMs (Hyster-Yale, Kubota, JCB, Doppstadt and Volvo) during the
year ended December 31, 2023. Notably, we are the exclusive OEM replacement part distributor in substantially all our territories, allowing us to provide superior
aftermarket service support to our customers.

Information Technology ("IT'") Systems

Among other metrics, our IT systems track new, used and rental inventory and labor utilization statistics, and detailed operational and financial information.
Our integrated services platform enables us to closely monitor our performance and our business. Our point-of-sale system enables us to link all of our facilities,
permitting universal access to real-time data concerning equipment located at the individual facility locations and the rental status and maintenance history for each
piece of equipment. Our business system is a full suite of highly integrated software solutions intended to manage equipment dealership activities at all essential
levels. Real-time data and analytics provide detailed visibility to information across all functional areas, promoting proactive, data-driven decisions. Over 75 points
of integration with our OEMs have been implemented which have greatly streamlined activities in the areas of parts inventory management and pricing, warranty
claims handling, accounts payable automation, and supporting commercial credit accounts. Additional operational efficiencies are gained through our use of
integrated solutions such as electronic document management, service scheduling and technician dispatch, mobile field service, and mobile equipment inspection.
Analytics are provided through a data warehouse which is tightly integrated with the business system, providing real-time reports and key performance indicator
dashboards that are tailored to meet the specific needs of each department and region. We also have integrations for account reconciliations, consolidations,
transaction matching, and task management that support critical accounting processes such as the financial close, account reconciliations, intercompany accounting,
compliance and reporting.

Our CRM system provides sales and customer information, available rental fleet and inventory information, a quote system and other organizational tools to
assist our sales forces. We maintain an extensive customer database which allows us to monitor the status and maintenance history of our customers’ owned
equipment and enables us to more effectively provide parts and services to meet their needs. Our critical business systems are deployed across a hybrid
infrastructure, leveraging both on-premise and cloud environments to ensure resilience, scalability and optimal performance.
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Product Warranties

Product warranties for new equipment and parts are provided by our OEM partners. The term and scope of these warranties vary greatly by supplier and by
product. The OEMs pay us for repairs we perform on equipment under warranty in our territories.

Seasonality

The demand for our construction equipment tends to be lower in the winter months, and equipment rental performance will generally correlate to the levels
of current construction activities, so severe winter weather conditions typically have a negative impact on our business in our northern territories. That said, some of
the negative impact of severe winters can be mitigated given our exposure to the snow removal market and additional service work related to extreme cold
temperatures impact on our customers equipment.

Parts and services activities are less affected by changes in demand caused by seasonality, especially in our material handling segment, and are highly
predictable based on historical maintenance and service trends as equipment ages.

Competition

The equipment distribution and service industry is competitive and fragmented, with large numbers of competitors operating on a regional or local scale.
Within our territories, our competitors range from multi-location, regional operators to single-location dealers of competing equipment brands. We compete with
equipment dealers that sell other brands of equipment we do not represent or that we do not represent in a particular market. We also compete with local and
nationwide rental businesses in certain product categories.

Competition among equipment dealers is primarily based on customer service, including repair and maintenance service provided by the dealer, reputation of
the OEM and dealer, quality and design of the products, and price. In our experience, reliability and uptime are the key considerations for customers in selecting an
equipment dealer, and we believe our focus on parts and service support has helped us win and maintain customer business. While we believe a dealers service
capabilities are a primary factor in a customer's purchasing decision, price can be a key point of differentiation in selecting among competing equipment, as our
OEM partners often provide pricing flexibility and discounting in order to drive market share in their relative segments of the market.

Within substantially all our territories, we are the exclusive distributor of new equipment and replacement parts on behalf of our OEM partners. This
exclusivity affords us effectively no competition from others when selling these brands in our territories.

Environmental, Health and Safety Regulations
Environmental

Our facilities and operations are subject to various, comprehensive, and frequently changing federal, state, and local environmental and occupational health
and safety laws and regulations in the U.S and Canada. These requirements govern, among other things, the handling, storage, use and disposal of hazardous
materials and wastes and, if any, the associated cleanup of properties affected by discharges, releases, or exposure to pollutants, air quality (emissions) and
wastewater, as well as the protection of human health and safety. We currently do not anticipate an adverse effect on our business, financial condition or competitive
position as a result of our compliance with such requirements. We will continue to take necessary steps to comply with environmental requirements, but we do not
expect to incur material capital or other expenditures for environmental controls or compliance.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of our employees is an important focus at Alta. As part of our continuing goal to reduce our recordable injuries, we are committed to
regularly reinforcing the importance of our safety programs and encouraging a culture of safe work practices in all our locations. As part of our evaluation of our
management employees, we evaluate the safety records of the employees for whom they have management responsibility. We also, in the normal course of business
in connection with our OEM partners and other third parties, provide our skilled technician base with regular health and safety training based on the latest industry
protocols.

Human Capital
Employees

As of December 31, 2023, we had approximately 3,000 employees. Of these employees, approximately 1,300 are skilled technicians paid on an hourly basis
and the remainder are hourly and salaried corporate, sales, operating, and administrative personnel. We have approximately 630 employees covered by collective
bargaining agreements. We believe our relations with our employees are good, and we have never experienced a long-term work stoppage. We are committed to
fostering a diverse workforce and an inclusive environment and have instituted various initiatives to increase our diversity as it relates to recruiting and training
opportunities.



Generally, the total number of employees does not significantly fluctuate throughout the year. However, acquisition activity may increase the number of our
employees. Fluctuations in the level of our business activity could require some staffing level adjustments in response to actual or anticipated customer demand.

Talent Development and Employee Training

Our goal is to attract, develop, and retain a talented and high-performing workforce. We are committed to our employees and their development, and we
strive to create opportunities for the continual professional development of our employee base. These opportunities include continuing education and specialty
training. Our in-house recruiters and partnerships with colleges and trade schools help build relationships and recruit talent from various sources within our
territories.

Compensation and Benefits

We are committed to providing competitive compensation and benefits programs for our employees as we believe they are core to an engaged and
productive employee base. We believe our compensation programs align both individual and team contributions to promote our culture and drive our performance.
Substantially all of the Company’s employees are eligible to participate in the Company’s 401(k) and profit-sharing plan. Eligible employees may contribute a
percentage of their salary up to the Internal Revenue Service limit. The Company may contribute a discretionary percentage of the amount deferred by the
employee. Total contributions made by the Company to the 401(k) plan amounted to $5.4 million, $4.0 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In April 2022, the Company's Board of Directors adopted the 2022 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP"), which became effective upon approval by
the Company's shareholders at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders on June 9, 2022. On June 8, 2023 the Company filed Form S-8 to register 325,000 common
stock shares, the total shares reserved for the ESPP. Total contributions made by the Company to the ESPP amounted to $0.2 million for the year ended December
31, 2023.

Legal Proceedings

There is no material litigation, arbitration, or governmental proceeding currently pending against us where the potential liability is not offset by expected
insurance proceeds, or any members of our management team in their capacity as such.

Available Information

We electronically file annual reports, quarterly reports, proxy statements and other reports and information statements with the SEC. We make our annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to these reports, as well as our other SEC filings, available on
our website, investors.altg.com, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished pursuant to section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Exchange Act. The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file
electronically with the SEC and the address of that site is http://www.sec.gov.

Our principal executive offices are located at 13211 Merriman Road, Livonia, Michigan 48150, and our telephone number is (248) 449-6700. We also make
available on our website copies of materials regarding our corporate governance policies and practices, including our Corporate Governance Guidelines; our Code
of Business Conduct and Ethics; and the charters relating to the committees of our Board of Directors.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Risks Related to the Company’s Business and Industry

The Company'’s business could be adversely affected by declines in construction, material handling and environmental processing activities, or a downturn in
the economy in general, which could lead to decreased demand for equipment, depressed equipment rental rates and lower sales prices, resulting in a decline in
the Company’s revenues, gross margins and operating results.

The Company’s equipment is principally used in connection with construction, material handling, and environmental processing activities. Consequently, a
downturn in these activities, or the economy in general, may lead to a decrease in the demand for equipment and services or depress rental rates and the sales prices
for the Company’s replacement parts and equipment. The Company’s business may also be negatively impacted, either temporarily or long-term, by:

. a reduction in spending levels by our customers;
. the lack of availability of credit for our customers;
. adverse changes in federal, state, and local government infrastructure spending and taxation;
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. excess fleet in the equipment markets we participate in;

. our inability to pass along operating cost increases related to inflation to customers;

. an increase in costs generally, including the cost of inputs for our customers' operations, as a result of inflation or other factors;
. adverse weather conditions or natural disasters which may affect a particular region;

. a pandemic or similar national or global health crisis;

. a labor work stoppage or shortage of skilled technicians;

. a prolonged shutdown of the U.S. or local government;

. an increase in interest rates;

. adverse foreign currency fluctuations;

. terrorism, war or hostilities involving the U.S. or Canada;

. failure to execute on strategic plans generally, including those associated with commercial electric vehicle business model;
. disruptions to global supply chains, specifically our major OEM partner supply chains; or

. other unforeseen or catastrophic events.

The Company'’s inability to forecast trends accurately may adversely impact the Company’s business and financial condition.

An economic downturn or economic uncertainty makes it difficult for the Company to forecast trends, which may have an adverse impact on the Company’s
business and financial condition. Uncertainty regarding future equipment product demand could cause the Company to maintain excess equipment inventory and
increase the Company’s equipment inventory carrying costs. Alternatively, this forecasting difficulty could cause a shortage of equipment for sale or rental that
could result in an inability to satisfy demand for the Company’s products and a loss of market share.

The Company’s revenues and operating results may fluctuate, which could result in a decline in the Company'’s profitability and make it more difficult for the
Company to grow our business.

The Company’s revenues and operating results may vary from quarter to quarter and by season. Periods of decline could result in an overall decline in
profitability and make it more difficult for the Company to make payments on our indebtedness and grow the Company’s business. We expect the Company’s
quarterly results to fluctuate in the future due to a number of factors, including:

. general economic conditions in the markets where we operate;

. the cyclical and seasonal nature of the Company’s customers’ business and our sales and rental patterns, particularly the Company’s construction
customers;

. the weather conditions, specifically in our northern markets;

. the timeliness of OEM equipment deliveries;

. changes in the size of the Company’s rental fleet, the rate at which we rent our fleet, and the price at which we sell equipment from our fleet;

. changes in corporate or government spending for commercial and infrastructure projects;

. changes in interest rates and related changes in the Company’s interest expense and debt service obligations;

. changes or fluctuations in skilled technician headcount levels;

. timing of technician non-billable hours primarily associated with holiday, paid time off and training programs;

. the effectiveness of integrating acquired businesses and new start-up locations; and

. timing of acquisitions and new location openings and related costs.

In addition, the Company incurs various costs when integrating newly acquired businesses or opening new start-up locations, and the profitability of a new
location is generally expected to be lower in the initial months of operation.



The Company is subject to competition, which may have an adverse effect on the Company’s business by reducing the Company'’s ability to increase or maintain
revenues or profitability.

The equipment dealership and rental industries are highly competitive and fragmented. Many of the markets in which the Company operates are served by a
large number of competitors, ranging from national and multi-regional equipment dealerships and rental companies to small, independent businesses with a limited
number of locations. Some of the Company’s competitors have significantly greater financial, marketing, and other resources than the Company does, and may be
able to reduce rental rates or sales prices in the market, which could negatively impact our business. The Company may encounter increased competition from
existing competitors or new market entrants in the future which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of
operations.

The Company is subject to the ability of our OEMs to deliver cost competitive equipment and parts timely.

To the extent the cost of our OEMs equipment is not competitive versus our competition’s equipment, the Company could suffer lost sales and market share
over time. This loss of market share would ultimately reduce our serviceable field population of equipment which yields revenues in our high-margin product
support departments. Additionally, to the extent our OEMs replacement parts are not cost competitive versus the competition this could impact the total cost of
ownership of a piece of equipment from a customer perspective and ultimately lead to lost sales for the Company.

The Company purchases a significant amount of our equipment from a limited number of manufacturers. Termination of one or more of the Company’s
relationships with any of those manufacturers could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business.

The Company purchases most of our sales and rental equipment, and aftermarket parts from leading, internationally known OEMs. Approximately 47% of
the Company’s equipment sales and aftermarket parts are purchased from five major manufacturers (Hyster-Yale, Kubota, JCB, Doppstadt and Volvo). Although the
Company believes we have alternative sources of supply for equipment sales and aftermarket parts we purchase in each of our core product categories, termination
of one or more of the Company’s relationships with any of these major suppliers could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and
results of operations if we were unable to obtain an adequate replacement supplier.

The Company is dependent upon the success and continued viability of our OEM suppliers for which we are distributors.

The success of our business is, to a certain degree, dependent on our OEMs in several key respects. First, we rely on our various OEMs for our new
equipment and replacement parts inventory. Our ability to sell new equipment is dependent on an OEM’s ability to design, manufacture, and allocate to our branch
locations an attractive, high-quality, and desirable product mix at the right time and at the right price in order to satisfy customer demand. Second, some of the
Company's OEMs support their dealers by providing direct floor plan lending for new, used and rental equipment through related-party OEM captive finance
companies. To the extent an OEMs commercial business suffers it could have an adverse effect on its related OEM captive finance company, and vice versa. Third,
manufacturers provide product warranties and, in some cases, service contracts to customers. Our technicians perform warranty and service contract work for
equipment under manufacturer product warranties and service contracts, and direct bill the manufacturer as opposed to invoicing the customer. At any particular
time, we have significant receivables from manufacturers for warranty and service work performed for customers. In addition, we rely on manufacturers to varying
extents for training, product brochures and point of sale materials, and other items for our operation. Our business, results of operations, and financial condition
could be adversely affected as a result of any event that has an adverse effect on our equipment OEMs.

Some of the Company’s suppliers of new equipment and aftermarket parts may appoint additional distributors, sell directly, or unilaterally terminate the
Company'’s distribution agreements, which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business due to a reduction of, or inability to increase, the
Company’s revenues.

The Company is a distributor of new equipment and parts supplied by leading, nationally recognized suppliers. In certain instances, under the Company’s
distribution agreements with these suppliers, manufacturers may generally retain the right to appoint additional dealers and sell directly to national accounts and
government agencies. In these instances, the suppliers may unilaterally terminate distribution agreements with the Company at any time without cause. Any such
actions could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The cost of new equipment the Company sells or purchases for use in our rental fleet may increase and, in some cases, the Company may not be able to procure
new equipment on a timely basis due to supplier constraints.

The cost of new equipment from manufacturers that the Company sells or purchases for use in our rental fleet may increase as a result of increased raw
material costs, including increases in the cost of steel which is a primary material used in most of this equipment, or due to increased regulatory requirements, such
as those related to taxes, tariffs or emissions. These increases could materially impact the Company’s financial condition and results of operations in future periods
if the Company is not able to pass such



cost increases through to the Company’s customers. Similarly, any increase in the cost of parts the Company purchases for resale could materially impact the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations in future periods if the Company is not able to pass such cost increases through to the Company’s
customers.

The Company’s rental fleet is subject to market value risk upon disposition.

The market value of any given piece of rental equipment could be less than its depreciated value at the time it is sold. The market value of used rental
equipment depends on several factors including: the market price for new equipment of a like kind; wear and tear on the equipment relative to its age; worldwide
and domestic demands for used equipment; the supply of used equipment on the market; and general economic conditions. Any significant decline in the selling
prices for used equipment could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

The Company incurs maintenance and repair costs associated with our rental fleet equipment that could have an adverse effect on our business in the event
these costs are greater than anticipated.

As the Company’s fleet of rental equipment ages, the cost of maintaining such equipment generally increases, if not replaced within a certain period of time.
Determining the optimal age for the Company’s rental fleet equipment is based on subjective estimates made by the Company’s management team. The Company’s
future operating results could be adversely affected because the Company’s maintenance and repair costs on our rental fleet may be higher than anticipated.

Security breaches and other disruptions in the Company’s IT systems, including the Company’s ERP system, could limit the Company’s capacity to effectively
monitor and control our operations, compromise ours or our employees', customers’ and suppliers’ confidential information, or otherwise adversely affect the
Company’s operating results or business reputation.

The Company’s IT systems, some of which are managed by third parties, facilitate the Company’s ability to monitor and control the Company’s operations
and adjust to changing market conditions, including processing, transmitting, storing, managing, and supporting a variety of business processes, activities, and
information. Further, as the Company pursues our strategy to grow through acquisitions and pursue new initiatives that require IT solutions, we are expanding our
information technologies, resulting in a larger technological presence and corresponding exposure to cybersecurity risk, including emerging risks posed by artificial
intelligence. Any disruption in any of these systems, including the Company’s customer management system, or the failure of any of these systems to operate as
expected could, depending on the magnitude of the problem, adversely affect the Company’s operating results by limiting the Company’s capacity to effectively
monitor and control the Company’s operations and adjust to changing market conditions.

The Company collects and stores sensitive data, including proprietary business information and the proprietary business information of the Company’s
customers and suppliers, in data centers and on IT networks, including cloud-based networks. The secure operation of these IT networks and the processing and
maintenance of this information is critical to the Company’s business operations and strategy. Despite security measures and business continuity plans, the
Company’s IT networks and infrastructure may be vulnerable to damage, disruptions or shutdowns due to attacks by cyber criminals, breaches due to employee
error or malfeasance or other disruptions during the process of upgrading or replacing computer software or hardware, power outages, computer viruses,
telecommunication or utility failures, terrorist acts, natural disasters or other catastrophic events. The growing use and rapid evolution of technology, including
mobile devices, has heightened the risk of unintentional data breaches or leaks. The occurrence of any of these events could compromise the Company’s networks,
and the information stored there could be accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. In addition, the Company may need to invest additional resources to protect
the security of the Company’s systems or to comply with evolving privacy, data security, cybersecurity, and data protection laws applicable to the Company’s
business.

Any failure to effectively prevent, detect, and/or recover from any such access, disclosure or other loss of information, or to comply with any such current or
future law related thereto, could result in legal claims or proceedings, liability or regulatory penalties under laws protecting the privacy of personal information,
disrupt operations, and damage the Company’s reputation, which could adversely affect the Company’s business.

Fluctuations in fuel costs or reduced supplies of fuel could harm the Company’s business.

The Company could be adversely affected by limitations on fuel supplies or significant increases in fuel prices that result in higher costs related to the
Company’s field service fleet and for transporting equipment from one location to another. A significant or protracted disruption of fuel supplies could have an
adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.
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The Company is dependent on key personnel. A loss of key personnel could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business which could result in a decline in
the Company'’s revenues and profitability.

The Company’s success is dependent, in part, on the experience and skills of the Company’s management team. Competition for top management talent
within the Company’s industry is generally significant. If the Company is unable to fill and keep filled all of the Company’s senior management positions, or if the
Company loses the services of any key member of the Company’s senior management team and is unable to find a suitable replacement in a timely manner, the
Company may be challenged to effectively manage our business and execute our strategy.

The Company previously identified one material weakness in our internal controls related to ineffective controls over the sales process. If we fail to maintain an
effective system of internal control in the future, losses of investor confidence and an adverse impact on our stock price could result.

As disclosed in Part II, Item 9A, our Annual Report on Form 10-K as of December 31, 2022, management previously identified one material weakness in
internal controls. There were ineffective controls over the sales process, including proper review and authorization of pricing and discounts, work orders, sales
agreements, and rental contracts, which in the aggregate constituted a material weakness. Throughout 2023, the Company implemented measures to remediate the
ineffective controls then completed the testing of the design and operating effectiveness of the controls. Management has determined the controls are adequately
designed and operating effectively and consider this material weakness identified in the prior year to be remediated as of December 31, 2023.

If we are unable to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures, our ability to record, process and report
financial information accurately, and to prepare financial statements within required time periods could be adversely affected, which could subject us to litigation or
investigations requiring management resources and payment of legal and other expenses, negatively affect investor confidence in our financial statements and
adversely impact our stock price.

If the Company fails to maintain an effective system of internal controls, the Company may not be able to accurately report financial results or prevent fraud.

Effective internal controls are necessary to provide reliable financial reports and to assist in the effective prevention of fraud. Any inability to provide
reliable financial reports or prevent fraud could harm the Company’s business. If the Company fails to maintain the adequacy of our internal controls, as such
standards are modified, supplemented or amended from time to time, the Company could be subject to regulatory scrutiny, civil or criminal penalties or stockholder
litigation.

In addition, failure to maintain effective internal controls could result in financial statements that do not accurately reflect the Company’s financial condition
or results of operations. There can be no assurance the Company will be able to maintain a system of internal controls that fully complies with the requirements of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or that the Company’s management and independent registered public accounting firm will conclude the Company’s internal controls are
effective.

Labor disputes could disrupt the Company’s ability to serve our customers and/or lead to higher labor costs.

The Company has approximately 630 employees who are covered by a collective bargaining agreement and approximately 2,370 employees who are not
represented by unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. Various unions periodically seek to organize certain departments and/or locations of the
Company’s non-union employees. Union organizing efforts or collective bargaining negotiations could potentially lead to work stoppages, strikes and/or slowdowns
by certain employees of the Company, which could adversely affect the Company’s ability to serve our customers. Further, the inability to reach a feasible
agreement could lead to the exit of region, business line or segment which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Lastly, settlement of actual or
threatened labor disputes or an increase in the number of the Company’s employees covered by collective bargaining agreements could have adverse effects on the
Company’s labor costs, productivity and business flexibility.

Increases in healthcare, pension and other costs under the Company’s benefit plans could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We provide single employer and multiemployer health, defined benefit pension and defined contribution benefits to many of our employees. The costs of
such benefits continue to increase, and the extent of any increase depends on a number of different factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors
include governmental regulations such as The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, which resulted in changes to the U.S. healthcare system and impose
mandatory types of coverage, reporting and other requirements; return on plan assets; changes in actuarial valuations, estimates, or assumptions used to determine
our benefit obligations for certain benefit plans, which require the use of significant estimates, including the discount rate, expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets, mortality rates and the rates of increase in compensation and healthcare costs; for multiemployer plans, the outcome of collective bargaining and actions
taken by trustees who manage the plans; and potential changes to applicable legislation or regulation.
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The Company has various health plans that cover eligible employees, including a self-insured group health plan, workers compensation, and auto coverage
which contain certain stop-loss provisions. While we endeavor to purchase insurance coverage appropriate to our risk assessment, we are unable to predict with
certainty the frequency, nature or magnitude of claims. Our business may be adversely impacted if our insurance proves to be inadequate. In addition, claims
associated with risks we have retained through our self-insurance may exceed our recorded liabilities which could negatively impact future earnings. Accrued health
insurance for both known claims and an estimated amount of claims incurred but not reported was $3.1 million and $1.8 million, as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively. Also, if there are significant increases in healthcare costs, the premiums paid by the Company could adversely affect the Company's financial
condition and results of operations. Health benefit plan expenses, including benefits paid and insurance premiums, totaled approximately $29.9 million, $25.6
million, and $21.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. If we are unable to control these benefits and costs, we may
experience increased operating costs, which may adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

The Company may not be able to identify or complete transactions with attractive acquisition candidates. Future acquisitions may result in significant
transaction expenses, and the Company may experience integration and consolidation risks.

An important element of the Company’s growth strategy is to selectively pursue, on an opportunistic basis, acquisitions of additional businesses, in particular
companies that complement the Company’s existing business and footprint. The success of this element of the Company’s growth strategy depends, in part, on
selecting strategic acquisition candidates at attractive prices and effectively integrating their businesses into the Company’s own, including with respect to financial
reporting and regulatory matters. The Company cannot assure you we will be able to identify attractive acquisition candidates or complete the acquisition of any
identified candidates at favorable prices or upon advantageous terms and conditions.

The Company may not have sufficient management, financial, and other resources to integrate and consolidate any future acquisitions. Any significant
diversion of management’s attention or any major difficulties encountered in the integration of the businesses the Company acquires could have an adverse effect on
the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations, which could decrease the Company’s profitability and make it more difficult for the Company
to grow. Among other things, these integration risks could include:

. the loss of key employees;

. disruption of operations and business;

. retention or transition of existing customers and vendors;

. integration of corporate cultures and maintenance of employee morale;

. inability to maintain and increase competitive presence;

. customers and revenue losses;

. inconsistencies in standards, control procedures, and policies;

. problems with the assimilation of new operations, sites or personnel, which could divert resources from the Company’s regular operations;
. impairment of goodwill or other acquisition-related intangible assets;

. integration of financial reporting, treasury, and regulatory reporting functions; and/or
. potential unknown liabilities.

In addition, general economic conditions or unfavorable capital and credit markets could affect the timing and extent to which the Company can successfully
acquire or integrate new businesses, which could limit the Company’s revenues and profitability and make it more difficult for the Company to grow.

The Company may not be able to facilitate our growth strategy by identifying and opening start-up locations, which could limit the Company’s revenues and
profitability.

An element of the Company’s growth strategy is to selectively identify and implement start-up locations in order to add new customers. The success of this
element of the Company’s growth strategy depends, in part, on identifying strategic start-up locations. The Company cannot be sure we will be able to identify
attractive start-up locations and opening start-up locations may involve significant costs and limit the Company’s ability to expand our operations.
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The Company may not have sufficient management, financial, and other resources to successfully operate new locations. Any significant diversion of
management’s attention or any major difficulties encountered in the locations the Company opens in the future could have an adverse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations, which could decrease the Company’s profitability and make it more difficult for the Company to grow.

The Company may not be able to successfully or profitably launch our commercial electric vehicle and hydrogen related businesses.

With our existing expertise in electro-mobility, we have elected to pursue the strategic opportunity to leverage our knowledge to meet the growing demand
for commercial electric vehicles and deliver world-class service to commercial electric vehicle customers within our existing territories. Accordingly, the Company
has an agreement with Nikola Corporation to become the authorized dealer to sell and service Nikola medium and long-haul class 8 electric vehicle trucks in the
New York, New Jersey, eastern Pennsylvania, New England, Florida, Michigan and Illinois markets. This strategic opportunity requires us to devote certain
resources to it, including the time and attention of management. Failure to execute on this plan or a failure of the Company, or Nikola, to successfully capitalize on
the transition of long-haul trucking to battery electric and fuel cell powered vehicles could cause a diversion of management’s attention and have an adverse effect
on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations, which could decrease the Company’s profitability and make it more difficult for the
Company to grow. In an effort related to accelerating the adoption of zero- emissions commercial electric vehicles and lift trucks, the Company is also in the process
of investing in a hydrogen gas production plant, as compressed hydrogen gas powers hydrogen fuel cells for several of our current lift truck customers. Hydrogen
gas will also power Nikola’s fuel cell electric vehicle in the future. To the extent we are unable to execute on our plan to produce and sell hydrogen gas to our
customers, or the adoption of hydrogen consuming vehicles and lift trucks in the marketplace does not develop, it could have an adverse effect on the Company’s
profitability and make it more difficult for the Company to grow.

If we determine our goodwill or other intangible assets have become impaired, we may incur impairment charges which would negatively impact our operating
results.

At December 31, 2023, we had $76.7 million of goodwill and $66.3 million of other intangible assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. Goodwill
represents the excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired in business combinations. We assess potential impairment of our goodwill and other
intangible assets at least annually. Impairment may result from significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets, negative industry or economic trends,
and/or significant underperformance relative to historic or projected operating results. For a discussion of our goodwill and long-lived assets impairment testing, see
“Evaluation of Goodwill Impairment” and "Evaluation of Long-lived Asset Impairment (excluding goodwill)" in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.

Financial Risks and Risks Related to our Indebtedness and Liquidity

The Company’s substantial indebtedness could adversely affect the Company'’s financial condition.

The Company has, and will continue to have, a significant amount of indebtedness outstanding. The Company’s indebtedness may result in important
consequences, such as:

. increasing the Company’s vulnerability to general adverse economic, industry, and competitive conditions;

. requiring the Company to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the
availability of our cash flows to fund working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, and other general corporate purposes;

. limiting the Company’s flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the Company’s business and the industry in which we operate;

. making it more difficult to refinance or pay our debts as they become due during adverse economic, financial market, or industry conditions;

. placing the Company at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

. limiting the Company’s ability to obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or general corporate purposes.

The Company expects to use cash flow from operations and borrowings under our credit facilities to meet our current and future financial obligations,
including funding our operations, service debt, and capital expenditures. The Company’s business may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations in the
future, which could result in the Company being unable to repay indebtedness or to fund other liquidity needs.
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The Company may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to service all of the Company’s indebtedness and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy
our obligations under our indebtedness, which may not be successful.

The Company’s ability to make scheduled debt payments depends on our financial and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and
competitive conditions and to certain financial, business, economic, legislative, regulatory and other factors beyond the Company’s control. The Company cannot
make assurances we will maintain a level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay scheduled payments of principal and interest on the
Company’s indebtedness. In the absence of adequate operating performance, the Company could face substantial liquidity problems and might be required to
dispose of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. The Company may not be able to consummate those dispositions, and any
proceeds we do receive from a disposition may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations then due.

If the Company’s cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, the Company may be forced to reduce or delay
business activities and capital expenditures, sell assets or operations, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness. The
Company cannot make any assurances we will be able to accomplish any of these alternatives on a timely basis or on satisfactory terms or at all, or that these
actions would enable us to continue to satisfy our capital requirements. In addition, our existing debt agreements, as well as any future debt agreements, contain or
may contain restrictive covenants, which may prohibit us from adopting any of these alternatives. Our failure to comply with these covenants could result in an
event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of all our debt.

The agreements governing credit facilities may restrict the Company’s business and our ability to engage in certain corporate and financial transactions.

The agreements governing the credit facilities contain certain covenants that, among other things, may restrict or limit the Company and its subsidiaries’
ability to:

. incur more debt;

. pay dividends (including dividends on preferred and common stock) and make distributions;
. make acquisitions or investments;

. repurchase stock;

. create liens;

. enter into transactions with affiliates;

. enter into sale and lease-back transactions;

. merge or consolidate; and

. transfer and sell assets.

Events beyond the Company’s control may also affect our ability to comply with other provisions governing the Company’s credit facilities. The Company’s
failure to comply with obligations under the agreements may result in an event of default. A default, if not cured or waived, may permit acceleration of this
indebtedness and the Company’s other indebtedness. The Company may not be able to remedy these defaults. If the Company’s indebtedness is accelerated, we may
not have sufficient funds available to pay the accelerated indebtedness and may not have the ability to refinance the accelerated indebtedness on terms favorable to
the Company or at all.

The Company'’s business could be adversely affected if we are unable to obtain additional capital as required and could result in a decrease in the Company’s
revenues and profitability. In addition, the Company'’s inability to refinance our indebtedness on favorable terms, or at all, could adversely affect the Company’s
liquidity and our ongoing results of operations.

The cash the Company generates from our business, together with cash we may borrow, if credit is available, may not be sufficient to fund the Company’s
capital requirements. The Company may require additional financing to obtain capital for, among other purposes, purchasing equipment, completing acquisitions,
establishing new locations and to repay or refinance existing indebtedness. Any additional indebtedness the Company incurs will make us more vulnerable to
economic downturns and limit the Company’s ability to withstand competitive pressures. Moreover, the Company may not be able to obtain additional capital on
acceptable terms, if at all. If we are unable to obtain sufficient additional financing in the future, the Company’s business could be adversely affected.

In addition, prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of refinancing could increase the Company’s interest expense. A refinancing of the
Company’s indebtedness could also require us to comply with more onerous covenants and further restrict the Company’s business operations. The Company’s
inability to refinance the Company’s indebtedness or to do so upon attractive terms
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could materially and adversely affect the Company’s business prospects, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows, and make us vulnerable to adverse
industry and general economic conditions.

Unfavorable conditions or disruptions in the capital and credit markets may adversely impact business conditions and the availability of credit.

Disruptions in the global capital and credit markets as a result of an economic downturn, economic uncertainty, changing or increased regulation, reduced
alternatives or failures of significant financial institutions could adversely affect the Company’s customers’ ability to access capital and could adversely affect the
Company’s access to liquidity needed to fund business operations in the future. Additionally, unfavorable financial market conditions may depress demand for the
Company’s products and services and/or make it difficult for the Company’s customers to obtain financing and credit on reasonable terms. Unfavorable financial
market conditions also may cause more of the Company’s customers to be unable to meet their payment obligations to the Company, increasing delinquencies and
credit losses. If the Company is unable to manage credit risk or customer risk adequately, the Company’s credit losses could increase above historical levels and the
Company’s operating results would be adversely affected. The Company’s suppliers may also be adversely impacted by unfavorable capital and credit markets,
causing disruption or delay of product availability or their competitiveness in the market overall. All of these events could negatively impact the Company’s
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Risk Related to Our Series A Preferred Stock and Depositary Shares

The Series A Preferred Stock and the depositary shares rank junior to all our indebtedness and other liabilities and are effectively junior to all indebtedness and
other liabilities of our subsidiaries.

In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our affairs, our assets will be available to pay obligations on the Series A Preferred
Stock only after all our indebtedness and other liabilities have been paid. The rights of holders of the Series A Preferred Stock to participate in the distribution of our
assets will rank junior to the priority claims of our current and future creditors and any future series or class of preferred stock we may issue that ranks senior to the
Series A Preferred Stock. In addition, the Series A Preferred Stock effectively ranks junior to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (as well as any
preferred equity interests held by others) of our existing subsidiaries and any future subsidiaries. Our existing subsidiaries are, and any future subsidiaries would be,
separate legal entities and have no legal obligation to pay any amounts with respect to dividends due on the Series A Preferred Stock. If we are forced to liquidate
our assets to pay our creditors, we may not have sufficient assets to pay amounts due on any or all of the Series A Preferred Stock then outstanding. We and our
subsidiaries have incurred and may in the future incur substantial amounts of debt and other obligations that will rank senior to the Series A Preferred Stock. We
may incur additional indebtedness and become more highly leveraged in the future, which could harm our financial position and potentially limit our cash available
to pay dividends. As a result, we may not have sufficient funds remaining to satisfy our dividend obligations relating to our Series A Preferred Stock if we incur
additional indebtedness. In addition, our existing credit arrangements include events of default which could result in acceleration of such indebtedness upon the
occurrence of certain events, including failure to meet certain financial covenants.

We may not be able to pay dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock if we have insufficient cash or available ‘surplus’ as defined under Delaware law to make
such dividend payments.

Our ability to pay cash dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock requires us to have either net profits or positive net assets (total assets less total liabilities),
and that we have sufficient working capital in order to be able to pay our debts as they become due in the usual course of business. Our ability to pay dividends may
be impaired by a number of factors, including the other risks identified herein. Also, our payment of dividends depends upon our financial condition and other
factors as our Board of Directors may deem relevant from time to time. Our businesses may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations or future borrowings
may not be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to fund our liquidity needs and pay dividends on the Series A Preferred Stock.

Our depositary shares representing interests in the Series A Preferred Stock have extremely limited voting rights.

The voting rights of holders of our depositary shares are limited. Our common stock is the only class of our securities that carries full voting rights. Voting
rights for holders of depositary shares exist primarily with respect to the ability to elect (together with the holders of other outstanding series of our preferred stock,
or depositary shares representing interests in our preferred stock, or additional series of preferred stock we may issue in the future and upon which similar voting
rights have been or are in the future conferred and are exercisable) two additional directors to our Board of Directors in the event six quarterly dividends (whether or
not declared or consecutive) payable on the Series A Preferred Stock are in arrears, and with respect to voting on amendments to our articles of incorporation or
certificate of designation (in some cases voting together with the holders of other outstanding series of our preferred stock as a single class) that adversely affect the
rights of the holders of depositary shares representing interests in the Series A Preferred Stock (and other series of preferred stock, as applicable) or create additional
classes or series of our stock that are senior
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to the Series A Preferred Stock, provided that in any event adequate provision for redemption has not been made. Other than the limited circumstances included in
the certificate of designations for the Series A Preferred Stock and the agreement creating the depositary shares, holders of depositary shares will not have any
voting rights.

Legal and Regulatory Risks Related to the Company’s Operations

The Company is exposed to various risks related to legal proceedings or claims that could adversely affect the Company’s operating results. The nature of the
Company’s business exposes us to various liability claims, which may exceed the level of the Company’s insurance coverage resulting in the Company not being
fully protected.

The Company is a party to lawsuits in the normal course of business. Litigation in general can be expensive, lengthy, and disruptive to normal business
operations. Moreover, the results of complex legal proceedings are difficult to predict. Responding to lawsuits brought against the Company, or legal actions that the
Company may initiate, can often be expensive and time-consuming. Unfavorable outcomes from these claims and/or lawsuits could adversely affect the Company’s
business, results of operations and financial condition, and the Company could incur substantial monetary liability and/or be required to change our business
practices.

The Company’s business exposes us to claims for personal injury, death or property damage resulting from the use of the equipment we rent or sell and from
injuries caused in motor vehicle accidents in which the Company’s delivery and service personnel are involved and other employee related matters. Additionally, the
Company could be subject to potential litigation associated with compliance with various laws and governmental regulations at the federal, state or local levels,
such as those relating to the protection of persons with disabilities, employment, health, safety, security and other regulations under which the Company operates.

The Company carries comprehensive insurance, subject to deductibles, at levels we believe are sufficient to cover existing and future claims made during the
respective policy periods. However, the Company may be exposed to multiple claims, and, as a result, could incur significant out-of-pocket costs before reaching
the deductible amount which could adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the cost of such insurance policies may
increase significantly upon renewal of those policies as a result of general rate increases for the type of insurance the Company carries as well as the Company’s
historical experience and experience in the Company’s industry. Although the Company has not experienced any material losses that were not covered by insurance,
the Company’s existing or future claims may exceed the coverage level of the Company’s insurance, and such insurance may not continue to be available on
economically reasonable terms, or at all. If the Company is required to pay significantly higher premiums for insurance, is not able to maintain insurance coverage
at affordable rates or if we must pay amounts in excess of claims covered by the Company’s insurance, the Company could experience higher costs that could
adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations.

The Company has operations throughout the U.S. and Canada and purchases capital goods from Europe which exposes us to multiple international, federal,
state and local regulations. Changes in applicable law, regulations or requirements, or the Company’s material failure to comply with any of them, can increase
the Company’s costs and have other negative impacts on the Company’s business.

The Company’s 76 branch locations in the U.S. are located in 15 different states, which exposes us to different federal, state, and local regulations and
taxation. The Company also has seven locations throughout Canada and acquires inventory from Europe which exposes us to foreign regulations and taxation as
well. These laws and requirements address multiple aspects of the Company’s operations, such as worker safety, consumer rights, privacy, employee benefits,
taxation, securities law compliance and more, and can often have different requirements in different jurisdictions. Changes in these requirements, or any material
failure by the Company to comply with them, could increase the Company’s costs, affect our reputation, limit our business, consume management’s time and
attention or otherwise generally impact our operations and financial results in adverse ways.

The Company could be adversely affected by environmental and safety requirements which could force us to use significant capital resources, increase
operational costs and/or may subject us to unanticipated liabilities.

The Company’s operations, like those of other companies engaged in similar businesses, require the handling, use, storage, and disposal of certain regulated
materials. As a result, the Company is subject to the requirements of federal, state, and local environmental and occupational health and safety laws and regulations.
The Company is subject to potentially significant civil or criminal fines or penalties if we fail to comply with any of these requirements. The Company has made,
and will continue to make, capital and other expenditures in order to comply with these laws and regulations, but the requirements of these laws and regulations are
complex, change frequently, and could become more stringent in the future. It is possible that these requirements will change or that liabilities will arise in the future
in a manner that could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Environmental laws also impose obligations and liability for the cleanup of properties affected by hazardous substance spills or releases. These liabilities can
be imposed on the parties generating or disposing of such substances or the operator of the affected property, often without regard to whether the owner or operator
knew of, or was responsible for, the presence of hazardous substances. Accordingly, the Company may become liable, either contractually or by operation of law,
for remediation costs even if a contaminated property is not currently owned or operated by the Company, or if the contamination was caused by third parties during
or prior to the Company’s ownership or operation of the property. Given the nature of the Company’s operations (which involve the use of batteries, petroleum
products, solvents and other hazardous substances for fueling and maintaining the Company’s equipment and vehicles), there can be no assurance that prior site
assessments or investigations have identified all potential instances of soil or groundwater contamination.

In the future, international, federal, state, or local governments could enact new or more stringent laws or issue new or more stringent regulations concerning
environmental and worker health and safety matters or effect a change in their enforcement of existing laws or regulations, that could affect our operations. There
can be no assurance that we, or various environmental regulatory agencies, will not discover previously unknown environmental non-compliance or contamination,
for which we could be held liable. It is possible that changes in environmental and worker health and safety laws or liabilities from newly discovered non-
compliance or contamination could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C. Cybersecurity.
Governance

Governance and oversight of cybersecurity risks and strategies form a core component of our risk management framework. Recognizing the critical
importance of cybersecurity in protecting our operations and preserving shareholder value, we have established a governance structure that emphasizes proactive
risk identification, management, and mitigation across the entirety of our organization.

Central to our governance approach is the active involvement of our Audit Committee, which plays a vital role in overseeing the Company's cybersecurity
strategy. Alta's Audit Committee is a subset of our Board of Directors, which maintains oversight of our strategic direction regarding cybersecurity.

Key to the Audit Committee's effectiveness is its regular engagement with our cybersecurity team, as further described below, a practice that provides direct
communication and alignment on cybersecurity matters. During these critical meetings, several pivotal areas are reviewed to assess the adequacy and effectiveness
of our cybersecurity measures:

. Incident Response: Evaluation of our readiness and response strategies to cybersecurity incidents, positioning us to quickly and effectively mitigate any
potential impacts.

. Cybersecurity Industry Updates: Review of recent industry developments (i.e., new threats/tactics, industry news) to comply and adapt our strategies
accordingly.

. Acquisition Security Integration: Discussion on the security aspects of recent or upcoming acquisitions, focusing on the integration of their cybersecurity
frameworks into our broader security posture.

. Key Initiatives: Reflection on the major cybersecurity initiatives undertaken in the past year, assessing their outcomes and lessons learned.

. Goals: Setting forth our cybersecurity objectives for the coming year, aligning them with our overall business strategy and risk management framework.

. Employee Security Awareness and Training: Results from our regular testing and training of employees is presented and discussed.

. Penetration Test Results: Analysis of the findings from our regular penetration testing exercises, which help identify vulnerabilities and strengthen our
defenses.

. Questions and Answers: An open forum for the Audit Committee to seek clarifications and provide guidance on cybersecurity matters, fostering a culture

of transparency and continuous improvement.

This structured approach to governance and oversight, with a clear emphasis on receiving feedback allows us to align with the entire Alta organization. By
prioritizing the identification and management of cybersecurity risks at the highest levels, we aim to
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safeguard our assets, protect shareholder interests, and maintain the continuity of our business operations in the face of evolving cyber threats.
Management

Our Senior Director of IT and Director of Security and Compliance have primary responsibility for assessing and managing cybersecurity risks. An internal
team of cybersecurity experts execute our cybersecurity program while our VP of Information Services provides executive oversight. Combined, our experts bring
multiple decades of cybersecurity experience and have earned cybersecurity-related certifications. Our internal team is bolstered by strategic third-party security
partners leveraged to provide 24x7 monitoring and response. Third parties routinely assess our security practices providing tactical assistance or strategic guidance
through audits and penetration tests. All members of the team routinely discuss emerging security threats and ways to mitigate risk.

Strategy

We utilize an in-depth layered approach to security. This allows us to respond and proactively mitigate cybersecurity risks, underscoring our commitment to
the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of our data and systems. The Company has processes to oversee and identify risks from cybersecurity threats associated
with our use of third-party service providers. Our strategy includes the deployment of advanced security products and rigorous penetration testing to identify and
mitigate vulnerabilities by continuous vulnerability scanning and round-the-clock monitoring by both internal and external teams. This proactive stance is further
bolstered by backup and recovery protocols, ensuring data resilience, and enhanced by email security measures and endpoint detection and response systems to
thwart malicious activities.

Additionally, our commitment to security best practices is evident in our implementation of privileged access management, security awareness training for all
employees, dark web monitoring, and 24x7 threat monitoring.

Our incident response plan is designed to address security incidents promptly and effectively, supported by stringent information security policies and the
implementation of a Security Information and Event Manager (SIEM) system for real-time analysis and reporting of security events and incidents. Furthermore,
identity management and mobile device management extend our security perimeter, safeguarding against both external and internal threats. As part of our annual
security commitment, we undergo annual penetration testing to assess whether our necessary security controls are maintained.

The Company faces risks from cybersecurity threats that could potentially have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations,
cash flows and/or reputation. Although such risks have not materially affected us, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition, to
date, we have experienced threats to and breaches of our data and systems. For more information about the cybersecurity risks we face, see the risk factor entitled
“Security breaches and other disruptions in the Company’s IT systems, including the Company’s ERP system, could limit the Company’s capacity to effectively
monitor and control our operations, compromise ours or our employees', customers’ and suppliers’ confidential information, or otherwise adversely affect the
Company’s operating results or business reputation” in Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Item 2. Properties.

As of December 31, 2023, we leased substantially all our facilities used in our operations. These leases are generally with terms ranging from month-to-
month at some locations to an expiration date in 2037 and are typically structured to include renewal options at our election. We believe our properties, taken as a
whole, are in good operating condition, are suitable and adequate for our current business operations, and that additional or alternative space will be available on
commercially reasonable terms for future use and expansion. The number of locations in each state, territory, province or country is shown in the table below, as is
the number of locations that are in our Material Handling (MH), Construction (CE), Master Distribution (MD), and Corporate and Other (OTH) segments. Some
locations contain operations in multiple segments but are listed as separate locations below.

United States

Connecticut (CE 1, MH 1, OTH 1) Maine (CE 1, MH 1) Ohio (CE2,MD 1)

Florida (CE 9, OTH 1) Michigan (CE 12, MH 10, OTH 1) Pennsylvania (CE 2)

Illinois (CE 7, MH 4, OTH 1) New Hampshire (CE 2, MH 1) Rhode Island (MH 1)

Indiana (CE 1, MH 2) Nevada (MD 1) Vermont (MH 1)

Massachusetts (CE 2, MH 5, OTH 1) New York (CE 3, MH 10, OTH 2) Virginia (MH 1)
Canada

Ontario (CE 1, MD 1, MH 3) Quebec (CE 1, MH 1)
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Other than routine legal proceedings incident to our business, there are no material legal proceedings, where the potential liability is not offset by expected
insurance proceeds, to which we are a party or to which any of our property is subject.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

19



PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common and Preferred Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol “ALTG.” Our preferred stock depositary shares are traded on the NYSE under the symbol
“ALTG PRA”.

Holders
As of March 11, 2024, there were 8 active holders of record of our common stock and 1 active holder of record of our depositary shares.
Dividends

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we paid quarterly cash dividends totaling $2,500 per share of our Series A Preferred Stock, or $2.50
per depositary share, which was $3.0 million each year.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, we declared and paid quarterly cash dividends on common stock and dividend equivalents on stock-
based compensation totaling $0.228 and $0.114 per share, respectively, which was $7.6 million and $3.7 million, respectively.

The payment of cash dividends in the future including payment of accrued dividends related to the depositary shares, will be dependent upon our revenues
and earnings, expected capital requirements, compliance with our credit agreements and general financial condition. The payment of any cash dividends is within
the discretion of our Board of Directors.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The information called for by this item regarding equity compensation plans is incorporated by reference to Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Offerings

We issued 212,400 shares during the year ended December 31, 2022 that were not registered under the Securities Act. These shares were used as
consideration in connection with the purchase of Ecoverse.

Securities Repurchases

On July 6, 2022 the Company's Board approved a share repurchase program authorizing Alta to repurchase shares of our common stock for an aggregate
purchase price of not more than $12.5 million. The share repurchase program is in accordance with Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act. Subject to applicable rules
and regulations, the Company may repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time in the open market or by negotiated transactions. Such purchases will
be at times and in amounts as the Company deems appropriate, based on market conditions, cash reserves, cash flow and the balancing of uses of cash for
operations, growth, and share repurchase. The amount and timing of repurchases will be based on a variety of factors, including stock acquisition price, regulatory
limitations and other market and economic factors. No limit was placed on the duration of the repurchase program. The stock repurchase program does not require
the Company to repurchase any specific number of shares, and the Company may terminate the repurchase program at any time.

No share repurchases have been made under this program and the Company has $12.5 million of remaining authorization as of December 31, 2023.

The ESPP authorizes up to 325,000 shares of common stock to be issued and purchased by employees of the Company through payroll deductions. During
2023, 84,554 shares of common stock were purchased by our employees under the ESPP and will be issued in 2024.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative stockholder return of the Company's common stock as of the last trading day of each fiscal year since our
initial public offering with that of the Russell 2000 Index and an industry peer group selected by us. The peer group consists of the following companies: MRC
Global Inc.; Herc Holdings Inc.; MarineMax, Inc.; Titan Machinery Inc.; NOW Inc.; OneWater Marine Inc.; Trinity Industries, Inc.; Global Industrial Company;
Astec Industries, Inc.; DXP Enterprises, Inc.; America’s Car-Mart, Inc.; H&E Equipment Services, Inc.; and McGrath RentCorp.

The performance graph comparison assumes $100 was invested in our common stock, Russell 2000 Index and our peer group on February 14, 2020 and all
dividends have been reinvested.
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Ticker 2/14/2020 12/31/2021 12/31/2022 12/31/2023
Alta Equipment Group ALTG 100.00 141.04 128.19 122.17
Peer Group Various 100.00 161.79 149.21 163.80
Russell 2000 Index RUT 100.00 133.05 104.37 120.12

Item 6. [Reserved].

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this annual report.
This discussion contains ‘forward-looking statements” reflecting Alta’s current expectations, estimates, and assumptions concerning events and financial trends
that may affect our future operating results and financial position. Actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from those contained in these
forward-looking statements due to a number of factors. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, economic and
competitive conditions, regulatory changes and other uncertainties, as well as those factors discussed below and elsewhere in this annual report, particularly in
“Risk Factors” and “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,” all of which are difficult to predict. In light of these risks, uncertainties, and
assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed may not occur. Alta assumes no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements.

Market Overview 2023

Demand from the Company’s core markets remained strong and broad-based during 2023, as the economy performed better than anticipated. According to
Stifel Research, in 2023 non-residential construction posted strong, widespread growth. Non-residential construction saw the lagging benefit of an economic
recovery post-pandemic as well as tailwinds from onshoring, data centers, and fiscal stimulus (Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act ("IIJA"), Inflation Reduction
Act, Creating Helpful Incentives to Produce Semiconductors Act). While non-residential construction spending was strong in 2023, concerns regarding the cycle
increased over the course of the year, particularly towards the second half of 2023.
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Following a pullback during the pandemic, public construction spending meaningfully accelerated in 2023. This acceleration is unsurprisingly in conjunction
with the IIJA as well as healthy growth in federal, state and local tax receipts throughout 2022 and 2023. Additionally, street and highway spending accelerated
throughout 2023 and was a big driver for public construction overall. Highway contract awards have seen particular strength in recent months. Much of this strength
is attributed to early benefits from the IIJA. Notably, nearly 90% of the $1.2 trillion federal infrastructure package resources are distributed to the states, and span
over eight years.

With this as the backdrop, earthmoving equipment saw strong demand over the course of 2023 in the U.S. According to data supplied by ITR Economics,
new construction machinery orders came in at a record high $47.4 billion, a 13.2% increase from a year ago. Demand primarily benefited from strong non-
residential activity despite a slower single-family housing market. This healthy demand environment drove strong order activity throughout 2023 in our
Construction Equipment segment. Supply chain and production trends showed improvement relative to 2022 and backlogs moderated.

As it relates to our Material Handling segment, while orders for new lift trucks declined in 2023 off of record levels of bookings reached in the previous two
years, 2023 U.S. factory shipments in Class 1-5 lift trucks reached a record 300,000 units, according to the Industrial Truck Association, with shipments expected to
increase again in 2024, as lift truck manufacturers, including our major OEM Hyster-Yale, continue to work through of high levels of sales backlog that originated
post-pandemic. Additionally, the forklift industry continued to electrify in 2023, as approximately two-thirds of lift trucks sold in North America last year were
delivered with electric power units versus internal combustion. For context, in the year 2000, the electric to internal combustion split was approximately one to one.
Lastly, the industry trend toward warehouse-based forklifts versus counterbalance-based forklifts also continued in 2023, a result of macroeconomic trends in e-
commerce, logistics and distribution. We believe our material handling experience and expertise, and the Hyster-Yale product lineup are positioned well to take
advantage of these two industry trends, electrification and warehousing, in 2024 and beyond.

Business trends providing uncertainty heading into 2024 include global supply chain disruptions, inflationary pressure, geopolitical tensions, industrial
production declines, shrinking corporate profits, high borrowing costs and tight lending standards, any of which could cause cautious consumer behavior and result
in the pullback of businesses willing to spend on capital projects. Nevertheless, our end markets, which include foundational areas of the U.S. economy, like
infrastructure and human sustenance, and the resilience of our business model cause us to be optimistic heading into 2024.

Strategic Acquisitions in 2023 and 2022

Our growth strategy is predicated on making strategic acquisitions that expand our geographic reach, broaden our capabilities and service offerings and
diversify our customer and supplier bases. To that end, we completed four notable acquisitions in 2023 and 2022, that we believe, both immediately and over the
long term, will be accretive to our financial performance.

In the fourth quarter of 2023, we acquired Burris Equipment Company ("Burris"), a privately held premier distributor of market leading construction and turf
equipment with three locations in Illinois, which adds important infrastructure and talent in the dense metropolitan Chicago market and, Ault Industries Inc.
(“Ault”), a privately held Canadian crushing and screening equipment distributor with locations in the provinces of Ontario and Quebec which represents our
entrance into Canada for our Construction Equipment segment and adds a new major OEM relationship to our portfolio.

In the third and fourth quarters of 2022, we acquired Yale Industrial Trucks Inc. ("YIT") and Ecoverse, respectively. The YIT acquisition expanded our
Material Handling segment internationally into the major metropolitan markets of Toronto and Montreal and built upon our long-standing partnership with Hyster-
Yale Group, while the Ecoverse acquisition represented our entrance into the master dealer distribution business as we now have master dealer rights in the U.S. and
Canada for several best-in-class environmental processing equipment OEMs.

Equipment Inventory Availability, Rental Fleet Investment and Product Support

Throughout 2021 and 2022, our industry was unfavorably impacted by equipment supply chain constraints leading to shortages across construction and
material handling equipment categories and limiting our ability to meet customer demand and potentially increase our market share. Throughout 2023 equipment
supply chain constraints subsided, resulting in an increase in our new equipment inventory relative to prior periods; however, these inventory levels reflect a return
to stocking levels in line with historical norms for our business. Our ability to take delivery of new equipment from our OEMs throughout 2023 was the primary
driver of the $208.7 million increase in new and used equipment sales when compared to the prior year, as the increase in supply of new equipment met a strong
end-market demand backdrop. The increase in equipment availability in 2023 also allowed us to replenish and strategically grow our rental fleet. Additionally, and
notably, supply chain issues over the past three years did not materially impact our ability to source replacement parts for our service operation, as our OEMs have
prioritized the production and delivery of replacement parts to dealers. As our customers focus on the “up-time” of their equipment, we continued to see strong
demand for our product support capabilities, skilled technicians' labor and replacement parts in 2023, as evidenced by our increased technician headcount and
growing organic product support revenues from 2022.
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Business Description and Segments
For detailed description of our business and segments, refer to Part I, Item 1, Business, and Note 17, Segments, respectively.
Financial Statement Overview
Our revenues are primarily derived from the sale or rental of equipment and product support (e.g., parts and service) related activities, and consist of:

New equipment sales. We sell new heavy construction, material handling and environmental processing equipment and are a leading regional distributor for
nationally recognized equipment manufacturers. Our new equipment sales operation is a primary source of new customers for the rental, parts and services business.
The majority of our new equipment sales is predicated on exclusive distribution agreements we have with best-in-class OEMs. The sale of new equipment to
customers, while profitable from a gross margin perspective, acts as a means of generating equipment field population and activity for our higher-margin
aftermarket revenue streams, specifically service and parts. We also sell tangential products and services related to our material handling equipment offerings which
include, but are not limited to, automated equipment and related installation, warehouse systems integration solutions and related controls software.

Used equipment sales. We sell used equipment which is typically equipment that has been taken in on trade from a customer that is purchasing new
equipment, equipment coming off a third-party lease arrangement where we purchase the equipment from the finance company, or used equipment that is sourced
for our customers in the open market by our used equipment specialists. Used equipment sales in our territories, like new equipment sales, generate parts and service
business for the Company.

Parts sales. We sell replacement parts to customers and supply parts to our own rental fleet. Our in-house parts inventory is extensive such that we are able
to provide timely service support to our customers. The majority of our parts inventory is made up of OEM replacement parts for those OEM’s with which we have
exclusive agreements to sell new equipment.

Service revenues. We provide maintenance and repair services for customer-owned equipment and we maintain our own rental fleet. In addition to repair and
maintenance on an as needed or scheduled basis, we provide ongoing preventative maintenance services and warranty repairs for our customers. We have committed
substantial resources to training our technical service employees and have a full-scale service infrastructure that we believe differentiates us from our competitors.
Approximately 43% of our employees are skilled service technicians.

Rental revenues. We rent heavy construction, compact, aerial, material handling, and a variety of other types of equipment to our customers on a daily,
weekly and monthly basis. Our rental fleet, which is well-maintained, has an original acquisition cost (which we define as the cost originally paid to manufacturers
plus any capitalized costs) of $591.9 million as of December 31, 2023. The original acquisition cost of our rental fleet excludes the $8.9 million of assets associated
with our guaranteed purchase obligations, which are assets that are not in our day-to-day operational control. In addition to being a core business, our rental business
also creates cross-selling opportunities for us in our sales and product support activities.

Rental equipment sales. We also sell rental equipment from our rental fleet. In our Construction Equipment segment, our rental equipment sales are primarily
related to lightly-used equipment that is in the initial years of its useful life. Selling lightly used construction equipment from our rental fleet allows us to meet
customer demand for specific model years of equipment at various price points (versus only offering brand new equipment to the market). Customers often have
options to purchase equipment after or before rental agreements have matured. Rental equipment sales, like new and used equipment sales, generate customer-based
equipment field population within our territories and ultimately yield high-margin parts and service revenues for us.

Principal Costs and Expenses

Our cost of revenues are primarily related to the costs associated with the sale or rental of equipment and product support activities, which includes direct
labor costs for our skilled technicians. Our operating expenses consist principally of selling, general and administrative expenses, which primarily include personnel
costs associated with our sales and administrative staff and expenses associated with the deployment of our service vehicle fleet and occupancy expenses. In
addition, we have interest expense related to our floor plan payables, finance leases, line of credit, and secured second lien notes. These principal costs and expenses
are described further below:

New equipment sales. Cost of new equipment sold consists of the total acquisition costs of the new equipment we purchase from third parties.

Used equipment sales. Cost of used equipment sold consists of the net book value, or cost, of used equipment we purchase from third parties or the trade-in
value of used equipment that we obtain from customers in new equipment sales transactions.

Parts sales. Cost of parts sales represents the average cost of parts used in the maintenance and repair of customer-owned equipment we service or parts sold
directly to customers for their owned equipment (e.g., over-the-counter parts sales).
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Services revenues. Cost of service revenues primarily represents the labor costs attributable to services provided for the maintenance and repair of customer-
owned equipment. Training, paid time off, and other non-billable costs of maintaining our expert technicians are recorded in this line item in addition to the costs of
direct customer-billable labor.

Rental revenues. Rental expense represents the costs associated with rental equipment, including, among other things, the cost of repairing and maintaining
our rental equipment and other miscellaneous costs of owning rental equipment. Other rental expenses consist primarily of equipment support activities that we
provide our customers in connection with renting equipment, such as freight services and damage waiver policies.

Rental depreciation. Depreciation of rental equipment represents the depreciation costs attributable to rental equipment. Estimated useful lives vary based
upon type of equipment. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for information on our rental equipment depreciation methods.

Rental equipment sales. Cost of previously rented equipment sold consists of the net book value (e.g., net of accumulated depreciation) of rental equipment
sold from our rental fleet.

Operating expenses. These costs are comprised of three main components: personnel, operational and occupancy costs. Personnel costs are comprised of
hourly and salaried wages for administrative employees, including incentive compensation and employee benefits, such as medical benefits. Operational costs
include marketing activities, costs associated with deploying and leasing our service vehicle fleet, insurance, IT, office and shop supplies, general corporate costs,
depreciation on non-sales and rental related assets and intangible amortization. Occupancy costs are comprised of all expenses related to our facility infrastructure,
including rent, utilities, property taxes and building insurance.

Other expense, net. This section of the Consolidated Statements of Operations is mostly comprised of interest expense and other miscellaneous items that
result in income or expense. Interest expense is driven by our OEM floor plan financing arrangements, a working capital line of credit, our second lien secured notes
and our finance lease arrangements.
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Results of Operations
Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Results

Revenues:
New and used equipment sales
Parts sales
Service revenues
Rental revenues
Rental equipment sales
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:
New and used equipment sales
Parts sales
Service revenues
Rental revenues
Rental depreciation
Rental equipment sales
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Non-rental depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense, floor plan payable — new equipment
Interest expense — other
Other income
Total other expense, net
Income before taxes
Income tax (benefit) provision
Net income
Preferred stock dividends
Net income available to common stockholders

NM - calculated change not meaningful

Revenues:
New and used equipment sales
Parts sales
Service revenues
Rental revenues
Rental equipment sales
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:
New and used equipment sales
Parts sales
Service revenues
Rental revenues
Rental depreciation
Rental equipment sales
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
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Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2023 2022 2023 versus 2022
1,025.9 $ 817.2 $ 208.7 25.5%
278.3 234.8 43.5 18.5%
241.3 206.6 347 16.8%
202.4 180.1 223 12.4%
128.9 133.1 4.2) 3.2)%
1,876.8 1,571.8 305.0 19.4 %
853.6 683.2 170.4 24.9%
183.2 157.4 25.8 16.4%
103.4 90.7 12.7 14.0%
24.8 22.4 2.4 10.7 %
110.1 95.5 14.6 153%
94.5 103.0 (8.5) (8.3)%
1,369.6 1,152.2 217.4 18.9%
507.2 419.6 87.6 20.9%
430.3 362.3 68.0 18.8%
22.5 16.5 6.0 36.4%
452.8 378.8 74.0 19.5%
54.4 40.8 13.6 33.3%
8.4) 2.7) (5.7) 211.1%
(48.6) (29.1) (19.5) 67.0%
5.1 1.6 3.5 218.8%
(51.9) 30.2) (21.7) 71.9%
2.5 10.6 @8.1) (76.4)%
(6.4) 1.3 (7.7) NM
8.9 9.3 0.4) 4.3)%
(3.0) 3.0) — —
5.9 $ 6.3 $ 0.4) (6.3)%
Percent of Revenues
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022
54.6 % 52.0%
14.8% 14.9%
12.9% 13.1%
10.8% 11.5%
6.9% 8.5%
100.0 % 100.0 %
45.5% 43.5%
9.8% 10.0%
55% 5.8%
1.3% 1.4%
5.9% 6.0%
5.0% 6.6 %
73.0 % 73.3%
27.0 % 26.7 %






Non-GAAP Financial Measure: Organic Revenues

Organic Revenues

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2023 2022 2023 versus 2022

Total revenues $ 1,876.8 $ 1,571.8 $ 305.0 19.4 %
Acquisitions revenues 139.4 25.0

Organic revenues:
New and used equipment sales 941.0 808.0 133.0 16.5%
Parts sales 255.7 229.0 26.7 11.7%
Service revenues 228.3 202.5 25.8 12.7%
Rental revenues 185.2 175.3 9.9 5.6%
Rental equipment sales 127.2 132.0 4.8) (3.6)%

Total organic revenues $ 1,737.4 $ 1,546.8 $ 190.6 123 %

The above table contains a non-GAAP financial measure. A “non-GAAP financial measure” is defined as a numerical measure of a company’s financial
performance that excludes or includes amounts so as to be different than the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP
in the consolidated statements of operations, balance sheets or statements of cash flows of the company. The non-GAAP financial measure used is organic revenues
and growth rates associated with organic revenues. We define organic revenues growth as revenue growth excluding the impact of acquisitions that do not appear
fully in both periods in the current and prior years. We believe organic revenue growth is a meaningful metric to investors as it provides a more consistent
comparison of our revenues to prior periods as well as to industry peers.

Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation G, we have provided a reconciliation of organic revenues to the most directly comparable GAAP financial
measure in the table above and in subsequent tables in management's discussion and analysis of our individual business segments. This measure is supplemental to,
and should be used in conjunction with, the most comparable GAAP measure. Management uses this non-GAAP financial measure to monitor and evaluate
financial results and trends.

Revenues: Consolidated revenues increased by $305.0 million, or 19.4%, to $1,876.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022.
The primary drivers of this period over period increase were the favorable full period impact from acquisitions, the availability of new equipment from OEMs, a
favorable business climate for our equipment and services, price increases, and our ability to grow on an organic basis. We continue to maintain a strong backlog
and, in certain regions, have taken market share from competitors with our inventory stocking strategies. If excluding the effects of acquisitions by observing the
consolidated results on an organic basis, total revenues increased $190.6 million, or 12.3% compared to the same period last year. Organic new and used equipment
sales increased 16.5% over the same period last year as market demand for equipment remains high and the increased availability of new equipment from our
suppliers, relative to the same period last year, allowed for throughput of our sales backlogs. Organic parts sales and service revenues increased by 12.2% on a
combined basis as equipment previously sold into field population yields maintenance and repair needs throughout the machinery lifecycle. Rental revenues
exhibited a 5.6% organic increase, a result of having a greater nominal volume of fleet on rent and higher rental rates in 2023 when compared to 2022. Rental
equipment sales decreased organically by 3.6% for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period last year as we strategically balance the
decision to retain fleet to meet rental demand but still accommodate sales into our territories to meet demand for used equipment and bolster field population for
longer-term returns in our product support departments.

Gross profit (GP):
Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)

2023 2022 2023 versus 2022

GP% GP% GP%
New and used equipment sales 16.8 % 16.4% 0.4%
Parts sales 34.2% 33.0% 1.2%
Service revenues 57.1% 56.1% 1.0%
Rental revenues 33.3% 34.5% (1.2)%
Rental equipment sales 26.7% 22.6% 4.1%
Consolidated gross profit 27.0 % 26.7 % 0.3%

Consolidated gross profit increased by 30 basis point from 26.7% in the year ended December 31, 2022 to 27.0% over the same period in 2023. New and
used equipment sales margins increased 40 basis point to 16.8%, consistent overall with prior year but reflective of a favorable pricing environment for new and
used equipment, particularly in the first half of 2023, and our focus on providing more customized equipment solutions which yield a higher gross margin versus
standard products. The favorable pricing environment coupled with our flexible rent-to-sell model, which allows us to sell previously depreciated rental fleet, led to
a 410 basis point increase in rental equipment sales margin when comparing the year-over-year periods despite lower sales volume in the category. Parts sales
margins modestly improved year over year primarily related to the high gross margins realized on parts sales in
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the Master Distribution segment acquired in the fourth quarter of 2022. We realized a 120 basis point decrease in rental revenues gross margin for the year ended
December 31, 2023, largely related to replenishing and increasing the size of our rental fleet resulting in higher depreciation expense when compared to last year.
Service gross margins increased 100 basis points from 2022 to 2023 and are reflective of expected margins within the department. Partially attributing to the
increased service gross margins are improved fleet and warranty reimbursement margins from our various OEM and secondary warranty partnerships, a result of
enhanced operating procedures in our service departments.

Operating expenses: Consolidated operating expenses increased by 19.5% to $452.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the same
period last year, primarily driven by the full period and incremental impact from our 2022 and 2023 acquisitions, respectively, and additional expenses to support
our organic growth, such as labor costs supporting an overall headcount increase, sales-related marketing expenditures, and service vehicle costs associated with a
growing skilled technician base. Additionally, the large increase in equipment sales resulted in higher sales commission expense. Further, inflationary labor market
factors drove increases in employment costs, such as wages and benefits, beyond incremental headcount additions.

Other expense, net: Consolidated other expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $51.9 million compared to $30.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. The increase is primarily due to an increase in interest expense due to higher interest rates and more debt outstanding due to recent debt-
financed acquisitions and carrying costs associated with a higher level of inventory and rental fleet.

Provision (benefit) for income taxes: The Company recorded an income tax benefit of $6.4 million and provision of $1.3 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The income tax benefit in the current year was due to the full release of the valuation allowance during the third quarter
while the prior year expense was primarily due to income that could not be fully offset with net operating losses.

Material Handling Results

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2023 2022 2023 versus 2022
Revenues:
New and used equipment sales $ 367.6 $ 305.2 $ 62.4 20.4%
Parts sales 99.5 84.4 15.1 17.9%
Service revenues 132.8 112.1 20.7 18.5%
Rental revenues 76.4 63.5 12.9 20.3%
Rental equipment sales 52 5.5 0.3) (5.5)%
Total revenues 681.5 570.7 110.8 19.4 %
Cost of revenues:
New and used equipment sales 294.3 2429 514 21.2%
Parts sales 61.8 52.8 9.0 17.0%
Service revenues 57.3 49.5 7.8 15.8%
Rental revenues 9.7 6.1 3.6 59.0%
Rental depreciation 26.8 19.6 72 36.7%
Rental equipment sales 34 33 0.1 3.0%
Total cost of revenues 453.3 374.2 79.1 21.1%
Gross profit 228.2 196.5 31.7 16.1 %
General and administrative expenses 187.8 164.9 229 13.9%
Non-rental depreciation and amortization 8.1 7.2 0.9 12.5%
Total operating expenses 195.9 172.1 23.8 13.8%
Income from operations 323 244 7.9 32.4%
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense, floor plan payable — new equipment 2.7) (1.2) (1.5) 125.0%
Interest expense — other (15.4) (10.5) “4.9) 46.7 %
Other income 0.5 4.4 3.9) (88.6)%
Total other expense, net 17.6) (7.3) (10.3) 141.1 %
Income before taxes 14.7 $ 17.1 $ 24) (14.0)%

27



Revenues:

New and used equipment sales

Parts sales
Service revenues
Rental revenues
Rental equipment sales
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:

New and used equipment sales

Parts sales
Service revenues
Rental revenues
Rental depreciation
Rental equipment sales
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit

Non-GAAP Financial Measure: Organic Revenues

Total revenues

Acquisitions revenues
Organic revenues:

New and used equipment sales

Parts sales

Service revenues

Rental revenues

Rental equipment sales

Total organic revenues

Percent of Revenues

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022

53.9% 53.5%

14.6 % 14.8 %

19.5% 19.6 %

11.2% 11.1%

0.8% 1.0%

100.0 % 100.0 %

43.2% 42.6 %

9.1% 93%

8.4% 8.7%

1.4% 1.1%

3.9% 33%

0.5% 0.6%

66.5 % 65.6 %

33.5% 34.4%

Organic Revenues
Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2023 2022 2023 versus 2022
$ 681.5 $ 570.7 $ 110.8 19.4 %
61.1 19.7

344.9 299.8 45.1 15.0%

88.3 80.0 8.3 10.4 %

120.8 108.1 12.7 11.7%

63.0 58.7 4.3 73%
3.4 4.4 (1.0) (22.7)%

$ 620.4 $ 551.0 $ 69.4 12.6 %

Revenues: Material Handling segment revenues increased by $110.8 million to $681.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the
same period last year. Organically, the segment revenues increased 12.6% for the year ended December 31, 2023 based on a favorable demand backdrop, elevated
pricing environment and the ability of our OEMs to deliver more new equipment in 2023 versus 2022 allowing for throughput on our equipment sales backlog.
Importantly, on an organic basis product support revenues increased 11.2%, as technician headcount and pricing showed improvements year-over-year. Rental
revenues increased 7.3%, on an organic basis, for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period last year on higher rental rates and a higher
nominal level of fleet on rent. Rental equipment sales decreased nominally by $1.0 million on low sales volume. Generally, the decision to sell Material Handling
rental equipment stems from the replacement of long-aged units that exhibit performance declines, and therefore a higher maintenance cost, or in situations where it
is determined excess fleet in certain product categories exists for the markets served. Material Handling rental equipment tends to remain in fleet for the majority of
its useful life and is not typically deployed in a rent-to-sell model like our Construction Equipment segment, therefore resulting in less sales volume comparatively.

Gross profit (GP):

New and used equipment sales
Parts sales

Service revenues

Rental revenues

Rental equipment sales

Segment gross profit

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)

2023 2022 2023 versus 2022

GP% GP% GP%
19.9% 20.4 % (0.5)%
37.9% 37.4% 0.5%
56.9 % 55.8% 1.1%
52.2% 59.5% (7.3)%
34.6 % 40.0% (5.4)%
33.5% 34.4% 0.9)%

Material Handling gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2023 decreased 90 basis points to 33.5% compared to the same period in 2022, remaining
relatively consistent overall. While new and used equipment gross margins have remained relatively consistent year over year, we have gained 50 basis point in

parts gross margin during 2023 when compared to the same period last
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year primarily related to the full period impact of the YIT acquisition, which has a favorable parts gross margin when compared to our Material Handling segment
overall. The 110 basis point service margin increase for the year ended December 31, 2023 can be attributed to improved margins on customer service work, as well
as improvements in fleet and warranty recovery levels with our OEMs. Rental revenues gross margins have declined 730 basis points due to replenishing and
increasing the size of our rental fleet and the related incremental depreciation expense, and increased rental depreciation expense associated with the acquisition of
YIT in the third quarter of 2022. Rental equipment sales margins decreased on low sales volumes.

Operating expenses: Operating expenses increased by $23.8 million to $195.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period
last year, mainly due to the full period impact from the YIT acquisition and sales-related variable costs, such as equipment sales commissions, labor and operating
input costs that support organic revenue growth, as described previously. Changes in intercompany allocation of shared service expenses also contributes to the

year-over-year variance.

Other (expense) income, net: Other expenses increased by $10.3 million to $17.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same
period last year. The increase is mainly resulting from higher interest expense associated with an increase in total borrowings used to support a larger rental fleet,

higher inventory levels, and debt-financed acquisitions combined with a rise in interest rates on our floating-rate debt and the aforementioned change in
intercompany expense allocation for shared service functions.

Construction Equipment Results

Revenues:
New and used equipment sales
Parts sales
Service revenues
Rental revenues
Rental equipment sales
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:
New and used equipment sales
Parts sales
Service revenues
Rental revenues
Rental depreciation
Rental equipment sales
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
General and administrative expenses
Non-rental depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses
Income from operations
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense, floor plan payable — new equipment
Interest expense — other
Other income (expense)
Total other expense, net
Income before taxes

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2023 2022 2023 versus 2022
597.9 $ 508.2 $ 89.7 17.7%
170.1 149.0 21.1 14.2%
108.2 94.4 13.8 14.6 %
124.8 116.6 8.2 7.0%
123.7 127.6 3.9) GB.1)%
1,124.7 995.8 128.9 12.9%
515.5 436.7 78.8 18.0 %
117.5 103.7 13.8 13.3%
459 41.2 4.7 11.4%
15.1 16.3 (1.2) (7.4)%
81.8 75.9 5.9 7.8%
91.1 99.7 (8.6) (8.6)%
866.9 773.5 93.4 12.1%
257.8 222.3 35.5 16.0 %
211.6 178.8 32.8 18.3%
10.7 8.7 2.0 23.0%
222.3 187.5 34.8 18.6 %
355 34.8 0.7 2.0%
4.8) (1.5) 3.3) 220.0 %
(28.3) (16.2) (12.1) 74.7%
4.6 2.9) 7.5 (258.6)%
(28.5) (20.6) (7.9) 38.3%
7.0 $ 14.2 $ (7.2) (50.7)%
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Percent of Revenues

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022
Revenues:

New and used equipment sales 53.2% 51.0%
Parts sales 15.1% 15.0%
Service revenues 9.6 % 9.5%
Rental revenues 11.1% 11.7%
Rental equipment sales 11.0% 12.8%
Total revenues 100.0 % 100.0 %

Cost of revenues:
New and used equipment sales 45.9% 44.0%
Parts sales 10.4% 10.4%
Service revenues 41% 4.1%
Rental revenues 1.3% 1.6%
Rental depreciation and amortization 73% 7.6 %
Rental equipment sales 8.1% 10.0%
Total cost of revenues 771 % 77.7 %
Gross profit 22.9% 22.3%

Non-GAAP Financial Measure: Organic Revenues

Organic Revenues

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2023 2022 2023 versus 2022

Total revenues $ 1,124.7 $ 995.8 $ 128.9 12.9%
Acquisitions revenues 11.0 —

Organic revenues:
New and used equipment sales 592.9 508.2 84.7 16.7%
Parts sales 167.4 149.0 18.4 12.3%
Service revenues 107.5 94.4 13.1 13.9%
Rental revenues 122.2 116.6 5.6 4.8%
Rental equipment sales 123.7 127.6 3.9) 3.1)%

Total organic revenues $ 1,113.7 $ 995.8 $ 117.9 11.8 %

Revenues: Construction Equipment segment revenues increased by 12.9% to $1,124.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the
same period last year. Organically, the segment revenues increased 11.8% based on strong customer demand, a favorable pricing environment and our OEMs ability
to produce and deliver more new equipment in 2023 versus 2022. Organic new and used equipment sales increased by 16.7% as OEM production shortages for new
equipment in prior years subsided in 2023, exhibited by the shift in sales mix from rental equipment sales into new equipment sales when comparing the periods.
Rental equipment sales decreased for the year ended December 31, 2023 due to the aforementioned shift to new equipment sales. Product support revenues
increased 12.9% due to favorable labor rate environment and on increased technician head count. Rental revenues increased 4.8% for the year ended December 31,
2023 as compared to the same period last year primarily attributable to an increased rental rate environment existing between the comparable periods and a greater
amount of fleet on rent during 2023.

Gross profit (GP):
Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)

2023 2022 2023 versus 2022

GP% GP% GP%
New and used equipment sales 13.8% 14.1% (0.3)%
Parts sales 30.9% 30.4% 0.5%
Service revenues 57.6 % 56.4% 1.2%
Rental revenues 22.4% 20.9% 1.5%
Rental equipment sales 26.4% 21.9% 4.5%
Segment gross profit 22.9 % 22.3% 0.6 %

Construction Equipment gross profit increased by 60 basis points to 22.9% from 22.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to 2022, with
overall margin improvements reflective of the general business climate and positive demand factors of the industry. New and used equipment sales margins
decreased slightly by 30 basis points to 13.8%, consistent with prior year and in line with margin expectations. To note, despite the relatively flat gross margin, the
increased sales volume of new and used equipment, led to new and used gross profit increasing to $82.4 million from $71.5 million in the same period last year. The
increased availability of new equipment also allowed for a more measured approach on the sale of rental equipment as indicated by the lower rental equipment
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sales year over year. Despite the lower sales, a favorable pricing environment in 2023 on lightly-used equipment led to a 450 basis point increase in rental
equipment sales margin when comparing the year-over-year periods (equating to rental equipment gross profits of $32.6 million compared to $27.9 million from the
same period last year, on lower revenue). Parts sales margins for the year ended December 31, 2023 remained consistent when compared to the same time last year,
increasing by 50 basis points. Service gross margins increased by 120 basis points from 2022 primarily related to positive trends in warranty services. Rental
revenues gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased by 150 basis points compared to the same period last year as repair and maintenance costs,
freight, and costs of sub-rental activities each exhibited a comparatively lower percentage of rental revenues.

Operating expenses: Construction Equipment operating expenses increased by $34.8 million to $222.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as
compared to 2022. The increase is mainly due to inflationary factors, general headcount increases in the segment, rising benefit costs, greater commission expenses
on higher sales levels, and incremental expenses associated with our organic growth, such as technician service vehicles, as well as changes in allocation of
intercompany expenses across segments for shared service functions.

Other (expense) income, net: Construction Equipment other expense, net increased by $7.9 million to $28.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 as
compared to the same period in 2022 primarily due to the increase in interest rates on our floating-rate debt, the fourth quarter 2023 acquisition of Ault, and the
interest expense related to a larger rental fleet and higher inventory levels partially offset by the aforementioned change in shared service function intercompany
segment allocations.

Master Distribution Results

The Company began separately reporting Master Distribution as its own segment in the first quarter of 2023. This business was acquired during the fourth
quarter of 2022. As such, all Master Distribution revenues are considered inorganic.

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2023 2022 2023 versus 2022
Revenues:
New and used equipment sales $ 72.5 $ 5.0 $ 67.5 NM
Parts sales 9.8 1.6 8.2 NM
Service revenues 0.3 0.1 0.2 NM
Rental revenues 1.2 — 1.2 NM
Rental equipment sales — — — NM
Total revenues 83.8 6.7 77.1 NM
Cost of revenues:
New and used equipment sales 54.4 4.6 49.8 NM
Parts sales 5.0 1.0 4.0 NM
Service revenues 0.2 — 0.2 NM
Rental revenues — — — NM
Rental depreciation 0.8 — 0.8 NM
Rental equipment sales — — — NM
Total cost of revenues 60.4 5.6 54.8 NM
Gross profit 23.4 1.1 22.3 NM
General and administrative expenses 12.3 1.5 10.8 NM
Non-rental depreciation and amortization 3.6 0.6 3.0 NM
Total operating expenses 15.9 2.1 13.8 NM
Income (loss) from operations 7.5 (1.0) 8.5 NM
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense, floor plan payable — new equipment 0.7) — 0.7) NM
Interest expense — other 2.7) (0.5) 2.2) NM
Other expense — — — NM
Total other expense, net 34) 0.5) 2.9) NM
Income (loss) before taxes $ 4.1 $ a.s) $ 5.6 NM

NM - calculated change not meaningful
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Percent of Revenues

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022
Revenues:
New and used equipment sales 86.5% 74.6 %
Parts sales 11.7% 23.9%
Service revenues 0.4% 1.5%
Rental revenues 1.4% —
Total revenues 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of revenues:
New and used equipment sales 64.9% 68.7%
Parts sales 6.0% 14.9%
Service revenues 02%
Rental revenues — —
Rental depreciation and amortization 1.0%
Total cost of revenues 721 % 83.6 %
Gross profit 27.9% 16.4 %
Gross profit (GP):
Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022
GP% GP%
New and used equipment sales 25.0% 8.0%
Parts sales 49.0% 37.5%
Service revenues 33.3% 100.0 %
Rental revenues 33.3% NA
Segment gross profit 27.9% 16.4 %

Overall Summary: Master Distribution segment revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $83.8 million, made up primarily of new and used
equipment sales and secondarily parts sales, representing 86.5% and 11.7% of total revenues, respectively. The increases year over year are primarily due to the full

period impact from the November 2022 acquisition of Ecoverse.

Gross profit margin on new and used equipment sales and parts sales were 25.0% and 49.0%, respectively, for the year ended December 31, 2023. These
gross margin levels are in line with our expectations and pre-acquisition history. The change is primarily due to the full year in 2023 compared to only two months

of activity in 2022.

Operating expenses: Master Distribution segment operating expenses were $15.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Personnel costs, such as

wages and commissions, and sales-related expenses are the primary operating expenses of the Master Distribution segment. The change from 2022 is primarily due
to the full period impact of the aforementioned Ecoverse acquisition, which includes amortization of the definite-lived intangible assets recorded in the transaction
as well as a non-cash expense related to the fair value measurement of the earn-out liability associated with the acquisition.

Other expense, net: Master Distribution other expense was $3.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Other expenses of the Master Distribution
segment include interest expense and foreign currency exchange variances. The change is primarily due to the aforementioned full period impact from the
November 2022 acquisition of Ecoverse.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 Cash Flows

Cash Flow from Operating Activities. Cash flows from operating activities include net income adjusted for non-cash items and the effects of changes in
working capital. For the year ended December 31, 2023, operating activities resulted in net cash provided by operations of $63.8 million. Our reported net income
of $8.9 million, when adjusted for non-cash income and expense items, primarily depreciation and amortization, the gain on sale of rental equipment, inventory
obsolescence and bad debt reserves, and stock-based compensation, provided net cash inflows of $111.8 million. Changes in working capital included $286.3
million of inventory purchased (of which $180.2 million has been transferred into our rental fleet for replenishment and growth purposes), and a $16.6 million
increase in accounts receivable. Cash flows from operating activities were favorably impacted by $128.9 million due to proceeds from the sale of rental equipment,
$122.5 million in net inflows related to manufacturer floor plans, and a $3.8 million net change in prepaid expenses and other assets and leases, deferred revenue,
and other liabilities and unfavorably impacted by a $7.3 million decrease in accounts payable, accrued expenses, customer deposits, and other current liabilities.
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, operating activities resulted in net cash provided by operations of $26.0 million. Our cash flows from operating
activities related to net income adjusted for non-cash income and expenses, primarily depreciation and amortization, the gain on sale of rental equipment, inventory
obsolescence and bad debt reserves, and stock-based compensation, generated $101.0 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2022. This was partially
offset by $75.0 million of net working capital investments. Changes in working capital included $272.6 million of inventory purchased (of which $122.9 million
was transferred into our rental fleet for replenishment and growth purposes), and a $34.7 million increase in accounts receivable. Cash flows from operating
activities were favorably impacted by $133.1 million due to proceeds from the sale of rental equipment, $77.3 million in net inflows related to manufacturer floor
plans and by a $26.7 million increase in accounts payable, accrued expenses, customer deposits, and other current liabilities and unfavorably impacted by a $4.8
million net change in prepaid expenses and other assets and leases, deferred revenue, and other liabilities.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities. For the year ended December 31, 2023, our cash used in investing activities was $122.8 million. This was mainly due to
$123.3 million purchases of rental equipment, non-rental property and equipment, and equipment contracted under guaranteed purchase obligations, as well as
Burris and Ault acquisition activity partially offset by $0.5 million proceeds from the sale of non-rental property and equipment.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our cash used in investing activities was $162.6 million. This was mainly due to $76.7 million purchases of rental
equipment and non-rental property and equipment and $86.7 million use of cash for the YIT and Ecoverse acquisitions and adjustments to the purchase prices of
two of our 2021 acquisitions partially offset by $1.2 million of proceeds from the sale of non-rental property and equipment.

Cash Flow from Financing Activities. For the year ended December 31, 2023, cash provided by financing activities was $87.3 million. This cash inflow was
mainly due to $91.3 million of net borrowings under our line of credit, which funded the Burris and Ault acquisitions, and the increase in net working capital and
rental fleet as previously noted. Additionally, there were net borrowings of $8.7 million related to non-manufacturer floor plans for the year. These cash inflows
were partially offset by payments of $10.6 million for preferred and common stock dividends and $2.1 million related to other financing activities.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, cash provided by financing activities was $136.9 million. The favorable impact was mainly due to $114.9 million of
net borrowings under our line of credit, primarily related to a draw on the line to fund the YIT and Ecoverse acquisitions, net borrowings of $28.0 million related to
non-manufacturer floor plans, and $0.7 million related to other financing activities. These cash inflows were partially offset by $6.7 million related to preferred and
common stock dividend payments.

Sources of Liquidity

Our principal sources of liquidity have been from cash provided by our service, parts and rental related operations and the sales of new, used, and rental fleet
equipment, proceeds from the issuance of debt, and borrowings available under our line of credit and floor plans. The Company reported $31.0 million in cash as of
December 31, 2023. For more information on our available borrowings under the revolving line of credit, senior secured second lien notes, and floor plans, please
refer to Note 8, Floor Plans and Note 9, Long-term Debt. We consider the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested as we do
not anticipate the need to repatriate funds to the U.S. to satisfy domestic liquidity needs.

Cash Requirements Related to Operations

Our principal uses of cash have been to fund operating activities and working capital (including new and used equipment inventories), purchases of rental
fleet equipment and property and equipment, fund payments due under line of credit and floor plans payable, fund acquisitions, meet debt service requirements and
fund the preferred stock and common stock dividends. In the future, we may pursue additional strategic acquisitions and seek to open new start-up locations. We
anticipate that the uses described above encompass the principal demands on our cash and availability under our line of credit and floor plans in the future.

The amount of our future capital expenditures will depend on a number of factors including general economic conditions, the state of our industry and the
markets we serve and our growth prospects. Our gross rental fleet capital expenditures for the period ended December 31, 2023 were approximately $242.4 million,
including $180.2 million of transfers from new and used inventory to rental fleet. This gross rental fleet capital expenditure was offset by sales proceeds of rental
equipment of approximately $128.9 million for the period ended December 31, 2023 as our business model is to sell lightly used inventory to customers from our
rental fleet to increase field population in our geographies. In response to changing economic conditions, we have the flexibility to modify our capital expenditures,
especially as it relates to rental fleet.

To service our debt, we will require a significant amount of cash. Our ability to pay interest and principal on our indebtedness, will depend upon our future
operating performance and the availability of borrowings under the line of credit and/or other debt and equity financing alternatives available to us, which will be
affected by prevailing economic conditions and conditions in the global credit and capital markets, as well as financial, business and other factors, some of which
are beyond our control. Based on our current level of operations and given the current state of the capital markets, we believe our cash flows from operations,
available cash, and
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available borrowings under the line of credit will be adequate to meet our future liquidity needs for the foreseeable future. As of December 31, 2023, we had $187.8
million of available borrowings under the revolving line of credit and floor plans.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In the preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S.
GAAP”), we are required to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses, and the related disclosures. Our
management reviews these estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. While we believe the estimates and judgments we use in preparing our consolidated
financial statements are reasonable and appropriate, they are subject to future events and uncertainties regarding their outcome; therefore, actual results may
materially differ from these estimates. If actual amounts are ultimately different from our estimates, the revisions are included in our results of operations for the
period in which the actual amounts first become known. We consider the following items in the consolidated financial statements to require significant estimation or
judgment. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements for a summary of our significant accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

Refer to Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 3, Revenue Recognition, herein for more information.
Impairment of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets

Refer to Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, herein for more information.
Useful Lives of Property and Equipment

We depreciate rental equipment and property and equipment over their estimated useful lives. The useful life of rental equipment is determined based on our
estimate of the period the asset will generate revenues. The principal methods of depreciation used are straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives or
percentage of rental revenues based on the unit of activity method. We periodically review the assumptions used in calculating rates of depreciation. We may be
required to change these estimates based on changes in our industry or changes in other circumstances. If these estimates change in the future, we may be required
to recognize increased or decreased depreciation expense for these assets. The amount of depreciation expense we record is highly dependent upon the estimated
useful lives assigned to each category of equipment and the utilization of equipment where the unit of activity method is applied.

Generally, we assign the following useful lives to the below categories of Property and Equipment:

Estimated
Useful Life
Transportation equipment (autos and trucks) 2 — 5 years
Rental fleet 5-10 years
Machinery and equipment, excluding rental fleet 3 —20 years
Office equipment 5 — 7 years
Computer equipment 2 — 5 years
Leasehold improvements 3 — 15 years

The useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed at each financial year-end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate.
Acquisition Accounting

We have made significant acquisitions in the past and we intend to make additional acquisitions in the future that meet our selection criteria with an
objective of increasing our revenues, improving our profitability, diversifying our end market and geographic exposure and strengthening our competitive position.
The assets acquired and liabilities assumed (including contingent purchase consideration) are recorded based on their respective fair values at the date of
acquisition. Such fair value assessments require judgments and estimates that can be affected by various factors over time, which may cause final amounts to differ
materially from original estimates. The significant judgments include the estimation of future cash flows, which are dependent on forecasts; the estimation of a long-
term rate of growth; the estimation of the useful life over which cash flows will occur; and the determination of a risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital.
When appropriate, our estimates of the fair values of assets and liabilities acquired include assistance from independent third-party appraisal firms. The judgments
made in determining the estimated fair value assigned to the assets acquired, as well as the estimated life of the assets, can materially impact net income in periods
subsequent to the acquisition through depreciation and amortization, and in certain instances through impairment charges, if the asset becomes impaired in the
future. As discussed below, we regularly review impairment indicators.

New and used equipment inventories, long-lived assets (primarily rental equipment), goodwill, and other intangible assets generally represent the largest
component of our acquisitions. Equipment inventory and rental fleet acquired in the transaction are

34



valued at fair value, which approximates a market participant’s estimated selling price adjusted for (1) costs to sell and (2) a reasonable profit allowance. In addition
to long-lived assets, we also acquire other assets and assume liabilities. These other assets and liabilities typically include, but are not limited to, parts inventory,
accounts receivable, accounts payable, floor plans payable and other working capital items. Because of their short-term nature, the fair values of these assets and
liabilities generally approximate the carrying values reflected on the acquired entities' balance sheets. However, when appropriate, we adjust these carrying values
for factors such as collectability, existence, and consistency with Company accounting policies.

For acquisitions involving additional consideration to be transferred to the selling parties in the event certain future events occur or conditions are met
(“contingent consideration”), we recognize the acquisition date fair value of contingent consideration as part of the consideration transferred in exchange for the
business combination. Contingent consideration meeting the criteria to be classified as equity is not remeasured and is recorded within "Additional paid-in capital"
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Contingent consideration classified as a liability is remeasured to fair value at each reporting date until the contingency is
resolved, with any changes in fair value recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Pursuant to accounting standard Topic 350 - Intangibles - Goodwill and Other, we record as goodwill the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair
values of the identifiable net assets acquired. The intangible assets that we have acquired consist of tradenames, non-compete agreements, supplier relationships,
and customer relationships. A tradename has a fair value equal to the present value of the royalty income attributable to it. The royalty income attributable to a
tradename represents the hypothetical cost savings that are derived from owning the tradename instead of paying royalties to license the tradename from another
owner. The fair value of non-compete agreements is estimated based on an income approach since their values are representative of the current and future revenues
and profit erosion protection they provide. Customer and supplier relationships are generally valued based on an excess earnings or income approach with
consideration to projected cash flows.

Income Taxes

The Company operates in a number of geographic locations and is subject to foreign, U.S. federal, state, and local taxes applicable in each of the respective
jurisdictions. These tax laws are complex and involve uncertainties in the application of our facts and circumstances that may be subject to interpretation. We
account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax
consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, we determine deferred tax assets and liabilities on the basis of the
differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are
expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

As a part of our income tax provision, we must also evaluate the likelihood we will be able to realize our deferred tax assets which is dependent on our
ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future years. Our deferred tax calculation requires management to make certain estimates about future operations. We
recognize deferred tax assets to the extent that we believe that these assets are more likely than not (a likelihood of greater than 50%) to be realized. Deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not
be realized. These estimates involve judgment. In making such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals
of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, and results of recent operations. Refer to Note 2, Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 12, Income Taxes, herein for more information.

Allowance for Credit Losses

The Company records trade accounts receivables at invoice amount less allowances for credit losses. These allowances reflect our estimate of the amount of
our receivables we will be unable to collect based on historical write-off experience and, as applicable, current economic conditions and reasonable and supportable
forecasts that affect collectability. Our estimate could change based on changing circumstances and qualitative factors not able to be fully captured in our loss
forecast models, including changes in the economy or in the particular circumstances of individual customers. The aforementioned qualitative factors are subjective
and require a degree of management judgment. Generally, the Company does not accrue interest on past due receivables. Certain accounts are turned over to
collection agencies, while the Company places liens and pursues a variety of other collection strategies on others. The allowance for credit losses is charged with the
write-off when deemed uncollectible by management. Write-offs of such receivables require management approval based on specified dollar thresholds.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Our exposure to market risk primarily consists of interest rate risk associated with our variable and fixed rate debt, prices of certain commodities and foreign
currency exchange rate risks. We employ financial instruments to manage the Company's exposure to
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changes in interest rates, diesel and unleaded fuel and foreign currencies. See Note 14, Fair Value of Financial Instruments, for more information.

Interest rate risk: Our earnings may be affected by changes in interest rates on the ABL Facility and Floor Plan Facilities. The interest rates applicable to any
loans under the ABL Facility are based, at our option, on (i) a floating rate based on the SOFR (for loans denominated in U.S. dollars) or Canadian Dollar Offered
Rate (for loans denominated in Canadian dollars) plus an initial margin of 1.75% or (ii) CBFR (for loans denominated in U.S. dollars) or the Canadian Prime Rate
(for loans denominated in Canadian dollars) less an initial margin of 0.75%, in each case, where margin is adjusted under the ABL Facility based on the quarterly
average excess availability under the ABL Facility. The interest rates applicable to any loans under various Floor Plan Facilities are based on a wide range of
benchmark rates (including SOFR, Prime, Bloomberg Short-Term Bank Yield Index, and the Canadian Bankers' Acceptance Rate) plus an applicable margin. As of
December 31, 2023 the lowest Floor Plan Rate was SOFR plus an initial margin of 2.75%, and the highest was SOFR plus an initial margin of 5.00% plus an
adjustment of 0.1145% per annum.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had $317.5 million and $219.5 million, respectively, outstanding borrowings under the ABL Facility. At December 31,
2023 and 2022, we had $397.5 million and $256.9 million, respectively, outstanding borrowings under the Floor Plan Facilities. As of December 31, 2023, based
upon the amount of our variable rate debt outstanding, each one percentage point increase in the interest rates applicable to our variable rate debt when excluding
and including the hedge impact of our interest rate cap would reduce our annual pre-tax earnings by $5.1 million and $3.2 million, respectively. The amount of
variable rate indebtedness outstanding may fluctuate significantly. See Note 8, Floor Plans, and Note 9, Long-Term Debt, in our consolidated financial statements
for additional information concerning the terms of our variable rate debt.

We have a fixed rate on the Senior Secured Second Lien Notes (the "Notes") of $315.0 million which are due in 2026. We did not have significant exposure
to changing interest rates as of December 31, 2023 on the fixed rate Notes. For additional information concerning the terms of our fixed rate debt, see Note 9, Long-
Term Debt.

Commodity price risk: The market prices of diesel and unleaded fuels are unpredictable and can fluctuate significantly. Because of the volume of fuel we
purchase each year, a significant increase in the price of fuel could adversely affect our business and reduce our operating margins. To manage a portion of this risk,
we enter into fixed price swap contracts to purchase gasoline and diesel fuel related to forecasted fuel purchases. For the purchases of unleaded and diesel fuel that
we expect to purchase at market prices in the next 12 months, each $0.10 per gallon increase in the price of diesel and unleaded fuel, holding other variables
constant, would not have a material impact on our pre-tax income when including the fixed price swap contracts.

Foreign currency exchange rate risk: Due to our international operations, a portion of our revenues, cost of revenues, and operating expenses are subject to
foreign currency exchange rate risk. Changes in the exchange rate of the U.S. dollar versus the Canadian dollar and European currencies affect the translated value
and relative level of revenues and net income that we report from one period to the next. Based upon balances and exchange rates as of December 31, 2023, holding
other variables constant, we believe that a hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in all applicable foreign exchange rates would not have a material impact on our
results of operations or cash flows.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Alta Equipment Group Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Alta Equipment Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022, and the related notes, and the schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 14, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or
disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recognition — Refer to Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company’s revenues from the sale of new and used equipment and rental equipment are recognized at the time of delivery to, or pick-up by, the customer,
which is when the customer obtains control of the promised good. Revenues from the sale of parts are recognized at the time of pick-up by the customer for over-
the-counter sales transactions. For parts that are shipped to a customer, revenues are recognized at the time of shipment. The Company recognizes periodic
maintenance service revenues at the time such services are completed. The processing and recording of the Company’s revenue transactions involves a combination

of automated and manual processes.

We identified the Company’s revenue recognition processes for new and used equipment sales, parts sales, service revenues, and rental equipment sales as a critical
audit matter as the Company has a significant volume of revenue transactions throughout the year that rely
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on manual processes to generate accurate data to record revenue when the customer obtains control of the promised good or when services are completed. This
required an increased extent of effort to audit these revenue transactions.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s revenue recognition for new and used equipment sales, parts sales, service revenues, and rental equipment sales
included the following, among others:

. We obtained an understanding of the nature of the revenue recognition process through inquiry with the Company personnel responsible for revenue
recognition, walkthrough of individual transactions, and review of contracts with the customers.

. We created data visualizations to evaluate trends in the transactional revenue data.

. For a sample of new and used equipment sales, parts sales, service revenues, and rental equipment sales transactions, we performed detail transaction

testing of the accuracy, completeness, and timing of recorded revenue by agreeing the amounts recognized to source documents and testing the

mathematical accuracy of the transactions.
. We developed an independent expectation of new and used equipment sales in the Construction Equipment segment using analytical procedures and
considering relevant current and historical information and compared our expectations to the recorded revenue.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Detroit, Michigan
March 14, 2024

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2022.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Alta Equipment Group Inc. and Subsidiaries

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated balance sheet of Alta Equipment Group Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related
notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December
31,2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audit included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those
risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audit also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

We served as the Company’s auditor from 2019 through 2021.

/s/ UHY LLP

Sterling Heights, Michigan
March 31, 2022
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ASSETS
Cash

ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except share and per share amounts)

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $12.4 and $13.0 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively

Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Goodwill
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Floor plan payable — new equipment
Floor plan payable — used and rental equipment
Current portion of long-term debt
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Accrued expenses
Current operating lease liabilities
Current deferred revenue
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Line of credit, net

Long-term debt, net of current portion

Finance lease obligations, net of current portion
Deferred revenue, net of current portion

Guaranteed purchase obligations, net of current portion
Long-term operating lease liabilities, net of current portion

Deferred tax liability
Other liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES
CONTINGENCIES - NOTE 11
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 1,000,000 shares authorized, 1,200,000 Depositary Shares representing a
1/1000th fractional interest in a share of 10% Series A Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, $0.0001 par value per share,
issued and outstanding at both December 31, 2023 and 2022

Common stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 200,000,000 shares authorized; 32,369,820 and 32,194,243 issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Treasury stock at cost, 862,182 shares of common stock held at both December 31, 2023 and 2022

Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

December 31,

December 31,

2023 2022
$ 31.0 2.7
2493 232.8
530.7 399.7
27.0 28.1
838.0 663.3
464.8 377.8
110.9 113.6
76.7 69.2
66.3 60.7
14.2 6.0
$ 1,570.9 1,290.6
$ 2978 2115
99.5 453
7.7 42
97.0 90.8
17.4 27.9
59.7 55.1
15.9 14.8
16.2 14.1
239 7.5
635.1 4712
315.9 217.5
312.3 3112
31.1 15.4
42 4.9
2.5 47
99.6 101.9
77 6.4
12.8 17.6
1,421.2 1,150.8
2338 222.8
(5.9) (5.9)
(76.4) (74.2)
(1.8) 2.9)
149.7 139.8
$ 1,570.9 1,290.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in millions, except share and per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Revenues:
New and used equipment sales $ 1,025.9 $ 817.2 568.8
Parts sales 278.3 234.8 178.5
Service revenues 241.3 206.6 165.5
Rental revenues 202.4 180.1 155.5
Rental equipment sales 128.9 133.1 144.5
Total revenues 1,876.8 1,571.8 1,212.8
Cost of revenues:
New and used equipment sales 853.6 683.2 478.0
Parts sales 183.2 157.4 123.4
Service revenues 103.4 90.7 68.2
Rental revenues 24.8 22.4 20.6
Rental depreciation 110.1 95.5 85.3
Rental equipment sales 94.5 103.0 122.9
Total cost of revenues 1,369.6 1,152.2 898.4
Gross profit 507.2 419.6 314.4
General and administrative expenses 430.3 362.3 285.9
Non-rental depreciation and amortization 22.5 16.5 10.5
Total operating expenses 452.8 378.8 296.4
Income from operations 54.4 40.8 18.0
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense, floor plan payable — new equipment (8.4) 2.7) (1.7)
Interest expense — other (48.6) (29.1) (22.3)
Other income 5.1 1.6 0.7
Loss on extinguishment of debt — — (11.9)
Total other expense, net (51.9) 30.2) (35.2)
Income (loss) before taxes 2.5 10.6 a17.2)
Income tax (benefit) provision (6.4) 1.3 3.6
Net income (loss) 8.9 9.3 (20.8)
Preferred stock dividends 3.0) (3.0) (2.6)
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders $ 5.9 $ 6.3 (234)
Basic income (loss) per share $ 0.18 $ 0.20 0.74)
Diluted income (loss) per share $ 0.18 $ 0.20 (0.74)
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 32,447,754 32,099,247 31,706,329
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 32,877,507 32,301,663 31,706,329

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Net income (loss) $ 8.9 $ 9.3 $ (20.8)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments 1.6 (1.5) —
Change in fair value of derivative, net of tax 0.5) (1.4) —
Total other comprehensive income (loss) ® 1.1 2.9) —
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 10.0 $ 6.4 $ (20.8)

(1) There were no material reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) reflected in Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the years
ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. There were no material taxes associated with Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31,

2023, 2022 and 2021.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions, except share and per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Preferred Stock Common Stock
Accumulated
Other
Additional Comprehensi Total
Number Number of Amoun Paid-in Accumulated Treasury ve Income Stockholders'
of Shares Amount Shares t Capital Deficit Stock (Loss) Equity (Deficit)

Balance at December 31, 2020 1,200,000 $ — 30,018,502 $ — $ 216.2 $ 534) $ 59) $ = $ 156.9

Net loss — — — — — (20.8) — — (20.8)

Dividends on preferred stock, $2.14 per share — — — — — 2.6) — — 2.6)

Stock-based compensation — — 65,000 — 1.2 — — — 12

Warrants exchanged into common stock — — 2,279,874 — — — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2021 1,200,000 $ — 32,363,376 $ — $ 217.4 $ (76.8) $ 59) $ — $ 134.7

Net income — — — — — 9.3 — — 9.3

Dividends on preferred stock, $2.50 per share — — — — — 3.0) — — 3.0)

Dividends on common stock and dividend

equivalent on stock-based compensation,

$0.114 per share = — — = — 3.7) = — 3.7)

Stock-based compensation — — 90,649 — 2.7 — — — 2.7

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — — (1.5) (1.5)

Change in fair value of derivative, net of tax — — — — — — — (1.4) (1.4)

Shares issued for acquisition — — 212,400 — 2.7 — — — 2.7

Repurchase of common stock o — — (472,182) — — — — — —
Balance at December 31, 2022 1,200,000 $ — 32,194,243 $ — $ 222.8 $ (742) $ G9) $ 29) 139.8

Net income — — — — — 8.9 — — 8.9

Dividends on preferred stock, $2.50 per share — — — — — 3.0) — — 3.0)

Dividends on common stock and dividend

equivalent on stock-based compensation,

$0.228 per share — — — — — (7.6) — — (7.6)

Impact of adoption of new accounting standard

(Note 2) — — — — — 0.5) — — 0.5)

Stock-based compensation — — 175,577 — 4.3 — — — 4.3

Foreign currency translation adjustments — — — — — — — 1.6 1.6

Change in fair value of derivative, net of tax — — — — — — — 0.5) 0.5)

Contingent consideration classified as equity — — — — 6.3 — — — 6.3

Proceeds from stockholder short-swing profits — — — — 0.4 — — — 0.4
Balance at December 31, 2023 1,200,000 $ — 32,369,820 $ — $ 233.8 $ (764) $ (59) $ (1.8) § 149.7

(1) Correction of previously disclosed shares repurchased in 2020, not previously reported as a reduction of common stock shares outstanding. Amount is
immaterial to the consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash flows used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs
Imputed interest
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment
Gain on sale of rental equipment
Provision for inventory obsolescence
Provision for losses on accounts receivable
Loss on debt extinguishment
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Stock-based compensation expense
Gain on bargain purchase of business
Changes in deferred income taxes
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Proceeds from sale of rental equipment
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Manufacturers floor plans payable
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, customer deposits, and other current liabilities
Leases, deferred revenue, net of current portion and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Expenditures for rental equipment

Expenditures for property and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Guaranteed purchase obligations expenditures

Expenditures for acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Expenditures for debt issuance costs
Extinguishment of long-term debt
Proceeds from line of credit and long-term borrowings
Principal payments on line of credit, long-term debt, and finance lease obligations
Proceeds from non-manufacturer floor plan payable
Payments on non-manufacturer floor plan payable
Preferred stock dividends paid
Common stock dividends declared and paid
Other financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
NET CHANGE IN CASH

Cash, Beginning of year
Cash, End of period

S

PP al schedule of h investing and financing activities:

Noncash asset purchases:
Net transfer of assets from inventory to rental fleet within property and equipment
Common stock as consideration for business acquisition

Contingent and non-contingent consideration for business acquisitions

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information

Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes

(in millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
89 S 93 (20.8)
132.6 112.0 95.8
2.0 1.8 2.0
1.0 0.3 0.2
0.2 0.2) 0.1)
(34.4) (30.1) (21.6)
22 1.4 0.9
7.2 5.0 42
— — 11.9
0.6) — —
4.3 2.7 1.2
(1.5) — —
10.1) 1.2) 3.6
16.6) (34.7) (40.7)
(286.3) (272.6) (154.1)
128.9 133.1 144.5
0.5 4.1) (10.7)
1225 773 (14.6)
7.3 26.7 30.2
(4.3) 0.7) (1.2)
63.8 26.0 30.7
(62.2) (63.9) (42.3)
(12.4) (12.8) @8.1)
0.5 1.2 23
@3.1) 0.4) (1.9)
(45.6) (86.7) (63.4)
(122.8) (162.6) (113.4)
_ _ (1.7)
_ — (153.1)
379.6 4132 633.2
(288.3) (298.3) (386.2)
188.4 149.9 105.3
(179.7) (121.9) (110.1)
(3.0) (3.0) 2.6)
(7.6) (3.7) —
2.1) 0.7 1.0)
87.3 136.9 83.8
— 0.1 —
28.3 0.4 1.1
2.7 2.3 1.2
31.0 $ 2.7 23
180.2 $ 122.9 165.3
63 27 —
2.0 12.7 0.9
53.6 $ 28.0 20.2
57 8 1.0 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Dollars in millions, except per share data, unless otherwise indicated)

NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Nature of Operations

Alta Equipment Group Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Alta” or the “Company”) is engaged in the sale, service, and rental of material handling, construction, and
environmental processing equipment in the states of Michigan, Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, Pennsylvania, New York, Virginia, Massachusetts, Maine, New Hampshire,
Vermont, Rhode Island, Connecticut, Nevada, and Florida as well as the Canadian provinces of Quebec and Ontario. Unless the context otherwise requires, the use

of the terms “the Company”, “we”, “us,” and “our” in these notes to the consolidated financial statements refers to Alta Equipment Group Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the consolidated accounts of the Company and have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Estimates are based on assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Due to
the inherent uncertainty involved with estimates, actual results may differ. Refer to Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates within Item 7 for more information
on items in the consolidated financial statements we consider require significant estimation or judgment.

Inventory Valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined by specific identification for equipment and a weighted-average method
for parts. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and
transportation. Included in new and used inventory is equipment that is currently on short-term lease to customers. The Company mainly transfers equipment from
inventory into rental fleet based on management’s determination of the highest and best use of the equipment. This inventory is carried at the cost of the equipment
less any accumulated depreciation.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the straight-line method, excluding certain categories of
our rental equipment, specifically in what we determine to be rent-to-sell equipment categories. The rent-to-sell categories are depreciated on a percentage of rental
revenues realized on the asset, or a unit of activity method of depreciation. The Company believes that the unit of activity method on these categories of equipment
more appropriately matches depreciation expense to revenues versus a straight-line methodology, as asset utilization can vary month to month especially in our
northern geographies where seasonality is a factor. In rent-to-rent product categories, where asset utilization is more stable, like in our Material Handling segment,
we use a straight-line depreciation methodology, where estimated useful lives can range from five to ten years. The Company capitalizes expenditures for
equipment, leasehold improvements, and rental fleet. Expenditures for repairs, maintenance, and minor renewals are expensed as incurred. Expenditures for
betterments and major renewals that significantly extend the useful life of the asset are capitalized in the period incurred.

When equipment is sold or otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with
any resulting gain or loss being reflected in income from operations.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets with a finite life consist of customer and supplier relationships, non-compete agreements, tradenames, and internal use software and are
carried at cost less accumulated amortization. During the fourth quarter of 2021, the Company shortened the remaining useful lives of some tradename intangible
assets resulting in accelerated amortization in the fourth quarter of 2021 and
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thereafter given our rebranding efforts on certain acquisitions. The estimated useful lives of the finite-lived intangible assets are as follows:

Estimated
Useful Life
Customer and supplier relationships 9 — 10 years
Other intangibles 2 — 5 years

Evaluation of Goodwill Impairment

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if an event or circumstance indicates that an impairment loss may have been incurred.
Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including: the identification of reporting units; assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting units;
assignment of goodwill to reporting units; and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit.

We estimate the fair value of our reporting units (which are our reportable segments) using a discounted cash flow methodology under an income approach,
corroborated with the results of a market approach which analyzes the enterprise value (market capitalization plus interest-bearing liabilities) and operating metrics
(e.g., earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization expenses) of companies engaged in the same or similar line of business that we deem comparable
to our business and compare those metrics to those of the Company. We make judgments regarding the comparability of publicly traded companies engaged in
similar businesses and base our judgments on factors such as size, growth rates, profitability, business model, and risk. We believe the combination of these
valuation approaches yields the most appropriate evidence of fair value.

Inherent in our preparation of cash flow projections are assumptions and estimates derived from a review of our operating results, business plans, expected
growth rates, cost of capital, and tax rates. We also make certain forecasts about future economic conditions, interest rates, and other market data. Many of the
factors used in assessing fair value are outside the control of management, and these assumptions and estimates may change in future periods. Changes in
assumptions or estimates could materially affect the estimate of the fair value of a reporting unit, and therefore could affect the likelihood and amount of potential
impairment.

Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") guidance permits entities to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative analysis. While the
Company does not believe a qualitative assessment would have triggered the required quantitative assessment, the Company bypassed the optional qualitative
assessments for each reporting unit and performed quantitative assessments at October 1, 2023, 2022 and 2021. We review goodwill for impairment by comparing
the fair value of each of our reporting units' net assets to their respective carrying value. If the carrying value of a reporting unit’s net assets is less than its fair value,
we do not recognize an impairment. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit’s net assets is greater than its fair value, we recognize a goodwill impairment for the
amount of the excess of the net assets over the fair value, not to exceed the book value of goodwill.

Our annual goodwill impairment testing conducted as of October 1, 2023, 2022 and 2021 indicated that all our reporting units had estimated fair values
which exceeded their respective carrying amounts. Based on the results of the tests, there was no goodwill impairment.

Evaluation of Long-lived Asset Impairment (excluding goodwill)

Our long-lived assets principally consist of rental equipment, leases, property and equipment, and other intangible assets excluding goodwill. We review our
long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In reviewing
for impairment, we first complete a qualitative assessment at the lowest level of identifiable cash flows for our long-lived assets (excluding goodwill). If there are
indicators of impairment from the qualitative assessment, a quantitative analysis is performed where the carrying value of such assets is compared to the
undiscounted future pre-tax cash flows expected from the use of the assets and their eventual disposition. If such cash flows are not sufficient to support the asset’s
(or asset group’s) recorded value, an impairment loss may be recognized if the estimated fair value of the asset (or asset group) is less than the respective carrying
value. The determination of future cash flows as well as the estimated fair value of long-lived and intangible assets involves significant estimates and judgment on
the part of management. Our estimates and assumptions may prove to be inaccurate due to factors such as changes in economic conditions, expected asset utilization
levels, our business activity levels or other changing circumstances. In support of our review for indicators of impairment, we perform a review of our long-lived
assets at the lowest level of identifiable cash flows to conclude whether indicators of impairment exist associated with our long-lived assets, including our rental and
non-rental equipment and right-of-use assets. Based on our most recently completed qualitative assessment in the fourth quarter 2023, there were no indications of
impairment associated with our long-lived assets.
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Business Combinations

We allocate the fair value of purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based on their estimated fair values
on the acquisition date. Management develops estimates based on assumptions as part of the purchase price allocation process to value the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date. These estimates are inherently uncertain and are subject to refinement when additional information is obtained during
the measurement period. As a result, during the purchase price measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company may
record adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill. We recognize a bargain purchase gain within "Other
(expense) income, net", in the Consolidated Statements of Operations if the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed is in excess
of the fair value of the total purchase consideration and any noncontrolling interests.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized when control of promised goods or services is transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the business
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Control is transferred when the customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits
from the goods and/or services. The Company’s revenues accounted for under Topic 606 - Revenues from Contracts with Customers ("Topic 606") generally have
the transaction price fixed and clearly stated in the customer contracts. Substantially all the Company’s sales agreements contain performance obligations satisfied at
a point in time, rather than over time, when control is transferred to the customer, generally at the time of delivery to, or pick-up by, the customer. The revenues
recognized over time are primarily project-based and maintenance contract revenues where revenue is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied over
time using the cost-to-cost input method, based on contract costs incurred to date to total estimated contract costs. For contracts with multiple performance
obligations, the Company allocates sales prices to each distinct performance obligation based on the observable selling price and recognizes revenues as each
distinct performance obligation is met.

Payment terms vary by the type and location of the customer and the products or services offered. Generally, the time between when revenue is recognized
and payment is due is not significant. The Company does not evaluate whether the selling price includes a financing interest component for contracts that are less
than a year or if payment is expected to be received less than a year after the good or service has been provided. Sales and other taxes collected from customers and
remitted to government authorities are accounted for on a net basis and, therefore, are excluded from revenue. Shipping and handling costs are treated as fulfillment
costs and are included in cost of revenues. The Company’s revenues do not include material amounts of variable consideration under Topic 606. Contracts with
customers do not generally result in significant obligations associated with returns, refunds, or warranties.

See Note 3, Revenue Recognition, for more information.

Leases
The Company's leases are accounted for under Topic 842 - Leases ("Topic 842").
The Company as Lessee:

We determine whether an arrangement is a lease at the inception of the arrangement based on the terms and conditions in the contract. A contract contains a
lease if there is an identified asset and we have the right to control the asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent our right to use an individual asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. Lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date for leases with terms greater than 12 months and meet
our capitalization threshold based upon the present value of the remaining future minimum lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide
the lessor’s implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”) at the commencement date in determining the present value of future lease payments by
utilizing a fully collateralized rate for a fully amortizing loan with the same term as the lease. The Company applies the portfolio approach for the IBR on our leases
based upon similar lease term and payments. The lease ROU asset also includes lease payments made in advance of lease commencement and excludes lease
incentives. Operating lease expense for minimum lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components. For real estate leases and all equipment leases excluding vehicles, these
components are accounted for as a single lease component. For vehicle leases, these components are accounted for separately.

Variable lease expenses include payments based upon changes in a rate or index, such as consumer price indexes, variable payments on non-lease
components related to leases that we account for as a single lease component, and charges fluctuating based on the usage of the leased asset. Short-term lease
expenses include leases with terms at lease commencement of 12 months or less and no purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised, including leases with a
duration of one month or less. Low-value lease expense
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includes leases with terms at lease commencement of greater than 12 months but do not meet our capitalization threshold, which is consistent with our property and
equipment capitalization threshold. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants;
however, there are certain lease agreements that include guaranteed purchase obligations for lift trucks.

A ROU asset is subject to the same impairment guidance as assets categorized as property and equipment. As such, any impairment loss on ROU assets is
presented in the same manner as an impairment loss recognized on other long-lived assets. The Company reviewed our lease ROU assets for impairment and
determined that none of the assets were impaired during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Operating leases are included in "Operating lease right-of-use assets, net", "Current operating lease liabilities" and "Long-term operating lease liabilities, net
of current portion" on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Finance leases are included in "Property and equipment, net", "Current portion of long-term
debt", and "Finance lease obligations, net of current portion" on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

See Note 10, Leases, related to the required lease disclosures.
The Company as Lessor:

See Note 3, Revenue Recognition, for more information.

Income Taxes

Alta Enterprises, LLC was historically and remains a partnership for federal income tax purposes, with each partner being separately taxed on its share of
taxable income (loss). As most of the activity resides in Alta Enterprises, LLC, the income tax impact to the Company represents the current income tax calculated
at the consolidated return level, (“Alta Equipment Group Inc. and Subsidiaries”), and the deferred impact of the interest in the lower tier partnership.

As it relates to being a consolidated return filer, and considering the operating entity is a 100% owned partnership, the Company uses the guidance in Topic
740 - Income Taxes ("Topic 740") asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
future tax consequences of (i) temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities and (ii)
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are based on enacted tax rates applicable to the future period when those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the
period the rate change is enacted. Deferred income tax assets are subject to valuation allowance considerations to recognize only amounts that are more likely than
not to be ultimately realized.

In accordance with Topic 740, we review the likelihood that we will realize the benefit of deferred tax assets and estimate whether recoverability of our
deferred tax assets is “more likely than not”. In determining whether a valuation allowance is needed, on a quarterly basis we evaluate historical operating results,
the existence of cumulative losses in the most recent fiscal years, expectations for future pretax operating income within the carryback or carryforward periods
provided for in the tax law for each applicable tax jurisdiction, the time period over which our temporary differences will reverse and the implementation of feasible
and prudent tax planning strategies. A cumulative loss in recent years is considered a significant piece of negative evidence that is difficult to overcome in assessing
the need for a valuation allowance. See Note 12, Income Taxes, for more information.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the amount that would be received for selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. Accounting standards establish a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and
minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The FASB fair value measurement guidance established a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes
the inputs used to measure fair value. We assess the inputs used to measure fair value using the three-tier hierarchy. The three broad levels of the fair value hierarchy
are as follows:

. Level 1 — Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

. Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets or inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly

. Level 3 — Unobservable inputs for which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring a company to develop its own assumptions
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In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair
value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

The estimated fair values of derivative financial instruments are valued using widely accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash flow analysis
on the expected cash flows of each derivative and quoted market prices for similar instruments from third parties. The fair value of interest rate caps is determined
using the market-standard methodology of discounting the future expected cash receipts which would occur if floating interest rates rise above the strike rate of the
caps. The floating interest rates used in the calculation of projected receipts on the caps are based on the period to maturity and an expectation of future interest rates
derived from observable market interest rate curves and volatilities. The inputs used in the valuation of all our derivative contracts fall within Level 2 of the fair
value hierarchy.

Translation of Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries that have a functional currency other than U.S. dollar are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange rates at
the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at average exchange rates effective during the year. Foreign currency translation gains and losses are
included as a component of "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" ("AOCI") within the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

New Accounting Pronouncements
New Accounting Pronouncements Adopted in 2023
Financial Instruments — Credit Losses

On January 1, 2023, we adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments
("Topic 326"). This standard prescribes an impairment model (known as the current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model) that is based on expected losses rather
than incurred losses. Under the new guidance, we recognize an allowance for our estimate of expected credit losses over the entire contractual term of our trade
receivables from revenue transactions from the date of initial recognition of the financial instrument. Estimates of expected credit losses over their contractual life
are recorded at inception based on historical information, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts.

The adoption of Topic 326 did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures or our existing internal
controls as our non-rental accounts receivable are of short duration and there is not a material difference between incurred losses and expected losses.

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In November 2023, the FASB issued guidance to improve the disclosures about a public entity’s reportable segments requiring additional, more detailed
information about a reportable segment’s expenses. The Company is required to adopt the guidance in the 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K, though early adoption
is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this amendment on its consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued guidance to provide disaggregated income tax disclosures on the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The
Company is required to adopt the guidance in the first quarter of 2025, though early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this
amendment on its consolidated financial statements.

The Company believes all other recently issued accounting pronouncements from the FASB that the Company has not noted above will not have a material
impact on its consolidated financial statements or do not apply to us.
NOTE 3 — REVENUE RECOGNITION

We recognize revenue in accordance with two different accounting standards: 1) Topic 606 and 2) Topic 842.
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Disaggregation of Revenues

The following table summarizes the Company’s disaggregated revenues as presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 by revenue type and the applicable accounting standard.

Year Ended December 31, 2023 Year Ended December 31, 2022 Year Ended December 31, 2021
Topic 842 Topic 606 Total Topic 842 Topic 606 Total Topic 842 Topic 606 Total
Revenues:

New and used
equipment sales $ — $ 1,0259 $§ 1,025.9 $ — 8 8172  $ 817.2 $ —  $ 568.8 $ 568.8
Parts sales — 278.3 278.3 — 234.8 234.8 — 178.5 178.5
Service revenues — 241.3 241.3 — 206.6 206.6 — 165.5 165.5
Rental revenues 202.4 — 202.4 180.1 — 180.1 155.5 — 155.5
Rental equipment sales — 128.9 128.9 — 133.1 133.1 — 144.5 144.5

Total revenues $ 202.4 $ 1,674.4 $ 1,876.8 $ 180.1 $ 1,391.7 $ 15718 $ 155.5 $ 1,0573 $ 1,212.8

The Company believes that the disaggregation of revenues from contracts to customers as summarized above, together with the discussion below, depicts
how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of our revenues and cash flows are affected by economic factors. See Note 17, Segments, for further information.

Leases revenues (Topic 842)

Rental revenues: Owned equipment rentals represent revenues from renting equipment. The Company accounts for these rental contracts as operating leases.
The Company recognizes revenue from equipment rentals in the period earned, regardless of the timing of billing to customers. A rental contract includes rates for
daily, weekly or monthly use, and rental revenues are earned on a daily basis as rental contracts remain outstanding. Because the rental contracts can extend across
multiple reporting periods, the Company records unbilled rental revenues and deferred rental revenues at the end of each reporting period. Unbilled rental revenues
are included as a component of "Accounts receivable, net" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rental equipment may also be purchased outright (“rental
equipment sales”). Rental revenue and revenue attributable to rental equipment sales are recognized in "Rental revenues" and "Rental equipment sales" on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, respectively.

The Company enters into various equipment sale transactions with certain customers, whereby customers purchase equipment from the Company and then
lease the equipment to a third party. In some cases, the Company provides a guarantee to repurchase the equipment at the end of the lease term between the
customer and third-party lessee at a stated residual amount set forth in the initial sales contract or to pay the customer for the deficiency, if any, between the sale
proceeds received for the equipment and the guaranteed minimum resale value. The Company is precluded from recognizing a sale of equipment when we are
obligated or reasonably certain to exercise the option to repurchase or guarantee the resale value of the equipment to the customer for contracts determined to be
operating leases. For these arrangements, because the Company generally receives the full amount of the consideration at the beginning of the arrangement, the
Company initially records deferred revenue for the net proceeds upon the equipment’s initial transfer which excludes the guaranteed residual value, and a separate
liability for the guaranteed residual value. This deferred revenue is recognized into rental revenues on a pro-rata basis over the lease contract period up to the first
exercise date of the guarantee under Topic 842. At December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, the total deferred revenue relating to these equipment sale
transactions amounted to $2.0 million and $3.0 million, respectively. The Company also recognized a liability in "Other current liabilities" and "Guaranteed
purchase obligations, net of current portion" on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, for its guarantee to repurchase equipment at residual amounts of $4.8 million and
$7.0 million as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Revenues from contracts with customers (Topic 606)

Accounting for the different types of revenues pursuant to Topic 606 is discussed below. The Company’s revenues under Topic 606 are primarily recognized
at a point in time rather than over time.

New and used equipment sales: With the exception of bill-and-hold arrangements and project-based revenues, the Company’s revenues from the sale of new
and used equipment are recognized at the time of delivery to, or pick-up by, the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the promised good(s).
Under bill-and-hold arrangements, revenue is recognized when all configuration work is complete and the equipment has been set aside for final shipment, at which
point the Company has determined control has been transferred. The bill-and-hold arrangements primarily apply to sales when physical shipment of heavy
equipment to the customer is prohibited by law (e.g., frost laws) or requested by the customer due to their inability to arrange freight simultaneous to the satisfaction
of the performance obligations. The customer equipment sold under a bill-and-hold arrangement is physically separated from Company inventory and that
equipment cannot be used by the Company or sold to another customer. Revenues recognized from bill-and-hold agreements totaled $27.7 million and $15.6 million
for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The Company does not offer material rights of return.
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Project-based revenues, as referred to herein, are contracts with customers where the Company provides design and build solutions, automated equipment
installation and system integration and installation and set-up of warehouse management systems and related hardware and software support services. This revenue
is recognized as the performance obligations are satisfied over time using the cost-to-cost input method, based on contract costs incurred to date to total estimated
contract costs. The Company recognizes deferred revenue with respect to project-based services. The Company recognized $66.9 million, $77.5 million and $55.9
million in project-based revenues for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Parts sales: Revenues from the sale of parts are recognized at the time of pick-up by the customer for over-the-counter sales transactions and for parts
associated with periodic maintenance services at the time such services are completed. For parts that are shipped to a customer, the Company has elected to use a
practical expedient of Topic 606 and treat such shipping activities as fulfillment costs, thereby recognizing revenues at the time of shipment, which is when the
customer obtains control.

Service revenues: The Company records service revenues primarily from guaranteed maintenance contracts and periodic services with customers. The
Company recognizes periodic maintenance service revenues at the time such services are completed. The Company recognizes guaranteed maintenance contract
revenues over time based on an estimated rate at which the services are provided over the life of the contract, typically three to five years. Revenue recognized from
guaranteed maintenance contracts totaled $24.0 million, $21.4 million and $18.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The
Company also records service revenue from warranty contracts whereby the Company performs service on behalf of the OEM or third-party warranty provider.

Rental equipment sales: The Company also sells rental equipment from our rental fleet. These sales are recognized at the time of delivery to, or pick-up by,
the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the promised good(s). In some cases, certain rental agreements contain a rental purchase option,
whereby the customer has an option to purchase the rented equipment during the term of the rental agreement. Revenues from the sale of rental equipment are
recognized at the time the rental purchase option agreement has been approved and signed by both parties, as the equipment is already in the customer’s possession
under the previous rental agreement, and therefore control has been transferred as title has been transferred.

Contract costs

The Company does not recognize assets associated with the incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer that the Company expects to recover
(for example, a sales commission). Most of the Company’s revenue is recognized at a point in time or over a period of one year or less, and the Company has used
the practical expedient that allows it to recognize the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset
that the Company otherwise would have recognized is one year or less. The amount of the costs associated with the revenue recognized over a period of greater than
one year is insignificant.

Receivables and contract assets and liabilities

With respect to our receivables, we believe the concentration of credit risk is limited because our customer base is comprised of a large number of
geographically diverse customers.

The Company has contract assets and contract liabilities associated with project-based contracts with customers.

Contract assets are fulfilled contractual obligations prior to receivables being recognizable for project-based revenues. Contract assets as of December 31,
2023 and 2022 were $4.5 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

The deferred revenue (contract liabilities) includes the unearned portion of project-based revenues, revenues related to guaranteed maintenance service
contracts for customers covering equipment previously purchased and deferred revenues related to rental agreements. Total deferred revenue relating to project-
based revenues, service maintenance contracts and equipment rental agreements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $18.4 million and $16.0 million,
respectively. Deferred revenue also includes the net proceeds upon sale of equipment with certain guaranteed purchase obligations. In total, deferred revenue as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022 was $20.4 million and $19.0 million, respectively. The Company expects 80% of total deferred revenues balance as of December 31,
2023 to be realized within the next year, 12% in the following year, 5% in the third year and 3% thereafter. A portion of the deferred revenue is recognized based
upon usage of the equipment and therefore may vary from our current expectation. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized
revenue of $13.9 million and $12.6 million, respectively, from the prior year ending deferred revenue balance.

NOTE 4 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the fourth quarter 2022, substantially all of the Company's operating facilities that were previously leased from four real estate entities related
through common ownership were sold to an unrelated third party. The Company continues to lease those
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facilities, however the lessor is no longer a related party. Total rent expense under these lease agreements, all of which were classified as operating, was $4.8 million
for each of the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Our CEO, CFO, and COO collectively own an indirect, non-controlling minority interest in OneH2, Inc. (“OneH2”), which they each acquired through
various transactions that took place in early 2018 and prior. Our CEO is on the Board of Directors of OneH2. OneH2 is a privately held company that produces and
delivers hydrogen fuel to end users and manufactures modular hydrogen plants and related equipment. The Company did not make any purchases from OneH2 in
2021. During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company purchased approximately $0.4 million and $0.3 million of hydrogen fuel from OneH2,
respectively. Additionally, the Company paid OneH2 $1.1 million and $3.1 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, as part of the
Company's investment to build and commercialize a hydrogen production plant which we expect to become operational in 2024.

NOTE 5 — INVENTORIES

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

New equipment $ 373.6 $ 258.5
Used equipment 54.6 59.0
Work in process 8.2 8.6
Parts 101.9 78.8

Gross inventory 538.3 404.9
Inventory reserves (7.6) (5.2)

Inventories, net $ 530.7 $ 399.7

Direct labor of $1.2 million and $1.8 million incurred for open service orders were capitalized and included in work in process as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, respectively. The remaining work in process balances as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, primarily represent parts applied to open service orders. Rental
depreciation expense, for new and used equipment inventory under short-term leases with purchase options, was $12.4 million, $7.6 million and $5.8 million for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

NOTE 6 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment, net, consisted of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022
Land $ 2.1 $ 2.1
Rental fleet 600.8 516.4
Buildings, equipment, and leasehold improvements:
Machinery and equipment 8.5 8.6
Autos and trucks 7.7 7.1
Buildings and leasehold improvements 20.8 15.6
Construction in progress 6.1 43
Finance lease right-of-use assets 48.4 24.4
Office equipment 49 4.7
Computer equipment 13.3 13.1
Total cost 712.6 596.3
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization:
Rental fleet (209.4) (187.4)
Buildings, equipment, autos and trucks, leasehold improvements, finance leases and office and computer equipment (38.4) (31.1)
Total accumulated depreciation and amortization (247.8) (218.5)
Property and equipment, net $ 464.8 $ 377.8

Total depreciation and amortization on property and equipment was $111.3 million, $98.5 million, and $86.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021, respectively. The Company had assets related to finance leases with gross carrying values totaling $48.4 million and $24.4 million, and accumulated
amortization balances totaling $10.8 million and $5.4 million, as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Of the $600.8 million and $516.4 million of gross
cost of rental fleet, $8.9 million and $11.8 million were represented by guaranteed purchase obligation assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.
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NOTE 7 — GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill in total and by reportable segment during the years ended December 31,

2023 and 2022:

Material Construction

Handling Equipment Master Distribution Total
Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 11.6 $ 30.3 $ = $ 41.9
Additions 2.0 — 17.6 19.6
Adjustments to purchase price allocations — 7.7 — 7.7
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 13.6 $ 38.0 $ 17.6 $ 69.2
Additions 1.1 5.4 — 6.5
Adjustments to purchase price allocations 0.3 — 0.7 1.0
Translation adjustments — — — —
Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 15.0 $ 434 $ 18.3 $ 76.7

The Company reviewed our goodwill for impairment and determined that none of the goodwill was impaired during the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for more information on the impairment testing.

The gross carrying amount of intangible assets and accumulated amortization as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

December 31, 2023
Weighted Average Remaining Life Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
(in years) amount amortization amount
Customer and supplier relationships 7.6 $ 73.6 $ (16.8) $ 56.8
Other intangibles 3.9 14.6 (5.1) 9.5
Total 7.0 $ 88.2 $ (21.9) $ 66.3
December 31, 2022
Weighted Average Remaining Life Gross carrying Accumulated Net carrying
(in years) amount amortization amount
Customer and supplier relationships 8.3 $ 63.0 $ (10.1) $ 52.9
Other intangibles 42 10.7 2.9) 7.8
Total 7.7 $ 73.7 $ (13.0) $ 60.7

Amortization of intangible assets was $8.9 million, $5.9 million, and $3.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company reviewed our finite-lived intangible assets for impairment and determined that none of the assets were impaired during the years ended

December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, for more information on the impairment testing.

As of December 31, 2023, estimated amortization expense for intangible assets for each of the next five years and thereafter was as follows:

Year ending December 31,
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
Thereafter
Total

Amount

10.3
10.1
9.9
9.1
8.3
18.6

66.3




NOTE 8 — FLOOR PLANS
Floor Plan — First Lien Lender

On April 1, 2021, the Company entered into a Floor Plan First Lien Credit Agreement ("Floor Plan Credit Agreement") by and among Alta Equipment
Group, Inc. and the other credit parties named therein, and the lender JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent. Under the Floor Plan Credit
Agreement, the Company has a first lien floor plan facility (the "First Lien Floor Plan Facility") with our first lien lenders to primarily finance new inventory. On
June 28, 2023, the Company amended our Floor Plan Credit Agreement to increase the maximum borrowing capacity by $10.0 million from $60.0 million to $70.0
million. The interest cost for the First Lien Floor Plan Facility is SOFR plus an applicable margin. The First Lien Floor Plan Facility is collateralized by
substantially all assets of the Company. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had an outstanding balance on our First Lien Floor Plan Facility of $67.4
million and $58.6 million, respectively, excluding unamortized debt issuance costs. The effective interest rate at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was 8.2% and 7.0%,
respectively. The Company routinely sells equipment that is financed under the First Lien Floor Plan Facility. When this occurs the payable under the First Lien
Floor Plan Facility related to the financed equipment being sold becomes due to be paid.

OEM Captive Lenders and Suppliers’ Floor Plans

The Company has floor plan financing facilities with several OEM captive lenders and suppliers (the “OEM Floor Plan Facilities”, and together with the
First Lien Floor Plan Facility, collectively the “Floor Plan Facilities”) for new and used inventory and rental equipment, each with borrowing capacities ranging
from $0.1 million to $148.5 million. Primarily, the Company utilizes the OEM Floor Plan Facilities for purchases of new equipment inventories. Certain OEM Floor
Plan Facilities provide for up to twelve-months interest only or deferred payment periods. In addition, certain OEM Floor Plan Facilities regularly provide for
interest and principal free payment terms. The Company routinely sells equipment that is financed under OEM Floor Plan Facilities. When this occurs the payable
under the OEM Floor Plan Facilities related to the financed equipment being sold becomes due to be paid.

With the recent acquisitions, some of the Company’s OEM Floor Plan Facilities were amended to include new locations and new entities. The OEM Floor
Plan Facilities are secured by the equipment being financed, and contain certain operating company guarantees. The interest cost is SOFR plus an applicable
margin. The effective rates, excluding the favorable effect of interest-free periods, as of December 31, 2023 ranged from 8.4% to 10.5% and 6.8% to 9.2% as of
December 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had an outstanding balance on the OEM Floor Plan Facilities of $330.1 million and $198.3
million, respectively.

The total aggregate amount of financing under the Floor Plan Facilities cannot exceed $429.0 million at any time, which maximum amount is subject to a
10% annual increase. To better align with its business operations, on February 28, 2024 the Company amended its ABL Facility and First Lien Floor Plan Facility
primarily for the purpose of moving the effective date of such annual increase to December 31% of each year, beginning with December 31, 2023. The total
outstanding balance under the Floor Plan Facilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, was $397.5 million and $256.9 million, respectively, excluding unamortized
debt issuance costs. For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the Company recognized interest expense associated with new equipment financed
under our Floor Plan Facilities of $8.4 million, $2.7 million, and $1.7 million, respectively. The weighted average rate, excluding the favorable effect of interest-free
periods, on the Company's Floor Plan Facilities was 8.0% and 6.7% as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

NOTE 9 — LONG-TERM DEBT
Line of Credit — First Lien Lender

On April 1, 2021, the Company entered into a Sixth Amended and Restated ABL First Lien Credit Agreement (the “Amended and Restated ABL Credit
Agreement”) by and among Alta Equipment Group Inc. and the other credit parties named therein, the lenders named therein, JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, and the syndication agents and documentation agent named therein, superseding and replacing the Fifth Amended and Restated ABL First
Lien Credit Agreement. Under the Amended and Restated ABL Credit Agreement, the Company has an asset based revolving line of credit (the “ABL Facility”)
with our first lien holder with advances on the line being supported by eligible accounts receivable, parts, and otherwise unencumbered new and used equipment
inventory and rental equipment. On June 28, 2023 the Company amended the ABL Facility by exercising $55.0 million of the Company's expansion option
increasing borrowing capacity from $430.0 million to $485.0 million, which includes a $35 million Canadian-denominated sublimit facility. The ABL Facility is
collateralized by substantially all assets of the Company, and the interest cost is SOFR plus an applicable margin on the CB Floating Rate, depending on borrowing
levels. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
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the Company had an outstanding ABL Facility balance of $317.5 million and $219.5 million, respectively, excluding unamortized debt issuance costs. The effective
interest rate was 7.2% and 6.2% at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Maximum borrowings under the Floor Plan Facilities and ABL Facility are limited to $914.0 million unless certain other conditions are met. The total
amount outstanding as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, was $715.0 million and $476.4 million, exclusive of debt issuance and deferred financing costs of $1.8
million and $2.1 million, respectively.

Senior Secured Second Lien Notes

On April 1, 2021, the Company completed a private offering of Senior Secured Second Lien Notes (the “Notes”), for the purposes of, among other things,
repayment and refinancing of a portion of the Company’s prior existing debt, reducing interest rate exposure and providing liquidity for financing of future growth
initiatives. The Company sold $315.0 million of Notes at the rate of 5.625% per annum which are due on April 15, 2026. Interest on the Notes is payable in cash on
April 15 and October 15 of each year, beginning on October 15, 2021. The Notes are guaranteed (the “Guarantees” and, together with the Notes, the “Securities”)
by the guarantors that are party thereto (the “Guarantors™) on a second lien, senior secured basis. The Notes were sold in a private placement in reliance on Rule
144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to a purchase agreement among the Company, the Guarantors, and J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC, as representative of the initial purchasers.

The Notes are guaranteed by each of our existing and future domestic subsidiaries that become a borrower or guarantor under our or the Guarantors’
indebtedness, including the Credit Agreements, as amended and restated concurrently with the closing of the Notes offering. The Notes and the Guarantees are
secured, subject to certain exceptions and permitted liens, by second-priority liens on substantially all of our assets and the assets of the Guarantors that secure on a
first-priority basis all of the indebtedness under our ABL Facility and the First Lien Floor Plan Facility and certain hedging and cash management obligations,
including, but not limited to, equipment, fixtures, inventory, intangibles and capital stock of our restricted subsidiaries now owned or acquired in the future by us or
the Guarantors.

As of December 31, 2023, outstanding borrowings under the Notes were $312.3 million, which included $2.7 million deferred financing costs and original
issue discounts. The effective interest rate on the Notes, taking into account the original issue discount, is 5.93%.

The Company’s long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

Line of credit $ 317.5 $ 219.5
Senior secured second lien notes 315.0 315.0
Unamortized debt issuance costs 2.2) (2.8)
Debt discount (2.1) (3.0)
Finance leases 38.8 19.6

Total debt and finance leases 667.0 548.3
Less: current maturities (7.7) “4.2)

Long-term debt and finance leases, net $ 659.3 $ 544.1

As of December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with the financial covenants set forth in our debt agreements.

Long term debt principal maturities, excluding finance leases which are disclosed in Note 10, Leases, are as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2024 $ _
2025 317.5
2026 315.0
2027 —
2028 —
Thereafter —

Total $ 632.5
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Notes Payable — Non-Contingent Consideration

The Company acquired the assets of Ecoverse on November 1, 2022. Pursuant to the asset purchase agreement, sellers are entitled to minimum additional
cash payments of $6.0 million plus interest throughout a 5-year earn-out period. The liabilities below include the present value of these minimum cash payments
using a market participant discount rate. The table below also includes non-contingent consideration amounts related to the Company's acquisitions of Peaklogix
LLC, Ginop Sales, Inc. and Ault that are neither material individually nor in the aggregate.

December 31, December 31,
Balance Sheet Location 2023 2022
Other current liabilities $ 7.4 $ 0.8
Other liabilities 6.5 6.2
Total $ 13.9 $ 7.0

See Note 14, Fair Value of Financial Instruments, and Note 15, Business Combinations, for further information.

NOTE 10 — LEASES

The Company primarily has operating and finance leases for branch facilities, corporate office, and certain equipment which encompass both related party
and third-party leases. The Company’s leases have remaining lease terms that range from less than one year to leases that mature through December 2037 and
contain provisions to renew the leases for additional terms of up to 20 years.

The Company leases and subleases certain lift trucks to customers under short and long-term operating lease agreements. The sublease income is included in
"Rental revenues" on our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Sublease income below includes subleases of primarily facilities that are not included in Rental
revenues due to being outside our normal business operations. The costs of the head lease for these subleases are included in Operating lease expense below.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, assets recorded under finance leases, net of accumulated depreciation were $37.6 million and $19.0 million, respectively.
The assets are depreciated over the lesser of their related lease terms or estimated useful lives.

The components of lease expense (including related party leases) were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Operating lease expense $ 27.0 $ 25.1 $ 23.3
Short-term lease expense 5.0 4.4 4.3
Low-value lease expense 0.9 0.5 0.6
Variable lease expense 9.0 6.6 1.5
Finance lease expense:

Amortization of right-of-use assets 6.5 4.0 2.0

Interest on lease liabilities 2.6 1.0 0.4
Sublease income 0.3) 0.1) (0.1)

Total lease expense $ 50.7 $ 41.5 $ 32.0
Other information related to leases is presented in the table below:
Year Ended December 31,
Supplemental Cash Flows Information 2023 2022 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows for operating leases $ 25.9 $ 24.2 $ 223

Operating cash flows for finance leases 2.6 1.0 0.4

Financing cash flows for finance leases 5.7 3.6 1.9
Non-cash right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:

Operating leases 13.9 29.3 15.5

Finance leases 252 11.6 12.6
Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term (in years):

Operating leases 8.9 9.3 6.9

Finance leases 4.7 4.5 4.7
Weighted Average Discount Rate (in %):

Operating leases 10.3 10.0 6.3

Finance leases 8.5 7.6 5.6

Minimum future lease payments under non-cancellable operating and finance leases described above as of December 31, 2023 were as follows:
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Year ending December 31, Operating Leases Finance Leases

2024 $ 25.8 $ 10.6
2025 22.5 10.3
2026 19.2 9.5
2027 17.8 7.9
2028 16.1 5.9
Thereafter 80.0 2.7
Total future minimum lease payments 181.4 46.9
Less: imputed interest (65.9) 8.1)
Total $ 115.5 $ 38.8
Balance Sheet Location December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Current portion of long-term debt $ 7.7 $ 4.2
Current operating lease liabilities 159 14.8
Finance lease obligations, net of current portion 31.1 154
Long-term operating lease liabilities, net of current portion 99.6 101.9
Total $ 154.3 $ 136.3

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had additional leases, substantially all real estate, that have not yet commenced with undiscounted lease payments
of $3.3 million. These leases are expected to commence in 2024 with lease terms up to 15 years.

The Company leases and subleases certain lift trucks to customers under long-term operating lease agreements which expire at various dates through 2028.
Approximate minimum rentals receivable, none of which are recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, under such leases for each of the next five years and
thereafter are as follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2024 $ 5.8
2025 2.8
2026 2.0
2027 1.4
2028 0.1
Thereafter _

Total $ 12.1

Sublease income recorded in "Rental revenues" in our Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was
$6.2 million, $7.0 million, and $7.5 million, respectively.

For more information on our Rental revenues as a lessor, please refer to Note 3, Revenue Recognition.

Future guaranteed purchase obligations under operating and sales-type leases to be paid by the Company for each of the next five years and thereafter are as
follows:

Year ending December 31, Amount

2024 $ 23
2025 1.7
2026 0.5
2027 0.1
2028 02
Thereafter —

Total $ 4.8

See Note 11, Contingencies, for more information on certain contracts where the Company guarantees the performance of the third-party lessee.

NOTE 11 — CONTINGENCIES

Guarantees

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company was party to certain contracts in which we guarantee the performance of agreements with various third-
party financial institutions. In the event of a default by a third-party lessee, the Company would be required to pay all or a portion of the remaining unpaid
obligations as specified in the contract. The estimated exposure related to these guarantees was not material as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. It is anticipated that
the third parties will have the ability to repay the
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debt without the Company having to honor the guarantee; therefore, no amount has been accrued on the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and
2022.

Legal Proceedings

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, various claims and lawsuits, incidental to the ordinary course of our business, were pending against
the Company. In the opinion of management, after consultation with legal counsel, resolution of these matters, net of expected insurance proceeds, is not expected
to have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Contractual Obligations

The Company does not believe there are any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a material effect on the Company. As
of December 31, 2023 and 2022 there was $9.0 million and $4.9 million, respectively, in outstanding letters of credit issued in the normal course of business. These
letters of credit reduce our available borrowings under our ABL Facility.

NOTE 12 — INCOME TAXES

The income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were calculated based upon the following components of income
before income taxes:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
U.S. income (loss) $ 0.7 $ 9.0 $ (17.2)
Foreign income 1.8 1.6 —
Total income (loss) before taxes $ 2.5 $ 10.6 $ 17.2)

The income tax provision (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Current
U.S. federal $ 0.7 $ 1.9 $ —
U.S. state 1.7 0.6 —
Foreign 0.4 — —
Deferred
U.S. federal (5.2) 0.7) 2.8
U.S. state (5.3) 0.8) 0.8
Foreign 1.3 0.3 ==
Total income tax (benefit) expense $ 64) $ 1.3 $ 3.6

The reconciliation of the income tax expense (benefit) in the consolidated financial statements and the amount computed by applying the statutory U.S.
federal and state related income tax rates to the pre-tax income (loss) before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory U.S. federal rate $ 0.5 $ 22 $ 3.6)
Income tax expense (benefit) at statutory U.S. states rate, net 0.2 0.4) 0.6)
Foreign rate differential 0.1 0.1 —
Valuation allowance (8.8) 0.8 7.6
Fixed asset basis adjustments — (1.6) —
Other 1.6 0.2 0.2

Total income tax (benefit) expense $ 6.4) $ 1.3 $ 3.6

The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was (256.0)%, 12.3% and (20.9)%, respectively. The effective income tax rate
in 2023 was primarily related to $8.8 million discrete income tax benefit from the release of the valuation allowance of certain U.S. federal and state deferred tax
assets during the third quarter. The effective tax rate in 2022 was primarily related to income tax expense associated with tax filing jurisdictions with no associated
valuation allowance and 2021 was primarily due to the impact of the establishment of the valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset.

The Company intends to indefinitely reinvest the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries and expect future U.S. cash generation to be sufficient to
meet future U.S. cash needs. The undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries and related unrecognized
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deferred tax liability are not material as of December 31, 2023 and 2022. If the Company determines that all or a portion of such foreign earnings are no longer
indefinitely reinvested, the Company may be subject to foreign withholding taxes and U.S. state income taxes, beyond the one-time transition tax.

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022
Deferred Tax Assets
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 41.3 $ 8.3
Deferred revenue 0.6 0.7
Accounts receivable and inventories 6.6 6.0
Goodwill & intangibles — 1.8
Accrued liabilities 4.8 6.0
Lease liability 39.1 352
Interest limitation carryforward 20.5 3.7
Deferred payroll taxes and other 2.0 1.8
Gross deferred tax assets 114.9 63.5
Valuation allowance — (8.8)
Deferred tax assets 114.9 54.7
Deferred Tax Liabilities
Property and equipment (73.5) (25.3)
Goodwill & intangibles 2.2) —
Prepaid expenses (1.4) (1.5)
Lease right-of-use assets (37.6) (34.3)
Gross deferred tax liabilities (114.7) (61.1)
Deferred tax assets (liabilities), net $ 0.2 $ 6.4)

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the net change in the valuation allowance was a decrease of $8.8 million and increase of $1.2 million,
respectively. The valuation allowance decreased in 2023 due to the aforementioned release of the valuation allowance. We will continue to monitor the need for a
valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. The increase in 2022 was due to the increases in deferred tax assets primarily related to
interest limitation carryforward and accrued liabilities. The Company reviews the realizability of our deferred tax asset on a quarterly basis, or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that a review is required. In determining the requirement for a valuation allowance, historical and projected financial results are
considered, along with any other positive or negative evidence. All of the factors that the Company considers in evaluating whether and when to establish or release
all or a portion of the deferred tax asset valuation allowance involves significant judgment.

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had federal net operating tax loss carryforwards of approximately $194.6 million and $30.5 million,
respectively, primarily due to taking bonus depreciation. These federal net operating tax loss carryforwards may be carried forward indefinitely and are eligible to
offset 80% of future taxable income. The Company also has state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $6.0 million with varying carryforward
expiration periods ranging from 2040 to 2041.

The Company has open tax years from 2020 through 2023 for U.S. federal and Canadian income taxes. The Company also files tax returns in numerous
states for which various tax years are subject to examination and currently involved in audits. Typically states remain open for three years from filing, with the
majority of the open years being 2020 to 2023.

NOTE 13 — STOCK BASED COMPENSATION

The Company’s plan is to have broad-based, long-term programs intended to attract and retain talented employees and align stockholder and employee
interests. We calculated the fair value of the restricted stock units ("RSUs") and performance stock units ("PSUs") at grant date based on the closing market price of
our common stock at the date of grant. The compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award. The number
of PSUs granted depends on the Company's achievement of target performance goals, which may range from 0% to 200% of the target award amount. The PSUs
vest ratably over three years including the one-year performance period. Upon vesting, each stock award is exchangeable for one share of the Company's common
stock, with accrued dividends.

The Company recognized total stock-based compensation expense for PSUs and RSUs of $4.1 million, $2.7 million and $1.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to the non-vested portion of the Company's RSUs was $1.4 million, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 0.6 years. As of December 31, 2023,
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the total unrecognized compensation expense related to the non-vested portion of the Company's PSUs was $4.3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average period of 0.9 years.

The following table shows the number of stock awards that were granted, vested, and forfeited during 2023:

Restricted Stock Units Performance Stock Units
Weighted average grant

Weighted average grant

Number of units Number of units

date fair value date fair value
Unvested units as of December 31, 2022 288,266 $ 10.24 424,538 $ 12.14
Granted 96,376 15.65 179,199 15.85
Vested - issued (121,787) 10.01 (53,790) 12.14
Vested - unissued (32,281) 12.79 — —
Forfeited — — (6,525) 13.54
Unvested units as of December 31, 2023 230,574 $ 12.27 543,422 $ 13.37

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On June 8, 2023 the Company filed Form S-8 to register 325,000 common stock shares, the total shares reserved for the ESPP. The Company then opened
enrollment for the first offering period that started July 1, 2023 and continues through December 31, 2023. There are two six month offering periods each year
starting January 1 and July 1 with the purchase date on the last business day of each offering period.

Under the ESPP, eligible employees (as defined in the ESPP) can purchase the Company’s common stock through accumulated payroll deductions. Eligible
employees may purchase the Company’s common stock at 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the first or last business
day of each six month offering period. Eligible employees may contribute up to 10% of their eligible compensation. Under the ESPP, a participant may not accrue
rights to purchase more than $25,000 worth of the Company’s common stock for each calendar year in which such right is outstanding.

Employees who elect to participate in the ESPP commence payroll withholdings that accumulate through the end of the respective period. In accordance
with the guidance in Topic 718-50 — Compensation — Stock Compensation, the ability to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock for 85% of the lower of
the price on the first day of the offering period or the last day of the offering period (i.e. the purchase date) represents an option and, therefore, the ESPP is a
compensatory plan under this guidance. Accordingly, stock-based compensation expense is determined based on the option’s grant-date fair value as estimated by
applying the Black Scholes option-pricing model and is recognized over the withholding period. The stock-based compensation expense related to the ESPP
recognized during the year ended December 31, 2023 was not material and no compensation expense was recognized in any prior period reported.

ESPP employee payroll contributions accrued as of December 31, 2023 totaled $0.9 million and are included within "Accrued expenses" in the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. There was no accrual as of December 31, 2022 as the ESPP enrollment had not yet commenced. Cash withheld via employee payroll deductions is
presented in financing activities within "Other financing activities" on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

NOTE 14 — FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying value of financial instruments reported in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets for "Cash", "Accounts receivable, net", "Accounts
payable", "Accrued expenses" and "Other current liabilities" approximate fair value due to the immediate or short-term nature or maturity of these financial
instruments.

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
Debt Instruments

The carrying value of the Company's debt instruments vary from their fair values. The fair values were determined by reference to transacted prices and
quotes for these instruments and upon current borrowing rates with similar maturities, which are Level 2 fair value inputs. The estimated fair value, as well as the
carrying value, of the Company's debt instruments as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 are shown below:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Estimated aggregate fair value $ 655.6 $ 521.0
Aggregate carrying value 671.3 554.1
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(1) Total debt excluding the impact of unamortized debt discount and debt issuance costs.
Contingent Consideration

The contingent consideration liability represents the fair value of the future earn-outs that the Company may be required to pay in conjunction with certain
acquisitions upon the achievement of performance milestones. The earn-outs for the acquisitions are measured at fair value in each reporting period, based on Level
3 inputs, with any change to the fair value recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following table sets forth the Company’s contingent consideration liabilities recorded at fair value as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022,
and their presentation on the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Level 3
Balance Sheet Location December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Other current liabilities $ 0.4 $ 1.8
Other liabilities 4.2 8.0

The following is a summary of changes to Level 3 instruments for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Contingent Consideration

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 2.8
Acquisitions 6.9
Changes in fair value 0.5
Payments 0.4)
Balance, December 31, 2022 $ 9.8
Acquisitions —
Changes in fair value 1.1
Payments (1.2)
Non-contingent reclass (5.1)
Balance, December 31, 2023 $ 4.6

Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to market risk associated with changes in foreign currency exchange rates, commodity prices and interest
rates. To manage a portion of these inherent risks, we may purchase certain types of derivative financial instruments based on management's judgment of the trade-
off between risk, opportunity and cost. We do not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. The impact of hedge
ineffectiveness for those derivatives where hedge accounting is applied was not significant in any of the periods presented. The Company has determined the fair
value of all our derivative contracts are based on Level 2 inputs such as quoted market prices for similar instruments from third parties and inputs other than quoted
prices that are observable (forward curves, implied volatility, counterparty credit risks). The Company reviews counterparty credit risks at regular intervals and has
not experienced any significant credit loss as a result of counterparty nonperformance in the past.

Currency Derivative Contracts

Starting in 2022, from time to time we used foreign currency forward contracts to reduce the effects of fluctuations in exchange rates relating to foreign
currencies for certain inventory purchases. The foreign currency forward contracts expired in August 2023 and the realized gain on these contracts for the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 was not material.

Interest Rate Cap

During November 2022, we entered into an interest rate cap to protect cash flows from the risks associated with interest payments from interest rate
increases on variable rate debt. The interest rate cap is a derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge under Topic 815 — Derivatives and Hedging. The
premiums are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations when paid from the effective date through the termination date. All changes in the fair value
of the interest rate cap are deferred in AOCI and subsequently recognized in earnings in the period when the derivative contract settles. The unrealized gain on the
interest rate cap for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 is disclosed in the Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensive Income.

Fuel Purchase Contracts

During June 2023, we entered into fixed price swap contracts to purchase gasoline and diesel fuel to protect cash flows from the risks associated with
fluctuations in fuel prices on a portion of anticipated future purchases. The fixed price swap contracts to purchase gasoline and diesel fuel are derivative instruments
not designated as hedging instruments under Topic 815.
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The following table summarizes the maturity dates, unit of measure and notional value for the derivative instruments as of December 31, 2023:

Maturity Date of Derivatives
Interest rate cap (December 2025)
Fuel swaps (various through June 2025)

Gallons

Currency / Unit of Measure
One-month SOFR

Notional Value

200.0
2.5

The following table sets forth the location and fair values of the Company’s derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 on the

Consolidated Balance Sheets:

Asset Derivatives

Liability Derivatives

Derivatives designated as December 31,
hedges Balance Sheet location 2023

December 31,

Interest rate cap - current Prepaid expenses and other
current assets $ =
Interest rate cap - long-term  Other assets 1.7
Derivatives not designated
as hedge
Foreign currency forwards ~ Prepaid expenses and other
current assets —

NOTE 15 — BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

The following table summarizes the net assets acquired from the 2023 acquisitions:

Cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Rental fleet
Property and equipment
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

Floor plan payable — new equipment
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Accrued expenses
Current operating lease liabilities
Current deferred revenue
Long-term operating lease liabilities
Deferred tax liability

Total liabilities

Net assets acquired

Net assets acquired net of cash

Burris

Balance Sheet

December 31,

December 31,

2022 location 2023 2022
Other current
—  liabilities $ 1.6 $ 1.6
3.5 Other liabilities 1.6 34
Other current
—  liabilities 0.2
Burris Ault
$ — 3 0.9
1.0 6.9
8.7 28.9
0.1 0.7
10.8 —
0.6 1.2
1.7 1.0
— 13.8
— 5.4
— 0.3
$ 229 $ 59.1
$ 27) % 6.5)
(0.8) 8.5)
— 0.1)
(1.0) (1.5)
0.3) 0.1)
— 0.6)
(1.4) 0.9)
— 2.9)
$ 62) $ 21.1)
$ 16.7 $ 38.0
$ 16.7 $ 37.1

On October 13, 2023, Alta closed its acquisition of Burris, a privately held premier distributor of market leading construction and turf equipment with three
locations in Illinois. The purchase price on the asset-structured acquisition was $16.7 million in cash paid, which includes $2.7 million of excess net working
capital. The estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are provisional with the fair value of inventories and rental fleet being the primary

balances remaining subject to change.
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Ault

On November 1, 2023, Alta acquired the stock of Ault, a privately held Canadian crushing and screening equipment distributor with locations in Ontario and
Quebec provinces for a total purchase price of $38.0 million, consisting of $27.5 million cash at close, expected excess working capital true up of $2.2 million, a
$2.0 million seller note to be paid annually over three years, and $6.3 million fair value of Alta’s common stock, equating to 819,398 shares at agreed upon $13 per
share, vesting annually over a five-year period.

Both Burris and Ault are reported within our Construction Equipment segment. The estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
provisional with working capital, tax-related and purchase price allocation adjustments remaining open.

In 2023, the Company also purchased the assets of M&G Materials Handling Co. ("M&G") and Battery Shop of New England Inc. ("BSNE") for a
combined purchase price of $2.6 million, net of cash acquired. These acquisitions, which took place in our Material Handling segment, are not material individually
or in the aggregate.

All of these acquisitions were accounted for as business combinations and the Company expects to finalize the valuations and complete the purchase price
allocations as soon as practical but no later than one year from each respective acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs for these acquisitions were immaterial and
have been expensed as incurred in operating expenses.

The following table summarizes the net assets acquired by segment from the 2022 acquisitions:

Material Handling Master Distribution Total
Cash $ 23§ 03 $ 2.6
Accounts receivable 9.6 9.6 19.2
Inventories 7.6 12.3 19.9
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 0.1 0.8 0.9
Rental fleet 22.7 — 22.7
Property and equipment 2.0 0.6 2.6
Operating lease right-of-use assets 2.2 1.6 3.8
Other intangible assets 1.4 27.8 29.2
Goodwill 2.3 18.3 20.6
Total assets $ 502 $ 713 $ 121.5
Accounts payable $ 1.5) $ 83)$ 9.8)
Customer deposits — 2.2) 2.2)
Accrued expenses (1.6) 0.2) (1.8)
Current operating lease liabilities (0.8) 0.1) 0.9)
Current deferred revenue (1.2) — (1.2)
Other current liabilities — 0.9) 0.9)
Long-term operating lease liabilities (1.4) (1.5) 2.9)
Deferred tax liability (2.8) — (2.8)
Total liabilities “.3) 13.2) (22.5)
Net assets acquired 40.9 58.1 99.0
Net assets acquired net of cash $ 386 § 578 § 96.4

Ecoverse

On November 1, 2022 the Company acquired Ecoverse, a privately held distributor of environmental processing equipment headquartered in Avon, Ohio,
with 15 sub dealers throughout North America, for a total purchase price of $58.1 million.

YIT

On July 29, 2022 the Company acquired the stock of YIT, a privately held Canadian equipment distributor with locations in Ontario and Quebec, for a total
purchase price of $40.6 million.

Both of these acquisitions were accounted for as business combinations and the goodwill is tax deductible. During 2023 we primarily had working capital
and tax-related purchase price accounting adjustments for our 2022 acquisitions which were not significant individually or in the aggregate.

See the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the total cash outflow in "Expenditures for acquisitions, net of cash acquired" for the net current year
impact of the 2022 acquisitions purchase price accounting adjustments and current year acquisitions.

63



NOTE 16 — UNION PENSION PLAN

The Company contributes to various multiemployer defined benefit pension plans under collective bargaining agreements that cover certain union
represented employees. These multiemployer plans generally provide retirement benefits to participants based on their service to contributing employers. The
benefits are paid from assets held in trust for that purpose. Plan trustees typically are responsible for determining the level of benefits to be provided to participants
as well as the investment of the assets and plan administration. Trustees are appointed in equal number by employers and the unions that are parties to the relevant
collective bargaining agreements.

Expense is recognized in connection with these plans as contributions are funded, in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The risks of participating in such plans are
different from the risks of single-employer plans, in the following respects:

(a) Assets contributed to a multiemployer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating employers;

(b) If a participating employer ceases to contribute to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be borne by the remaining participating
employers; and

(c) If the Company ceases to have a continuing obligation to contribute to the multiemployer plan in which the Company had been a contributing
employer, the Company may be required to pay to the plan an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan and on the history of the
Company’s participation in the plan prior to the cessation of our obligation to contribute.

The Company’s participation in multiemployer plans for the annual periods ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 is outlined in the table below. For
each plan that is individually significant to the Company, the following information is provided:

. The “Pension Protection Act Zone Status” available is for plan years that ended in 2023 and 2022. The zone status is based on information provided
to the Company and other participating employers by each plan and is certified by the plan’s actuary. This indicates the funded status of the plan with
the status indicated by the colors of green, yellow and red with green being the most funded and red being the least funded.

. The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates whether a Funding Improvement Plan, as required under the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code (the "Code") to be adopted by plans in the “yellow” zone, or a Rehabilitation Plan, as required under the Code to be adopted by plans in the
“red” zone, is pending or has been implemented as of the end of the plan year.

. The “Surcharge Imposed” column indicates whether a surcharge was paid during the most recent annual period presented for the Company’s
contributions to any plan in the red zone in accordance with the requirements of the Code.

. The last column lists the expiration dates of the collective bargaining agreements with the Company.

Certain plans have been aggregated in the All Other Multiemployer Pension Plans line in the following table, as the contributions to each of these plans are
not individually material. None of our collective bargaining agreements require that a minimum contribution be made to these plans. There are no plans where the
amount contributed by the Company represents more than 5% of the total contributions to the plan for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Multiple Employer Pension Plans:

Expiration Date

of Collective
Pension Protection Act Zone FIP/RP Surcharge Bargaining
Pension Fund EIN Status as of December 31, Status Contributions by Company for the year ended Imposed Agreement
2023 2022 2023 2022 2021
Midwest Operating Engineers Green Green
Local Union No. 150 Pension Trust Fund 36-6140097 3/31/2023 3/31/2022 None $ 2.8 $ 24 $ 22 No 5/31/2024
Operating Engineers Local Red Red
Union No. 324 Pension Fund 38-1900637 4/30/2023 4/30/2022 Implemented 1.6 1.2 0.9 Yes 9/30/2024
All Other Multiemployer Pension Plans " 15 1.2 0.8 Various
Total $ 5.9 $ 4.8 $ 3.9

(1) All Other Multiemployer Pension Plans includes 12 plans, none of which are individually significant when considering contributions to the plan, severity of the
underfunded status or other factors.
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NOTE 17 — SEGMENTS

The Company has three reportable segments: Material Handling, Construction Equipment, and Master Distribution. All other business activities, including
electric vehicles and corporate are included in "Corporate and Other". The Company’s segments are determined based on management structure, which is organized
based on types of products and services sold, as described in the following paragraphs. The operating results for each segment are reported separately to the
Company’s CEO to make decisions regarding the allocation of resources, to assess the Company’s operating performance and to make strategic decisions.

The Material Handling segment is principally engaged in operations related to the sale, service, and rental of lift trucks and other material handling
equipment in Michigan, Illinois, Indiana, New York (including New York City), Virginia and the New England region of the U.S. as well as Ontario and Quebec
provinces of Canada.

The Construction Equipment segment is principally engaged in operations related to the sale, service, and rental of construction equipment in Michigan,
Illinois, Indiana, Ohio, New York (excluding New York City), Florida and the New England region of the U.S. as well as Ontario and Quebec provinces of Canada.
As of December 31, 2023, the Construction Equipment segment included the Burris and Ault acquisitions and their related results since their acquisitions during the
fourth quarter.

The Company began separately reporting Master Distribution as its own segment in the first quarter of 2023. The Master Distribution segment is principally
engaged in large-scale equipment distribution with sub dealers throughout North America related to environmental processing equipment. The Company’s identified
assets by reportable segment below, as of December 31, 2022, has been recast to reflect the change in segment presentation.

The Company retains various unallocated expense items at the general corporate level, which the Company refers to as “Corporate and Other” in the table
below. Corporate and Other holds corporate debt and has minor transactional activity all together including Alta e-mobility (e.g., commercial electric vehicles)
revenues and costs. Corporate and Other incurs expenses associated with compensation (including stock-based compensation) of our directors, corporate officers
and members of our shared-services team, consulting and legal fees related to acquisitions and capital raising activities, corporate governance and compliance
related matters, certain corporate development related expenses, interest expense associated with original issue discounts and deferred financing cost related to
previous capital raises and a portion of the Company’s income tax provision. There is also intercompany elimination activity presented within the Corporate and

Other segment.

The following tables present the Company’s results of operations by reportable segment for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Material Construction
Handling Equipment Master Distribution Corporate and Other Total
New and used equipment sales 367.6 597.9 $ 72.5 $ (12.1) 1,025.9
Parts sales 99.5 170.1 9.8 (1.1) 278.3
Service revenues 132.8 108.2 0.3 — 241.3
Rental revenues 76.4 124.8 1.2 — 202.4
Rental equipment sales 52 123.7 — — 128.9
Total revenues 681.5 1,124.7 $ 83.8 $ (13.2) 1,876.8
Interest expense 18.1 33.1 34 2.4 57.0
Depreciation and amortization 349 92.5 4.4 0.8 132.6
Income (loss) before taxes 14.7 7.0 4.1 (23.3) 2.5
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Material Construction
Handling Equipment Master Distribution Corporate and Other Total
New and used equipment sales 305.2 508.2 $ 5.0 $ (1.2) 817.2
Parts sales 84.4 149.0 1.6 0.2) 234.8
Service revenues 112.1 94.4 0.1 — 206.6
Rental revenues 63.5 116.6 — — 180.1
Rental equipment sales 5.5 127.6 — — 133.1
Total revenues 570.7 995.8 $ 6.7 $ 1.4) 1,571.8
Interest expense 11.7 17.7 0.5 1.9 31.8
Depreciation and amortization 26.8 84.6 0.6 — 112.0
Income (loss) before taxes 17.1 14.2 (1.5) (19.2) 10.6
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Year Ended December 31, 2021

Material Construction
Handling Equipment Corporate and Other Total

New and used equipment sales $ 258.3 310.5 $ — $ 568.8
Parts sales 65.4 113.1 — 178.5
Service revenue 94.6 70.9 — 165.5
Rental revenue 48.4 107.1 — 155.5
Rental equipment sales 0.8 143.7 — 144.5

Total revenues $ 467.5 745.3 $ — $ 1,212.8
Interest expense 8.2 13.9 1.9 24.0
Depreciation and amortization 19.3 76.5 — 95.8
Income (loss) before taxes 10.2 2.9) (24.5) (17.2)

The following table presents the Company’s identified assets by reportable segment as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:
December 31, December 31,
2023 2022

Segment assets:

Material Handling $ 474.3 $ 416.3

Construction Equipment 947.6 775.5

Master Distribution 85.9 77.6

Corporate and Other 63.1 21.2

Total assets $ 1,570.9 $ 1,290.6

NOTE 18 — EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period and
includes vested, unissued RSUs and ESPP shares and earned, unissued share consideration related to the Ecoverse acquisition. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing
net income by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding, after giving effect to all potential dilutive common shares outstanding during the
period. We include all common share equivalents granted under our stock-based compensation plan which remain unvested and shares used as consideration in the
Ault acquisition which remain unissued ("dilutive securities"), in the number of shares outstanding for our diluted EPS calculations using the treasury method.

Basic and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were calculated as follows:

Basic net income (loss) per share
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
Basic net income (loss) per share of common stock
Diluted income (loss) per share
Net income (loss) available to common stockholders
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding
Effect of dilutive securities
Effect of dilutive securities
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding
Diluted net income (loss) per share of common stock

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
$ 5.9 $ 6.3 $ (23.4)
32,447,754 32,099,247 31,706,329
$ 0.18 $ 0.20 $ (0.74)
$ 59 $ 6.3 $ (23.4)
32,447,754 32,099,247 31,706,329
429,753 202,416 —
32,877,507 32,301,663 31,706,329
$ 0.18 $ 0.20 $ (0.74)

Securities excluded from the calculation of diluted loss per share was approximately 174,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021 because the inclusion of
such securities in the calculation would have been anti-dilutive.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time
periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and to ensure that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to management,
including our principal executive and financial officers, to allow timely decisions regarding disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as our principal financial and accounting officer,
have evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As a result of
this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31,
2023.

Previously disclosed material weakness

The following material weakness was previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 and has been
remediated as of December 31, 2023:

. There were ineffective controls over the sales process, including proper review and authorization of pricing and discounts, work orders, sales
agreements, and rental contracts, which in the aggregate constituted a material weakness.

Throughout 2023, management has implemented measures designed to remediate the identified material weakness. The Company’s remediation efforts
included the following:

1)  We have enhanced and expanded the design of policies and procedures over the performance of controls in the sales process, including management
review controls;

2)  We designed and implemented additional monitoring controls over work orders, sales agreements, and rental contracts;

3)  We developed and delivered training programs to educate personnel concerning the principles and requirements of each control impacting the sales
process;

Throughout 2023, the Company completed the testing of the design and operating effectiveness of the controls over the sales process. Management has
determined that the controls are adequately designed and are operating effectively and consider the material weakness identified in the prior year Form 10-K to be
remediated as of December 31, 2023.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act, as amended. Our internal control over financial reporting includes controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.

The Company’s management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on
the criteria established in the Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Based on this evaluation, management determined, we maintained effective internal control over financial reporting.

The Company's 2023 acquisitions were excluded from management's assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2023, the internal controls of the acquired companies, which represent total assets of $87.7 million (or 6% of our total assets) and total
revenues of $17.3 million (or 1% of our total revenues) included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31,
2023.

The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, who audited the consolidated financial statements as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2023 included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K has also audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023. Deloitte & Touche LLP’s report is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except for the changes in connection with our implementation of the remediation plan discussed above, there were no changes in our internal control over
financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d)
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of the Exchange Act that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2023, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Alta Equipment Group Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Alta Equipment Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2023, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023, of the Company and our report dated March 14, 2024, expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements.

As described in Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded from its assessment the internal control over
financial reporting of the Company’s four 2023 acquisitions, whose financial statements constitute $87.7 million (or 6%) of total assets and $17.3 million (or 1%) of
total revenues of the consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023. Accordingly, our audit did not include the internal
control over financial reporting for the Company’s four 2023 acquisitions.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control
based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Detroit, Michigan
March 14, 2024
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Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

None.

PART II1

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the applicable information in our definitive proxy statement, which will be filed no
later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this annual report.

Alta has adopted Standards of Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that apply to all employees, including executive officers, and to directors. Our Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics and Corporate Governance Guidelines are available on the Governance Documents portion of the Company’s website at
https://investors.altg.com/governance/governance-documents/. If the Company ever were to amend or waive any provision of its Code of Business Conduct and
Ethics that applies to the Company’s principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or any person performing similar functions,
the Company intends to satisfy its disclosure obligations, if any, with respect to any such waiver or amendment by posting such information on its website set forth
above rather than by filing a Current Report on Form 8-K.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the applicable information in our definitive proxy statement, which will be filed no
later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this annual report.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the applicable information in our definitive proxy statement, which will be filed no
later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this annual report.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the applicable information in our definitive proxy statement, which will be filed no
later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this annual report.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the applicable information in our definitive proxy statement, which will be filed no
later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this annual report.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Documents filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

1) Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 34) 37
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID No. 1195) 39
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 40
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 41
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)_for the Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 42
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 43
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 44
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 45
(2)  Financial Statement Schedule
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:
Changes
Balance at Charged to Other M@ Deductions from Balance at End of
Beginning of Period Expense er Reserves Period

Receivables allowances:

Year ended December 31, 2023 $ 13.0 $ 7.2 $ 0.5 $ ®83) $ 12.4

Year ended December 31, 2022 10.7 5.0 — 2.7) 13.0

Year ended December 31, 2021 7.1 42 — 0.6) 10.7
Tax valuation allowances:

Year ended December 31, 2023 $ 8.8 $ ®B4) $ ©4) S — $ ==

Year ended December 31, 2022 7.6 0.8 0.4 — 8.8

Year ended December 31, 2021 — 7.6 — — 7.6

(1) Other for receivables includes changes associated with adoption of Current Expected Credit Loss model as of January 1, 2023.
(2) Other for tax valuation allowance includes changes associated with change in valuation allowance from OCI and prior year adjustments

©)

Exhibit
Number

Exhibits

Exhibit Index

Description

2.1

3.1

32

Merger Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2019, by and among B. Riley Principal Merger Corp., BR Canyon Merger Sub Corp., Alta Equipment

14, 2020).
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33

4.1

4.2

4.3

44

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

10.1

10.2

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Form 8-A (File No. 001- 38864)_filed by the Company on
February 14, 2020).

2020).
Warrant Agreement, dated April 8, 2019, between the B. Riley Principal Merger Corp. and Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as warrant
agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38864) filed by the Company on April 11, 2019).

Form of Specimen Certificate representing the 10% Series A Cumulative Perpetual Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of Alta Equipment
Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 of the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38864) filed by the Company on December
22,2020).

collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38864)_filed by the Company on April 5
2021).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated April 8, 2019, by and among the Company, B. Riley Principal Sponsor Co., LLC and the Company’s
independent directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38864) filed by the Company on
April 11,2019).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated February 14, 2020, by and among the Company and Ryan Greenawalt, Robert Chiles, Anthony Colucci, Craig_

No. 001- 38864)_filed by the Company on February 14, 2020).
Sixth Amended and Restated ABL First Lien Credit Agreement, dated April 1, 2021, among Alta Equipment Group Inc., Alta Equipment Holdings,_

Holdings, Inc., Alta Enterprises, LLC, Alta Construction Equipment Illinois, LLC, Alta Heavy Equipment Services, LLC, Alta Industrial Equipment
Michigan, LLC, Alta Construction Equipment, L.L..C., Alta Industrial Equipment Company, L.L.C., NITCO, LLC, Alta Construction Equipment
Florida, LLC, Alta Industrial Equipment New York, LLC, Alta Construction Equipment New York and PEAKLOGIX, LLC the lenders party thereto

Inc., its subsidiaries and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
First amendment to Sixth Amended and Restated ABL First Lien Credit Agreement, dated December 20, 2021, among Alta Equipment Group Inc.
its subsidiaries and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

subsidiaries and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

Third amendment to Sixth Amended and Restated ABL First Lien Credit Agreement, dated June 28, 2023, among Alta Equipment Group Inc., its
subsidiaries and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

its subsidiaries and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
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13.1

14.1*
16.1

21.1%
22.1%
23.1%
23.2%

24.1
31.1%

31.2%

32.1%

subsidiaries and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.
Sixth amendment to Sixth Amended and Restated Floor Plan First Lien Credit Agreement, dated February 28, 2024, among Alta Equipment Group
Inc., its subsidiaries and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

LLC and PEAKLOGIX, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-38864)_filed by the
Company on April 11, 2019).

Registration Side Letter — Howell Share Consideration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 001-38864)_filed by the Company on October 26, 2020).
Underwriting Agreement, dated December 17, 2020, by and among Alta Equipment Group Inc. and B. Riley FBR, Inc., as representative of the

Company on August 9, 2022)
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Non-Employee Director) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-38864)
filed by the Company on August 9, 2022)

on August 9, 2022),
Form of 2022 Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Employee) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 on Form 10-K (File No. 001-38864) filed by
the Company on March 9, 2023).

Company on March 9, 2023).
Code of Conduct Policy, adopted on July 1, 2019.
Letter Regarding Change in Certifying Accountant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 16.1 to Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 23, 2022

Subsidiaries of the Company.

Indenture Guarantors of the Company,

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

Consent of UHY LLP.

Powers of Attorney (included on the signature page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a).and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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32.2% Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002.
97.1% Clawback Policy as updated February 13, 2024
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

* Filed herewith.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC.

Date: March 14, 2024 By: /s/ Ryan Greenawalt

Ryan Greenawalt
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Ryan Greenawalt and Anthony
Colucci, jointly and severally, their attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of
the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/s/ Ryan Greenawalt Chief Executive Officer and Director March 14, 2024
Ryan Greenawalt (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Anthony J. Colucci Chief Financial Officer March 14, 2024
Anthony J. Colucci (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting
Officer)
/s/ Zachary Savas Director March 14, 2024

Zachary Savas

/s/ Daniel Shribman Director March 14, 2024
Daniel Shribman

/s/ Andrew Studdert Director March 14, 2024
Andrew Studdert

/s/ Katherine White Director March 14, 2024
Katherine White
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EXHIBIT 10.3
EXECUTION VERSION
FIRST AMENDMENT TO SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED FLOOR PLAN FIRST LIEN CREDIT AGREEMENT

This First Amendment to Sixth Amended and Restated Floor Plan First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2021 (this
“Amendment”), is among ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC., a Delaware corporation (formerly known as B. Riley Principal Merger Corp.), ALTA
ENTERPRISES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA EQUIPMENT HOLDINGS, INC., a Michigan corporation, ALTA
CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT ILLINOIS, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT MICHIGAN, LLC,
a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA HEAVY EQUIPMENT SERVICES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA
CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT, L.L.C., a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT COMPANY, L.L.C., a
Michigan limited liability company, NITCO, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT FLORIDA,
LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT OF NEW YORK, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company,
PEAKLOGIX, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC, a Michigan limited
liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT OHIO, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA MATERIAL HANDLING
NEW YORK STATE, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, and ALTA MINE SERVICES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company (each,
a “Borrower” and collectively, the “Borrowers”), the Lenders party hereto, and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

RECITALS

A.The Borrowers, the other Loan Parties party thereto, the Lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent are parties to a Sixth
Amended and Restated Floor Plan First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2021, as amended (as amended, and as may be further
amended or modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”). Terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed
thereto in the Credit Agreement.

B.In accordance with the terms and conditions of Section 2.21 of the Credit Agreement, the Borrowers have requested an increase of
the aggregate Floor Plan Commitments in an amount equal to
$10,000,000. Concurrently with such increase, the amount of available incremental expansion availability under Section 2.21 of the Credit
Agreement shall be reduced by a corresponding amount to $0.

TERMS

In consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I. AMENDMENTS. Upon the satisfaction of the conditions in Article III below (the “First Amendment Effective Date”), the
Credit Agreement is amended as follows:

1.1The first sentence of Section 2.21(a) (Expansion Option), is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:

The Borrowers may from time to time (but not more than two times after the Effective Date)



elect to increase the Floor Plan Commitments, in each case in minimum increments




of $0 so long as, after giving effect thereto, the aggregate amount of such increases does not exceed $0; for the avoidance of
doubt, all.

1.2The Commitment Schedule to the Credit Agreement is amended and restated to read as follows:

Commitment Schedule

Lender Floor Plan Commitment
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. $50,000,000
Total: $50,000,000

ARTICLE II. REPRESENTATIONS. Each of the Loan Parties represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that:

2.1The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate, company or
other organizational actions and, if required, actions by equity holders. This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by each Loan
Party as of the date hereof and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each such Loan Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms,
subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and subject to general
principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

2.2Immediately before and after giving effect to the amendments contained herein, the representations and warranties contained in
Article IIT of the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof with the same force and effect as if
made on and as of the date hereof (it being understood and agreed that any representation or warranty which by its terms is made as of a specified
date shall be required to be true and correct in all material respects only as of such specified date, and that any representation or warranty which is
subject to any materiality qualifier shall be required to be true and correct in all respects).

2.3Immediately before and after giving effect to the amendments contained herein, no Default exists or has occurred and is continuing
on the date hereof.

ARTICLE III. CONDITIONS OF EFFECTIVENESS. The amendments set forth in Article I hereof shall become effective as of the date
hereof upon which all of the following conditions have been satisfied:

3.1The Loan Parties, the Required Lenders and the Administrative Agent shall have signed this Amendment.

3.2The Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate, signed by a Financial Officer or other executive officer of each Borrower
and in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, stating and showing that, after giving pro forma effect to all Loans required to
be made or issued on the date hereof and all other amounts to be paid on the date hereof, the satisfaction of all closing conditions under this
Section 3.1 and the completion of all other Transactions to be completed on the First Amendment Effective Date, (a) no Default has occurred and
is continuing, (b) the representations and
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warranties contained in Article III are true and correct in all material respects as of such date, (c) all financial covenants in Section 6.13(a) are
complied with on a Pro Forma Basis, and (iv) the Borrowers have performed and complied with all agreements and conditions contained in the
Credit Agreement from the Effective Date until the date hereof.

3.3The Administrative Agent shall have received documents consistent with those delivered on the Effective Date as to the corporate
power and authority of the Borrowers to borrow hereunder after giving effect to the increase of the aggregate Floor Plan Commitments.

3.4The representations and warranties set forth in Article II hereof shall be true and correct on and as of the First Amendment Effective
Date.

3.4 The Lenders shall have received a complete, executed and dated copy of that certain First Amendment to Sixth Amended and
Restated ABL First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of the date hereof (the “ABL Plan Amendment”), by and among the Borrowers, the ABL
Lenders party thereto, and the ABL Administrative Agent, such amendment to be in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent,
and the conditions to the effectiveness thereof shall have been satisfied or waived.

ARTICLE IV. MISCELLANEOUS.

4.1References in the Credit Agreement or in any other Loan Document to the Credit Agreement shall be deemed to be references to the
Credit Agreement as amended hereby and as further amended from time to time. This Amendment shall constitute a Loan Document.

4.2Except as expressly amended hereby, each of the Loan Parties acknowledges and agrees that the Credit Agreement and the other
Loan Documents are ratified and confirmed, as amended hereby, and shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms and that it
has no set off, counterclaim, defense or other claim or dispute with respect to any of the foregoing. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of
this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan
Documents, nor constitute a waiver or serve to effect a novation of any provision of any of the Loan Documents. Nothing herein shall be deemed
to entitle any Loan Party to any future consent to, or waiver, amendment, modification or other change of, any of the terms, conditions,
obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document in similar or different circumstances.

4.3This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature
page of (x) this Amendment,
(y) any other Loan Document and/or (z) any Ancillary Document that is an Electronic Signature transmitted by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any
other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed
counterpart of this Amendment, such other Loan Document or such Ancillary Document, as applicable. The words “execution,” “signed,”
“signature,” “delivery,” and words of like import in or relating to this Amendment, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary Document
shall be deemed to include Electronic Signatures, deliveries or the keeping of records in any electronic form (including deliveries by telecopy,
emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page), each of which shall be of the same
legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature, physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping
system, as the case may be; provided that nothing herein shall require the Administrative Agent to accept Electronic Signatures in any form or
format without its prior written consent and pursuant to procedures approved by it; provided, further, without limiting the foregoing, (i) to the
extent the Administrative Agent has agreed to accept any Electronic Signature, the Administrative
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Agent and each
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of the Lenders shall be entitled to rely on such Electronic Signature purportedly given by or on behalf of the Borrower or any other Loan Party
without further verification thereof and without any obligation to review the appearance or form of any such Electronic signature and (ii) upon
the request of the Administrative Agent or any Lender, any Electronic Signature shall be promptly followed by a manually executed counterpart.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Borrower and each Loan Party hereby (i) agrees that, for all purposes, including without
limitation, in connection with any workout, restructuring, enforcement of remedies, bankruptcy proceedings or litigation among the
Administrative Agent, the Lenders, the Borrower and the Loan Parties, Electronic Signatures transmitted by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other
electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page and/or any electronic im ages of this Amendment, any other Loan
Document and/or any Ancillary Document shall have the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as any paper original, (ii) the
Administrative Agent and each of the Lenders may, at its option, create one or more copies of this Amendment, any other Loan Document and/or
any Ancillary Document in the form of an imaged electronic record in any format, which shall be deemed created in the ordinary course of such
Person’s business, and destroy the original paper document (and all such electronic records shall be considered an original for all purposes and
shall have the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as a paper record), (iii) waives any argument, defense or right to contest the legal
effect, validity or enforceability of this Amendment, any other Loan Document and/or any Ancillary Document based solely on the lack of paper
original copies of this Amendment, such other Loan Document and/or such Ancillary Document, respectively, including with respect to any
signature pages thereto and (iv) waives any claim against any Lender-Related Person for any Liabilities arising solely from the Administrative
Agent’s and/or any Lender’s reliance on or use of Electronic Signatures and/or transmissions by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic
means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page, including any Liabilities arising as a result of the failure of the Borrower
and/or each Loan Party to use any available security measures in connection with the execution, delivery or transmission of any Electronic
Signature

4.4This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, but giving effect
to federal laws applicable to national banks.

4.5Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining
provisions thereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other
jurisdiction.

ARTICLE V. RELEASE. In consideration of the agreements of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders contained herein and for
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, each Loan Party hereby releases and
forever discharges the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys, affiliates,
subsidiaries, successors and permitted assigns from any and all liabilities, obligations, actions, contracts, claims, causes of action, damages,
demands, costs and expenses whatsoever (collectively “Claims”), of every kind and nature, however evidenced or created, whether known or
unknown, arising prior to or on the date of this Amendment including, but not limited to, any Claims involving the extension of credit under or
administration of this Amendment, the Credit Agreement or the other Loan Documents, as each may be amended, or the obligations, liabilities
and/or indebtedness incurred by the Loan Parties or any other transactions evidenced by this Amendment, the Credit Agreement or the other Loan
Documents.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank]



IN WITNESS WHEREQOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the date first above
written.

By: Z ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC.

Name: ByﬂGreenawalt Title: President

/4

o« ALTA EQUIPMENT HOLDINGS, INC.

¥0By: AR

Name: Greenawalt Title:  President

ALTA ENTERPRISES, LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT ILLINOIS, LLC ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT
MICHIGAN, LLC ALTA HEAVY EQUIPMENT SERVICES, LLC

ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT COMPANY, L.L.C. ALTA CONSTRUCTION
EQUIPMENT, L.L.C. NITCO, LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT FLORIDA, LLC ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT
NEW YORK, LLC PEAKLOGIX, LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC ALTA CONSTRUCTION
EQUIPMENT OHIO, LLC

ALTA MATERIAL HANDLING NEW YORK STATE, LLC ALTA MINE SERVICES, LLC

By: 7



Name: Ryan Greenawalt Title: Manager







of each of the above, on behalf of each of the above

[Signature Page to Alta Equipment Group Floor Plan First Amendment]




JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A,, individually and as Administrative Agent

By: P /Z(cé"'ff{ r5 7:’/;4//; -

Name: Frederick B. Varhula Title: Authorized
Officer

Signature Page to Alta Equipment Group Floor Plan First Amendment




EXHIBIT 10.4
FIRST AMENDMENT TO SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED ABL FIRST LIEN CREDIT AGREEMENT

This First Amendment to Sixth Amended and Restated ABL First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2021 (this
“Amendment”), is among ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC., a Delaware corporation, the other Borrowers party hereto, the Lenders party
hereto, and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

RECITALS

A.ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC., a Delaware corporation, ALTA ENTERPRISES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company,
ALTA EQUIPMENT HOLDINGS, INC., a Michigan corporation, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT ILLINOIS, LLC, a Michigan limited
liability company, ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT MICHIGAN, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA HEAVY EQUIPMENT
SERVICES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT, L.L.C., a Michigan limited liability company,
ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT COMPANY, L.L.C., a Michigan limited liability company, NITCO, LLC, a Michigan limited liability
company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT FLORIDA, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT
NEW YORK, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, PEAKLOGIX, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION
EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT OHIO, LLC, a Michigan
limited liability company, ALTA MATERIAL HANDLING NEW YORK STATE, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA MINE
SERVICES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, the other borrowers party thereto from time to time, the other loan parties party thereto
from time to time, the lenders party thereto from time to time, and the Administrative Agent are parties to a Sixth Amended and Restated ABL
First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2021 (as amended or modified from time to time, the "Credit Agreement"). Terms used but not
defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the Credit Agreement.

B.The Borrowers are requesting certain amendments to the Credit Agreement, and the Lenders are willing to amend the Credit
Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof.

TERMS

In consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties agree as
follows:

ARTICLE I. AMENDMENTS. On the First Amendment Effective Date, the Credit Agreement is amended as follows:

1.1The following is added to the end of Section 1.05: “The Administrative Agent and its affiliates and/or other related entities may
engage in transactions that affect the calculation of any interest rate used in this Agreement or any alternative, successor or alternative rate
(including any Benchmark Replacement) and/or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner adverse to the Borrowers. The
Administrative Agent may select information sources or services in its reasonable discretion to ascertain any interest rate used in this Agreement,
any component thereof, or rates referenced in the definition thereof, in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no
liability to the Borrowers, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct or indirect, special, punitive,
incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law



or in equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.”
1.2The reference in Section 2.05(b) of the Credit Agreement to “$7,000,000” is replaced with a reference to “$10,000,000”.
1.3The reference in Section 6.01(i) of the Credit Agreement to “$250,000,000” is replaced with a reference to “$350,000,000”.

ARTICLE II. REPRESENTATIONS. Each of the Loan Parties represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders

that:

2.1The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate, company or other
organizational actions and, if required, actions by equity holders. This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by each Loan Party as of
the date hereof and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each such Loan Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles
of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

2.2Immediately before and after giving effect to the amendments contained herein, the representations and warranties contained in
Article IIT of the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof with the same force and effect as if
made on and as of the date hereof (it being understood and agreed that any representation or warranty which by its terms is made as of a specified
date shall be required to be true and correct in all material respects only as of such specified date, and that any representation or warranty which is
subject to any materiality qualifier shall be required to be true and correct in all respects).

2.3Immediately before and after giving effect to the amendments contained herein, no Default exists or has occurred and is continuing
on the date hereof.

ARTICLE III. CONDITIONS OF EFFECTIVENESS. This Amendment shall become effective as of the date upon which all of the
following conditions have been satisfied (such date, the “First Amendment Effective Date”):

3.1The Loan Parties, the Required Lenders and the Administrative Agent shall have signed this Amendment.

3.2The representations and warranties set forth in Article II hereof shall be true and correct on and as of the First Amendment Effective
Date.

3.3The Lenders shall have received a complete, executed and dated copy of that certain First Amendment to Sixth Amended and
Restated Floor Plan First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among the Borrowers, the Floor Plan Lenders party thereto,
and the Floor Plan Administrative Agent, such amendment to be in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and the
conditions to the effectiveness thereof shall have been satisfied or waived.

34 The Loan Parties shall have paid all expenses and fees required to be paid as of the date
hereof.

ARTICLE IV. MISCELLANEOUS.



4.1References in the Credit Agreement or in any other Loan Document to the Credit Agreement shall be deemed to be references to the
Credit Agreement as amended hereby and as further amended from time to time. This Amendment shall constitute a Loan Document.

4.2Except as expressly amended hereby, each of the Loan Parties acknowledges and agrees that the Credit Agreement and the other
Loan Documents are ratified and confirmed, as amended hereby, and shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms and that it
has no set off, counterclaim, defense or other claim or dispute with respect to any of the foregoing. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of
this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of any Lender or the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan
Documents, nor constitute a waiver or serve to effect a novation of any provision of any of the Loan Documents. Nothing herein shall be deemed
to entitle any Loan Party to any future consent to, or waiver, amendment, modification or other change of, any of the terms, conditions,
obligations, covenants or agreements contained in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document in similar or different circumstances.

4.3This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall
constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature
page of this Amendment by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of the actual executed signature page
shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Amendment. The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” “delivery,”
and words of like import in or relating to any document to be signed in connection with this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby
or thereby shall be deemed to include Electronic Signatures, deliveries or the keeping of records in electronic form, each of which shall be of the
same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature, physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping
system, as the case may be, to the extent and as provided for in any applicable law, including the Federal Electronic Signatures in Global and
National Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures and Records Act, or any other similar state laws based on the Uniform
Electronic Transactions Act; provided that nothing herein shall require the Administrative Agent to accept Electronic Signatures in any form or
format without its prior written consent

4.4This Amendment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of New York, but giving effect
to federal laws applicable to national banks.

4.5Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining
provisions thereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other
jurisdiction.

ARTICLE V. RELEASE. In consideration of the agreements of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders contained herein and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, each Loan Party hereby releases and forever
discharges the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys, affiliates, subsidiaries,
successors and permitted assigns from any and all liabilities, obligations, actions, contracts, claims, causes of action, damages, demands, costs and
expenses whatsoever (collectively "Claims"), of every kind and nature, however evidenced or created, whether known or unknown, arising prior
to or on the date of this Amendment including, but not limited to, any Claims involving the extension of credit under or administration of this
Amendment, the Credit Agreement or the other Loan Documents, as each may be amended, or the obligations, liabilities and/or indebtedness
incurred by the

3



Loan Parties or any other transactions evidenced by this Amendment, the Credit Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the date first above written.

ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC.



By: Name: Title:




Ryan Greenawalt President




ALTA EQUIPMENT HOLDINGS, INC.

By: C?7d \

Name: Ryan Greenawalt Title: President

ALTA ENTERPRISES, LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT ILLINOIS, LLC ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT
MICHIGAN, LLC ALTA HEAVY EQUIPMENT SERVICES, LLC

ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT COMPANY, L.L.C. ALTA CONSTRUCTION
EQUIPMENT, L.L.C. NITCO,LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT FLORIDA, LLC ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT
NEW YORK, LLC PEAKLOGIX, LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC ALTA CONSTRUCTION
EQUIPMENT OHIO, LLC

ALTA MATERIAL HANDLING NEW YORK STATE, LLC

ALTA MINE SERVICES, LLC



By: Name: Title:




an Greenawalt Manager
of each of the above, on behalf of each of the above




[Signature Page to Alta Equipment Group ABL First Amendment}




JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as a Lender and as Administrative Agent

By:




Name: Title:




Michael Byrne
Authroized Officer




COMERICA BANK, as a Lender and as Co-Documentation Agent

by Lot

N,amezﬁcﬁfh&y Clo &
Title: /) gg Presicles &




FIFTH THIRD BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a
Lender and a Co-Documentation Agent

By _______ Y_l! l__l_ _e_
Name: Jeffrey S. Cox
Tide: Vice President

Signature Page 1o Alta Equipment Group ABL First Amenciment
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BMO HARRIS BANK N.A., as a Lender and a Co
Documentation Agent

By---—--"""J d-A=::— 1

I'Name: :
Title:  ("Yic  F,(csif;gNI




KEYBANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender and a
Co-Documentation Agent




By: -




Lm /




1Name l:LJet Title: 1,1 7', d'ntf'




—
FLAGSTAR BANK, as a Lender

By:
Name }(‘tL7t1<,,.fi-

,I), Title:
5e:A4/1u1. tlicc us,0-""~ /-



EXHIBIT 10.5

Execution Copy

SECOND AMENDMENT TO SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED ABL FIRST LIEN CREDIT AGREEMENT

This Second Amendment to Sixth Amended and Restated ABL First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of July 7, 2022
(this “Amendment”), is among ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC., a Delaware corporation, the other Borrowers party hereto, the
Lenders party hereto, and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent.

RECITALS

A. ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC., a Delaware corporation, the other borrowers party thereto, the other loan
parties party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and the Administrative Agent are parties to a Sixth Amended and Restated ABL First
Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2021 (as amended, and as may be further amended or modified from time to time, the
"Credit Agreement"). Terms used but not defined herein shall have the respective meanings ascribed thereto in the Credit
Agreement.

B. The Borrowers are requesting certain amendments to the Credit Agreement, and the Lenders are willing to amend
the Credit Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof.

TERMS

In consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements herein contained, the parties agree as
follows:

ARTICLE 1. AMENDMENTS. Upon the Second Amendment Effective Date (as defined below), the parties hereto agree
that the Credit Agreement (including the Schedules and Exhibits thereto) is hereby amended to delete the stricken text (indicated
textually in the same manner as the following example: strieken—text) and to add the double-underlined text (indicated textually in
the same manner as the following example: double-underlined text) as set forth in the amended Credit Agreement attached as
Exhibit A hereto, and any term or provision of the Credit Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules thereto) which is
different from that set forth on Exhibit A hereto shall be replaced in all respects by the terms and provisions on Exhibit A hereto.

ARTICLE II. REPRESENTATIONS. Each of the Loan Parties represents and warrants to the Administrative Agent and the
Lenders that:

2.1  The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment have been duly authorized by all necessary
corporate, company or other organizational actions and, if required, actions by equity holders. This Amendment has been duly
executed and delivered by each Loan Party as of the date hereof and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each such
Loan Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or
other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a
proceeding in equity or at law.

2.2 Immediately before and after giving effect to the amendments contained herein, the representations and
warranties contained in Article III of the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof
with the same force and effect as if made on and as of the date hereof (it being understood and agreed that any representation or
warranty which by its terms is made as of a specified date shall be required to be true and correct in all material respects only as of
such specified date,



and that any representation or warranty which is subject to any materiality qualifier shall be required to be true and correct in all
respects).

2.3 Immediately before and after giving effect to the amendments contained herein, no Default exists or has occurred
and is continuing on the date hereof.

ARTICLE III. CONDITIONS OF EFFECTIVENESS. This Amendment shall become effective as of the date upon which
all of the following conditions have been satisfied (such date, the “Second Amendment Effective Date”):

3.1  The Loan Parties, the Lenders and the Administrative Agent shall have signed this Amendment.

3.2 The representations and warranties set forth in Article II hereof shall be true and correct on and as of the Second
Amendment Effective Date.

3.3 The Lenders shall have received a complete, executed and dated copy of that certain Second Amendment to Sixth
Amended and Restated Floor Plan First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among the Borrowers, the Floor
Plan Lenders party thereto, and the Floor Plan Administrative Agent, such amendment to be in form and substance satisfactory to
the Administrative Agent, and the conditions to the effectiveness thereof shall have been satisfied or waived.

34 The Loan Parties shall have paid all expenses and fees required to be paid as of the date
hereof.

3.5 The Loan Parties shall have satisfied all such other conditions as may be reasonably required by the
Administrative Agent, including such conditions described on the closing list delivered in connection herewith.

ARTICLE IV. MISCELLANEOUS.

4.1  References in the Credit Agreement or in any other Loan Document to the Credit Agreement shall be deemed to
be references to the Credit Agreement as amended hereby and as further amended from time to time. This Amendment shall
constitute a Loan Document.

4.2  Except as expressly amended hereby, each of the Loan Parties acknowledges and agrees that the Credit
Agreement and the other Loan Documents are ratified and confirmed, as amended hereby, and shall remain in full force and effect
in accordance with their terms and that it has no set off, counterclaim, defense or other claim or dispute with respect to any of the
foregoing. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Amendment shall not operate as a waiver of any right, power or
remedy of any Lender or the Administrative Agent under any of the Loan Documents, nor constitute a waiver or serve to effect a
novation of any provision of any of the Loan Documents. Nothing herein shall be deemed to entitle any Loan Party to any future
consent to, or waiver, amendment, modification or other change of, any of the terms, conditions, obligations, covenants or
agreements contained in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document in similar or different circumstances.

4.3  This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each
of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract.

44  Among other provisions of the Credit Agreement, this Amendment is subject to Sections 9.06, 9.09 and 9.10 of
the Credit Agreement.



4.5  Any provision of this Amendment held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions thereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not
invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

ARTICLE V. Deemed Assignment. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 9.04 of the Credit Agreement or
any other term thereof, BMO Harris Bank N.A. is hereby automatically and without further act deemed to have assigned to Bank of
Montreal, and Bank of Montreal is hereby automatically and without further act deemed to have purchased and assumed, all of the
Revolving Commitments and Revolving Credit Exposure under the Credit Agreement of BMO Harris Bank N.A. outstanding of
immediately prior to the Second Amendment Effective Date.

ARTICLE VI. RELEASE. In consideration of the agreements of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders contained
herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, each Loan
Party hereby releases and forever discharges the Administrative Agent, the Lenders and their respective directors, officers,
employees, agents, attorneys, affiliates, subsidiaries, successors and permitted assigns from any and all liabilities, obligations,
actions, contracts, claims, causes of action, damages, demands, costs and expenses whatsoever (collectively "Claims"), of every
kind and nature, however evidenced or created, whether known or unknown, arising prior to or on the date of this Amendment
including, but not limited to, any Claims involving the extension of credit under or administration of this Amendment, the Credit
Agreement or the other Loan Documents, as each may be amended, or the obligations, liabilities and/or indebtedness incurred by
the Loan Parties or any other transactions evidenced by this Amendment, the Credit Agreement or the other Loan Documents.

[Remainder of page intentionally blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment as of the date first above
written.

ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC.

By: Name: Anthony Colucci
Title: Chief Financial Officer

ALTA EQUIPMENT HOLDINGS, INC.

By: Name: Anthony Colucci
Title: Authorized Representative

ALTA ENTERPRISES, LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT ILLINOIS, LLC ALTA
INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT MICHIGAN, LLC ALTA HEAVY
EQUIPMENT SERVICES, LLC

ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT COMPANY, L.L.C. ALTA
CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT, L.L.C. NITCO, LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT FLORIDA, LLC ALTA
INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC, PEAKLOGIX, LLC
ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC ALTA
CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT OHIO, LLC ALTA MATERIAL
HANDLING NEW YORK STATE, LLC

ALTA MINE SERVICES, LLC ALTA KUBOTA

MICHIGAN, LLC

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW ENGLAND, LLC
ALTA ELECTRIC VEHICLES, LLC

ALTA ELECTRIC VEHICLES NORTH EAST, LLC ALTA ELECTRIC
VEHICLES SOUTH WEST, LLC

By: Name: Anthony Colucci
Title: Manager of each of the above, on behalf of each of the above

GINOP SALES, INC.

By: Name: Anthony Colucci



Title: Director




DocuSign Envelope ID: 5BEC5225-7874-44C1-BF 14-6B4BAA23FB23

ALTA ACQUISITION COMPANY, INC.

By: Name: Anthony Colucci
Title: Director

1000220888 ONTARIO INC.

By: Name: Anthony Colucci

Title: Authorized Representative



JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A,, as a Lender and as Administrative Agent

By: (/.1
Name: Michael Byrne Title:
Authorized Officer




JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., TORONTO BRANCH

By: Name: Bruce Watson
Title: Authorized Officer



COMERICA BANK, as a Lender and as Co-Documentation Agent

NS
/ A {//{ o

By
/éme: Michael Cliff :

Title: Vice President



FIFTH.THIRD BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a

ﬁ/ﬁ

Name M ‘gher 3
Tlt e: o Manager

Lender and a Co-Documentation Agent




PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender and a
Co-Documentation Agent

o =/ OH#(J

Name: 70 t!.c,] 'Pov 50"
Title: I/ Pr.es; vf-




BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Lender and a Co-Documentation Agent

By
Name:
Title:

By
Name: Ran Li
Title: Vice President



BMO HARRIS BANK N.A., as a Lender and a Co Documentation Agent

By
Name: Ran Li
Title: Vice President



Cross-EBorder Banking
First Canadian Place - 100Kl|'|93tw 18th A
Toronto, Ontario M&X 1A
CANADA

BANK OF MONTREAL, as a Lender and a Co-Documentation
Agent

By Name: Ran Li
Title: Vice President




KEYBANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as a Lender and a
Co-Documentation Agent

By: /— l 1
Name: Mltthew MfLL key
Title: Vice President




FLAGSTAR BANK, as a Lender

By:




Name: Title:




David W. Leslie First Vice President
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Exhibit A — Second Amendment

SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED ABL FIRST LIEN CREDIT AGREEMENT

dated

as

of

April

1,

2021
ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC.,
ALTA EQUIPMENT HOLDINGS,
INC., ALTA ENTERPRISES, LLC,

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT ILLINOIS, LLC,
ALTA HEAVY EQUIPMENT SERVICES, LLC,
ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT MICHIGAN, LLC,
ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT, L.L.C.,
ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT COMPANY, L.L.C.,
NITCO, LLC,

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT FLORIDA, LLC,
ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC,
ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC, and

PEAKLOGIX, LLC,

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC,
ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT OHIO, LLC,
ALTA MATERIAL HANDLING NEW YORK STATE, LLC, ALTA
MINE SERVICES, LLC,

ALTA KUBOTA MICHIGAN, LLC,

ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW ENGLAND, LLC,
ALTA ELECTRIC VEHICLES, LLC,

ALTA ELECTRIC VEHICLES NORTH EAST, LLC,
GINOP SALES, INC.,

ALTA ELECTRIC VEHICLES SOUTH WEST, LLC
ALTA ACQUISITION COMPANY, INC.

1000220888 ONTARIO INC.,
as Borrowers

The Lenders Party
Hereto and
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.
as Administrative Agent

FIFTH THIRD BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION




COMERICA BANK
BMO-HARRIS-BANK N-A-OF MONTREAL
KEYBANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
and
PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Co-Documentation Agents

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as Sole Bookrunner and Sole Lead Arranger
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This Sixth Amended and Restated ABL First Lien Credit Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2021 (as it may
be amended or modified from time to time, this “Agreement”), is among ALTA EQUIPMENT GROUP INC.,, a
Delaware corporation, ALTA EQUIPMENT HOLDINGS, INC., a Michigan corporation, Alta Enterprises, LLC, a
Michigan limited liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT ILLINOIS, LLC, a Michigan limited
liability company, ALTA HEAVY EQUIPMENT SERVICES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA
INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT MICHIGAN, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION
EQUIPMENT, L.L.C., a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA INDUSTRIAL EQUIPMENT COMPANY,
L.L.C., a Michigan limited liability company, NITCO, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA
CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT FLORIDA, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA INDUSTRIAL
EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT
NEW YORK, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, PEAKLOGIX, LLC, a Michigan limited liability
company, ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT NEW YORK, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company,.
ALTA CONSTRUCTION EQUIPMENT OHIO, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA MATERIAL
HANDLING NEW YORK STATE, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA MINE SERVICES, LLC, a

ELECTRIC VEHICLES, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company, ALTA ELECTRIC VEHICLES NORTH
EAST, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company,_and GINOP SALES, INC., a Michigan corporation, ALTA

JALTA ACQUISITION COMPANY, INC., a Michigan limited liability company, 1000220888
ONTARIO INC., an Ontario corporation, the Lenders party hereto, and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A,, as
Administrative Agent.

RECITALS

A.  The borrowers (including the Borrowers hereto, as successors or assigns thereof) party thereto, the
lenders party thereto and the Administrative Agent are party to that certain Fifth Amended and Restated ABL First
Lien Credit Agreement dated as of February 3, 2020, which amended and restated Fourth Amended and Restated
First Lien Credit Agreement dated as of May 1, 2019, which amended and restated that certain Third Amended and
Restated First Lien Credit Agreement dated as of December 27, 2017, which amended and restated that certain
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 30, 2016, which amended and restated that
certain Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of December 28, 2012, and which amended and restated
that certain Credit Agreement dated as of May 5, 2011 (as amended, the “Existing Credit Agreement”).

B.  The Borrowers party hereto, the Lenders party hereto and the Administrative Agent wish to amend
and restate the Existing Credit Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth below to reallocate the existing
Commitments and make the other changes to the Existing Credit Agreement evidenced hereby.

C.  The financial institutions party hereto which are not Lenders under the Existing Credit Agreement
wish to become “Lenders” hereunder and accept and assume the obligations of “Lenders” hereunder with the
Commitments and other obligations specified herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the mutual agreements made herein, and
for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
parties hereto agree that the Existing Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety (as specified in
Section 9.19) as follows:



ARTICLEI Definitions

SECTION 1.01._Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings
specified below:

“Account” has the meaning assigned to such term in the U.S. Security Agreements, except with respect
to Accounts in Canada, where “Accounts” has the meaning ascribed to such term in the Canadian Security
Agreement.

“Account Debtor” means any Person obligated on an Account.

"Acquisition" means any transaction, or any series of related transactions, consummated on or after the
date of this Agreement, by which any Loan Party (i) acquires any going business or all or substantially all of the
assets of any firm, corporation or limited liability company, or division thereof, whether through purchase of
assets, merger or otherwise or (ii) directly or indirectly acquires (in one transaction or as the most recent
transaction in a series of transactions) at least a majority (in number of votes) of the Equity Interests of a Person.

“Adjusted HBORate : o cod or-&
a'ﬂ'y—eBF'R—B‘Gﬂ‘GW‘lﬂg-DallV Slmnle SOF R” means an 1nterest rate per annum &eﬁﬁded—brpwafds—rf ﬁeeessafy—eﬁ
ﬂ%&next—b%é—ef—l—“z{r)—equal to (a) the I:I-BG—Ra’fe—feﬁsueh—}nfereS{—Peﬁed—mtr}frphed—by—(-b) the-Statutory Reserve-

“Adjusted OneMonthEHBORTerm SOFR Rate” means, for any dayInterest Period, an interest rate per
annum equal to ﬂﬁ&sum—ef—(ﬁ—Zé{-)%—pi-us—ﬁna) the Adjus’fed—I:I-BGTerm SOFR Rate for a—one {H-menthsuch
Interest Period-en—sueh—d ch—ds stie mmediately preceding Business Day);
provided that, for the avmdance of doubt the Adjusted LIBO Rate for any day shall be based on the LIBO Screen
Rate at approximately 11:00 a.m. London time on such day; provided further, that, if the LIBO Screen Rate at such
time shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement; provided, further,
that, if the LIBO Screen Rate, as determined without giving effect to the first proviso set forth in the definition of
the “LIBO Screen Rate 7 at such time shall be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of
determining the “A d ate™, plus (b)_0.10%.

“Administrative Agent” means FPMEBJPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (or any of its designated branch
offices or affiliates), in its capacity as administrative agent for the Lenders hereunder.

“Administrative Questionnaire” means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the
Administrative Agent.

“Affected Financial Institution” means (a) any EEA Financial Institution or (b) any UK Financial
Institution.

“Affiliate” means, at any time, and with respect to any Person, any other Person that at such time directly
or indirectly through one or more intermediaries Controls, or is Controlled by, or is under common Control with,
such first Person, and, with respect to any Borrower, shall include any Person beneficially owning or holding,
directly or indirectly, 10% or more of any class of voting or equity interests of such Borrower or any Subsidiary or
any Person of which such Borrower and its Subsidiaries beneficially own or hold, in the aggregate, directly or
indirectly, 10% or more of any class of voting or equity interests.

“Agent Related Person” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.03(d).




“Alta Construction Equipment Florida” means Alta Construction Equipment Florida, LLC, a Michigan
limited liability company.

“Alta Enterprises” means Alta Enterprises, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company. “Alta

Group” means Alta Equipment Group Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Alta Holdings” means Alta Equipment Holdings, Inc., a Michigan corporation.

“Alta Illinois” means Alta Construction Equipment Illinois, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company.

“Ancillary Document” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.06(b).

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all laws, rules, and regulations of any jurisdiction applicable to any
Borrower or its Subsidiaries from time to time concerning or relating to bribery or corruption.

"Applicable Margin" means, for any day, with respect to Revolving Credit Loans that are CBFR or
Canadian Prime Rate Loans, Revolving Credit Loans that are EuredoHarTerm Benchmark, CDOR or RFR Loans,
Letter of Credit Fees payable under Section 2.11(b)(i) and commitment fees payable under Section 2.11(a)
hereunder, as the case may be, the applicable rate per annum set forth below under the applicable caption, as the
case may be, based upon the Average Quarterly Availability during the most recently ended Fiscal Quarter of Alta
Group:

Level Average Applicable Margin Applicable Margin — Adjusted Applicable Margin
Quarterly — CBFR/Canadian EurodottarTerm -Commitment Fees
Availability Prime Rate Loans Benchmark/CDOR/RFR
Loans and Letter of Credit Fees
I < $25,000,000 - 25.0 bps 225.0 bps 25.0 bps
I +$25,000,000 - 50.0 bps 200.0 bps 25.0 bps
but
< $100,0000,000
I +$100,000,000 - 75.0 bps 175.0 bps 25.0 bps

For purposes of the foregoing, each change in the Applicable Margin resulting from a change in Average
Quarterly Availability shall be effective during the period commencing on and including the first day of each Fiscal
Quarter of Alta Group and ending on the last day of such Fiscal Quarter, it being understood and agreed that, for
purposes of determining the Applicable Margin on the first day of any Fiscal Quarter of Alta Group, the Average
Quarterly Availability during the most recently ended Fiscal Quarter of Alta Group shall be used. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, the Average Quarterly Availability shall be deemed to be in Level I at the option of the
Administrative Agent or at the request of the Required Lenders if the Borrowers fail to deliver any Borrowing Base
Certificate or related information




required to be delivered by them pursuant to Section 5.01, during the period from the expiration of the time for
delivery thereof until each such Borrowing Base Certificate and related information is so delivered.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Applicable Margin shall be set at Level III as of the Effective
Date and shall be adjusted for the first time thereafter based on the Average Quarterly Availability for the Fiscal
Quarter ending June 30, 2021.

If at any time the Borrowers or the Administrative Agent determines that the Borrowing Base Certificate or related
information upon which the Average Quarterly Availability was determined were incorrect (whether based on a
restatement, fraud or otherwise), the Borrowers shall be required to immediately (or, in the case of a determination
made by the Administrative Agent, immediately following the Administrative Agent’s demand therefor (provided,
after the occurrence of an actual or deemed entry of an order for relief with respect to any Borrower under any
bankruptcy or similar law, automatically and without further action by the Administrative Agent)) and retroactively
pay any additional amount that the Borrowers would have been required to pay if such financial statements had
been accurate at the time they were delivered.

“Applicable Parties” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 8.03(c).

“Applicable Percentage” means, with respect to any Lender, (a) with respect to Revolving Loans, LC
Exposure, Overadvances or Swingline Loans, a percentage equal to a fraction the numerator of which is such
Lender’s Revolving Commitment and the denominator of which is the aggregate Revolving Commitment of all
Lenders (if the Revolving Commitments have terminated or expired, the Applicable Percentages shall be
determined based upon such Lender’s share of the aggregate Revolving Exposures most recently in effect, giving
effect to any assignments and to any Lender’s status as a Defaulting Lender at the time of determination); provided
that in the case of Section 2.19 when a Defaulting Lender shall exist, “Applicable Percentage” under this clause (a)
shall mean the percentage of the total Revolving Commitments (disregarding any Defaulting Lender’s Revolving
Commitment) represented by such Lender’s Revolving Commitment, and (b) with respect to Protective Advances, a
percentage equal to a fraction the numerator of which is such Lender’s aggregate Credit Exposure and unused
Commitments and the denominator of which is the aggregate Credit Exposure and unused Commitments of all
Lenders; provided that in the case of Section 2.19 when a Defaulting Lender shall exist, “Applicable Percentage”
under this clause (b) shall mean the percentage of the total Commitments (disregarding any Defaulting Lender’s
Commitment) represented by such Lender’s Commitments.

“Approved Electronic Platform” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 8.03(a). “Approved
Fund” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(b).
“Arranger” means JPMCB, in its capacity as sole bookrunner and sole lead arranger hereunder.

“Assignment and Assumption” means an assignment and assumption agreement entered into by a Lender
and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 9.04), and accepted by the
Administrative Agent, in the form of Exhibit A or any other form (including electronic records generated by the use
of an electronic platform) approved by the Administrative Agent.

“Augmenting Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.21(a).

“Available Revolving Commitment” means, at any time, the aggregate Revolving Commitment of all
Lenders then in effect minus the aggregate Revolving Exposure of all Lenders at such time (calculated, with
respect to any Defaulting Lender, as if such Defaulting Lender had funded its Applicable Percentage of all
outstanding Borrowings).



“Available Tenor” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to the then-current
Benchmark, as applicable, any tenor for such Benchmark (or component thereof)_or payment period for interest
calculated with reference to such Benchmark_(or component thereof), as applicable, that is or may be used for

making_payments of interest calculated pursuant to this Agreement as of such date and not including, for the
avoidance of doubt, any tenor for such Benchmark that is then-removed from the definition of “Interest Period”
pursuant to clause (ge) of Section 2.13.

“Availability” means,_at any time, an amount equal to (a)_the lesser of (i) the aggregate Revolving_
Commitment of all Lenders and (ii)_the Revolving Borrowing Base, minus (b)_the aggregate Revolving Exposure

average daily Availability during such Fiscal Quarter (or, for the Fiscal Quarter ending March 31, 2020, for the
period from and including the Effective Date through March 31, 2020), as determined by the Administrative
Agent’s system of records; provided, that in order to determine Availability on any day for purposes of this
definition, the Revolving Borrowing Base for such day shall be determined by reference to the most recent
Borrowing Base Certificate delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.01 as of such day.

“Bail-In Action” means the exercise of any Write-Down and Conversion Powers by the applicable
Resolution Authority in respect of any liability of an Affected Financial Institution.

“Bail-In Legislation” means (a) with respect to any EEA Member Country implementing Article 55 of
Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of the European Union, the implementing law,
regulation, rule or requirement for such EEA Member Country from time to time which is described in the EU Bail-
In Legislation Schedule and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, Part I of the United Kingdom Banking Act
2009 (as amended from time to time) and any other law, regulation or rule applicable in the United Kingdom
relating to the resolution of unsound or failing banks, investment firms or other financial institutions or their
affiliates (other than through liquidation, administration or other insolvency proceedings).

“Banking Services” means each and any of the following bank services provided to any Loan Party or
any Subsidiary by any Lender or any of its Affiliates: (a) credit cards for commercial customers (including, without
limitation, “commercial credit cards” and purchasing cards), (b) stored value cards,

(c) merchant processing services, and (d) treasury management services (including, without limitation, controlled
disbursement, automated clearinghouse transactions, return items, overdrafts and interstate depository network
services).

“Banking_Services Obligations” means any and all obligations of any Loan Party or any of their
Subsidiaries (including interest and fees accruing during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership
or other similar proceedings, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding), whether absolute or
contingent and howsoever and whensoever created, arising, evidenced or acquired (including all renewals,
extensions and modifications thereof and substitutions therefor) in connection with Banking Services.




“Banking_Services Reserves” means all Reserves which the Administrative Agent from time to time
establishes in its Permitted Discretion for Banking Services then provided or outstanding.

“Bankruptcy_Code” means Title 11 of the United States Code entitled “Bankruptcy”, as now and
hereafter in effect, or any successor statute.

“Bankruptcy Event” means, with respect to any Person, when such Person becomes the subject of a
voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee,
administrator, custodian, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with the reorganization or
liquidation of its business, appointed for it, or, in the good faith determination of the Administrative Agent, has
taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of, or acquiescence in, any such proceeding
or appointment, or has had any order for relief in such proceeding entered in respect thereof, provided that a
Bankruptcy Event shall not result solely by virtue of any ownership interest, or the acquisition of any ownership
interest, in such Person by a Governmental Authority or instrumentality thereof, unless such ownership interest
results in or provides such Person with immunity from the jurisdiction of courts within the U.S. or from the
enforcement of judgments or writs of attachment on its assets or permits such Person (or such Governmental
Authority or instrumentality) to reject, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any contracts or agreements made by such
Person.

(11) Term Benchmark Loan, the Term SOFR Rate; provrded that 1f a Benchmark Transition Event;-a—Ferm SOFR-
; S p ane-its and the related Benchmark Replacement Date
have occurred with respect to H1BOthe Dally Slmple SOFR or Term SOFR Rate, as applicable, or the then-current
Benchmark, then “Benchmark” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement to the extent that such Benchmark
Replacement has replaced such prior benchmark rate pursuant to clause (ey-or-etause~db) of Section 2.13.

“Benchmark Replacement” means, for any Available Tenor, the first alternative set forth in the order
below that can be determined by the Administrative Agent for the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date:

b thesumof(a)TermSOFR-and-(b)-therelatedBenehmark Replacement

Adjustment;

(21) the sum—of—{ajAdjusted Daily Simple SOFR—and—(b)—the—retated—Benchmark—Reptacement
Adjustment;
3 (2)_the sum of: (a) the alternate benchmark rate that has been selected by the Administrative Agent and the
Borrower Representative as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark for the applicable Corresponding
Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or the
mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing
market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for dollar-
denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time in the United States and (b) the related Benchmark
Replacement Adjustment;-.
provided that, in the case of clause (1), such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is displayed on a screen or other
information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its
reasonable discretion; provided further that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or in any
other Loan Document, upon the occurrence of a Term SOFR Transition Event, and the delivery of a Term SOFR
Notice, on the applicable Benchmark Replacement Date the “Benchmark Replacement” shall revert to and shall be
deemed to be the sum of (a) Term SOFR and (b) the related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment, as set forth in

clause (1) of this definition tsubjeetto-the-firstproviso-above):

If the Benchmark Replacement as determined pursuant to clause (1), or (2yet(3) above would be




less than the Floor, the Benchmark Replacement will be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement
and the other Loan Documents.

“Benchmark Replacement Adjustment” means, with respect to any replacement of the then-
current Benchmark with an Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for any applicable Interest Period and Available
Tenor for any setting of such Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement:

,.the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be

a positive or negative value or zero)_that has been selected by (H-ferptrposes-ofetanses{H-and
2 of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement,” the first alternative set forth in the order below that ean-be-

eatettating-or-determining-sueh-spread-adjustment; (which
may be a positive or negative value or zero) as of the Reference T1me such Benchmark Replacement is first set for
such Interest Period that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the
replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Reptacement—for—the—applieable-

Time such Benchmark Replacement is first set for such Interest Period that would apply to the fallback rate for a
derrvatwe transaction referencrng the ISDA Deﬁnrtrons to be effective upon an index cessation event-withrespeet

(2) for purposes of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement,” the spread adjustment, or method for
calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative vatue-or—zero)-thathas-
been—seleeted-by-thethe Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative for the applicable Corresponding
Tenor giving due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a spread adjustment, or method for
calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such Benchmark with the applicable
Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement by the Relevant Governmental Body on the applicable Benchmark
Replacement Date and/or (ii) any evolving or then-prevailing market convention for determining a spread
adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of such
Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for dollar-denominated syndicated credit
facilities: at such time.

“Benchmark Replacement Conforming_Changes” means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement_
and/or any Term Benchmark Loan, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the
definition of “€BFHteatingRate”Business Day,” the definition of “U.S. Government Securities Business Day,” the
definition of “Interest Period,” timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, timing
of borrowing requests or prepayment, conversion or continuation notices, length of lookback periods, the
applicability of breakage provisions, and other technical, administrative or operational matters) that the
Administrative Agent decides im—its reasonable—diseretten—may be appropriate to reflect the adoption and
implementation of such Benchmark Reptaeement-and to permit the administration thereof by the Administrative
Agent in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Administrative Agent decides that
adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Administrative Agent
determines that no market practice for the administration of such Benchmark Replaeement-exists, in such other
manner of administration as the Administrative Agent decides is reasonably necessary in connection with the
administration of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents).




“Benchmark Replacement Date” means,_with respect to any Benchmark, the earliest to occur of the
following events with respect to thesuch then-current Benchmark:

(1) in the case of clause (1) or (2) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the later of
(a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the
administrator of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) permanently or
indefinitely ceases to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);_or

(2) in the case of clause (3) of the definition of “Benchmark Transition Event,” the first date of the-
pubteon which such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof)_has been determined
and announced by_the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such Benchmark (or such component thereof)_

most recent statement or publication efinformatienrreferenced in such clause (3)_and even if any Available Tenor of

such Benchmark (or such component thereinof;) continues to be provided on such date.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) if the event giving rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the
same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement
Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination and (ii) the “Benchmark
Replacement Date” will be deemed to have occurred in the case of clause (1) or (2) with respect to any Benchmark
upon the occurrence of the applicable event or events set forth therein with respect to all then-current Available
Tenors of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Transition Event” means, with respect to any Benchmark, the occurrence of one or more of
the following events with respect to thesuch then-current Benchmark:

(1) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of such
Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such administrator has
ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof), permanently
or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that
will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such component thereof);

(2) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator
of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof), the Federal Reserve Board, the
NYFRB, the CME Term SOFR Administrator, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for
such Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for such
Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the
administrator for such Benchmark (or such component), in each case, which states that the administrator of such
Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide all Available Tenors of such Benchmark (or
such component thereof) permanently or indefinitely,; provided that, at the time of such statement or publication,
there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide any Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or such
component thereof); or



(3) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator
of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that all Available
Tenors of such Benchmark (or such component thereof) are no longer, or as of a specified future date will no longer
be, representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have occurred with
respect to any Benchmark if a public statement or publication of information set forth above has occurred with
respect to each then-current Available Tenor of such Benchmark (or the published component used in the
calculation thereof).

“Benchmark Unavailability Period” means, with respect to any Benchmark, the period (if any)
(x) beginning at the time that a Benchmark Replacement Date pursuant to clauses (1) or (2) of that definition has
occurred if, at such time, no Benchmark Replacement has replaced thesuch then-current Benchmark for all
purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.13 and (y) ending at the time that
a Benchmark Replacement has replaced thesuch then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any
Loan Document in accordance with Section 2.13.

“Beneficial Owner” means, with respect to any U.S. federal withholding Tax, the beneficial owner, for
U.S. federal income tax purposes, to whom such Tax relates.

“Beneficial Ownership Certification” means a certification regarding beneficial ownership or control as
required by the Beneficial Ownership Regulation.

“Beneficial Ownership Regulation” means 31 C.F.R. § 1010.230.

“Benefit Plan” means any of (a) an “employee benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) that is
subject to Title I of ERISA, (b) a “plan” as defined in Section 4975 of the Code to which Section 4975 of the Code
applies, and (c) any Person whose assets include (for purposes of the Plan Asset Regulations or otherwise for
purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code) the assets of any such “employee benefit plan” or
“plan”.

“BHC Act Affiliate” of a party means an "affiliate" (as such term is defined under, and interpreted in
accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 1841(k)) of such party.

“Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of America.

"Board of Directors" means: (1) with respect to a corporation, the board of directors of the corporation or
such directors or committee serving a similar function; (2) with respect to a limited liability company, the board of
managers of the company or such managers or committee serving a similar function; (3) with respect to a
partnership, the Board of Directors of the general partner of the partnership; and (4) with respect to any other
Person, the managers, directors, trustees, board or committee of such Person or its owners serving a similar
function.

“Borrower Representative” means Alta Group in its capacity as representative of the Borrowers as set
forth in Section 2.20.

“Borrowers” means Alta Group and its Subsidiaries.
“Borrowing” means (a) Revolving Loans of the same Type, made, converted or continued on the same

date and, in the case of EuredoHarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Loans, as to which a single Interest Period is in
effect, (b) a Swingline Loan, (c) a Protective Advance and (d) an Overadvance.
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“Borrowing Minimum” means, in the case of any Borrowing other than a Swingline Borrowing, for (i).a

if any, such amount agreed upon among the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative.

“Borrowing_Multiple” means, in the case of any Borrowing other than a Swingline Borrowing, for (i)_a

amount agreed upon among the Lenders, the Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative.

“Borrowing_Base Certificate” means a certificate, signed and certified as accurate and complete by a
Financial Officer of the Borrowers, in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent in its sole
discretion.

“Borrowing Request” means a request for a Borrowing under Section 2.03.

“Business Day” means any day thatisnoet(other than a Saturday, or a Sunday-er-ether—day) on which
eommeretat-banks iDetroit;-Chieago-orare open for business in New York City-are-authorized-or requitred-bytaw-
to-remattetosed; provided that, whenused-ineonteetion—with-aFEurodotarLoan-the ternr—Business PDay shalt
also—exetude—any—dayin_addition to the foregoing, a Business Day shall be (i) in relation to RFR Loans and any_
interest rate settings, fundings, disbursements, settlements or payments of any such RFR Loan, or any_ other
dealings of such RFR Loan, any such day that is only an U.S. Government Securities Business Day, (ii)_in relation

settlements or payments of any such Loans referencing the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or any other dealings of
such Loans referencing the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, any such day that is a U.S. Government Securities Business

banks are not open for generat-business in FendonToronto.
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Canada.




“Canadian AML Legislation” is defined in Section 9.25.

“Canadian Borrower” means any Borrower organized under the laws of a jurisdiction located in

“Canadian Defined Benefit Pension Plan” means a Canadian Pension Plan that contains a

12
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“Canadian Dollars” or “CADS” or “CS$” refers to lawful money of Canada.
“Canadian Insolvency Legislation” means legislation in any applicable jurisdiction relating_to
reorganization, _arrangement, compromise or re-adjustment of debt, dissolution or winding-up, or any similar

Companies’ Creditors Arrangement Act (Canada), the Winding-Up and Restructuring Act (Canada).

“Canadian Loans” means Loans to any Borrower denominated in Canadian Dollars.

be an obligation to contribute by, a Canadian Loan Party in respect of its
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employees or former employees in Canada; provided that the term “Canadian Pension Plans” shall not include the
Canada Pension Plan or the Quebec Pension Plan as maintained by the Government of Canada or the Province of

higher of (i) the rate equal to the PRIMCAN Index rate that appears on the Bloomberg screen at 10:15 a.m. Toronto
time on such day (or, in the event that the PRIMCAN Index is not published by Bloomberg, any other information

Reuters Screen CDOR Page (or, in the event such rate does not appear on such page or screen, on any sSuccessor or
substitute page or screen that displays such rate, or on the appropriate page of such other information service that

such rate shall be deemed to be 2.5% for purposes of this Agreement. Any change in the Canadian Prime Rate due
to a change in the PRIMCAN Index or the CDOR shall be effective from and including the effective date of such
change in the PRIMCAN Index or CDOR, respectively.

Canada.

“Canadian Security Agreement” means that certain General Security Agreement (including any
and all supplements thereto), dated as of the date hereof, among the Canadian Loan Parties and the Administrative
Agent, for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the other Secured Parties, and any other pledge or security_

Agreement or any other Loan Document) or any other Person for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the
other Secured Parties, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time.

“Canadian Subsidiary” means a Subsidiary organized under the laws of a jurisdiction located in

Canada.

“Capital Expenditures” means, without duplication, any expenditure or commitment to expend

money for any purchase or other acquisition of any asset which would be classified as a fixed or capital asset,
including without limitation leasehold improvements, but excluding new, used or parts inventory, on a consolidated
balance sheet of Alta Group and its Subsidiaries prepared in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of calculating
the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, such expenditures will be reduced by the sum of (a) the Net Cash Proceeds
received with respect to any sale of any fixed or capital assets (excluding new, used, and parts inventory) net of any
gain recognized in connection with such sale and

(b) any piece of rental equipment financed via either Loans, Floor Plan Loans or any other floorplan line (up to the
value advanced on such asset thereunder), in each case (both clauses (a) and (b)) as determined by the
Administrative Agent in its Permitted Discretion.

“Capital Lease” means any lease of property, real or personal, the obligations with respect to which are
required to be capitalized on a balance sheet of the lessee in accordance with GAAP.

“Capital Lease Obligations” means the aggregate principal component of capitalized lease obligations
relating to a Capital Lease determined in accordance with GAAP.
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“Cash Dominion Period” means each period commencing on the day on which Availability, as calculated
by the Administrative Agent (which calculation shall be deemed correct absent manifest error) is less than 10.0% of
the aggregate Revolving Commitment of all Lenders, and ending on the day on which Availability, as calculated by
the Administrative Agent (which calculation shall be deemed correct absent manifest error) is equal to or greater
than 10.0% of the aggregate Revolving Commitment of all Lenders for thirty (30) consecutive days.

"CB Floating Rate" means the

greater of the Prime Rate or 2.5%. Any change in the CB Floating Rate due to a change in the Prime
Rate or-theAdjusted-OneMonthEHBORRate-shall be effective from and including the effective date of such
change in the Prime Rate-or-theAdjusted-OneMonth FHIBOR Rate;respeetively.

“CBFR”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans
comprising such Borrowing, bear interest at a rate determined by reference to the CB Floating Rate.
(b)_any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, bear interest at
a rate determined by reference to the CDOR Screen Rate.

appears on the “Reuters Screen CDOR Page” as defined in the International Swap Dealer Association, Inc.
definitions, as modified and amended from time to time (or, in the event such rate does not appear on such page or
screen, on any_successor or substitute page or screen that displays such rate, or on the appropriate page of such

reasonable discretion),_rounded to the nearest 1/100m of 1% (with .005% being rounded up), as of 10:15 a.m.
Toronto local time on the first day of such Interest Period and, if such day is not a business day, then on the

Rate shall be less than zero, the CDOR Screen Rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“Change in Control” means any of the following:

(a) the acquisition of ownership, directly or indirectly, beneficially or of record, by any Person or
group (within the meaning of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the rules of the SEC thereunder as in effect
on the date hereof) other than Permitted Investors, of Equity Interests representing more than 50% of the aggregate
ordinary voting power represented by the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of Alta Group;

(b)  occupation at any time of a majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the board of directors
of Alta Group by Persons who were not (i) directors of Alta Group on the date of this Agreement or nominated or
appointed by the board of directors of Alta Group or (ii) appointed by directors so nominated or appointed;

(c)  the acquisition of direct or indirect Control of Alta Group by any Person or group other than
Permitted Investors;

(d) Alta Group shall fail to own and control, directly, beneficially and of record, Equity Interests
representing 100% of each of the aggregate ordinary voting power and aggregate equity value represented by the
issued and outstanding Equity Interests of Alta Holdings;

(e) Alta Group and Alta Holdings shall fail to own, directly, beneficially and of record, Equity
Interests representing 100% of each of the aggregate ordinary voting power and aggregate equity value
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represented by the issued and outstanding Equity Interests of Alta Enterprises;

(f)  Alta Enterprises shall fail to own, directly or indirectly, beneficially and of record, Equity Interests
representing 100% of each of the aggregate ordinary voting power and aggregate equity value represented by the
issued and outstanding Equity Interests of each other Borrower (other than Alta Group and Alta Holdings); or

(g) any “change in control” (or any comparable term) under any Second Lien Document or Floor Plan
Loan Document or any other event that would require or permit the Second Lien Holders or Floor Plan Lenders or
any of them to require an acceleration or prepayment of the Second Lien Obligations or the Floor Plan Obligations,
as applicable.
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"Change in Law" means the occurrence after the date of this Agreement of any of the following:

(a) the adoption of or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, regulation
or treaty or in the administration, interpretation, implementation or application thereof by any Governmental
Authority or (c) compliance by any Lender or the Issuing Bank (or, for purposes of Section 2.14(b), by any lending
office of such Lender or by such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s holding company, if any) with any request,
guideline, requirement or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made
or issued after the date of this Agreement; provided that, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (x) the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements or
directives thereunder or issued in connection therewith or in the implementation thereof, and (y) all requests, rules,
guidelines, requirements or directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee
on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the U.S. or foreign regulatory authorities, in each
case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a “Change in Law”, regardless of the date enacted,
adopted, issued or implemented.

“Charges” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.15.

“Class”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans
comprising such Borrowing, are Revolving Loans, Protective Advances, Overadvances or Swingline Loans.

“CME Term SOFR Administrator” means CME Group Benchmark Administration Limited as
administrator of the forward-looking term SOFR (or a successor administrator).

“CNHI” means CNH Industrial Capital America LLC.
“CNHI Financing_Paper” means, those certain financing contracts between Alta Illinois, as lender, and
certain customers of Alta Illinois, as debtors, entered into by such parties from time to time to finance the purchase

from Alta Illinois by such customers of equipment manufactured by CNHI from time to time.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
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“Collateral” means any and all present or future personal property or material real property owned,
leased or operated by a Person, which property is covered by the Collateral Documents and any and all other
property of any Loan Party, now existing or hereafter acquired, that may at any time be, or become or intended to
be, subject to a security interest or Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent, on behalf of itself and the other
Secured Parties, to secure the Secured Obligations.

“Collateral Documents” means, collectively, the Security Agreements, any Mortgages, the Loan Party
Guaranties, the Subordination Agreements, the Intercreditor Agreements and all other agreements, instruments and
documents executed in connection with this Agreement at any time (either before, concurrently or after the
Effective Date, and including without limitation any of the foregoing delivered in connection with the Existing
Credit Agreement) that are intended to create or evidence Liens to secure, Guarantees of, or subordinations to, all or
any part of the Secured Obligations, including, without limitation, all other security agreements, pledge agreements,
pledge and security agreements, pledges, powers of attorney, guaranties, subordination agreements, consents,
assignments, contracts, leases, and financing statements, and all other written matter whether theretofore, now or
hereafter executed by a Loan Party and delivered to the Administrative Agent, all as amended or otherwise
modified from time to time.

“Collection Account” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Security Agreement. “Commitment”

means, with respect to each Lender, the sum of such Lender’s Revolving
Commitment and any other commitments, if any are established pursuant to any amendment hereto at any
time. The initial amount of each Lender’s Commitment is set forth on the Commitment Schedule, or in the
Assignment and Assumption or other documentation or record (as such term is defined in Section 9-102(a)(70) of
the New York Uniform Commercial Code) as provided in Section 9.04(b)(ii)(C), pursuant to which such Lender
shall have assumed its Commitment, as applicable.

“Commitment Schedule” means the Schedule attached hereto identified as such.

“Commodity Exchange Act” means the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.), as amended
from time to time, and any successor statute.

“Communications” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 8.03.

“Connection Income Taxes” means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or measured by net
income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits Taxes.

"Consolidated EBITDA" means, with reference to any period, the Net Income for such period, and plus

(a) to the extent reducing such Net Income, without duplication,
(1) Interest Expense,
(ii) expense for income taxes,
(iii) depreciation,
(iv) amortization,

(v) any non-cash charges for such period (but excluding (1) any non-cash charge that results
from the write-down or write-off of accounts receivable or that is in respect of any other item
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that was included in Net Income in a prior period, (2) any non-cash charge that relates to the write-down or
write-off of inventory or equipment, any additions to bad debt reserves or bad debt expense, (3) any non-cash
charge to the extent it represents an accrual of or a reserve for cash expenditures in any future period and (4)
any non-cash losses related to the sale of rental equipment in the ordinary course of business),

(vi)any reasonable non-recurring fees, cash charges and other cash expenses made or incurred
in connection with (1) the Transactions, or (2) any amendments, restatements, supplements, waivers or other
modifications to the Loan Documents, Floor Plan Loan Documents, or the Second Lien Documents,

(vii)losses deducted during the specified period, but only to the extent proceeds of insurance
(including, without limitation, business interruption insurance) or indemnity recovery are actually received
during such period,

(viii)reasonable transaction expenses and fees for such period with respect to with respect to
Permitted Acquisitions consummated or sought but not consummated by any Loan Party,

(ix) pro forma adjustments under Section 1.08,

(x) reasonable expenses and fees incurred during the specified period in connection with the
administration of the Loan Documents, the Floor Plan Loan Documents and the Second Lien Documents after
the Effective Date (including in all cases expenses and fees paid to the Administrative Agent and/or the
Lenders),

(xi)fees and expenses during the specified period which are directly related to any proposed or
actual issuance of debt or equity, investment or asset dispositions, in each case permitted under this
Agreement,

(xii)any extraordinary or non-recurring losses in the aggregate in any period of twelve
consecutive months not to exceed the result of (A) 10% of Consolidated EBITDA, less (B) any noncash gains
or losses on the sale of fixed or capital assets offset for gains from the sale of fixed or capital assets calculated
(x) at the price at which the applicable Loan Party sold the applicable asset, minus (y) such NeteLoan Party’s
initial purchase price of such asset (for the avoidance of doubt, without reducing this clause (y) for any
depreciation or amortization thereof), for such twelve consecutive months (prior to giving effect to this clause
(xii)), and

(xiii)the amount of “run rate” cost savings, operating expense reductions and other synergies,
projected by Alta Group in good faith to be realized as a result of specified actions taken, actions with respect
to which substantial steps have been taken or actions that are expected to be taken (which cost savings,
operating expense reductions or synergies shall be calculated on a Pro Forma Basis as though such cost
savings, operating expense reductions or synergies had been realized on the first day of such period), net of the
amount of actual benefits realized during such period from such actions; provided that (A) such cost savings,
operating expense reductions or synergies are reasonably identifiable and factually supportable, (B) such cost
savings, operating expense reductions or synergies do not exceed 15% of Consolidated EBITDA for such
period (before giving effect to any adjustment as a result of this clause (xiii)), and (C) such actions have been
taken, such actions with respect to which substantial steps have been taken or such actions are expected to be
taken within 18 months after the date of determination to take such action; provided, further, that the
adjustments pursuant to this clause (xiii) may be incremental to (but not duplicative of) pro forma adjustments
made pursuant to clause (a)(ix) of this definition; minus
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(b) without duplication and to the extent included in Net Income,

(1) any cash payments made during such period in respect of non-cash charges described in
clause (a)(v) taken in a prior period and

(ii) any non-cash items of income for such period (other than any non-cash gains related to the
sale of rental equipment in the ordinary course of business), all calculated for Alta Group and its Subsidiaries
on a consolidated basis.

“Consolidated Total Assets” means, at any time, the total assets of Alta Group and its Subsidiaries on a
consolidated basis, as shown on the most recent consolidated balance sheet of Alta Group and its Subsidiaries as of
the end of the most recently ended Fiscal Quarter prior to the applicable date of determination for which financial
statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or Section 5.01(b) hereof, as applicable, provided, that,
for purposes of testing the covenants contained in Section 6.01(k) and Section 6.02(f), respectively, the
consolidated total assets of the Alta Group and its Subsidiaries shall be calculated on a Pro Forma Basis.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise.
“Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative thereto.

“Controlled Disbursement Account” means, collectively, the following the accounts or accounts
identified by the Administrative Agent as the Controlled Disbursement Account, and any replacement or additional
accounts of the Borrowers maintained with the Administrative Agent as a zero balance, cash management account
pursuant to and under any agreement between a Borrower and the Administrative Agent, as modified and amended
from time to time, and through which all disbursements of a Borrower, any other Loan Party and any designated
Subsidiary of a Borrower are made and settled on a daily basis with no uninvested balance remaining overnight.

“Corresponding_Tenor” with respect to any Available Tenor means, as applicable, either a tenor
(including overnight) or an interest payment period having approximately the same length (disregarding business
day adjustment) as such Available Tenor.

“Credit Exposure” means, as to any Lender at any time, such Lender’s Revolving Exposure at such time.

“Credit Party” means the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank, the Swingline Lender or any other
Lender.

“Covered Entity” means any of the following:

1) a “covered entity” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.FR. § 252.82(b);
(ii) a “covered bank” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R.§
47.3(b); or
(iii) a “covered FSI” as that term is defined in, and interpreted in accordance with, 12 C.F.R.§
382.2(b).

“Covered Party” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.23.

“Daily Simple SOFR” means, for any day;- (a_“SOFR;-with-the-econventions—for-thisrate—which wit
inehade-atookbaek)being Rate Day”), a rate per annum equal to SOFR for the day (such day “SOFR
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Determination Date”) that is five (5)_U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to (i)_if such SOFR Rate Day_

“on the SOFR Administrator’s Website; provided that if
the Administrative Agent-deetdes-thatany sucheonve

- aS SO

Agreement. Any change in Daily Simple SOFR due to a change in SOFR shall be effective from and including_the
effective date of such change in SOFR without notice to the Borrowers.

“Default” means any event or condition which constitutes an Event of Default or which upon notice,
lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

“Default Right” has the meaning assigned to that term in, and shall be interpreted in accordance with, 12
C.FR. §§ 252.81, 47.2 or 382.1, as applicable.

“Defaulting_Lender” means any Lender that (a) has failed, within two (2) Business Days of the date
required to be funded or paid, to (i) fund any portion of its Loans, (ii) fund any portion of its participations in
Letters of Credit or Swingline Loans or (iii) pay over to any Credit Party any other amount required to be paid by it
hereunder, unless, in the case of clause (i) above, such Lender notifies the Administrative Agent in writing that such
failure is the result of such Lender’s good faith determination that a condition precedent (specifically identified and
including the particular default, if any) to funding a Loan under this Agreement has not been satisfied, (b) has
notified any Borrower or any Credit Party in writing, or has made a public statement to the effect, that it does not
intend or expect to comply with any of its funding obligations under this Agreement (unless such writing or public
statement indicates that such position is based on such Lender’s good faith determination that a condition precedent
(specifically identified and including the particular default, if any) to funding a Loan under this Agreement cannot
be satisfied) or generally under other agreements in which it commits to extend credit,

(c) has failed, within three (3) Business Days after request by a Credit Party, acting in good faith, to provide a
certification in writing from an authorized officer of such Lender that it will comply with its obligations (and is
financially able to meet such obligations as of the date of certification) to fund prospective Loans and participations
in then outstanding Letters of Credit and Swingline Loans under this Agreement, provided that such Lender shall
cease to be a Defaulting Lender pursuant to this clause

(c) upon such Credit Party’s receipt of such certification in form and substance satisfactory to it and the
Administrative Agent, or (d) has become the subject of a (i) Bankruptcy Event or (ii) a Bail-In Action.

“Disclosed Matters” means the actions, suits and proceedings and the environmental matters disclosed in
Schedule 3.06.

“Disposition” or “Dispose” means the sale, transfer, license, lease or other disposition (in one transaction
or in a series of transactions and whether effected pursuant to a Division or otherwise) of any property by any
Person (including any sale and leaseback transaction and any issuance of Equity Interests by a Subsidiary of such
Person), including any sale, assignment, transfer or other disposal, with or without recourse, of any notes or
accounts receivable or any rights and claims associated therewith.

"Disqualified Equity" means any Equity Interest that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into
which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable), or upon the happening of any event, matures or is
mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or redeemable at the option of the
holder thereof, in whole or in part.
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“Dividing Person” has the meaning assigned to it in the definition of “Division.”

“Division” means the division of the assets, liabilities and/or obligations of a Person (the “Dividing_
Person”) among two or more Persons (whether pursuant to a “plan of division” or similar arrangement), which may
or may not include the Dividing Person and pursuant to which the Dividing Person may or may not survive.

“Division Successor” means any Person that, upon the consummation of a Division of a Dividing Person,
holds all or any portion of the assets, liabilities and/or obligations previously held by such Dividing Person
immediately prior to the consummation of such Division. A Dividing Person which retains any of its assets,
liabilities and/or obligations after a Division shall be deemed a Division Successor upon the occurrence of such
Division.

“Dollar Equivalent” means, for any amount, at the time of determination thereof, (a) if such amount is
amount in dollars determined by using the rate of exchange for the purchase of dollars with the Agreed Currency
last provided (either by publication or otherwise provided to the Administrative Agent) by Reuters on the Business

available or ceases to provide a rate of exchange for the purchase of dollars with the Agreed Currency, as provided
by such other publicly available information service which provides that rate of exchange at such time in place of
Reuters chosen by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion (or if such service ceases to be available or ceases

Agent using any method of determination it deems appropriate in its sole discretion.

“Dollars”, “dollars” or “$” refers to lawful money of the U.S.

rby-th § v ; h 7—th wer Representative to the
Administrative Agent to notify) each of the other parties hereto that at least five currently outstanding
dollar-denominated syndicated credit facilities at such time contain (as a result of amendment or as
originally executed) a SOFR-based rate (including SOFR, a term SOFR or any other rate based upon
SOFR) as a benchmark rate (and such syndicated credit faetlities—are-identified—n—suehnotiee-and-are-
Fttk}isls a aiiak}s fﬁf ts is )7 atisl

& oint-eleetionby-the Administrative Agent-and W epresentativ eger a fallback
from LIBO Rate and the provision by the Administrative Agent of written notice of sueh—ecleetion—to-the-
Eenders:

o 1o -l A < a A ga A+l ar Anto a

“ECP” means an “eligible contract participant” as defined in Section 1(a)(18) of the Commodity
Exchange Act or any regulations promulgated thereunder and the applicable rules issued by the Commodity
Futures Trading Commission and/or the SEC.

“EEA Financial Institution” means (a) any credit institution or investment firm established in any EEA
Member Country which is subject to the supervision of an EEA Resolution Authority, (b) any entity established in
an EEA Member Country which is a parent of an institution described in clause (a) of this definition, or (c) any
financial institution established in an EEA Member Country which is a subsidiary
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of an institution described in clauses (a) or (b) of this definition and is subject to consolidated supervision with its
parent.

“EEA Member Country” means any of the member states of the European Union, Iceland, Liechtenstein,
and Norway.

“EEA Resolution Authority” means any public administrative authority or any Person entrusted with
public administrative authority of any EEA Member Country (including any delegee) having responsibility for the
resolution of any EEA Financial Institution.

“Effective Date” means the date upon which all of the conditions set forth in Article IV are satisfied,
provided, that such conditions are satisfied on or before April 1, 2021.

“Electronic Signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to, or associated with, a
contract or other record and adopted by a Person with the intent to sign, authenticate or accept such contract or
record.

“Electronic_System” means any electronic system, including e-mail, e-fax, web portal access for the
Borrowers and any other Internet or extranet-based site, whether such electronic system is owned, operated or
hosted by the Administrative Agent or the Issuing Bank and any of its respective Related Parties or any other
Person, providing for access to data protected by passcodes or other security system.

“Eligible Accounts” means, at any time, the Accounts of a Borrower which the Administrative Agent
determines in its Permitted Discretion are eligible as the basis for the extension of Revolving Loans, Swingline
Loans and the issuance of Letters of Credit hereunder. Without limiting the Administrative Agent’s discretion
provided herein, Eligible Accounts shall not include any Account:

(a)  which is not subject to a first priority perfected security interest in favor of the Administrative
Agent;

(b)  which is subject to any Lien other than (i) a Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent or the Floor
Plan Administrative Agent, (ii) a Lien in favor of Second Lien Representative, subject to the Second Lien
Intercreditor Agreement, and (iii) a Permitted Encumbrance which does not have priority over the Lien in favor of
the Administrative Agent; provided that Accounts relating to Floor Plan Priority Collateral shall not be Eligible
Accounts;

(¢) (i) with respect to which the scheduled due date is more than 90 days after the date of the original
invoice therefor, (ii) which is unpaid more than 90 days after the date of the original invoice therefor or more than
60 days after the original due date therefor, or (iii) which has been written off the books of a Borrower or otherwise
designated as uncollectible;

(d)  which is owing by an Account Debtor for which more than 50% of the Accounts owing from such
Account Debtor and its Affiliates are ineligible hereunder;

(e)  which is owing by an Account Debtor to the extent the aggregate amount of Accounts owing from
such Account Debtor and its Affiliates to (i) such Borrower exceeds 25% of the aggregate amount of Eligible
Accounts of such Borrower or (ii) all Borrowers exceeds 25% of the aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts of all
Borrowers;

(f)  with respect to which any covenant, representation, or warranty contained in this Agreement or in
any Security Agreement has been breached or is not true;

(g)  which (i) does not arise from the sale of goods or performance of services in the ordinary course of
business, (ii) is not evidenced by an invoice or other documentation satisfactory to the Administrative Agent which
has been sent to the Account Debtor, (iii) represents a progress billing, (iv) is
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contingent upon any Borrower’s completion of any further performance or is billed in advance of the relevant
shipment of inventory or performance of service, (v) represents a sale on a bill-and-hold, guaranteed sale, sale-and-
return, sale on approval, consignment, cash-on-delivery or any other repurchase or return basis or (vi) relates to
payments of interest;

(h)  for which the goods giving rise to such Account have not been shipped to the Account Debtor or
for which the services giving rise to such Account have not been performed by such Loan Parties or if such
Account was invoiced more than once;

(1)  with respect to which any check or other instrument of payment has been returned uncollected for
any reason;

()  which is owed by an Account Debtor which has (i) applied for, suffered, or consented to the
appointment of any receiver, custodian, trustee, or liquidator of its assets, (ii) has had possession of all or a material
part of its property taken by any receiver, custodian, trustee or liquidator, (iii) filed, or had filed against it, any
request or petition for liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, adjustment of debts, adjudication as bankrupt,
winding-up, or voluntary or involuntary case under any state,_provincial or federal bankruptcy laws, (iv) has
admitted in writing its inability, or is generally unable to, pay its debts as they become due, (v) become insolvent,
or (vi) ceased operation of its business;

(k) which is owed by any Account Debtor which has sold all or a substantially all of its
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assets;

(1)  which is owed by an Account Debtor which (i) does not maintain its chief executive office in the
U.S. or Canada or (ii) is not organized under applicable law of the U.S., any state of the U.S., Canada, or any
province of Canada unless, in either case, such Account is backed by a Letter of Credit acceptable to the
Administrative Agent which is in the possession of, has been assigned to and is directly drawable by the
Administrative Agent;

(m) which is owed in any currency other than U.S. dollars_.or CDN dollars;

(n) which is owed by (i) any government (or any department, agency, public corporation, or
instrumentality thereof) of any country other than the U.S. unless such Account is backed by a Letter of Credit
acceptable to the Administrative Agent which is in the possession of, and is directly drawable by, the
Administrative Agent, or (ii) any government of the U.S., or any department, agency, public corporation, or
instrumentality thereof, unless the Federal Assignment of Claims Act of 1940, as amended (31 U.S.C. § 3727 et
seq. and 41 U.S.C. § 15 et seq.), and any other steps necessary to perfect the Lien of the Administrative Agent in
such Account have been complied with to the Administrative Agent’s satisfaction;

(o) which is owed by any Affiliate, employee, officer, director, agent or stockholder of any Loan
Party;

(p) which is owed by an Account Debtor or any Affiliate of such Account Debtor to which any Loan
Party is indebted, but only to the extent of such indebtedness or is subject to any security, deposit, progress
payment, retainage or other similar advance made by or for the benefit of an Account Debtor, in each case to the
extent thereof;

(@)  which is subject to any counterclaim, deduction, defense, setoff or dispute but only to the extent of
any such counterclaim, deduction, defense, setoff or dispute;

(r) which is evidenced by any promissory note, chattel paper, or instrument;

(s)  which is owed by an Account Debtor (i) located in any jurisdiction which requires filing of a
“Notice of Business Activities Report” or other similar report in order to permit such Borrower to seek judicial
enforcement in such jurisdiction of payment of such Account, unless such Borrower has filed such report or
qualified to do business in such jurisdiction or (ii) which is a Sanctioned Person;

(t)  with respect to which such Borrower has made any agreement with the Account Debtor for any
reduction thereof, other than discounts and adjustments given in the ordinary course of business, or any Account
which was partially paid and such Borrower created a new receivable for the unpaid portion of such Account;

(u)  which does not comply in all material respects with the requirements of all applicable laws and
regulations, whether Federal, state,_provincial or local, including without limitation the Federal Consumer Credit
Protection Act, the Federal Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z of the Board;

(v)  which is for goods that have been sold under a purchase order or pursuant to the terms of a
contract or other agreement or understanding (written or oral) that indicates or purports that any Person other than
such Borrower has or has had (other than any ownership interest prior to such Eligible Accounts being purchased
by such Borrower as part of an Acquisition) an ownership interest in such goods, or which indicates any party other
than such Borrower as payee or remittance party;

(w) which has been acquired from a Sanctioned Person;

x) which was created on cash on delivery terms; or
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(y) which the Administrative Agent determines may not be paid by reason of the Account Debtor’s
inability to pay or which the Administrative Agent otherwise determines is unacceptable for any reason whatsoever.
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In the event that an Account which was previously an Eligible Account ceases to be an Eligible Account hereunder,
such Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent thereof on and at the time of submission to the Administrative
Agent of the next Borrowing Base Certificate. In determining the amount of an Eligible Account, the face amount
of an Account may, in the Administrative Agent’s Permitted Discretion, be reduced by, without duplication, to the
extent not reflected in such face amount, (i) the amount of all accrued and actual discounts, claims, credits or
credits pending, promotional program allowances, price adjustments, finance charges or other allowances
(including any amount that such Borrower may be obligated to rebate to an Account Debtor pursuant to the terms
of any agreement or understanding (written or oral)) and (ii) the aggregate amount of all cash received in respect of
such Account but not yet applied by such Borrower to reduce the amount of such Account.

“Eligible Equipment Inventory” means, as of any date, the equipment owned by a Borrower and meeting

each of the following requirements:

(a) such Borrower has the right to subject such equipment to a Lien in favor of the Administrative
Agent; such equipment is subject to a first priority perfected Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent and is free
and clear of all other Liens of any nature whatsoever (except for (i) a Lien in favor of the Floor Plan Administrative
Agent, subject to the First Lien Intercreditor Agreement,
(i1) a Lien in favor of Second Lien Representative, subject to the Second Lien Intercreditor Agreement,



28

and (iii) Permitted Encumbrances which do not have priority over the Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent);

(b)  such equipment was not purchased with a Floor Plan Loan or, if it was purchased with a Floor Plan
Loan, such Floor Plan Loan has been paid in full;

() such equipment is located on premises acceptable to the Administrative Agent;

(d)  such equipment is in good working order and condition (ordinary wear and tear excepted) and is
used or held for use by such Borrower in the ordinary course of business of such Borrower;

(e)  such equipment is not subject to any agreement which restricts the ability of such Borrower to use,
sell, transport or dispose of such equipment or which restricts the Administrative Agent's ability to take possession
of, sell or otherwise dispose of such equipment;

(f)  the manufacturer serial number on such equipment is visible after such equipment placed in
service;

(g) with respect to such equipment constituting rental units, such equipment must have an executed
rental contract not to exceed sixty (60) months and such contract must be in a form acceptable to the
Administrative Agent;

(h) with respect to such equipment constituting demonstration units, any such unit shall not be
considered Eligible Equipment Inventory for more than three (3) months;

(1)  such equipment must be subject to an appraisal satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and not
more than six (6) months old;

)] such equipment is not otherwise unacceptable to the Administrative Agent; and

(k)  such equipment shall be depreciated in a manner consistent with past practices by the Borrowers
and be in accordance with GAAP.

In the event that inventory which was previously Eligible Equipment Inventory ceases to be Eligible Equipment
Inventory hereunder (except in the event that such ineligibility is solely pursuant to clause (e) hereof), such
Borrower or the Borrower Representative shall notify the Administrative Agent thereof on and at the time of
submission to the Administrative Agent of the next Borrowing Base Certificate.

Borrower that constitutes equipment held by such Borrower as new equipment that has not been rented (other than
for demonstration), is undamaged, saleable, complete and has less than 100 hours of use since being manufactured.
In the event that Inventory which was previously Eligible Equipment Inventory — New ceases to be Eligible
Equipment Inventory — New hereunder, such Borrower or the Borrower Representative shall notify the
Administrative Agent thereof on and at the time of submission to the Administrative Agent of the next Borrowing
Base Certificate.

of a Borrower leased or held for lease to a customer in the ordinary course of business. In the event that inventory
which was previously Eligible Equipment Inventory — Rental Fleet ceases to be Eligible Equipment Inventory —
Rental Fleet hereunder, such Borrower or the Borrower Representative
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shall notify the Administrative Agent thereof on and at the time of submission to the Administrative Agent of the
next Borrowing Base Certificate.

“Eligible Equipment Inventory - Unappraised” means, as of any date, the equipment owned by a
Borrower that satisfies all the requirements in the definition of Eligible Equipment Inventory except clause (i) of
such definition. In the event that inventory which was previously Eligible Equipment Inventory - Unappraised
ceases to be Eligible Equipment Inventory - Unappraised hereunder, such Borrower or the Borrower Representative
shall notify the Administrative Agent thereof on and at the time of submission to the Administrative Agent of the
next Borrowing Base Certificate. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, any equipment qualifying as
Eligible Equipment Inventory - Unappraised shall no longer be considered Eligible Equipment Inventory —
Unappraised upon the earlier of (i) six months after the date it was first considered Eligible Equipment Inventory —
Unappraised and (ii) the first date such equipment is subject to an appraisal satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent.

a Borrower held for sale that has been used and does not constitute Eligible Equipment Inventory — Rental Fleet. In
the event that inventory which was previously Eligible Equipment Inventory — Used Fleet ceases to be Eligible
Equipment Inventory — Used Fleet hereunder, such Borrower or the Borrower Representative shall notify the
Administrative Agent thereof on and at the time of submission to the Administrative Agent of the next Borrowing
Base Certificate.

“Eligible Parts Inventory” means, at any time, the parts inventory of a Borrower which the
Administrative Agent determines in its Permitted Discretion is eligible as the basis for the extension of Revolving
Loans, Swingline Loans and the issuance of Letters of Credit hereunder. Without limiting the Administrative
Agent’s discretion provided herein, Eligible Parts Inventory shall not include any Inventory:

(a) which is not subject to a first priority perfected Lien in favor of the Administrative
Agent;

(b) which is subject to any Lien other than (i) a Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent,
(i1) a Lien in favor of Second Lien Representative, subject to the Second Lien Intercreditor Agreement, and (iii) a
Permitted Encumbrance which does not have priority over the Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent;

(¢)  which, in the Administrative Agent’s opinion, constitutes slow moving, obsolete, unmerchantable,
defective, used, core returns, consumables, unfit for sale, not salable at prices approximating at least the cost of
such Inventory in the ordinary course of business or unacceptable due to age, type, category and/or quantity;

(d)  with respect to which any covenant, representation, or warranty contained in this Agreement or the
Security Agreement has been breached or is not true and which does not conform to all standards imposed by any
Governmental Authority;

() in which any Person shall (i) have any direct or indirect ownership, interest or title to such
Inventory or (ii) be indicated on any purchase order or invoice with respect to such parts Inventory as having or
purporting to have an interest therein;

® which is not parts held for sale in the ordinary course of business;

(g)  which is not located on premises owned or leased (with a landlord waiver and access agreement
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) by a Borrower;

(h) which is the subject of a consignment by such Borrower as consignor;
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(i)  which contains or bears any intellectual property rights licensed to such Borrower unless the
Administrative Agent is satisfied that it may sell or otherwise dispose of such Inventory without (i) infringing the
rights of such licensor, (ii) violating any contract with such licensor, or (iii) incurring any liability with respect to
payment of royalties other than royalties incurred pursuant to sale of such Inventory under the current licensing
agreement;

)] for which reclamation rights have been asserted by the seller; or

(k)  which the Administrative Agent otherwise determines is unacceptable for any reason whatsoever.
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In the event that parts inventory which was previously Eligible Parts Inventory ceases to be Eligible Parts
Inventory hereunder (except in the event that such ineligibility is solely pursuant to clause (k) hereof), such
Borrower or the Borrower Representative shall notify the Administrative Agent thereof on and at the time of
submission to the Administrative Agent of the next Borrowing Base Certificate.

“Environmental Laws” means all laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances, orders, decrees, judgments,
injunctions, notices or binding agreements issued, promulgated or entered into by any Governmental Authority,
relating in any way to the environment, preservation or reclamation of natural resources, or the management,
release or threatened release of any Hazardous Material or to health and safety matters.

“Environmental Liability” means any liability, contingent or otherwise (including any liability for
damages, costs of environmental remediation, fines, penalties or indemnities), of any Loan Party directly or
indirectly resulting from or based upon (a) violation of any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, handling,
transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials,

(c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Materials into the
environment or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed
or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

“Equipment” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Security Agreement.

“Equity Interests” means shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests in a limited
liability company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity ownership interests in a Person, and any warrants,
options or other rights entitling the holder thereof to purchase or acquire any interest of the foregoing, but excluding
any debt securities convertible into any of the foregoing.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time,
and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with any
Borrower (or Guarantor, if any), is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, Section
4001(14) of ERISA or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a
single employer under Section 414 of the Code.

“ERISA Event” means (a) any “reportable event”, as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations
issued thereunder, with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30 day notice period is waived); (b) the
failure to satisfy the “minimum funding standard” (as defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of
ERISA), whether or not waived; (c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(c) of
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the Code or Section 302(c) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect
to any Plan; (d) the incurrence by any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate of any liability under Title IV of ERISA
with respect to the termination of any Plan; (e) the receipt by any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from the PBGC
or a plan administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to
administer any Plan; (f) the incurrence by any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate of any liability with respect to the
withdrawal or partial withdrawal of any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or
(g) the receipt by any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan
from any Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition upon any Borrower or any
ERISA Affiliate of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be,
insolvent, in critical status or in reorganization, within the meaning of Title IV of ERISA.

“EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule” means the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule published by the Loan
Market Association (or any successor Person), as in effect from time to time.

“Event of Default” has the meaning assigned to such term in Article VII.

“Event of Loss” means, with respect to any assets, any of the following: (a) any loss, destruction or
damage of such assets; (b) any pending or threatened institution of any proceedings for the condemnation or seizure
of such assets or for the exercise of any right of eminent domain; or (c) any actual condemnation, seizure or taking,
by exercise of the power of eminent domain or otherwise, of such assets, or confiscation of such assets or the
requisition of the use of such assets.

“Excluded Swap Obligation” means, with respect to any Guarantor, any Swap Obligation if, and to the
extent that, all or a portion of the Guarantee of such Guarantor of, or the grant by such Guarantor of a security
interest to secure, such Swap Obligation (or any Guarantee thereof) is or becomes illegal under the Commodity
Exchange Act or any rule, regulation or order of the Commodity Futures Trading Commission (or the application
or official interpretation of any thereof) by virtue of such Guarantor’s failure for any reason to constitute an ECP at
the time the Guarantee of such Guarantor or the grant of such security interest becomes or would become effective
with respect to such Swap Obligation. If a Swap Obligation arises under a master agreement governing more than
one swap, such exclusion shall apply only to the portion of such Swap Obligation that is attributable to swaps for
which such Guarantee or security interest is or becomes illegal.

"Excluded Taxes" means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to a Recipient or required
to be withheld or deducted from a payment to a Recipient: (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income
(however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of such
Recipient being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, in the case of any Lender, its
applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii)
that are Other Connection Taxes, (b) in the case of a Lender, U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts
payable to or for the account of such Lender with respect to an applicable interest in a Loan, Letter of Credit or
Commitment pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which (i) such Lender acquires such interest in the Loan,
Letter of Credit or Commitment (other than pursuant to an assignment request by the Borrowers under Section
2.19(b)) or (ii) such Lender changes its lending office, except in each case to the extent that, pursuant to Section
2.17, amounts with respect to such Taxes were payable either to such Lender’s assignor immediately before such
Lender acquired the applicable interest in a Loan, Letter of Credit or Commitment or to such Lender immediately
before it changed its lending office, (c) Taxes attributable to such Recipient’s failure to comply with Section 2.17(f)-
and. (d) any U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA. and (¢) Canadian federal
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withholding_Taxes payable by a Lender who does not deal at arm’s length with the Canadian Borrower, for

the Canadian Borrower, or is a Person not dealing at arm’s length with a “specified shareholder” of the Canadian
Borrower, for purposes of the ITA.

“Existing_Letters of Credit” means each of the currently outstanding letters of credit issued for the
account of a Borrower and listed on Schedule 2.06 hereto.

“Extenuating Circumstance” means any period during which the Administrative Agent has determined in
its sole discretion (i) that due to unforeseen and/or nonrecurring circumstances, it is impractical and/or not feasible
to submit or receive a Borrowing Request or Interest Election Request by email or fax or through Electronic
System, and (ii) to accept a Borrowing Request or Interest Election Request telephonically.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code as of the date of this Agreement (or any
amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with),
any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreement entered into pursuant to
Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code and any fiscal or regulatory legislation, rules or practices adopted pursuant to any
intergovernmental agreement, treaty or convention among Governmental Authorities and implementing such
Sections of the Code.

“Federal Funds Effective Rate” means, for any day, the rate calculated by the NYFRB based on such
day’s federal funds transactions by depositary institutions, as determined in such manner as shall be set forth on the
NYFRB’s Website from time to time, and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the NYFRB as the
effective federal funds rate, provided that, if the Federal Funds Effective Rate as so determined would be less than
zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement.

“Financial Officer” means the chief executive officer, chief financial officer, vice president of finance,
director of finance, principal accounting officer, treasurer or controller of such company.

“First Lien Intercreditor Agreement” means an intercreditor agreement dated on or before the Effective
Date among the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Floor Plan Administrative Agent, and in form and
substance acceptable to the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent and the Floor Plan Administrative Agent, as
amended or otherwise modified from time to time.
L

"Fiscal Quarter" means each of the quarterly accounting periods of Alta Group and its Subsidiaries
ending on March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31 of each year.

"Fiscal Year" means each annual accounting period of Alta Group and its Subsidiaries ending on
December 31. As an example, reference to the 2020 Fiscal Year shall mean the Fiscal Year ending December 31,
2020.

"Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio" means, as of any date, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA, minus,
Capital Expenditures, to (b) Fixed Charges, all as calculated for the four consecutive Fiscal Quarters then ending
on a consolidated basis for Alta Group and its Subsidiaries, and subject to Section 1.08.

“Fixed Charges” means, for any period, without duplication, cash Interest Expense, plus prepayments
(other than (x) prepayments of Loans and (y) prepayments constituting refinancings through the incurrence of
additional Indebtedness expressly permitted by Section 6.01)) and scheduled principal and curtailment payments on
Indebtedness made during such period (other than payments on
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intercompany Indebtedness between the Borrowers), plus expense for taxes paid in cash, plus Restricted Payments
paid in cash, plus Capital Lease Obligation payments, all calculated for the Borrowers and their respective
Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

“Floor” means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement initially (as of the execution
of this Agreement, the modification, amendment or renewal of this Agreement or otherwise) with respect to HHB6-
Rate-the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR, as applicable. For the avoidance of doubt.
the initial Floor for each of the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR shall be 0.00%.

“Flood Laws” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 8.10.

“Floor Plan Administrative Agent” means JPMCB, in its capacity as administrative agent under any of
the Floor Plan Credit Agreement, or any successor administrative agent under the Floor Plan Credit Agreement.

“Floor Plan Credit Agreement” means the Floor Plan Credit Agreement, dated as of the date hereof,
among the Borrowers, the lenders party thereto from time to time, and the Floor Plan Administrative Agent, as
amended, refinanced, replaced, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Floor Plan Lenders” means the “Lenders” as defined in, and party to, the Floor Plan Credit Agreement.

“Floor Plan Loan Documents” means the “Loan Documents” as defined in the Floor Plan Credit
Agreement.

“Floor Plan Loan Parties” means the “Loan Parties” as defined in the Floor Plan Credit Agreement.
“Floor Plan Loans” means “Loans” as defined in, and made under, the Floor Plan Credit Agreement.

“Floor Plan Obligations” means the “Secured Obligations” as defined in the Floor Plan Credit
Agreement.

“Floor Plan Priority Collateral” means all Collateral consisting of the equipment purchased with Floor
Plan Loans and all Proceeds of any of the foregoing (including without limitation, all insurance proceeds and rents
and all accessions thereto).

“Foreign Lender” means (a) if a Borrower is a U.S. Person, a Lender that is not a U.S. Person, and (b) if
a Borrower is not a U.S. Person, a Lender that is resident or organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than
that in which such Borrower is resident for tax purposes.

“Funding_Account” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(n).

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the U.S., Canada, any other nation or any political
subdivision thereof, whether state, provincial or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body,
court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative
powers or functions of or pertaining to government.
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“Greenawalt” means Ryan Greenawalt and any trust controlled by him, for his benefit, his spouse’s
benefit or the benefit of any lineal descendants of Ryan Greenawalt.

“Guarantees” means, with respect to any Person, without duplication, any obligations of such Person
(other than endorsements in the ordinary course of business of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection)
Guaranteeing or intended to Guarantee any Indebtedness of any other Person in any manner, whether direct or
indirect, and including without limitation any obligation, whether or not contingent, (i) to purchase any such
Indebtedness or any property constituting security therefor, (ii) to advance or provide funds or other support for the
payment or purchase of any such Indebtedness or to maintain working capital, solvency or other balance sheet
condition of such other Person (including without limitation keep well agreements, maintenance agreements or
similar agreements or arrangements) for the benefit of any holder of Indebtedness of such other Person, (iii) to
lease or purchase assets, securities or services primarily for the purpose of assuring the holder of such Indebtedness
against loss in respect thereof, (iv) as an account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued
to support such Indebtedness or obligation or (v) to otherwise assure or hold harmless the holder of such
Indebtedness against loss in respect thereof. The amount of any Guarantee hereunder shall (subject to any
limitations set forth therein) be deemed to be an amount equal to the outstanding principal amount (or maximum
principal amount, if larger) of the Indebtedness in respect of which such Guarantee is made.

“Guarantors” means the Borrowers (as a Guarantor with respect to all Secured Obligations of each of the
other Loan Parties) and each existing and future subsidiary of any of the foregoing.

“Hazardous Materials” means: (a) any substance, material, or waste that is included within the
definitions of ‘“hazardous substances,” “hazardous materials,” “hazardous waste,” “toxic substances,” “toxic
materials,” “toxic waste,” or words of similar import in any Environmental Law; (b) those substances listed as
hazardous substances by the United States Department of Transportation (or any successor agency) (49 C.F.R.
172.101 and amendments thereto) or by the Environmental Protection Agency (or any successor agency) (40
C.F.R. Part 302 and amendments thereto); and (c) any substance, material, or waste that is petroleum, petroleum-
related, or a petroleum by-product, asbestos or asbestos-containing material, polychlorinated biphenyls, flammable,
explosive, radioactive, freon gas, radon, or a pesticide, herbicide, or any other agricultural chemical.

EEINT3

"Historical Financial Statements" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.04(a). “Howell
Property” means the real property and improvements owned by Alta Illinois and located
at North Side of Samuelson Road East of 11th Street (Illinois Route 251), Rockford, Illinois.
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“Increasing Lender” has the meaning assigned to
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“Indebtedness” of any Person means, without duplication, with respect to any Person, without
duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by
bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, or upon which interest payments are customarily made, (c) all
obligations of such Person under conditional sale or other title retention agreements relating to assets purchased by
such Person (other than customary reservations or retentions of title under agreements with suppliers entered into in
the ordinary course of business), (d) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price
of assets or services purchased by such Person (other than trade debt incurred in the ordinary course of business)
which would
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appear as liabilities on a balance sheet of such Person, (e) all obligations of such Person under take-or-pay or
similar arrangements, (f) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an
existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on, or payable out of the proceeds of production
from, assets owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the obligations secured thereby have been assumed,
(g) all Guarantees of such Person with respect to Indebtedness of another Person, (h) Capital Lease Obligations of
such Person, (i) the maximum amount of all standby letters of credit issued or bankers’ acceptances facilities
created or similar instruments for the account of such Person and, without duplication, all drafts drawn thereunder
(to the extent unreimbursed), as reduced from time to time, (j) all Disqualified Equity, (k) the principal balance
outstanding under any synthetic lease, tax retention operating lease, accounts receivable securitization program, off-
balance sheet loan or similar off-balance sheet financing product, based on the amount that would be deemed
outstanding thereunder if such transaction was structured as a secured financing on balance sheet, (1) the
Indebtedness of any partnership in which such Person is a general partner, (m) obligations under any earn-out or
similar obligations determined in accordance with GAAP, (n) the portion of indebtedness of any unincorporated
joint venture in which such Person is a general partner or a joint venturer that is pro rata to such Person’s ownership
interest in such joint venture and (o) buyback obligations to the extent such obligations exceed the associated asset
value set forth in the financial statements of Alta Group and its Subsidiaries.

“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any
payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party under any Loan Document and
(b) to the extent not otherwise described in the foregoing clause (a), Other Taxes.
“Indemnitee” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.03(b).
"Ineligible Institution" has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.04(b).
“Intercreditor Agreements” means, collectively, the First Lien Intercreditor Agreement, the Second Lien
Intercreditor Agreement and any other intercreditor agreement in form and substance acceptable to the
Administrative Agent in its sole discretion.

“Interest Election Request” means a request by a Borrower to convert or continue a Borrowing in
accordance with Section 2.07.

“Interest Expense” means, with reference to any period, total interest expense (including that attributable
to Capital Lease Obligations) of Alta Group and its Subsidiaries for such period with respect to all outstanding
Indebtedness of Alta Group and its Subsidiaries (including all commissions, discounts and other fees and charges
owed with respect to letters of credit and bankers’ acceptances and net costs under Swap Agreements in respect of
interest rates, to the extent such net costs are allocable to such period in accordance with GAAP), calculated for
Alta Group and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis for such period in accordance with GAAP.

“Interest Payment Date” means (a) with respect to any CBFR Loan, Canadian Prime Rate Loan and any
Swingline Loan, the first Business Day of each month— and the Maturity Date,_(b) with respect to any E—ufevd-o-l-l-a1=

Loan the last day of each Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part (and, in the case
of a EuredettarTerm Benchmark Borrowing or CDOR Loan with an Interest Period of more than efre—{Hthree

months' duration, each steeessive-date(s)each-one{H-menthday prior to the last day of such Interest Period that

occurs at intervals of three months' duration after the first day of such Interest Period)_and the Maturity Date.
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“Interest Period” means, with respect to any EuredeHarTerm Benchmark Borrowing or CDOR
Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding
day in the calendar month that is one, twor-three or (other than with respect to CDOR Borrowings) six 6)-months
thereafter;as-a-Borrower (in each case, subject to the availability for the Benchmark applicable to the relevant Loan
or Commitment), as the Borrower Representative may elect; provided, that (ia) if any Interest Period would end on
a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless,
such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall
end on the next preceding Business Day-and, (iib) any Interest Period that commences on the last Business Day of a
calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such
Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period, and
(c) no tenor that has been removed from this deﬁnition pursuant to Section 2.13(e) shall be available for

initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing is made and, in the case of a Revolvmg Borrowing, thereafter
shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

; § Ry ny-in h p R ; o the same
number of decimal places as the LIBO Screen Rate) determined by the Administrative Agent (which determination
shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error) to be equal to the rate that results from interpolating on a
linear basis between: (a) the LIBO Screen Rate for the longest period (for which the LIBO Screen Rate is
available) that is shorter than the Impacted Interest Period and (b) the LIBO Screen Rate for the shortest period (for
which the LIBO Screen Rate is available) that exceeds the Impacted Interest Period, in each case, at such time;
provided that, if any Interpolated Rate shall be less than stehrate—she be-ze PULPOSES

thisAgreement:

“Inventory” has the meaning assigned to such term in the Security Agreement.

“ISDA Definitions” means the 2006 ISDA Definitions published by the International Swaps and
Derivatives Association, Inc. or any successor thereto, as amended or supplemented from time to time, or any
successor definitional booklet for interest rate derivatives published from time to time by the International Swaps
and Derivatives Association, Inc. or such successor thereto.

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“Issuing Bank” means each of JPMCB in its capacity as an issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder, and its
successors in such capacity as provided in Section 2.05(i). The Issuing Bank may, in its discretion, arrange for one
or more Letters of Credit to be issued by Affiliates of the Issuing Bank, in which case the term “Issuing Bank”
shall include any such Affiliate with respect to Letters of Credit issued by such Affiliate.

“ITA” means the Income Tax Act (Canada), as amended.

“JPMCB” means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.

“JPMCB Parties” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.20.

“LC Collateral Account" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.05(j).

“LC Disbursement” means a payment made by the Issuing Bank pursuant to a Letter of Credit.



41

“LC Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding
Letters of Credit at such time plus (b) the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements that have not yet been
reimbursed by or on behalf of the Borrowers at such time. The LC Exposure of any Lender at any time shall be its
Applicable Percentage of the total LC Exposure at such time.

“Lender Parent” means, with respect to any Lender, any Person as to which such Lender is, directly or
indirectly, a subsidiary.

“Lender-Related Person” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.03(b).

“Lenders” means the Persons listed on the Commitment Schedule and any other Person that shall have
become a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption or Section 2.21 or otherwise, other than any
such Person that ceases to be a party hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption or otherwise. Unless the
context otherwise requires, the term “Lenders” includes the Swingline Lender and Issuing Bank.

“Letter of Credit” means any letter of credit issued pursuant to this Agreement.
“Letter of Credrt Agreement has the rneanrng assrgned to it 1n Sectlon 2. 06(b)

any CBFR Borrowmg, the LIBO Screen Rate at approx1mately 11: 00 a.m., London time, two (2) Business Days
prior to the commencement of such Interest Period; provided that, if the LIBO Screen Rate shall not be available at
such time for such Interest Period (an “Impacted Interest Period”), then the LIBO Rate shall be the Interpolated
Rate, subject to Section 2.13 in the event that the Administrative Agent shall conclude that it shall not be possible
to determine such Interpolated Rate (which conclusion shall be conclusive and binding absent manifest error).
Notwithstanding the above, to the extent that “LIBO Rate” or “Adjusted LIBO Rate” i is used in connection with a
CBFR Borrowing, such rate shall be ermin dby d v

Rate:

“Liabilities” means any losses, claims (including intraparty claims), demands, damages or liabilities of
any kind.

ereen—Rate v amd—tie . - oHarBerrowing—for any
Interest Period or for any CBFR Borrowmg, the London 1nterbank offered rate as admlnlstered by ICE Benchmark
Administration (or any other Person that takes over the administration of such rate for Dollars) for a period equal in
length to such Interest Period as displayed on such day and time on pages LIBORO1 or LIBORO02 of the Reuters
screen that displays such rate (or, in the event such rate does not appear on a Reuters page or screen, on any
successor or substitute page on such screen that displays such rate, or on the appropriate page of such other
information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the Administrative Agent in its
reasonable discretion); provided that, if the LIBO Screen Rate as so determined would be less than zero, such rate
shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement prov1ded further that the foregomg shall not be
applicable to determine the “Adjusted-6 a

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust 11en pledge hypothecation,
encumbrance, charge or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any
conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially
the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such asset and (¢) in the case of Equity Interests or
securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such Equity Interests or
securities.

“Loan Documents” means this Agreement, any promissory notes issued pursuant to this Agreement, each
Letter of Credit Agreement, the Collateral Documents, the Subordination Agreements,
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any assignment of representations and warranties insurance or similar agreement and all other agreements,
instruments, documents and certificates executed and delivered to, or in favor of, the Administrative Agent or any
Lenders and including all other pledges, powers of attorney, intercreditors, landlord waivers and access
agreements, consents, assignments, contracts, notices, letter of credit agreements and all other written matter
whether heretofore (including without limitation any of the foregoing executed in connection with the Existing
Credit Agreement), now or hereafter executed by or on behalf of any Loan Party, or any employee of any Loan
Party, and delivered to the Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection with this Agreement or the
transactions contemplated hereby. Any reference in the Agreement or any other Loan Document to a Loan
Document shall include all appendices, exhibits or schedules thereto, and all amendments, restatements,
supplements or other modifications thereto, and shall refer to the Agreement or such Loan Document as the same
may be in effect at any and all times such reference becomes operative.

“Loan Parties” means the Borrowers and the Guarantors, if any.

“Loan Party Guaranty” means any guaranty agreements from any Guarantor delivered in connection with
any Loan Document at any time (and for avoidance of doubt, excluding any and all such guaranty agreements of
any Persons that are not Guarantors as defined herein delivered in connection with the Existing Credit Agreement)
as are requested by the Administrative Agent and its counsel, in each case as amended, restated, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time.

“Loans” means the loans and advances made by the Lenders pursuant to this Agreement, including
Swingline Loans, Overadvances and Protective Advances.

“Margin Stock” means margin stock within the meaning of Regulations T, U and X, as applicable.

"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, assets, property or
financial condition of the Loan Parties, taken as a whole, (b) the ability of the Loan Parties to perform any of their
Obligations, or (c) the rights of or benefits available to the Administrative Agent of the Lenders under the Loan
Documents, including without limitation the Collateral and the priority of the Administrative Agent’s Liens
thereon.

“Material Agreement” means any agreement listed on Schedule 3.21.

“Material Indebtedness” means Indebtedness (other than the Loans and Letters of Credit), or obligations
in respect of one or more Swap Agreements, of any one or more of the Loan Parties in an aggregate principal
amount exceeding $5,000,000. For purposes of determining Material Indebtedness, the “principal amount” of the
“obligations” of any Loan Party in respect of any Swap Agreement at any time shall be the maximum aggregate
amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that such Loan Party would be required to pay if such Swap
Agreement were terminated at such time.

“Maximum Rate” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.15.

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.

“Mortgages” means any mortgage, deed of trust or other agreement from any Loan Party granting a Lien
on any of its real property delivered in connection with any Loan Document at any time (either before, concurrently
or after the Effective Date, and including without limitation any of the foregoing delivered in connection with the
Existing Credit Agreement), each in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent,

entered into by any Loan Party at any time for the benefit of the
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Administrative Agent and the Lenders pursuant to this Agreement, as amended or otherwise modified from time to
time.
“Multiemployer Plan” means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA. “Net
Book Value” means the net book value of any asset, taking into account diminutions,
depreciations and other accounting charges, determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Net Orderly Liquidation Value” means, with respect to Inventory or Equipment of any Person, the
orderly liquidation value thereof as determined in a manner acceptable to the Administrative Agent by an appraiser
acceptable to the Administrative Agent, net of all costs of liquidation thereof.

"Net Cash Proceeds" means, without duplication (a) in connection with any sale or other disposition of
any asset or any settlement by, or receipt of payment in respect of, any property insurance claim or condemnation
award, the cash proceeds (including any cash payments received by way of deferred payment of principal pursuant
to a note or installment receivable or purchase price adjustment receivable or otherwise, but only as and when
received) of such sale, settlement or payment, net of documented attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, investment
banking fees, amounts required to be applied to the repayment of Indebtedness secured by a Lien expressly
permitted hereunder on any asset which is the subject of such sale, insurance claim or condemnation award (other
than any Lien in favor of the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders) and
other fees actually incurred in connection therewith and net of taxes paid or reasonably estimated to be payable as a
result thereof and of any other costs incurred in connection with such sale, disposition, settlement or receipt and (b)
in connection with any issuance or sale of any equity securities or debt securities or instruments or the incurrence
of loans, the cash proceeds received from such issuance or incurrence, net of investment banking fees, documented
attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, underwriting discounts and commissions and other fees and expenses actually
incurred in connection therewith.

“Net Income” means, for any period, the consolidated net income (or loss) determined for Alta Group and
its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; provided that the following shall be excluded
from the calculation of Net Income: (a) the income (or deficit) of any Person accrued prior to the date it becomes a
Subsidiary or is merged into or consolidated with Alta Group or any Subsidiary, (b) the income (or deficit) of any
Person (other than a Subsidiary) in which Alta Group or any Subsidiary has an ownership interest, except to the
extent that any such income is actually received by Alta Group or such Subsidiary in the form of dividends or
similar distributions and (c) the undistributed earnings of any Subsidiary (other than a Borrower), to the extent that
the declaration or payment of dividends or similar distributions by such Subsidiary is not at the time permitted by
the terms of any contractual obligation (other than under any Loan Document) or Requirement of Law applicable to
such Subsidiary.

“NITCO” means NITCO, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company.

“NYFRB” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

“NYFRB’s Website” means the website of the NYFRB at http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor
source

“NYFRB Rate” means, for any day, the greater of (a) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such
day and (b) the Overnight Bank Funding Rate in effect on such day (or for any day that is not a Business Day, for
the immediately preceding Business Day); provided that if none of such rates are published for any day that is a
Business Day, the term “NYFRB Rate” means the rate for a federal funds transaction quoted at 11:00 a.m. eastern
time on such day received by the Administrative Agent from a federal funds broker of recognized standing selected
by it; provided, further, that if any of the aforesaid
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rates as so determined would be less than zero, such rate shall be deemed to be zero for purposes of this Agreement.

“Obligations” means all unpaid principal of and accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans, all LC
Exposure, all accrued and unpaid fees and all expenses, reimbursements, indemnities and other obligations and
indebtedness (including interest and fees accruing during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership
or other similar proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding), obligations and
liabilities of any of the Loan Parties to any of the Lenders, the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or any
indemnified party, individually or collectively, existing on the Effective Date or arising thereafter, direct or indirect,
joint or several, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured,
arising by contract, operation of law or otherwise, arising or incurred under this Agreement or any of the other Loan
Documents or in respect of any of the Loans made or reimbursement or other obligations incurred or any of the
Letters of Credit or other instruments at any time evidencing any thereof.

“OFAC” means the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the United States Department of the Treasury.

"Other Connection Taxes" means, with respect to any Recipient, Taxes imposed as a result of a present or
former connection between such Recipient and the jurisdiction imposing such Taxes (other than a connection
arising from such Recipient having executed, delivered, enforced, become a party to, performed its obligations
under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, or engaged in any other transaction
pursuant to, or enforced, any Loan Document), or sold or assigned an interest in any Loan, Letter of Credit or Loan
Document.

"Other Taxes" means any present or future stamp, court, documentary intangible, recording, filing or
similar other excise or property Taxes that arise from any payment made under, from the execution, delivery,
performance, enforcement or registration of, or from the registration, receipt or perfection of a security interest
under, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document, except any such Taxes that are Other Connection Taxes
imposed with respect to an assignment (other than an assignment under Section 2.18(b)).

“Overnight Bank Funding Rate” means, for any day, the rate comprised of both overnight federal funds
and overnight eurodollar berrowingstransactions denominated in Dollars by U.S.-managed banking offices of
depository institutions (as such composite rate shall be determined by the NYFRB as set forth on the NYFRB’s
Website from time to time) and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the NYFRB as an overnight
bank funding rate.

“Paid in Full” or “Payment in Full” means, (i) the indefeasible payment in full in cash of all outstanding
Loans and LC Disbursements, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon, (ii) the termination, expiration, or
cancellation and return of all outstanding Letters of Credit (or alternatively, with respect to each such Letter of
Credit, the furnishing to the Administrative Agent of a cash deposit, or at the discretion of the Administrative Agent
a back-up standby letter of credit satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Bank, in an amount equal
to 105% of the LC Exposure as of the date of such payment), (iii) the indefeasible payment in full in cash of all
accrued and unpaid fees, (iv) the indefeasible payment in full in cash of all reimbursable expenses and other
Secured Obligations (other than Unliquidated Obligations for which no claim has been made and other obligations
expressly stated to survive such payment and termination of this Agreement), together with accrued and unpaid
interest thereon, (v) the termination of all Commitments, and (vi) the termination of the Secured Swap Obligations
and the Banking Services Obligations.
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“Parent” means, with respect to any Lender, any Person as to which such Lender is, directly or indirectly,

a subsidiary.

“Participant” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(c). “Participant

Register” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(c). “Payment” has the

meaning assigned to it in Section 8.06(d).

“Payment Condition” shall be deemed to be satisfied in connection with a Restricted Payment or a
Permitted Acquisition if:

(@

(b)

©

(d)

no Default has occurred and is continuing or would result immediately after giving effect to such
Restricted Payment or Permitted Acquisition and the Loans (if any) requested to be made and other
Indebtedness incurred in connection therewith on a pro forma basis satisfactory to the Administrative
Agent after giving effect to such Restricted Payment or Permitted Acquisition as of the last day of
the Fiscal Quarter most recently ended for which financial statements have been delivered to the
Administrative Agent in accordance with Section 5.01(b)(i);

both before and after giving effect to such Restricted Payment or Permitted Acquisition and the
Loans (if any) requested to be made and other Indebtedness incurred in connection therewith on a
pro forma basis acceptable to the Administrative Agent, each of the representations and warranties in
the Loan Documents is true and correct,

immediately after giving effect to such Restricted Payment or Permitted Acquisition and at all times
during the 60-day period immediately prior to such Restricted Payment or Permitted Acquisition, the
Borrowers shall have Availability calculated on a on a pro forma basis acceptable to the
Administrative Agent of not less than 17.5% of the Revolving Commitment; and

the Borrower Representative shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent a certificate in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent certifying as to the items described
in (a), (b) and (c) above and attaching calculations in form and substance satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent.

“Payment Notice” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 8.06(d).

“PBGC” means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA and any
successor entity performing similar functions.

“Permitted Acquisition” means any Acquisition by a Loan Party in a transaction that (i) is consented to in

writing by Required Lenders in their sole discretion or (ii) otherwise satisfies each of the following requirements:

(@
(b)

such Acquisition is not a hostile or contested Acquisition;

the business acquired in connection with such Acquisition (i) is not engaged, directly or indirectly,

in any line of business other than the businesses in which the Loan Parties are engaged on the Effective Date and
any business activities that are substantially similar, related, or incidental thereto and

(i1) shall have generated a positive amount of earnings before income taxes, depreciation and amortization
(calculated in substantially the same manner as Consolidated EBITDA less any noncash
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gains or losses on the sale of fixed or capital assets offset for gains from the sale of fixed or capital assets
calculated (x) at the price at which the applicable business sold the applicable asset, minus (y) such business’s
initial purchase price of such asset (for the avoidance of doubt, without reducing this clause

(y) for any depreciation or amortization thereof)), less unfinanced Capital Expenditures, during the twelve-month
period most recently ended prior to the date of such Acquisition;

(o) the Payment Condition is satisfied;

(d) as soon as available, but not less than fifteen (15) days (or such shorter period agreed to by the
Administrative Agent) prior to such Acquisition, the Borrower Representative shall have provided the Lenders (i)
notice of such Acquisition and (ii) a copy of all business and financial information reasonably requested by the
Administrative Agent, including pro forma financial statements, statements of cash flow, availability projections, a
quality of earnings analysis and a certificate, in form and detail satisfactory to the Administrative Agent,
demonstrating compliance with the requirements set forth in clause (c) above;

(e) if such Acquisition is an acquisition of the Equity Interests of a Person, the Acquisition is
structured so that the acquired Person shall become a wholly-owned Subsidiary of a Borrower; and

(f)  no Loan Party shall, as a result of or in connection with any such Acquisition, assume or incur any
direct or contingent liabilities (whether relating to environmental, tax, litigation, or other matters) that could
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

“Permitted Discretion” means a determination made in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable (from
the perspective of a secured asset-based lender) business judgment.

“Permitted Encumbrances” means:

(a) Liens imposed by law for taxes that are not yet due or are being contested in compliance with
Section 5.04;

(b) carriers’, warehousemen’s, mechanics’, materialmen’s, repairmen’s and other like Liens imposed
by law, arising in the ordinary course of business and securing obligations that are not overdue by more than thirty
(30) days or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.04;

(c) Liens (other than any Lien imposed by ERISA) consisting of pledges and deposits made in the
ordinary course of business in compliance with workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance and other social
security laws or regulations;

(d) deposits or pledges to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory obligations,
surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in each case in the ordinary
course of business;

() judgment liens in respect of judgments that do not constitute an Event of Default under clause (k)
of Article VII;

(f)  easements, zoning restrictions, licenses, title restrictions, rights-of-way and similar encumbrances
on real property imposed by law or incurred or granted by any Loan Party in the ordinary course of business that do
not secure any monetary obligations and do not materially detract from the value of the affected property or
interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of any Loan Party; and

(g) minor imperfections in title that do not materially detract from the value of the affected property or
interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of any Loan Party;
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provided that the term “Permitted Encumbrances” shall not include any Lien securing Indebtedness.

"Permitted Investments" means:

(a) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally
guaranteed by, the U.S. or Canada (or by any agency thereof to the extent such obligations are backed by the full
faith and credit of the U.S._or Canada), in each case maturing within one (1) year from the date of acquisition
thereof;

(b) investments in commercial paper maturing within two hundred seventy (270) days from the date of
acquisition thereof and having, at such date of acquisition, the highest credit rating obtainable from S&P or from
Moody's;

(c) investments in certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances and time deposits maturing within one
hundred eighty (180) days from the date of acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money
market deposit accounts issued or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank organized under the
laws of the U.S. or Canada or any state or province, as applicable, thereof which has a combined capital and
surplus and undivided profits of not less than $500,000,000;

(d) fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than thirty (30) days for
securities described in clause (a) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described
in clause (c) above; and

(e) money market funds that (i) comply with the criteria set forth in Securities and Exchange
Commission Rule 2a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940, (ii) are rated AAA by S&P and Aaa by
Moody’s and (iii) have portfolio assets of at least $5,000,000,000.

“Permitted Investors” means Greenawalt, Anthony J. Colucci, Craig F. Brubaker, Alan Hammersley,
Richard A. Papalia, and Sponsor.

“Permitted Preferred Equity” means Equity Interests of Alta Group satisfying each of the following
conditions: (a) such Equity Interests are preferred with respect to the payment of dividends, or as to the distribution
of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of Alta Group, over other Equity Interests of
any other class of Alta Group, (b) such Equity Interests are not Disqualified Equity, (c) such Equity Interests are on
the terms described on Schedule 1.01, with such changes thereto as approved in writing in advance by the
Administrative Agent, (d) the aggregate liquidation value of such Equity Interests does not exceed $40,000,000 plus
any accumulated and unpaid dividends, and (e) any cash dividends, redemptions, repurchases or other distributions
or payments thereon are subject to, among other agreements evidencing Indebtedness of Alta Group, the terms of
this Agreement.

“Person” means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture,
association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

“Plan” means any employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the
provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and in respect of which any
Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate is (or, if such plan were terminated, would under Section 4069 of ERISA be
deemed to be) an “employer” as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.
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“Plan Asset Regulations” means 29 CFR § 2510.3-101 et seq., as modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA,
as amended from time to time.

“PPSA” means the Personal Property Security Act (Ontario), including the regulations thereto, provided
that if perfection or the effect of perfection or non-perfection or the priority of any Lien created hereunder or under

applicable legislation with respect to personal property security in effect in a jurisdiction in Canada other than the
Province of Ontario, “PPSA” means the Personal Property Security Act or such other applicable legislation

"Prepayment Events" means:

(a) any Sale (including pursuant to a sale and leaseback transaction) of any property or asset of any
Borrower or any Subsidiary with a fair market value equal to or greater than $2,500,000, other than dispositions
described in Section 6.03(a)(i);

(b)  Event of Loss in respect of any property or asset of any Borrower or any Subsidiary with a fair
value immediately prior to such event equal to or greater than $2,500,000; or

(c) the incurrence by any Borrower or any Subsidiary of any Indebtedness, other than Indebtedness
permitted under Section 6.01.

“Prime Rate” means the rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the “Prime Rate” in the
U.S. or, if The Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest per annum interest rate published by the
Federal Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistical Release H.15 (519) (Selected Interest Rates) as the “bank
prime loan” rate or, if such rate is no longer quoted therein, any similar rate quoted therein (as determined by the
Administrative Agent) or any similar release by the Federal Reserve Board (as determined by the Administrative
Agent). Each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly
announced or quoted as being effective.

“Pro Forma Basis” means, with respect to the calculation of any test, financial ratio, basket or covenant
under this Agreement, including Consolidated Total Assets, Fixed Charges, Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio,
Consolidated EBITDA and definitions used therein, as of any date, that pro forma effect will be given to all
applicable transactions in the manner described in Section 1.08.

“Proceeding” means any claim, litigation, investigation, action, suit, arbitration or administrative, judicial
or regulatory action or proceeding in any jurisdiction.

“Proceeds” means (a) all “proceeds,” as defined in Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code, with
respect to the Collateral, and (b) whatever is recoverable or recovered when any Collateral is sold, exchanged,

collected, or disposed of, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, whether cash or non-cash.

"Projections" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.04(b).

“Protective Advance” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.04.

“PTE” means a prohibited transaction class exemption issued by the U.S. Department of Labor, as any
such exemption may be amended from time to time.
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“QFC” has the meaning assigned to the term “qualified financial contract” in, and shall be interpreted in
accordance with, 12 U.S.C. 5390(c)(8)(D).

“QFEC Credit Support” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.23.
"Recipient" means, as applicable, (a) the Administrative Agent, (b) any Lender and (c) the Issuing Bank.

“Reference Time” with respect to any setting of the then-current Benchmark means (1) if such
Benchmark is EHBOthe Term SOFR Rate, ++5:00 a.m. (EendenChicago time) on the day that is two tenden-
banking(2)_U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the date of such setting, and-(2) if the RFR for
such Benchmark is Daily Simple SOFR,_then four (4) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such
setting_or (3) if such Benchmark is net+iBOnone of the Term SOFR Rate_or Daily Simple SOFR, the time
determined by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion.

“Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.04(b)(iv).

“Regulation D” means Regulation D of the Federal Reserve Board, as in effect from time to time and all
official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof.

“Regulation T” means Regulation T of the Federal Reserve Board, as in effect from time to time and all
official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof.

“Regulation U” means Regulation U of the Federal Reserve Board, as in effect from time to time and all
official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof.

“Regulation X” means Regulation X of the Federal Reserve Board, as in effect from time to time and all
official rulings and interpretations thereunder or thereof.

“Related Parties” means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person’s Affiliates and the respective
directors, officers, partners, members, trustees, employees, agents, administrators, managers, representatives and
advisors of such Person and such Person’s Affiliates.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the NYFRB, or a committee
officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the NYFRBs- or,_in each case, any successor
thereto.

“Relevant Rate” means (i) with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing, the Adjusted Term SOFR

“Reports” has the meaning assigned to such term in Article VIII.

“Required Lenders” means, at any time, Lenders having Credit Exposure and unused Commitments
representing more than 50% of the sum of the total Credit Exposure and unused Commitments at such time;
provided that (a) it shall require at least two Lenders (with any Lenders that are Affiliates constituting one Lender
for purposes of this definition) to constitute Required Lenders if there are two or more Lenders party hereto, and
(b) the Credit Exposure and unused Commitments of any Defaulting Lender shall be disregarded in determining
Required Lenders at any time.

“Requirement of Law” means, as to any Person, the certificate of incorporation and bylaws, certificate of
organization and operating agreement, or other organizational or governing documents of such Person, and any
law, treaty, rule or regulation or determination of an arbitrator or a court or other
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Governmental Authority, in each case applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its property or to which
such Person or any of its property is subject.

“Reserves” means any and all reserves which the Administrative Agent deems necessary, in its Permitted
Discretion, to maintain (including, without limitation, an availability reserve, reserves for accrued and unpaid
interest on the Secured Obligations, Banking Services Reserves, reserves for rent at locations leased by any Loan
Party and for consignees, reserves for dilution of Accounts, reserves for Inventory shrinkage, reserves for Swap
Obligations, reserves for contingent liabilities of any Loan Party, reserves for uninsured losses of any Loan Party,
reserves for uninsured, underinsured, un-indemnified or under-indemnified liabilities or potential liabilities with
respect to any litigation, reserves for taxes, fees, assessments, and other governmental charges and reserves for
parts inventory attached to open work orders) with respect to the Collateral or any Loan Party.

“Resolution Authority” means an EEA Resolution Authority or, with respect to any UK Financial
Institution, a UK Resolution Authority.

"Restricted Payment" means (i) any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other
property) with respect to any Equity Interests of any Loan Party, (ii) any payment (whether in cash, securities or
other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement,
acquisition, cancellation or termination of any such Equity Interests in the any Loan Party or any option, warrant or
other right to acquire any such Equity Interests in any Loan Party or
(iil) management fees, agency fees or other fees or similar amounts payable by any Loan Party to any of its
Affiliates.

“Responsible Officer” means the president, Financial Officer or other executive officer of a Borrower.

“Reuters” means, as applicable, Thomson Reuters Corp, Refinitiv, or any successor thereto.

increasing the face amount thereof; and (c) any additional date as the Administrative Agent may determine at any
time when an Event of Default exists.

“Revolving Availability Period” means the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding
the Revolving Termination Date.

“Revolving Borrowing Base” means, at any time, the sum of
(a) 85% of Eligible Accounts at such time, plus

(b) the product of 85% multiplied by the Net Orderly Liquidation Value percentage identified in the
most recent inventory appraisal ordered by the Administrative Agent (such product not to be greater than 65%) in
each case multiplied by Eligible Parts Inventory, valued at the lower of cost or market value, determined on a first-
in-first-out basis, plus

(c)  the product of 85% multiplied by the Net Orderly Liquidation Value percentage identified in the
most recent inventory appraisal ordered by the Administrative Agent (such product not to be greater
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than 100%) in each case multiplied by Eligible Equipment Inventory — Used Fleet, valued at the Net Book Value,
plus

(d) the product of 85% multiplied by the Net Orderly Liquidation Value percentage identified in the
most recent inventory appraisal ordered by the Administrative Agent (such product not to be greater than 80%), in
each case multiplied by Eligible Equipment Inventory - New, valued at the lower of cost or market value,
determined on a first-in-first-out basis, plus

(e) the product of 85% multiplied by the Net Orderly Liquidation Value percentage identified in the
most recent inventory appraisal ordered by the Administrative Agent multiplied by Eligible Equipment Inventory —
Rental Fleet, valued at the Net Book Value, determined on a first-in-first-out basis, plus

(f) 80% of Net Book Value of Eligible Equipment Inventory - Unappraised at such time, minus
(g) Reserves.

The Administrative Agent may, in its Permitted Discretion, reduce the advance rates set forth above, adjust
Reserves or reduce one or more of the other elements used in computing the Revolving Borrowing Base.
Notwithstanding the foregoing and for greater certainty, any Floor Plan Priority Collateral will be excluded from
the Revolving Borrowing Base.

“Revolving_Commitment” means, with respect to each Revolving Lender, the commitment, if any, of
such Lender to make Revolving Loans and to acquire participations in Letters of Credit and Swingline Loans
hereunder, expressed as an amount representing the maximum possible aggregate amount of such Lender’s
Revolving Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may be (a) reduced from time to time pursuant to Section
2.08, (b) increased from time to time pursuant to Section 2.04 or 2.21 and (c) reduced or increased from time to
time pursuant to assignments by or to such Lender pursuant to Section 9.04. The initial amount of each Lender’s
Revolving Commitment is set forth on the Commitment Schedule, or in the Assignment and Assumption pursuant
to which such Lender shall have assumed its Revolving Commitment, as applicable. As of the Second Amendment
Effective Date, the aggregate amount of the Lenders’ Revolving Commitments is $4350,000,000.

“Revolving_Exposure” means, with respect to any Lender at any time, the sum of (a) the outstanding
principal amount of such Lender’s Revolving Loans, its LC Exposure and its Swingline Exposure at such time,
plus (b) an amount equal to its Applicable Percentage of the aggregate principal amount of Protective Advances
outstanding at such time, plus (c) an amount equal to its Applicable Percentage of the aggregate principal amount
of Overadvances outstanding at such time.

“Revolving_Lender” means each Lender that has a Revolving Commitment or, if the Revolving
Commitments have been terminated, Revolving Exposure, in its capacity as holder thereof.

“Revolving Loan” means a Loan made pursuant to Section 2.01.
“Revolving Termination Date” means the earliest of (a) the date on which the Revolving Commitments
are reduced to zero or otherwise terminated pursuant to the terms hereof, (b) April 1, 2026, or (c) December 31,

2025 if any of the Second Lien Notes are outstanding on December 31, 2025.

“RFR Borrowing” means, as to any Borrowing, the RFR Loans comprising such Borrowing,

“RFR Loan” means a Loan that bears interest at a rate based on the Adjusted Daily Simple

SOFR.
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"Sale” means the sale, lease, conveyance or other disposition of any assets, other than an Event
of Loss.

“Sanctioned Country” means, at any time, a country, region or territory which is itself the subject or
target of any Sanctions (at the time of t-his%gfeemeﬁt—Second Amendment Effective Date, the so-called Donetsk

Korea and Syrla).

“Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in any Sanctions-related list of designated
Persons maintained by the-Offiee-of ForetgnAssets-Controtof the U-S-Departmentof the FreasuryOFAC, the U.S.
Department of State-or-by, the Canadian Government, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union,
any Eurepean—tntenEU member state_in which the Company or its Subsidiaries conduct business, Her Majesty’s
Treasury of the United Kingdom or other relevant sanctions authority, (b) any Person operating, organized or
resident in a Sanctioned Country, (c) any Person owned or controlled by any such Person or Persons described in
the foregoing clauses (a) or (b), or (d) any Person otherwise the subject of any Sanctions.

“Sanctions” means all economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, administered or
enforced from time to time by (a) the U.S. government, including those administered by the-Offiee—of Foreign-
Assets-Controtof the U-S-Departmentof the TreasuryOFAC or the U.S. Department of State;- or
(b) the Canadian Government, the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, any European Union
member state orin which the Company or its Subsidiaries conduct business, Her Majesty’s Treasury of the United
Kingdom, Canada or other relevant sanctions authority.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of The McGraw Hill Companies,
Inc.

"SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any
or all of the functions of said Commission.

“Second Amendment” means the Second Amendment to this Agreement dated July 7, 2022.

“Second Amendment Effective Date” means the date the Second Amendment becomes effective.

“Second Lien Intercreditor Agreement” means an intercreditor agreement substantially in the form of
Exhibit B hereto, dated as of the Effective Date, among the Borrowers, the Administrative Agent, the Floor Plan
Administrative Agent and the Second Lien Representative, as amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Second Lien Indenture” means the Indenture, dated as of the date hereof, among Alta Group, the
guarantors thereunder and the Second Lien Representative, as amended, refinanced, replaced, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time.

“Second Lien Notes” means the 5.625% senior secured second lien notes due 2026 in the aggregate
principal amount of $315,000,000 issued by the Borrowers on the Effective Date under the Second Lien Indenture.

“Second Lien Documents” means the “Second Lien Documents” as defined in the Second Lien
Indenture.
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“Second Lien Representative” means Wilmington Trust, National Association, in its capacity as trustee
and collateral agent under any of the Second Lien Documents, or any successor trustee and collateral agent under
any of the Second Lien Documents.

“Second Lien Holders” means the Persons referred to as “Holders” in the Second Lien Indenture.
“Second Lien Obligations” means the “Second Lien Obligations” as defined in the Second Lien
Indenture.

"Secured Obligations" means, collectively, (i) the Obligations, (ii) the Banking Services Obligations and
(ii1) Secured Swap Obligations; provided, however, that the definition of “Secured Obligations” shall not create
any Guarantee by any Guarantor of (or grant of security interest by any Guarantor to support, as applicable) any
Excluded Swap Obligations of such Guarantor for purposes of determining any obligations of any Guarantor.

“Secured Parties” means the holders of the Secured Obligations from time to time and shall include (i)
each Lender and the Issuing Bank in respect of its Loans and LC Exposure respectively,
(ii) the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders in respect of all other present and future
obligations and liabilities of the each Loan Party of every type and description arising under or in connection with
this Agreement or any other Loan Document, (iii) each Lender and Affiliate of such Lender in respect of Swap
Agreements entered into with such Person by any Loan Party, (iv) each Lender and Affiliate of such Lender in
respect of Banking Services provided by such Person to any Loan Party, (v) each indemnified party under Section
9.03 in respect of the obligations and liabilities of the Borrowers to such Person hereunder and under the other
Loan Documents, and (vi) their respective successors and (in the case of a Lender, permitted) transferees and
assigns.

“Secured Swap Obligations” of a Person means any and all obligations of such Person, whether absolute
or contingent and howsoever and whensoever created, arising, evidenced or acquired (including all renewals,
extensions and modifications thereof and substitutions therefor), under (a) any and all Swap Agreements permitted
hereunder to the extent the provider of such Swap Agreement is a Lender or was a Lender or an Affiliate of any
such Lender at the time such Swap Agreement is entered into, and (b) any and all cancellations, buy backs,
reversals, terminations or assignments of any Swap Agreement transaction described in the foregoing clause (a).

"Security A Agreement" means each seetnﬁ{-y—agfeemeﬁt—pk&ge—agfeemefﬁ—pkd-gﬁmdUS Securlty

Agreement and sim y

personal property (1nclud1ng without llmltatlon any Equity Interests owned by such Loan Party) dehvered in
connection with any Loan Document at any time (either before, concurrently or after the Effective Date, and
including without limitation any of the foregoing delivered in connection with the Existing Credit Agreement),
each in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent, entered into by any Loan Party at any time for

the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders pursuant to—thisAgreement,as—amended-or-otherwise-
moedifted-from-timeto-time-each Canadian Security Agreement.

“Settlement Date” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.06(c).

“SOFR” means;—with—tespeet-to—any BustnessDay— a rate per annum equal to the secured overnight
financing rate for—steh—Bustness—Daypubtishedas administered by the SOFR Administrator—enr the SOFR
Administrator’s Website at approximately 8:00 a.m. (New York City time) on the immediately sueeeedingBusiness

Day-.
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“SOFR _Administrator” means the NYFRB (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight
financing rate).

“SOFR Administrator’s Website” means the NYFRB’s website, currently at http://www.newyorkfed.org,
or any successor source for the secured overnight financing rate identified as such by the SOFR Administrator from

time to time.

“SOFR Determination Date” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple

SOFR”.
“SOFR Rate Day” has the meaning specified in the definition of “Daily Simple SOFR”.
“Sponsor” means, collectively, B. Riley Financial, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“B. Riley Financial)

and any Affiliates of B. Riley Financial which are (a) directly or indirectly controlled by B. Riley Financial and (b)
organized primarily for making debt and/or equity investments in one or more companies.

“Statements” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.17(f).

v At o v s the
number one and the denominator of Wthh is the number one minus the a}:gregate of the maximum reserve
percentage (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves) established by the Federal
Reserve Board to which the Administrative Agent is subject with respect to the Adjusted LIBO Rate, for
eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as “Eurocurrency liabilities” in Regulation D). Such reserve
percentages shall include those imposed pursuant to Regulation D of the Federal Reserve Board. Eurodollar Loans
shall be deemed to constitute eurocurrency funding and to be subject to such reserve requirements without benefit
of or credit for proration, exemptions or offsets that may be available from time to time to any Lender under
Regulation D of the Federal Reserve Board or ar1y comparable re;,ulatlon The Statutory Reserve Rate shall be
adjusted automatically on and as of the effee y © Fresery

“Subordinated Debt” means any Indebtedness or other obligations of any Loan Party satisfying each of
the following conditions: (a) the payment and priority thereof is subordinated to the payment of the Secured
Obligations, including customary payment blockage and other customary provisions, all in a manner, including a
Subordination Agreement, reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders, (b) any
maturity thereof is reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders, and (c) the other
terms and conditions thereof, including pricing, covenants and defaults, are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders.

“Subordinated Debt Documents” means any document, agreement or instrument evidencing any
Subordinated Debt or entered into in connection with any Subordinated Debt.

"Subordination Agreements" means, collectively, all present and future subordination agreements
between the Administrative Agent, the Loan Parties and the holders of any Subordinated Debt with respect to
Subordinated Debt in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders and as
amended or modified from time to time as permitted hereunder.

“subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person (the “parent”) at any date, any corporation, limited
liability company, partnership, association or other entity (a) of which securities or other ownership interests
representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a
partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, controlled or held, or
(b) that is, as of such date, otherwise Controlled, by the parent or one or more subsidiaries of the parent or by the
parent and one or more subsidiaries of the parent.
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“Subsidiary” means any subsidiary of any Loan Party. “Supported

QFC” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.23.

“Swap Agreement” means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, spot, future, credit default
or derivative transaction or option or similar agreement involving, or settled by reference to, one or more rates,
currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, or economic, financial or pricing indices or
measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or value or any similar transaction or any combination of these
transactions; provided that no phantom stock or similar plan providing for payments only on account of services
provided by current or former directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Borrowers or their Subsidiaries or
the Guarantors, if any, shall be a Swap Agreement.

“Swap Obligations” of a Person means any and all obligations of such Person (including interest and fees
accruing during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar proceedings, regardless
of whether allowed or allowable in such proceedings), whether absolute or contingent and howsoever and
whensoever created, arising, evidenced or acquired (including all renewals, extensions and modifications thereof
and substitutions therefor), under (a) any and all Swap Agreements permitted hereunder, and (b) any and all
cancellations, buy backs, reversals, terminations or assignments of any Swap Agreement transaction.

“Swingline Exposure” means, at any time, the aggregate principal amount of all Swingline Loans
outstanding at such time. The Swingline Exposure of any Lender at any time shall be its Applicable Percentage of
the total Swingline Exposure at such time.

“Swingline Lender” means JPMCB, in its capacity as lender of Swingline Loans hereunder.

“Swingline Loan” means a Loan made pursuant to Section 2.04.

"Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, withholdings
(including backup withholding), value added taxes, or any other goods and services, use or sales taxes,
assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax
or penalties applicable thereto.

“Term Benchmark” when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or

the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Adjusted Term
SOFR Rate.

“Term SOFR Determination Day” has the meaning assigned to it under the definition of Term SOFR
Reference Rate.

“Term SOFR Rate” means, he-appleable-Correspond ing-TFenor-as-of-the-apy teable Referenee—Time;-

GovernmentalBody-with respect to any Term Benchmark Borrowing_and for any tenor comparable to the

Government Securities Business Days prior to the commencement of such tenor comparable to the applicable
Interest Period, as such rate is published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator.

the applicable Interest Period, the rate per annum published by the CME Term
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SOFR Administrator and identified by the Administrative Agent as the forward-looking term rate based on SOFR;
provided that is the Term SOFR Reference Rate as so determined would be less than the Floor, such rate shall be

SOFR Determination Day, the “Term SOFR Reference Rate” for the applicable tenor has not been published by the
CME Term SOFR Administrator and a Benchmark Replacement Date with respect to the Term SOFR Rate has not

Reference Rate for such Term SOFR Determination Day will be the Term SOFR Reference Rate as published in
respect of the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which such Term SOFR Reference Rate
was published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator, so long as such first preceding U.S. Government Securities

“Transactions” means the execution, delivery and performance by the Loan Parties of the Loan
Documents, the borrowing of Loans and other credit extensions, the use of the proceeds thereof, the execution,
delivery and performance by the Loan Parties of all Floor Plan Loan Documents and Second Lien Documents and
the issuance of the Second Lien Notes on the Effective Date and the transactions related thereto and the payment of
fees and expenses in connection with the foregoing.

“Type”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of interest on such
Loan, or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is determined by reference to the Adjusted EHBOTerm SOFR
Rate-ot, the CB Floating Rate, CDOR or the Canadian Prime Rate.

“U.S.” means the United States of America.

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for (i)_a Saturday,_(ii)_a Sunday or
(iii)_a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income
departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading_in United States government
securities.

“U.S. Person” means a “United States person” within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the
Code.

"U.S. Security Agreement" means each security agreement, pledge agreement, pledge and security

including without limitation any of the foregoing delivered in connection with the Existing Credit Agreement), each
in form and substance acceptable to the Administrative Agent, entered into by any such Loan Party at any time for
the benefit of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders pursuant to this Agreement, as amended or otherwise
modified from time to time.

“U.S. Special Resolution Regime” has the meaning assigned to it in Section 9.23.
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“U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.16(f)(ii)(B)(3).

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect from time to time in the State of New York or
any other state the laws of which are required to be applied in connection with the issue of perfection of security
interests.

“UK Financial Institutions” means any BRRD Undertaking (as such term is defined under the PRA
Rulebook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the United Kingdom Prudential Regulation Authority)
or any person falling within [FPRU 11.6 of the FCA Handbook (as amended from time to time) promulgated by the
United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority, which includes certain credit institutions and investment firms, and
certain affiliates of such credit institutions or investment firms.

“UK Resolution Authority” means the Bank of England or any other public administrative authority
having responsibility for the resolution of any UK Financial Institution.

“Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement” means the applicable Benchmark Replacement excluding the
related Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

“Unliquidated Obligations” means, at any time, any Secured Obligations (or portion thereof) that are
contingent in nature or unliquidated at such time, including any Secured Obligation that is: (i) an obligation to
reimburse a bank for drawings not yet made under a letter of credit issued by it; (ii) any other obligation (including
any Guarantee) that is contingent in nature at such time; or (iii) an obligation to provide collateral to secure any of
the foregoing types of obligations.

“USA PATRIOT Act” means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools
Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001.

“Volvo” means Volvo Construction Equipment, LLC.

“Withdrawal Liability” means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial
withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.

"Withholding Agent" means any Loan Party and the Administrative Agent.

“Write-Down and Conversion Powers” means (a) with respect to any EEA Resolution Authority, the
write-down and conversion powers of such EEA Resolution Authority from time to time under the Bail-In
Legislation for the applicable EEA Member Country, which write-down and conversion powers are described in
the EU Bail-In Legislation Schedule, and (b) with respect to the United Kingdom, any powers of the applicable
Resolution Authority under the Bail-In Legislation to cancel, reduce, modify or change the form of a liability of
any UK Financial Institution or any contract or instrument under which that liability arises, to convert all or part of
that liability into shares, securities or obligations of that person or any other person, to provide that any such
contract or instrument is to have effect as if a right had been exercised under it or to suspend any obligation in
respect of that liability or any of the powers under that Bail-In Legislation that are related to or ancillary to any of
those powers.

SECTION 1.02. Classification of Loans and Borrowings. For purposes of this Agreement, Loans may be
classified and referred to by Class (e.g., a “Revolving Loan”) or by Type (e.g., a “EuredotarTerm Benchmark
Loan” or an “RFR Loan”) or by Class and Type (e.g., a “EurodoHarTerm Benchmark Revolving Loan” or an “RFR
Revolving Loan”). Borrowings also may be classified and
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referred to by Class (e.g., a “Revolving Borrowing”) or by Type (e.g., a “EurodetarTerm Benchmark Borrowing”_
or an “RFR Borrowing”) or by Class and Type (e.g., a “EuredettarTerm Benchmark Revolving Borrowing” or an
“RFR Revolving Borrowing”).

SECTION 1.03. Terms Generally. The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and
plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding
masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words “include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be
followed by the phrase “without limitation”. The word “law” shall be construed as referring to all statutes, rules,
regulations, codes and other laws (including official rulings and interpretations thereunder having the force of law
or with which affected Persons customarily comply) and all judgments, orders and decrees of all Governmental
Authorities. The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”. Unless
the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document
herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time
amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments,
restatements, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any definition of or reference to any statute, rule or
regulation shall be construed as referring thereto as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified (including by succession of comparable successor laws), (c¢) any reference herein to any Person shall be
construed to include such Person’s successors and assigns (subject to any restrictions on assignments set forth
herein) and, in the case of any Governmental Authority, any other Governmental Authority that shall have
succeeded to any or all functions thereof,

(d) the words “herein”, “hereof” and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed to

refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (e) all references herein to Articles,
Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules
to, this Agreement, (f) any reference in any definition to the phrase “at any time” or “for any period” shall refer to
the same time or period for all calculations or determinations within such definition, and (g) the words “asset” and
“property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and
intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights.

SECTION 1.04. Accounting Terms; GAAP. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of
an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time;
provided that, if the Borrowers notify the Administrative Agent that the Borrowers request an amendment to any
provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application
thereof on the operation of such provision (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrowers that the Required
Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is
given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision shall be interpreted on
the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until such
notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision amended in accordance herewith. For purposes of calculating
all financial covenants and all other covenants and, in each case, all defined terms used therein, any Acquisition or
any sale or other disposition outside the ordinary course of business by any Loan Party of any asset or group of
related assets in one or a series of related transactions, including the incurrence of any Indebtedness and any related
financing or other transactions in connection with any of the foregoing, occurring during the period for which such
matters are calculated shall be deemed to have occurred on the first day of the relevant period for which such
matters were calculated on a Pro Forma Basis. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, all terms of
an accounting or financial nature used herein shall be construed, and all computations of amounts and ratios
referred to herein shall be made (i) without giving effect to any election under Financial Accounting Standards
Board Accounting Standards Codification 825-10-25 (or any other Accounting Standards Codification or Financial
Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) to value any Indebtedness or other liabilities of any Loan
Party at “fair value”, as defined therein and (ii) without giving effect to any treatment of Indebtedness in



respect of convertible debt instruments under Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards
Codification 470-20 (or any other Accounting Standards Codification or Financial Accounting Standard having a
similar result or effect) to value any such Indebtedness in a reduced or bifurcated manner as described therein, and
such Indebtedness shall at all times be valued at the full stated principal amount thereof.

S-EG"HG-N—I—GS—Ln—EeresHQ—a-Ees—l:I—B@He&ﬁea—&eﬁ Interest Rates; Benchmark Notifications. The
interest rate on ode 0 ate; which is derived from the
London interbank offered rate.] The London mterbank offered rate is intended to represent the rate at which
contributing banks may obtain short-term borrowings from each other in the London interbank market. In
July 2017, the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority announced that, after the end of 2021, it would no longer
persuade or compel contributing banks to make rate submissions to the ICE Benchmark Administration
(together with any successor to the ICE Benchmark Administrator, the “IBA”) for purposes of the IBA setting
the London interbank offered rate. As a result, it is possible that commencing in 2022, the London interbank
offered rate may no longer be available or may no longer be deemed an appropriate reference rate upon
which to determine the interest rate on Eurodollar Loans. In light of this eventuality, public and private sector
industry initiatives are currently underway to identify new or alternative reference rates to be used-rptace-of-
the—ondon—interbank—offered—ratea_Loan denominated in dollars may be derived from an interest rate
benchmark that may be discontinued or is, or may in the future become, the subject of regulatory reform.

Upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, a—Fern—SOFR FranstttenEvent-oran—Early Opt-in-
Eleetion;—Section 2.13(eb) and—e)-provides thea mechanism for determining an alternative rate of interest.

%eﬁ&nﬂmsﬁatﬁeﬁgeﬁt—wﬂ—m@mp&y—mﬁfy—the Borrower Representanve pursuant to Section 2.13(f), of
any change to the reference rate upon whte nterestrate-onEurodotar Leans—is—based owevet;-The
Administrative Agent does not warrant or accept any respon31b111ty for, and shall not have any liability with
respect to, the administration, submission,_performance or any other matter related to the-tondoninterbank
offered rate-or-otherrates—in-the-definittorrof“EHBORate”any_interest rate used in this Agreement, or with
respect to any alternative or successor rate thereto, or replacement rate thereof-tinetuding—without limitation,
(1) any such alternative, successor or replacement rate implemented pursuant to Section 2.13(c) or (d),
whether upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, a Term SOFR Transition Event or an Early
Opt-in Election, and (ii) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement-Conforming-Changespurstant
to—Seetton—2-13(e)), including without limitation, whether the composition or characteristics of any such
alternative, successor or replacement reference rate will be similar to, or produce the same value or economic
equivalence of, the EHBOexisting interest rate being replaced or have the same volume or liquidity as did the-
Fendon interbank—efferedany existing_interest rate prior to its discontinuance or unavailability. The
Administrative Agent and its affiliates and/or other related entities may engage in transactions that affect the
calculation of any interest rate used in this Agreement or any alternative, successor or alternative rate
(including any Benchmark Replacement) and/or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner
adverse to the Borrowers. The Administrative Agent may select information sources or services in its
reasonable discretion to ascertain any interest rate used in this Agreement, any component thereof, or rates
referenced in the definition thereof, in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall have no
liability to the Borrowers, any Lender or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including direct
or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses (whether in tort,

contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation of any such rate (or
component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.

SECTION 1.06. Status of Obligations. In the event that any Borrower or any other Loan Party shall at
any time issue or have outstanding any Subordinated Debt, such Borrower shall take or cause such other Loan
Party to take all such actions as shall be necessary to cause the Secured Obligations to
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constitute senior indebtedness (however denominated) in respect of such Subordinated Debt and to enable the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders to have and exercise any payment blockage or other remedies available or
potentially available to holders of senior indebtedness under the terms of such Subordinated Debt. Without limiting
the foregoing, the Secured Obligations are hereby designated as “senior indebtedness” and as “designated senior
indebtedness” and words of similar import under and in respect of any indenture or other agreement or instrument
under which such Subordinated Debt is outstanding and are further given all such other designations as shall be
required under the terms of any such Subordinated Debt in order that the Lenders may have and exercise any
payment blockage or other remedies available or potentially available to holders of senior indebtedness under the
terms of such Subordinated Debt.

SECTION 1.07. Letters of Credit. Unless otherwise specified herein, the amount of a Letter of Credit at
any time shall be deemed to be the amount of such Letter of Credit available to be drawn at such time; provided
that with respect to any Letter of Credit that, by its terms or the terms of any Letter of Credit Agreement related
thereto, provides for one or more automatic increases in the available amount thereof, the amount of such Letter of
Credit shall be deemed to be the maximum amount of such Letter of Credit after giving effect to all such increases,
whether or not such maximum amount is available to be drawn at such time. For all purposes of this Agreement, if
on any date of determination a Letter of Credit has expired by its terms but any amount may still be drawn
thereunder by reason of the operation of Article 29(a) of the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary
Credits, International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 600 (or such later version thereof as may be in effect
at the applicable time) or Rule 3.13 or Rule 3.14 of the International Standby Practices, International Chamber of
Commerce Publication No. 590 (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the applicable time) or similar
terms of the Letter of Credit itself, or if compliant documents have been presented but not yet honored, such Letter
of Credit shall be deemed to be “outstanding” and “undrawn” in the amount so remaining available to be paid, and
the obligations of the Borrower and each Lender shall remain in full force and effect until the Issuing Bank and the
Lenders shall have no further obligations to make any payments or disbursements under any circumstances with
respect to any Letter of Credit.

SECTION 1.08. Pro Forma Adjustments. To the extent a Borrower or any Subsidiary makes any
Permitted Acquisition, any Disposition outside the ordinary course of business permitted by Section 6.05 or any
permitted investment, merger, consolidation or discontinuance of operations during the period of four Fiscal
Quarters most recently ended, the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect
thereto (including pro forma adjustments arising out of events which are directly attributable to such Permitted
Acquisition, Disposition, investment, merger, consolidation or discontinued operations, are factually supportable
and are expected to have a continuing impact, in each case as determined on a basis consistent with Article 11 of
Regulation S-X of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, as interpreted by the SEC, and as certified by a Financial
Officer of such Borrower), as if such Permitted Acquisition, Disposition, investment, merger, consolidation or
discontinued operations (and any related incurrence, repayment or assumption of Indebtedness) had occurred in the
first day of such four Fiscal Quarter period and, without duplication, to all adjustments of the type described in the
definition of "Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” and all defined terms used therein to the extent such adjustments
continue to be applicable to such four Fiscal Quarter period.

SECTION 1.09. Divisions. For all purposes under the Loan Documents, in connection with any Division
or plan of division under Delaware law (or any comparable event under a different jurisdiction’s laws): (a) if any
asset, right, obligation or liability of any Person becomes the asset, right, obligation or liability of a different
Person, then it shall be deemed to have been transferred from the original Person to the subsequent Person, and (b)
if any new Person comes into existence, such new Person shall be deemed to have been organized and acquired on
the first date of its existence by the holders of its Equity Interests at such time.
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SECTION 1.10._Exchange Rates; Currency Equivalents. (a)_The Administrative Agent or the Issuing_

otherwise provided herein,_the applicable amount of any Agreed Currency (other than Dollars)_for purposes of the
Loan Documents shall be such Dollar Equivalent amount as so determined by _the Administrative Agent or the
Issuing Bank, as applicable.

(b) Wherever in this Agreement in connection with a Borrowing, conversion, continuation or prepayment
of a Loan or the issuance, amendment or extension of a Letter of Credit, an amount, such as a required minimum or
multiple amount, is expressed in Dollars, but such Borrowing, Loan or Letter of Credit is denominated in an Agreed
Currency, such amount shall be the Dollar Equivalent of such amount (rounded to the nearest unit of such Agreed
Currency, with 0.5 of a unit being rounded upward), as determined by the Administrative Agent or the Issuing_

Bank, as the case may be.

ARTICLE I The Credits

SECTION 2.01. Commitments. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Revolving
Lender severally (and not jointly) agrees to make Revolving Loans to the Borrowers in Agreed Currencies from
time to time during the Revolving Availability Period in an aggregate principal amount that will not result in (a) the
Dollar Equivalent of such Lender's Revolving Exposure exceeding such Lender's Revolving Commitment-et, (b)
the Dollar Equivalent of the sum of the total Revolving Exposures exceeding the lesser of (i) the total Revolving

Exposures denominated in Canadian Dollars exceeding_$35,000,000, subject to the Administrative Agent’s
authority, in its sole discretion, to make Protective Advances and Overadvances pursuant to the terms of Section
2.04. Within the foregoing limits and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the applicable Borrower(s)
may borrow, prepay and reborrow Revolving Loans.

SECTION 2.02. Loans and Borrowings. (a) Each Loan (other than a Swingline Loan) shall be made as
part of a Borrowing consisting of Loans of the same Class and Type made by the Lenders ratably in accordance
with their respective Commitments of the applicable Class. The failure of any Lender to make any Loan required to
be made by it shall not relieve any other Lender of its obligations hereunder; provided that the Commitments of the
Lenders are several and no Lender shall be responsible for any other Lender’s failure to make Loans as required.
Any Protective Advance, any Overadvance and any Swingline Loan shall be made in accordance with the
procedures set forth in Section 2.04. The Loans shall amortize as set forth in Section 2.09.

(b)  Subject to Section 2.13, each Revolving Borrowing denominated in Dollars shall be comprised
entirely of CBFR Loans—er—Furedettar—teans,_Term Benchmark Loans or RFR Loans and each Revolving.

Loans, in each case as the Borrower Representative may request in accordance herewith;_provided that RFR Loans
are only available under this Agreement as the result of the application of Section 2.13. Each Swingline Loan
denominated shall be aan CBFR Loan. Each Lender at its option may make any Eurodettar-Loan by causing any
domestic or foreign branch or Affiliate of such Lender to make such Loan (and in the case of an Affiliate, the
provisions of Sections 2.13, 2.14, 2.15 and 2.16 shall apply to such Affiliate to the same extent as to such Lender);
provided that any exercise of such option shall not affect the obligation of the Borrowers to repay such Loan in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(¢) At the commencement of each Interest Period for any EuredotarTerm Benchmark Borrowing or
CDOR Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of $+66;666the
Borrowing Multiple and not less than $+666;666the Borrowing Minimum. At the time that each CBFR Revolving
Borrowing is made, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an
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integral multiple of $56;6686the Borrowing Multiple and not less than $166;666the Borrowing Minimum; provided
that a CBFR Revolving Borrowing Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing or may be in an aggregate amount that is equal
to the entire unused balance of the total Revolving Commitments or that is required to finance the reimbursement of
an LC Disbursement as contemplated by Section 2.05(¢). Each Swingline Loan shall be in an amount that is not
less than an amount required by the Swingline Lender from time to time. Borrowings of more than one Type and
Class may be outstanding at the same time; provided that there shall not at any time be more than a-total of five-
Euredottarthree (3) Term Benchmark and CDOR Borrowings outstanding with respect to all Revolving Loans.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Borrowers shall not be entitled to
request, or to elect to convert or continue, any Borrowing if the Interest Period requested would end after the
Revolving Termination Date.
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SECTION 2.03. Requests for Borrowings. To request a Borrowing, the Borrower Representative shall
notify the Administrative Agent of such request either in writing (delivered by hand or fax) by delivering a
Borrowing Request signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative or through Electronic System
if arrangements for doing so have been approved by the Administrative Agent (or if an Extenuating Circumstance
shall exist, by telephone) not later than (a)(i) in the case of a FuredoHarTerm Benchmark Borrowing, noon,

(ii)_in the case of an RFR Borrowing, not later than 10:00 a.m., Chicago time, five (5) U.S. Government Securities
Business Days before the date of the proposed Borrowing (provided that RFR Loans are only available under this

Toronto time, three (3) Business Days before the date of the proposed Borrowing-et, (bc) in the case of ana
Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing, 11:00, Toronto time, on the date of the proposed Borrowing, or (d). in the case of a
CBFR Borrowing, noon, Chicago time, on the date of the proposed Borrowing; provided that any such notice of an
CBFR Revolving Borrowing to finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as contemplated by Section
2.06(e) may be given not later than 11:00 a.m., Chicago time, on the date of such proposed Borrowing. Each such
Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable and each such telephonic Borrowing Request, if permitted, shall be
confirmed immediately upon the cessation of the Extenuating Circumstance by hand delivery, facsimile or a
communication through Electronic System to the Administrative Agent of a written Borrowing Request in a form
approved by the Administrative Agent and signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative. Each
such written (or if permitted, telephonic) Borrowing Request shall specify the following information in compliance
with Section 2.02:

@) the aggregate amount of the requested Borrowing;

(ii) the date of such Borrowing, which shall be a Business Day;

(iii)whether such Borrowing is to be a CBFR Borrowing-er-a—FEuredoHarBerrowing:, a Term
Benchmark Borrowing, an RFR Borrowing, a Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing or a CDOR Borrowing_(provided

that RFR Loans are only available under this Agreement as the result of the application of Section 2.13);

(iv)in the case of a EuredetarTerm Benchmark Borrowing or CDOR Borrowing, the initial
Interest Period to be applicable thereto, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term “Interest
Period”;

(v) the location and number of the applicable Borrower's account to which funds are to be
disbursed, which shall comply with the requirements of Section 2.06; and

(vi) the name of the applicable Borrower.
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If no election as to the Type of Borrowing is specified, then in the case of a Borrowing denominated in
Dollars,_the requested Borrowing shall be a CBFR Borrowing_and,_in the case of a Borrowing_denominated in

specified with respect to any requested EurodotarRevelvinglerm Benchmark or CDOR Borrowing, then the
apptieabterelevant Borrower requesting_such Term Benchmark Borrowing shall be deemed to have selected an
Interest Period of one (1) month’s duration. Promptly following receipt of a Borrowing Request in accordance with
this Section, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of the amount of such
Lender’s Loan to be made as part of the requested Borrowing. Notwithstanding anything_herein to the contrary,_
Loans to the Canadian Borrowers shall be limited to the [L.oans denominated in Canadian Dollars and no Borrower,
other than Canadian Borrowers, may obtain Loans denominated in Canadian Dollars.

SECTION 2.04. Swingline Loans; Overadvances and Protective Advances. (a) The Administrative Agent,
the Swingline Lender and the Revolving Lenders agree that in order to facilitate the administration of this
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, promptly after the Borrower Representative requests ara CBFR
Borrowing, the Swingline Lender may elect, in its sole discretion and without any obligation, to have the terms of
this Section 2.04(a) apply to such Borrowing Request by advancing, on behalf of the Revolving Lenders and in the
amount requested, same day funds to the Borrowers, on the date of the applicable Borrowing to the Funding
Account(s) (each such Loan made solely by the Swingline Lender pursuant to this Section 2.04(a) is referred to in
this Agreement as a “Swingline Loan”), with settlement among them as to the Swingline Loans to take place on a
periodic basis as set forth in Section 2.04(d). Each Swingline Loan shall be subject to all the terms and conditions
applicable to other CBFR Loans funded by the Revolving Lenders, except that all payments thereon shall be
payable to the Swingline Lender solely for its own account. In addition, the Borrowers hereby authorize the
Swingline Lender to, and the Swingline Lender may, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein (but
without any further written notice required), not later than 1:00 p.m., Chicago time, on each Business Day, make
available to the Borrowers by means of a credit to the Funding Account(s), the proceeds of a Swingline Loan to the
extent necessary to pay items to be drawn on any Controlled Disbursement Account that Business Day; provided
that, if on any Business Day there is insufficient borrowing capacity to permit the Swingline Lender to make
available to the Borrowers a Swingline Loan in the amount necessary to pay all items to be so drawn on any such
Controlled Disbursement Account on such Business Day, then the Borrowers shall be deemed to have requested a
CBFR Borrowing pursuant to Section 2.03 in the amount of such deficiency to be made on such Business Day. The
aggregate amount of Swingline Loans outstanding at any time shall not exceed $30,000,000. All Swingline Loans
shall be CBFR Borrowings_and denominated in Dollars.

(b)  Any provision of this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, at the request of the Borrower
Representative, the Administrative Agent may in its sole discretion (but with absolutely no obligation), on behalf of
the Revolving Lenders, (x) make Revolving Loans to the Borrowers in amounts that exceed Availability (any such
excess Revolving Loans are herein referred to collectively as “Overadvances”) or (y) deem the amount of
Revolving Loans outstanding to the Borrowers that are in excess of Availability to be Overadvances; provided that,
no Overadvance shall result in a Default due to Borrowers’ failure to comply with Section 2.01 for so long as such
Overadvance remains outstanding in accordance with the terms of this paragraph, but solely with respect to the
amount of such Overadvance. In addition, Overadvances may be made even if the condition precedent set forth in
Section 4.02(c) has not been satisfied. All Overadvances shall constitute CBFR Borrowings. The making of an
Overadvance
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on any one occasion shall not obligate the Administrative Agent to make any Overadvance on any other occasion.
The authority of the Administrative Agent to make Overadvances is limited to an aggregate amount not to exceed
$30,000,000 at any time, no Overadvance may remain outstanding for more than thirty days and no Overadvance
shall cause any Revolving Lender's Revolving Exposure to exceed its Revolving Commitment; provided that, the
Required Lenders may at any time revoke the Administrative Agent’s authorization to make Overadvances. Any
such revocation must be in writing and shall become effective prospectively upon the Administrative Agent’s
receipt thereof.

(¢)  Upon the making of a Swingline Loan or an Overadvance (whether before or after the occurrence
of a Default and regardless of whether a Settlement has been requested with respect to such Swingline Loan or
Overadvance), each Revolving Lender shall be deemed, without further action by any party hereto, to have
unconditionally and irrevocably purchased from the Swingline Lender or the Administrative Agent, as the case may
be, without recourse or warranty, an undivided interest and participation in such Swingline Loan or Overadvance in
proportion to its Applicable Percentage of the Revolving Commitment. The Swingline Lender or the
Administrative Agent may, at any time, require the Revolving Lenders to fund their participations. From and after
the date, if any, on which any Revolving Lender is required to fund its participation in any Swingline Loan or
Overadvance purchased hereunder, the Administrative Agent shall promptly distribute to such Lender, such
Lender's Applicable Percentage of all payments of principal and interest and all proceeds of Collateral received by
the Administrative Agent in respect of such Swingline Loan or Overadvance.

(d) The Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Swingline Lender, shall request settlement (a
“Settlement”) with the Revolving Lenders on at least a weekly basis or on any date that the Administrative Agent
elects, by notifying the Revolving Lenders of such requested Settlement by facsimile, telephone, or e-mail no later
than 12:00 noon Chicago time on the date of such requested Settlement (the “Settlement Date”). Each Revolving
Lender (other than the Swingline Lender, in the case of the Swingline Loans) shall transfer the amount of such
Revolving Lender’s Applicable Percentage of the outstanding principal amount of the applicable Loan with respect
to which Settlement is requested to the Administrative Agent, to such account of the Administrative Agent as the
Administrative Agent may designate, not later than 2:00 p.m., Chicago time, on such Settlement Date. Settlements
may occur during the existence of a Default and whether or not the applicable conditions precedent set forth in
Section 4.02 have then been satisfied. Such amounts transferred to the Administrative Agent shall be applied
against the amounts of the Swingline Lender’s Swingline Loans and, together with Swingline Lender’s Applicable
Percentage of such Swingline Loan, shall constitute Revolving Loans of such Revolving Lenders, respectively. If
any such amount is not transferred to the Administrative Agent by any Revolving Lender on such Settlement Date,
the Swingline Lender shall be entitled to recover from such Lender on demand such amount, together with interest
thereon, as specified in Section 2.06.

(e)  Subject to the limitations set forth below, the Administrative Agent is authorized by the Borrowers
and the Lenders, from time to time in the Administrative Agent’s sole discretion (but shall have absolutely no
obligation to), to make Loans to the Borrowers, on behalf of all Lenders, which the Administrative Agent, in its
Permitted Discretion, deems necessary or desirable (i) to preserve or protect the Collateral, or any portion thereof,
(i1) to enhance the likelihood of, or maximize the amount of, repayment of the Loans and other Obligations, or (iii)
to pay any other amount chargeable to or required to be paid by the Borrowers pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement, including payments of reimbursable expenses (including costs, fees, and expenses as described in
Section 9.03) and other sums payable under the Loan Documents (any of such Loans are herein referred to as
“Protective Advances”); provided that, the aggregate amount of Protective Advances outstanding at any time shall
not at any time exceed
$30,000,000; provided further that, the aggregate Revolving Exposure of all Lenders after giving effect to the
Protective Advances being made shall not exceed the aggregate Revolving Commitments of all Lenders. Protective
Advances may be made even if the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.02
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have not been satisfied. The Protective Advances shall be secured by the Liens in favor of the Administrative Agent
in and to the Collateral and shall constitute Obligations hereunder. All Protective Advances shall be CBFR
Borrowings. The making of a Protective Advance on any one occasion shall not obligate the Administrative Agent
to make any Protective Advance on any other occasion. The Administrative Agent’s authorization to make
Protective Advances may be revoked at any time by the Required Lenders. Any such revocation must be in writing
and shall become effective prospectively upon the Administrative Agent’s receipt thereof. At any time that there is
sufficient Availability and the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.02 have been satisfied, the Administrative
Agent may request the Revolving Lenders to make a Revolving Loan to repay a Protective Advance. At any other
time the Administrative Agent may require the Lenders to fund their risk participations described in Section
2.04(f).

(f)  Upon the making of a Protective Advance by the Administrative Agent (whether before or after the
occurrence of a Default), each Lender shall be deemed, without further action by any party hereto, to have
unconditionally and irrevocably purchased from the Administrative Agent, without recourse or warranty, an
undivided interest and participation in such Protective Advance in proportion to its Applicable Percentage. From
and after the date, if any, on which any Lender is required to fund its participation in any Protective Advance
purchased hereunder, the Administrative Agent shall promptly distribute to such Lender, such Lender's Applicable
Percentage of all payments of principal and interest and all proceeds of Collateral received by the Administrative
Agent in respect of such Protective Advance.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2.04 to the contrary, references in this Section
2.04 to a “Lender” or “Lenders” shall be to a “Revolving Lender” or “Revolving Lenders”, respectively.

SECTION 2.05. Letters of Credit. (a) General. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the
Borrower Representative, on behalf of the Borrowers, may request the issuance of Letters of Credit in Agreed
Currencies as the applicant thereof for the support of the obligations of any Borrower or any Subsidiary thereof, in a
form reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Issuing Bank, at any time and from time to time
during the Revolving Availability Period. In the event of any inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this
Agreement and the terms and conditions of any Letter of Credit Agreement, the terms and conditions of this
Agreement shall control. Upon the effectiveness of this Agreement, each Existing Letter of Credit shall, without
any further action by any party, be deemed to have been issued as a Letter of Credit hereunder on the Effective Date
and shall for all purposes hereof be treated as a Letter of Credit under this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything
herein to the contrary, the Issuing Bank shall have no obligation hereunder to issue, and shall not issue, any Letter
of Credit (i) the proceeds of which would be made available to any Person (A) to fund any activity or business of or
with any Sanctioned Person, or in any country or territory that, at the time of such funding, is the subject of any
Sanctions or (B) in any manner that would result in a violation of any Sanctions by any party to this Agreement, (ii)
if any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator shall by its terms purport to enjoin or
restrain the Issuing Bank from issuing such Letter of Credit, or any Requirement of Law relating to the Issuing
Bank or any request or directive (whether or not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority with
jurisdiction over the Issuing Bank shall prohibit, or request that the Issuing Bank refrain from, the issuance of
letters of credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall impose upon the Issuing Bank with respect to
such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital requirement (for which the Issuing Bank is not otherwise
compensated hereunder) not in effect on the Effective Date, or shall impose upon the Issuing Bank any
unreimbursed loss, cost or expense which was not applicable on the Effective Date and which the Issuing Bank in
good faith deems material to it, or (iii) if the issuance of such Letter of Credit would violate one or more policies of
the Issuing Bank applicable to letters of credit generally; provided that, notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines,
requirements or directives thereunder or issued in
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connection therewith or in the implementation thereof, and (y) all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements or
directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or
any successor or similar authority) or the U.S. or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III,
shall in each case be deemed not to be in effect on the Effective Date for purposes of clause (ii) above, regardless
of the date enacted, adopted, issued or implemented.

(b) Notice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain Conditions. To request the issuance
of a Letter of Credit (or the amendment, renewal or extension of an outstanding Letter of Credit), the Borrower
Representative shall hand deliver or facsimile (or transmit through Electronic System, if arrangements for doing so
have been approved by the Issuing Bank) to the Issuing Bank and the Administrative Agent (reasonably in advance
of the requested date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension, but in any event no less than three Business
Days prior to the requested date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension) a notice requesting the issuance of
a Letter of Credit, or identifying the Letter of Credit to be amended, renewed or extended, and specifying the date
of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (which shall be a Business Day), the date on which such Letter of
Credit is to expire (which shall comply with paragraph (c) of this Section), the amount of such Letter of Credit, the
name and address of the beneficiary thereof,_the Agreed Currency thereof and such other information as shall be
necessary to prepare, amend, renew or extend such Letter of Credit. In addition, as a condition to any such Letter of
Credit issuance, the applicable Borrower shall have entered into a continuing agreement (or other letter of credit
agreement) for the issuance of letters of credit and/or shall submit a letter of credit application, in each case, as
required by the Issuing Bank and using such Issuing Bank’s standard form (each, a “Letter of Credit Agreement”).
A Letter of Credit shall be issued, amended, renewed or extended only if (and upon issuance, amendment, renewal
or extension of each Letter of Credit the Borrowers shall be deemed to represent and warrant that), after giving
effect to such issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (i) the LC Exposure shall not exceed $10,000,000, and
(ii) the total Revolving Exposures shall not exceed the total Revolving Commitments.

(c)  Expiration Date. Each Letter of Credit shall expire at or prior to the close of business on the earlier
of (i) the date one (1) year after the date of the issuance of such Letter of Credit or such later date as may be agreed
to by the Issuing Bank (or, in the case of any renewal or extension thereof, one (1) year after such renewal or
extension, or such later date agreed to by the Issuing Bank) and (ii) the date that is five (5) Business Days prior to
the Revolving Termination Date.

(d) Participations. By the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or an amendment to a Letter of Credit
increasing the amount thereof) and without any further action on the part of the Issuing Bank or the Lenders, the
Issuing Bank hereby grants to each Lender, and each Lender hereby acquires from the Issuing Bank, a participation
in such Letter of Credit equal to such Lender’s Applicable Percentage of the aggregate amount available to be
drawn under such Letter of Credit. In consideration and in furtherance of the foregoing, each Lender hereby
absolutely and unconditionally agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for the account of the Issuing Bank, such
Lender’s Applicable Percentage of each LC Disbursement made by the Issuing Bank and not reimbursed by the
Borrowers on the date due as provided in paragraph (e) of this Section, or of any reimbursement payment required
to be refunded to the Borrowers for any reason. Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire
participations pursuant to this paragraph in respect of Letters of Credit is absolute and unconditional and shall not
be affected by any circumstance whatsoever, including any amendment, renewal or extension of any Letter of
Credit or the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default or reduction or termination of the Commitments,
and that each such payment shall be made without any offset, abatement, withholding or reduction whatsoever.
Each Lender acknowledges and agrees that its obligation to acquire participations pursuant to this paragraph in
respect of Letters of Credit is absolute and unconditional and shall not be affected by any circumstance whatsoever,
including any amendment or
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extension of any Letter of Credit or the occurrence and continuance of a Default or reduction or termination of the
Commitments.

(e) Reimbursement. If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement in respect of a Letter of
Credit, the Borrowers shall reimburse such LC Disbursement by paying to the Administrative Agent an amount
equal to such LC Disbursement not later than 12:00 p.m., eastern time, on the date that such LC Disbursement is
made, if the Borrower Representative shall have received notice of such LC Disbursement prior to 8:00 a.m.,
eastern time, on such date, or, if such notice has not been received by the Borrower Representative prior to such
time on such date, then not later than 12:00 p.m., eastern time, on (i) the Business Day that the Borrower
Representative receives such notice, if such notice is received prior to 8:00 a.m., eastern time, on the day of receipt,
or (ii) the Business Day immediately following the day that the Borrower Representative receives such notice, if
such notice is not received prior to such time on the day of receipt; provided that the Borrowers may, subject to the
conditions to borrowing set forth herein, request in accordance with Section 2.03 or 2.04 that such payment be
financed with a CBFR Revolving Borrowing or Swingline Loan in an equivalent amount and, to the extent so
financed, the Borrowers’ obligation to make such payment shall be discharged and replaced by the resulting CBFR
Revolving Borrowing or Swingline Loan. If the Borrowers fail to make such payment when due, the
Administrative Agent shall notify each Lender of the applicable LC Disbursement, the payment then due from the
Borrowers in respect thereof and such Lender’s Applicable Percentage thereof. Promptly following receipt of such
notice, each Lender shall pay to the Administrative Agent its Applicable Percentage of the payment then due from
the Borrowers, in the same manner as provided in Section 2.06 with respect to Loans made by such Lender (and
Section 2.06 shall apply, mutatis mutandis, to the payment obligations of the Lenders), and the Administrative
Agent shall promptly pay to the Issuing Bank the amounts so received by it from the Lenders. Promptly following
receipt by the Administrative Agent of any payment from the Borrowers pursuant to this paragraph, the
Administrative Agent shall distribute such payment to the Issuing Bank or, to the extent that Lenders have made
payments pursuant to this paragraph to reimburse the Issuing Bank, then to such Lenders and the Issuing Bank as
their interests may appear. Any payment made by a Lender pursuant to this paragraph to reimburse the Issuing
Bank for any LC Disbursement (other than the funding of CBFR Revolving Loans or a Swingline Loan as
contemplated above) shall not constitute a Loan and shall not relieve the Borrowers of their obligation to reimburse
such LC Disbursement.

(f)  Obligations Absolute. The Borrowers’ obligation to reimburse LC Disbursements as provided in
paragraph (e) of this Section shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable, and shall be performed strictly in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement under any and all circumstances whatsoever and irrespective of (i) any
lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter of Credit, any Letter of Credit Agreement or this Agreement, or any
term or provision therein, (ii) any draft or other document presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be forged,
fraudulent or invalid in any respect or any statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect, (iii) payment
by the Issuing Bank under a Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply
with the terms of such Letter of Credit, or (iv) any other event or circumstance whatsoever, whether or not similar
to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions of this Section, constitute a legal or equitable discharge of,
or provide a right of setoff against, the Borrowers’ obligations hereunder. Neither the Administrative Agent, the
Lenders nor the Issuing Bank, nor any of their respective Related Parties, shall have any liability or responsibility
by reason of or in connection with the issuance or transfer of any Letter of Credit or any payment or failure to make
any payment thereunder (irrespective of any of the circumstances referred to in the preceding sentence), or any
error, omission, interruption, loss or delay in transmission or delivery of any draft, notice or other communication
under or relating to any Letter of Credit (including any document required to make a drawing thereunder), any error
in interpretation of technical terms or any consequence arising from causes beyond the control of the Issuing Bank;
provided that the foregoing shall not be construed to excuse the Issuing Bank from liability to the Borrowers to the
extent of any direct damages (as opposed to special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages, claims
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in respect of which are hereby waived by the Borrowers to the extent permitted by applicable law) suffered by any
Borrower that are caused by the Issuing Bank’s failure to exercise care when determining whether drafts and other
documents presented under a Letter of Credit comply with the terms thereof. The parties hereto expressly agree
that, in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Issuing Bank (as finally determined
by a court of competent jurisdiction), the Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have exercised care in each such
determination. In furtherance of the foregoing and without limiting the generality thereof, the parties agree that,
with respect to documents presented which appear on their face to be in substantial compliance with the terms of a
Letter of Credit, the Issuing Bank may, in its sole discretion, either accept and make payment upon such documents
without responsibility for further investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary, or refuse to
accept and make payment upon such documents if such documents are not in strict compliance with the terms of
such Letter of Credit.

(g) Disbursement Procedures. The Issuing Bank shall, promptly following its receipt thereof, examine
all documents purporting to represent a demand for payment under a Letter of Credit. The Issuing Bank shall
promptly notify the Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative by telephone (confirmed by facsimile or
through Electronic Systems) of such demand for payment and whether the Issuing Bank has made or will make an
LC Disbursement thereunder; provided that any failure to give or delay in giving such notice shall not relieve the
Borrowers of their obligation to reimburse the Issuing Bank and the Lenders with respect to any such LC
Disbursement.

(h) Interim Interest. If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursement, then, unless the Borrowers
shall reimburse such LC Disbursement in full on the date such LC Disbursement is made, the unpaid amount
thereof shall bear interest, for each day from and including the date such LC Disbursement is made to but
excluding the date that the Borrowers reimburse such LC Disbursement, at the rate per annum then applicable to
CBFR Revolving Loans; provided that, if the Borrowers fail to reimburse such LC Disbursement when due
pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section, then Section 2.12(b) shall apply. Interest accrued pursuant to this
paragraph shall be for the account of the Issuing Bank, except that interest accrued on and after the date of payment
by any Lender pursuant to paragraph (e) of this Section to reimburse the Issuing Bank shall be for the account of
such Lender to the extent of such payment.

(1)  Replacement of the Issuing Bank. Any Issuing Bank may be replaced at any time by written
agreement among the Borrower Representative, the Administrative Agent, the replaced Issuing Bank and the
successor Issuing Bank. The Administrative Agent shall notify the Lenders of any such replacement of the Issuing
Bank. At the time any such replacement shall become effective, the Borrowers shall pay all unpaid fees accrued for
the account of the replaced Issuing Bank pursuant to Section 2.11(b). From and after the effective date of any such
replacement, (i) the successor Issuing Bank shall have all the rights and obligations of the Issuing Bank under this
Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit to be issued thereafter and (ii) references herein to the term “Issuing
Bank” shall be deemed to refer to such successor or to any previous Issuing Bank, or to such successor and all
previous Issuing Banks, as the context shall require. After the replacement of the Issuing Bank hereunder, the
replaced Issuing Bank shall remain a party hereto and shall continue to have all the rights and obligations of the
Issuing Bank under this Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit issued by it prior to such replacement, but shall
not be required to issue additional Letters of Credit. Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor
Issuing Bank, the Issuing Bank may resign as an Issuing Bank at any time upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice
to the Administrative Agent, the Borrowers and the Lenders, in which case, such resigning Issuing Bank shall be
replaced in accordance with this Section 2.05(i).

(j)  Cash Collateralization. If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, on the Business Day
that the Borrower Representative receives notice from the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders (or
Lenders with LC Exposure representing greater than 50% of the total LC
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Exposure) demanding the deposit of cash collateral pursuant to this paragraph, the Borrowers shall deposit in an
account with the Administrative Agent, in the name of the Administrative Agent and for the benefit of the Lenders
(the “LC Collateral Account”), an amount in cash equal to 105% of the amount of the LC Exposure as of such date
plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon; provided that the obligation to deposit such cash collateral shall become
effective immediately, and such deposit shall become immediately due and payable, without demand or other
notice of any kind, upon the occurrence of any Event of Default described in clause (h) or (i) of Article VII with
respect to any Borrower. Such deposit shall be held by the Administrative Agent as collateral for the payment and
performance of the Secured Obligations. The Administrative Agent shall have exclusive dominion and control,
including the exclusive right of withdrawal, over such account and the Borrowers hereby grant the Administrative
Agent a security interest in the LC Collateral Account. Such deposits shall not bear interest. Interest or profits, if
any, on such investments shall accumulate in such account. Moneys in such account shall be applied by the
Administrative Agent to reimburse the Issuing Bank for LC Disbursements for which it has not been reimbursed
and, to the extent not so applied, shall be held for the satisfaction of the reimbursement obligations of the
Borrowers for the LC Exposure at such time or, if the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated (but subject to the
consent of Lenders with LC Exposure representing greater than 50% of the total LC Exposure), be applied to
satisfy other Secured Obligations. If the Borrowers are required to provide an amount of cash collateral hereunder
as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default, such amount (to the extent not applied as aforesaid) shall be
returned to the Borrowers within three (3) Business Days after all such Events of Default have been cured or
waived.

(k) LC Exposure Determination. For all purposes of this Agreement, the amount of a Letter of Credit
that, by its terms or the terms of any document related thereto, provides for one or more automatic increases in the
stated amount thereof shall be deemed to be the maximum stated amount of such Letter of Credit after giving effect
to all such increases, whether or not such maximum stated amount is in effect at the time of determination.

() Lender References. Notwithstanding anything in this Section 2.05 to the contrary, references in
this Section 2.05 to a “Lender” or “Lenders” shall be to a “Revolving Lender” or “Revolving Lenders”,
respectively.

(m) Letters of Credit Issued for Account of Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding that a Letter of Credit issued
or outstanding hereunder supports any obligations of, or is for the account of, a Subsidiary, or states that a
Subsidiary is the “account party,” “applicant,” “customer,” “instructing party,” or the like of or for such Letter of
Credit, and without derogating from any rights of the applicable Issuing Bank (whether arising by contract, at law,
in equity or otherwise) against such Subsidiary in respect of such Letter of Credit, the Borrowers (i) shall
reimburse, indemnify and compensate the applicable Issuing Bank hereunder for such Letter of Credit (including to
reimburse any and all drawings thereunder) as if such Letter of Credit had been issued solely for the account of
such Borrower and (ii) irrevocably waives any and all defenses that might otherwise be available to it as a
guarantor or surety of any or all of the obligations of such Subsidiary in respect of such Letter of Credit. Each
Borrower hereby acknowledges that the issuance of such Letters of Credit for its Subsidiaries inures to the benefit
of such Borrower, and that such Borrower’s business derives substantial benefits from the businesses of such
Subsidiaries.

SECTION 2.06. Funding_of Borrowings. (a) Each Lender shall make each Loan to be made by it
hereunder on the proposed date thereof by wire transfer of immediately available funds by 11:00 a.m., eastern time,
in the case of a EurodottarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Borrowing, and by 2:00 p.m., eastern time, in the case of a
CBFR or Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing, to the account of the Administrative Agent most recently designated
by it for such purpose by notice to the Lenders in an amount equal to such Lender’s Applicable Percentage;
provided that Swingline Loans shall be made as provided in Section 2.04. The Administrative Agent will make
such Loans available to the applicable Borrower by promptly crediting the amounts so received, in like funds, to
the Funding Account; provided that CBFR
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Revolving Loans made to finance the reimbursement of (i) an LC Disbursement as provided in Section 2.05(e)
shall be remitted by the Administrative Agent to the Issuing Bank and (ii) a Protective Advance or an Overadvance
shall be retained by the Administrative Agent.

(b)  Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from a Lender prior to the proposed
date of any Borrowing in the case of a EuredoHarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Borrowing and prior to 2:00 p.m.,
eastern time, on the proposed date of any Borrowing in the case of a CBFR or Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing,
that such Lender will not make available to the Administrative Agent such Lender’s share of such Borrowing, the
Administrative Agent may assume that such Lender has made such share available on such date in accordance with
paragraph (a) of this Section and may, in reliance upon such assumption, make available to the applicable Borrower
a corresponding amount. In such event, if a Lender has not in fact made its share of the applicable Borrowing
available to the Administrative Agent, then the applicable Lender and the Borrowers each severally agree to pay to
the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such corresponding amount with interest thereon, for each day from
and including the date such amount is made available to the applicable Borrower to but excluding the date of
payment to the Administrative Agent, at (i) in the case of such Lender, the greater of the NYFRB Rate and a rate
determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation or
(ii) in the case of a Borrower, the interest rate applicable to CBFR or Canadian Prime Rate Loans, as applicable. If
such Lender pays such amount to the Administrative Agent, then such amount shall constitute such Lender’s Loan
included in such Borrowing; provided, that any interest received from the Borrowers by the Administrative Agent
during the period beginning when Administrative Agent funded the Borrowing until such Lender pays such amount
shall be solely for the account of the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 2.07. Interest Elections. (a) Each Borrowing initially shall be of the Type specified in the
applicable Borrowing Request and, in the case of a EuredottarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Borrowing, shall have an
initial Interest Period as specified in such Borrowing Request. Thereafter, the applicable Borrower may elect to
convert such Borrowing to a different Type or to continue such Borrowing and, in the case of a EuredotarTerm
Benchmark or CDOR Borrowing, may elect Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section. The Borrowers
may elect different options with respect to different portions of the affected Borrowing, in which case each such
portion shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders holding the Loans comprising such Borrowing, and the Loans
comprising each such portion shall be considered a separate Borrowing. This Section shall not apply to Swingline
Borrowings, which may not be converted or continued.

(b) To make an election pursuant to this Section, the Borrower Representative shall notify the
Administrative Agent of such election either in writing (delivered by hand or fax) by delivering an Interest Election
Request signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative or through Electronic System if
arrangements for doing so have been approved by the Administrative Agent (or if an Extenuating Circumstance
shall exist, by telephone) by the time that a Borrowing Request would be required under Section 2.03 if the
Borrowers were requesting a Borrowing of the Type resulting from such election to be made on the effective date of
such election. Each such Interest Election Request shall be irrevocable and each such telephonic Interest Election
Request, if permitted, shall be confirmed immediately upon the cessation of the Extenuating Circumstance by hand
delivery, Electronic System or facsimile to the Administrative Agent of a written Interest Election Request in a form
approved by the Administrative Agent and signed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower Representative.

(c)  Each written (or if permitted, telephonic) Interest Election Request (including requests submitted
through Electronic System) shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02:

(1) the Borrowing to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are
being elected with respect to different portions thereof, the portions thereof to be allocated to each resulting
Borrowing (in which case the information to be specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and
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(iv) below shall be specified for each resulting Borrowing);

(ii) the effective date of the Borrowing to be made pursuant to such Interest Election Request,
which shall be a Business Day;

(iii)whether the resulting Borrowing is to be a CBFR Borrowing-or—a—Furodottar,_an RFR
Borrowing_(provided that RFR Loans are only available under this Agreement as the result of the application of

(iv)if the resulting Borrowing is a FEuredetarTerm Benchmark Borrowing_or CDOR
Borrowing, the Interest Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which shall be a period
contemplated by the definition of the term “Interest Period”.

If any such Interest Election Request requests a EurodottarTerm Benchmark Borrowing or CDOR Borrowing but
does not specify an Interest Period, then the applicable Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest
Period of one (1) month’s duration.

(d) Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election Request, the Administrative Agent shall advise
each Lender of the details thereof and of such Lender’s portion of each resulting Borrowing.

(e)  If the apphieablerelevant Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election Request with respect to
a EuredoHatTerm Benchmark Borrowing_or CDOR Borrowing prior to the end of the Interest Period applicable
thereto, then, unless such Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest Period, (i)_in the case
of a Borrowing_denominated in Dollars, such Borrowing shall be converted to a CBFR Borrowing_and (ii)_in the
case of a Borrowing_denominated in Canadian Dollars, such Borrowing shall be converted to a Canadian Prime
Rate Borrowing. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing and the Administrative Agent, at the written request (including a request through electronic means) of
the Required Lenders, so notifies the apptieable-Borrower_Representative, then, so long as an Event of Default is
continuing, (i) no outstanding Borrowing may be converted to or continued as a EuredetarTerm Benchmark or
CDOR Borrowing, and (ii) unless repaid, each Euredottar-Borrowing denominated in Dollars shall be converted to
a CBFR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto_and each Borrowing denominated in
Canadian Dollars shall be converted to a Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period
applicable thereto.

SECTION 2.08. Termination and Reduction of Commitments. (a) Unless previously terminated, the
Revolving Commitments shall terminate on the Revolving Termination Date.

(b)  The Borrowers may at any time terminate the Revolving Commitments upon (i) the payment in full
of all outstanding Revolving Loans, together with accrued and unpaid interest thereon and on any Letters of Credit
and (ii) the cancellation and return of all outstanding Letters of Credit (or alternatively, with respect to each such
Letter of Credit, the furnishing to the Administrative Agent of a cash deposit (or at the Permitted Discretion of the
Administrative Agent a back-up standby letter of credit satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) equal to the LC
Exposure as of such date).

(c) The Borrowers may from time to time reduce the Commitments; provided that (i) each reduction
of the Commitments shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of $1,000,000 and not less than $1,000,000
and shall reduce all Commitments of any Class on a pro rata basis and (ii) the
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Borrowers shall not terminate or reduce the Revolving Commitments if, after giving effect to any concurrent
prepayment of the Revolving Loans in accordance herewith, the aggregate Revolving Exposure would exceed the
lesser of the aggregate Revolving Commitments and the Revolving Borrowing Base.

(d) The Borrowers shall notify the Administrative Agent of any election to terminate or reduce the
Commitments under paragraph (b) or (c) of this Section at least three Business Days prior to the effective date of
such termination or reduction, specifying such election and the effective date thereof. Promptly following receipt of
any notice, the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each notice delivered by a
Borrower pursuant to this Section shall be irrevocable; provided that a notice of termination of the Commitments
delivered by the applicable Borrower may state that such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit
facilities, in which case such notice may be revoked by the applicable Borrower (by notice to the Administrative
Agent on or prior to the specified effective date) if such condition is not satisfied. Any termination or reduction of
the Commitments shall be permanent. Each reduction of the Commitments shall be made ratably among the
Lenders in accordance with their respective Commitments.

SECTION 2.09. Repayment and Amortization of Loans; Evidence of Debt. (a) The Borrowers hereby
jointly and severally unconditionally promise to pay: (i) to the Administrative Agent for the account of each
Revolving Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Revolving Loan on the Revolving Termination Date,
(i1) to the Swingline Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Swingline Loan on the earliest of (x) the
Revolving Termination Date, (y) the date five (5) Business Days after demand by the Swingline Lender in its
reasonable discretion if no Event of Default exists and (z) the demand by the Swingline Lender in its discretion if
an Event of Default exists, (iii) to the Administrative Agent the then unpaid amount of each Protective Advance on
the earlier of the Revolving Termination Date and demand by the Administrative Agent to the Administrative Agent,
and (iv) the then unpaid principal amount of each Overadvance on the earlier of the Revolving Termination Date
and demand by the Administrative Agent.

(b) At all times during any Cash Dominion Period, on each Business Day, the Administrative Agent
shall apply all funds credited to the Collection Account on such Business Day or the immediately preceding
Business Day (at the discretion of the Administrative Agent, whether or not immediately available) first to prepay
any Protective Advances and Overadvances that may be outstanding, pro rata, and second to prepay the Revolving
Loans (including Swingline Loans) and to cash collateralize outstanding LC Exposure. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, to the extent any funds credited to the Collection Account constitute Net Cash Proceeds in respect of any
Prepayment Event, the application of such Net Cash Proceeds shall be subject to Section 2.10(e).

(c) Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts
evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrowers to such Lender resulting from each Loan made by such Lender,
including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder.

(d) The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it shall record (i) the amount of each
Loan made hereunder, the Class and Type thereof and the Interest Period applicable thereto,
(i1) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrowers to
each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative Agent hereunder for the
account of the Lenders and each Lender’s share thereof.

(¢) The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraph (c) or (d) of this Section shall
be prima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations recorded therein absent manifest error;
provided that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to maintain
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such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrowers to repay the Loans
in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

()  Any Lender may request that Loans made by it be evidenced by a promissory note. In such event,
the Borrowers shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to the order of such
Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender and its permitted assigns) and in a form approved by the
Administrative Agent. Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all
times (including after assignment pursuant to Section 9.04) be represented by one or more promissory notes in such
form payable to the order of the payee named therein (or, if such promissory note is a registered note, to such payee
and its registered assigns).

SECTION 2.10. Prepayment of Loans. (a) Each Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time
to time to prepay any Borrowing in whole or in part without premium or penalty but subject to breakfunding
payments required pursuant to Section 2.15 and subject to prior notice in accordance with paragraph (e) of this
Section.

(b)  Except for Overadvances permitted hereunder, (i)_in the event and on such occasion that the total
Revolving Exposure exceeds the lesser of (A) the aggregate Revolving Commitments or (B) the Revolving
Borrowing Base, the Borrowers shall jointly and severally unconditionally prepay the Revolving Exposure in an
aggregate amount equal to such excess. and (ii)_in the event and on such occasion that the total Revolving_
Exposure denominated in Canadian Dollars exceeds $35,000,000, the Borrowers shall jointly and severally
unconditionally prepay the Revolving Exposure denominated in Canadian Dollars in an aggregate amount equal to
such excess.

(¢) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Cash Proceeds are received by or on behalf of any
Loan Party or any Subsidiary in respect of any Prepayment Event, the Borrowers shall, promptly after such Net
Cash Proceeds are received by any Loan Party or Subsidiary, jointly and severally unconditionally prepay the Credit
Exposure in an aggregate amount equal to 100% of such Net Cash Proceeds; provided that, in the case of any event
described in clause (a) or (b) of the definition of the term "Prepayment Events", if the Borrower Representative
delivers to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a Financial Officer to the effect that the Loan Parties intend to
apply the Net Cash Proceeds from such event (or a portion thereof specified in such certificate), within 180 days
after receipt of such Net Cash Proceeds, to acquire (or replace or rebuild) real property, equipment or other tangible
assets to be used in the business of the Loan Parties, and certifying that no Default has occurred and is continuing,
then either (i) so long as a Cash Dominion Period is not in effect, no prepayment shall be required pursuant to this
paragraph in respect of the Net Cash Proceeds specified in such certificate or (ii) if a Cash Dominion Period is in
effect, then, if the Net Cash Proceeds specified in such certificate are to be applied to acquire, replace or rebuild
such assets by (A) the Borrowers, such Net Cash Proceeds shall be applied by the Administrative Agent to reduce
the outstanding principal balance of the Revolving Loans (without a permanent reduction of the Revolving
Commitment) and upon such application, the Administrative Agent shall establish a Reserve against the Revolving
Borrowing Base in an amount equal to the amount of such proceeds so applied and (B) any Loan Party that is not a
Borrower, such Net Cash Proceeds shall be deposited in a cash collateral account, and in the case of either (A) or
(B), thereafter, such funds shall be made available to the applicable Loan Party as follows:

(1) the Borrower Representative shall request a Revolving Borrowing
(specifying that the request is to use Net Cash Proceeds pursuant to this Section) or the applicable Loan
Party shall request a release from the cash collateral account be made in the amount needed;

(2) so long as the conditions set forth in Section 4.02 have been met, the
Revolving Lenders shall make such Revolving Borrowing; and

(3) the Reserve established with respect to such insurance proceeds shall
be reduced by the amount of such Revolving Borrowing;
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provided that to the extent of any such Net Cash Proceeds therefrom that have not been so used to acquire (or
replace or rebuild) real property, equipment or other tangible assets to be used in the business of the Loan Parties
(or committed to be so used) by the end of such 180-day period, a prepayment shall be required at such time in an
amount equal to such Net Cash Proceeds that have not been so applied. Notwithstanding anything herein to the
contrary, any prepayment as a result of a Prepayment Event under clause (c) of the definition of Prepayment Event
shall reduce the Revolving Commitments by the amount of such prepayment.

(d) [intentionally reserved].

(e)  The applicable Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent (and, in the case of prepayment of a
Swingline Loan, the Swingline Lender) by telephone (confirmed by facsimile) or through Electronic System, if
arrangements for doing so have been approved by the Administrative Agent, of any prepayment hereunder (i) noon,
Chicago time, (A) in the case of prepayment of a EurodotarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Borrowing, three (3)
Business Days before the date of prepayment, or (B) in the case of prepayment of a CBFR or Canadian Prime Rate
Borrowing, one (1) Business Day before the date of prepayment or (ii) in the case of prepayment of a Swingline
Loan, not later than 11:00 a.m., eastern time, on the date of prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and
shall specify the prepayment date and the principal amount of each Borrowing or portion thereof to be prepaid,;
provided that, if a notice of prepayment is given in connection with a conditional notice of termination of the
related Commitments as contemplated by Section 2.08, then such notice of prepayment may be revoked if such
notice of termination is revoked in accordance with Section 2.08. Promptly following receipt of any such notice
relating to a Borrowing, the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each partial
prepayment of any Borrowing shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case of an advance of a
Borrowing of the same Type as provided in Section 2.02. Each prepayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably
to the Loans included in the prepaid Borrowing, in each case any such prepayments shall be accompanied by (i)
accrued interest to the extent required by Section 2.12 and (ii) any breakfunding payments required pursuant to
Section 2.15.

(f)  All prepayments under Sections 2.10(c), (d) or (e) shall be applied to the Revolving Exposure until
paid in full (with no corresponding reduction in the Revolving Commitments, except any prepayment as a result of
clause (d) of the definition of “Prepayment Events" will reduce the Revolving Commitments by a corresponding
amount). Within the parameters of the applications set forth above, prepayments shall be applied first to CBFR and
Canadian Prime Rate Ioans and then to EurodotarTerm Benchmark and CDOR Loans (in the case of
EurodottarTerm Benchmark and CDOR Loans, in direct order of Interest Period maturities).

SECTION 2.11. Fees. (a) The Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay to the Administrative Agent
for the account of each Lender a commitment fee, which shall accrue at a per annum rate equal to the Applicable
Margin on the average daily amount of the Available Revolving Commitment of such Lender during the period
from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the date on which such Lender’s Revolving Commitment
terminate. Accrued commitment fees shall be payable in arrears on the first day of each month and on the date on
which any of the Revolving Commitments terminate, as applicable, commencing on the first such date to occur
after the date hereof. All commitment fees shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and shall be
payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day).
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(b)  The Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay (i) to the Administrative Agent for the account of
each Lender a participation fee with respect to its participations in Letters of Credit, which shall accrue at a rate per
annum equal to the Applicable Margin on the average daily amount of such Lender’s LC Exposure (excluding any
portion thereof attributable to unreimbursed LC Disbursements) during the period from and including the Effective
Date to but excluding the later of the date on which such Lender’s Revolving Commitment terminates and the date
on which such Lender ceases to have any LC Exposure, and (ii) to the Issuing Bank (x) a fronting fee, which shall
accrue at the rate of 0.25% (or such other percentage as is agreed upon by the Issuing Bank and the Borrowers) per
annum on the average daily amount of the LC Exposure (excluding any portion thereof attributable to unreimbursed
LC Disbursements) during the period from and including the Effective Date to but excluding the later of the date of
termination of the Revolving Commitments and the date on which there ceases to be any LC Exposure and (y) the
Issuing Bank’s standard fees and commissions with respect to the issuance, amendment, cancellation, negotiation,
transfer, presentment, renewal or extension of any Letter of Credit or processing of drawings thereunder.
Participation fees and fronting fees accrued shall be payable in arrears on the first day of each month, commencing
on the first such date to occur after the Effective Date; provided that all such fees shall be payable on the date on
which the Revolving Commitments terminate and any such fees accruing after the date on which the Revolving
Commitments terminate shall be payable on demand. Any other fees payable to the Issuing Bank pursuant to this
paragraph shall be payable within ten (10) days after demand. All participation fees and fronting fees shall be
computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including
the first day but excluding the last day).

(¢)  The Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay to the Administrative Agent for its own account,
fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon in writing between the Borrowers and the
Administrative Agent.

(d) All fees payable hereunder shall be paid on the dates due, in immediately available funds, to the
Administrative Agent (or to the Issuing Bank, in the case of fees payable to it) for distribution, in the case of
commitment fees and participation fees, to the Lenders. Fees paid shall not be refundable under any circumstances.

SECTION 2.12. Interest.

(a) Revolving Credit Loans that are (i) CBFR Borrowings shall bear interest at the CB Floating Rate
plus the Applicable Margin-and, (ii) EuredotarTerm Benchmark Borrowings shall bear interest at the Adjusted
EHB6-RateTerm SOFR Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing plus the Applicable Margin, (iii)_
Canadian Prime Rate Borrowings shall bear interest at the Canadian Prime Rate plus the Applicable Margin, and
(iv)_CDOR Borrowings shall bear interest at CDOR for the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing plus the
Applicable Margin. Each Swingline Loan shall bear interest at the CBFR plus the Applicable Margin, other than
Swingline Loans for which an alternate interest rate is agreed upon between the Borrowers and the Swingline
Lender (which shall bear interest at such rate). Each Protective Advance and each Overadvance in Dollars shall
bear interest at the CBFR plus the Applicable Margin plus 2% _and each Protective Advance and each Overadvance
in Canadian Dollars shall bear interest at the Canadian Prime Rate plus the Applicable Margin plus 2%.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, (x) for purposes of the interest
rate on all Loans outstanding and the fees under Section 2.11(b)(i) on all Letters of Credit outstanding, the
Applicable Margin (other than with respect to commitment fees) shall be increased by 3% and (y) interest shall
accrue on all other amounts outstanding hereunder that are due hereunder at 3% plus the rate applicable to CBFR
Loans as provided in paragraph (a) of this Section, in each case:

) automatically upon the occurrence of any Event of Default under clauses (h) or
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(1) of Article VII until such Event of Default is no longer continuing; and

(ii) in the event any other Event of Default is continuing, upon a declaration by the Required
Lenders (at their option) by written notice to the Borrowers that they elect to have such interest and fees accrue
until such Event of Default is no longer continuing or such notice is revoked by Required Lenders (which
revocation shall be at the option of Required Lenders notwithstanding any provision of Section 9.02).

(¢)  Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such
Loan and upon termination of the related Commitments; provided that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (b)
of this Section shall be payable on demand, (ii) in the event of any repayment or prepayment of any Loan (other
than a prepayment of a CBFR Revolving Loan_or a Canadian Prime Rate Revolving Loan), accrued interest on the
principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment, and (iii) in the
event of any conversion of any EuredettarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Loan prior to the end of the current Interest
Period therefor, accrued interest on such Loan shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion.

(d) Ad-Interest heretndercomputed by reference to the Term SOFR Rate, Daily Simple SOFR or
CDOR shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days;exeept-that. Interest computed by reference to the CB

Floating Rate attimes—whenthe-€BHloating Ratets-based-ontheor Canadian Prime Rate shall be computed on the
basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year);-and. In each case interest shall be payable for the actual

number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day)—aﬂd—paya-b}e—jemﬁy—aﬂd—seiﬁfa-Hy—by—ﬂﬁ

Adjusted HHBORate-orEBO RateDaily Simple SOFR, Daily Simple SOFR. Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, Term
SOFR Rate, Canadian Prime Rate and CDOR shall be determined by the Administrative Agent, and such
determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(f)  Interest in respect of Loans denominated in any Agreed Currency shall be paid in such Agreed
Currency,

SECTION 2.13. Alternate Rate of Interest; Illegality.

(a) (a) Subject to clauses (b),_(c) (d) (e) and (f)—(—g)—and—(—h)— of this Section 2.13, ifpriorte-the-

Borrowing,_that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted HHBOTerm_
SOFR Rate, the Term SOFR Rate or the EHBOCDOR Screen Rate, as applicable (including, withent

Hmitattom,—by—means—of —an—Interpotatedbecause the Term SOFR Reference Rate or beeause—the

HBOCDOR Screen Rate is not available or published on a current basis) for such Interest Period;

provided-that noBenehmarkTransitiont
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Eventshall-have oceurredatsuch-tirmmeor (B)_at any time, that adequate and reasonable means do not exist

commencement of any Interest Period for a Term Benchmark Borrowing, the Adjusted EHBOTerm SOFR
Rate or the FHBOCDOR Screen Rate, as applicable, for such Interest Period will not adequately and fairly
reflect the cost to such Lenders (or Lender) of making or maintaining their Loans (or Loan) included in
such Borrowing for such Interest Period_or (B)_at any time, the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR will not

(or Loan)_included in such Borrowing;

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower Representative and the Lenders through
Electronic System as provided in Section 9.01 as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until (x) the
Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower Representative and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to
Election Request in accordance with the terms of Section 2.08 or a new Borrowing Request in accordance with the
terms of Section 2.03, (A)_for Loans denominated in Dollars,

(1) any Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any
Borrowing as, a ota owing—shal—be—ineffeetive—and—any—steh e wing—shaHTerm
Benchmark Borrowing_and any Borrowing Request that requests a Term Benchmark Borrowing_shall instead be

converted into a CBFR Borrowing if the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR also is the subject of Section 2.13(a)(i)_or_
(ii)_above and (2)_any Borrowing_Request that requests an RFR Borrowing_shall instead be deemed to be a

any Borrowing to, or continuation of any Borrowing as, a CDOR Borrowing_and any Borrowing Request that
requests a CDOR Borrowing shall instead be deemed to be an Interest Election Request or a Borrowing Request, as_

any,_any_Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any
Borrowing_as,_a Term Benchmark Borrowing_and any Borrowing Request that requests a Term Benchmark
Borrowing, in each case, for the relevant Benchmark, shall be ineffective; provided that if the circumstances giving_

Furthermore, if any Term Benchmark Loan, CDOR Loan or RFR Loan is outstanding_ on the date of the Borrower’s
receipt of the notice from the Administrative Agent referred to in this Section 2.13(a)_with respect to a Relevant

notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist with respect
to the relevant Benchmark and (y)_the Borrower delivers a new Interest Election Request in accordance with the

Loan and (C)_for Loan dominated
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in any other Agreed Currency, if any, shall be ineffective and any applicable outstanding Loans shall be prepaid in
full immediately.

Governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for any Lender or its applicable lendrng ofﬁce to make,
maintain, fund or continue any Eurodollar Borrowing, or any Governmental Authority has imposed material
restrictions on the authority of such Lender to purchase or sell, or to take deposits of, dollars in the London
1nterbank market then on notice thereof by such Lender to the Borrower Representative-through-the-Adnintstrative-

v e ; -fand or continue Eurodollar Loans or to convert CBFR
Borrowmgs to Eurodollar Borrowrngs W111 be suspended until such Lender notifies the Administrative Agent and
the Borrower Representative that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist. Upon receipt
of such notice, the Borrowers will upon demand from such Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), either
prepay or convert all Eurodollar Borrowings of such Lender to CBFR Borrowings, either on the last day of the
Interest Period therefor, if such Lender may lawfully continue to maintain such Eurodollar Borrowings to such day,
or immediately, if such Lender may not lawfully continue to maintain such Loans. Upon any such prepayment or
conversion, the Borrowers will also pay accrued interest on the amount so prepaid or eefiverted:

(b) fe) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan
Document;- (and any Swap Agreement shall be deemed not to be a “Loan Document” for purposes of this Section
2.13), if a Benchmark Transition Event er—an—TEarly—Opt-in—FEleetion—as—appteables—and its related Benchmark
Replacement Date have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current
Benchmark, then (x) if a Benchmark Replacement is determined in accordance with clause
(1) er(2)-of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark Replacement Date, such Benchmark
Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and under any Loan Document in respect of
such Benchmark setting and subsequent Benchmark settings without any amendment to, or further action or
consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document and (y) if a Benchmark Replacement is
determined in accordance with clause (32) of the definition of “Benchmark Replacement” for such Benchmark
Replacement Date, such Benchmark Replacement will replace such Benchmark for all purposes hereunder and
under any Loan Document in respect of any Benchmark setting at or after 5:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the
fifth (5th) Business Day after the date notice of such Benchmark Replacement is provided to the Lenders without
any amendment to, or further action or consent of any other party to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document
so long as the Administrative Agent has not received, by such time, written notice of objection to such Benchmark
Replacement from Lenders comprising the Required Lenders.

\ hstandmganythin ary-heretorth—an hertoan and subject to the
proviso below in thrs paragraph 1f a Terrn SOFR Transrtron Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date
have occurred prior to the Reference Time in respect of any setting of the then-current Benchmark, then the
applicable Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes hereunder or under
any Loan Document in respect of such Benchmark settrng and subsequent Benchmark settlngs w1thout any
amendment to, or further action or consent of any-eth greetet a M
provided-thatthis-elause(d)-shattnot-be effective unless the Admmlstratlve Agent has dellvered to the Lenders and
the Borrower Representatlve a Term SOFR Notlce For the avoidance of doubt the Admlmstratlve Agent shall not
be required to de s Nottee—a ern 3 9 eh ¢ S
diseretion:

(ec) ; mentattonofa eptacementNotwithstanding anything to
the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, the Adrmnlstratlve Agent will have the right to make
Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary
herein or in any other Loan Document, any amendments implementing such
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Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes will become effective without any further action or consent of any
other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document.

(fd) The Administrative Agent will promptly notify the Borrower Representative and the Lenders of (i)

any occurrence of a Benchmark Transmon Event, aFerm-SOFRTFransittonrEvent-or-an Early-Opt-inFleetton;as-
a ater~(ii) the implementation of any Benchmark Replacement,

(111) the effectlveness of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, (iv) the removal or reinstatement of
any tenor of a Benchmark pursuant to clause (gf) below and (v) the commencement or conclusion of any
Benchmark Unavailability Period. Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Administrative
Agent or, if applicable, any Lender (or group of Lenders) pursuant to this Section 2.13, including any
determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event,
circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection, will be conclusive
and binding absent manifest error and may be made in its or their sole discretion and without consent from any
other party to this Agreement or any other Loan Document, except, in each case, as expressly required pursuant to
this Section 2.13.

(ge) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other Loan Document, at any time
(including in connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement), (i) if the then-current Benchmark
is a term rate (including the Term SOFR e+H36-Rate) and either (A) any tenor for such Benchmark is not
displayed on a screen or other information service that publishes such rate from time to time as selected by the
Administrative Agent in its reasonable discretion or (B) the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of such
Benchmark has provided a public statement or publication of information announcing that any tenor for such
Benchmark is or will be no longer representative, then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of
“Interest Period” for any Benchmark settings at or after such time to remove such unavailable or non-
representative tenor and (ii) if a tenor that was removed pursuant to clause (i) above either (A) is subsequently
displayed on a screen or information service for a Benchmark (including a Benchmark Replacement) or (B) is not,
or is no longer, subject to an announcement that it is or will no longer be representative for a Benchmark (including
a Benchmark Replacement), then the Administrative Agent may modify the definition of “Interest Period” for all
Benchmark settings at or after such time to reinstate such previously removed tenor.

(kf) Upon the Borrowers®> Representative’s receipt of notice of the commencement of a Benchmark
Unavailability Period, the Borrowers may revoke any request for a EuredotarTerm Benchmark Borrowing or RFR
Borrowing of, conversion to or continuation of FEuredetarTerm Benchmark Loans to be made, converted or
continued during any Benchmark Unavailability Period and, failing that, the Borrowers will be deemed to have
converted (1)_any such request for a Term Benchmark B0rr0W1ng into a request for a B0rr0w1ng of or conversion to

R-(A)_an RFR Borrowrng S0
long as the Ad]usted Dallv Slmnle SOFR is not the sub]ect of a Benchmark Trans1t10n Event or (B) a CBFR

Business Day if such day is not a Business Day), be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall constitute
(x).an RFR Loan so long as the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR is not the subject of a Benchmark Transition Event or
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(y).a CBFR Loan if the Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR is the subject of a Benchmark Transition Event, on such day_
and (2)_any RFR Loan shall on and from such day be converted by the Administrative Agent to, and shall
constitute a CBFR Loan.

(g) Astothe CDOR Rate, if at any time the Administrative Agent determines, or the Required Lenders

circumstances set forth in clause (a)(i)_have arisen, and such circumstances are unlikely to be temporary, or (ii)_the
circumstances set forth in clause (a)(i)_have not arisen but the supervisor for the administrator of any of the CDOR
Rate or other applicable rate or a Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over the Administrative Agent has
made a public statement identifying a specific date after which any of the CDOR Rate shall no longer be used for
determining interest rates for loans, then the Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative shall endeavor
to establish an alternate rate of interest to the CDOR Rate that gives due consideration to the then prevailing market

such rate shall be deemed to be zero for the purposes of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary_
in Section 9.02, such amendment shall become effective without any further action or consent of any other party to
this Agreement so long _as the Administrative Agent shall not have received, within five (5)_Business Days of the

notice from the Required Lenders stating that such Required Lenders object to such amendment. Until an alternate
rate of interest shall be determined in accordance with this clause (i), (x)_if any Borrowing Request requests a
CDOR Borrowing, such Borrowing_shall be made as a Canadian Prime Rate Borrowing, and if any Interest

Borrowing _such request shall be ineffective, and (y)_all CDOR Borrowings shall be converted to Canadian Prime
Rate Loans.

SECTION 2.14. Increased Costs. (a) If any Change in Law shall:

(1) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, liquidity or similar
requirement (including any compulsory loan requirement, insurance charge or other assessment) against assets of,
deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (exeeptany—such reserverequirement
reflected-in-the-Adjusted-EHBO-Rate)-or the Issuing Bank; or

(ii) impose on any Lender or the Issuing Bank or the Fendonapplicable offshore interbank
market any other condition, cost or expense (other than Taxes) affecting this Agreement or Loans made by such
Lender or any Letter of Credit or participation therein; or

(iii)subject any Recipient to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) Taxes described
in clauses (b) through (d) of the definition of Excluded Taxes and (C) Connection Income Taxes) on its loans, loan
principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital
attributable thereto;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender or such other Recipient of
making, continuing, converting into or maintaining any Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such
Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender, the Issuing Bank or such other Recipient of participating in, issuing or
maintaining any Letter of Credit or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender, the
Issuing Bank or such other Recipient hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the Borrowers
will pay to such Lender, the Issuing Bank or such other Recipient, as the case may be, such additional amount or
amounts as will compensate such Lender, the
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Issuing Bank or such other Recipient, as the case may be, for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

(b) Ifany Lender or the Issuing Bank determines that any Change in Law regarding capital or liquidity
requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's
capital or on the capital of such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's holding company, if any, as a consequence of this
Agreement, the Commitments or the Loans made by, or participations in Letters of Credit or Swingline Loans held
by, such Lender, or the Letters of Credit issued by the Issuing Bank, to a level below that which such Lender or the
Issuing Bank or such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's holding company could have achieved but for such Change in
Law (taking into consideration such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's policies and the policies of such Lender's or the
Issuing Bank's holding company with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time the
Borrowers will pay to such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, such additional amount or amounts as
will compensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank or such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's holding company for any
such reduction suffered.

(¢) A certificate in reasonable detail of a Lender or the Issuing Bank setting forth the amount or
amounts necessary to compensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank or its holding company, as the case may be, as
specified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section shall be delivered to the Borrowers and shall be conclusive absent
manifest error. The Borrowers shall pay such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, the amount shown as
due on any such certificate within ten (10) days after receipt thereof.

(d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender or the Issuing Bank to demand compensation pursuant
to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's right to demand such
compensation; provided that the Borrowers shall not be required to compensate a Lender or the Issuing Bank
pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than two hundred seventy (270) days
prior to the date that such Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, notifies the Borrowers of the Change in
Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender's or the Issuing Bank's intention to claim
compensation therefor; provided further that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions
is retroactive, then the two hundred seventy (270)-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the
period of retroactive effect thereof.

SECTION 2.15. Break Funding Payments. (a)_With respect to Loans that are not RFR Loans, in the event
of (ai) the payment of any principal of any EuredettarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Loan other than on the last day of
an Interest Period apphcable thereto (1nclud1ng as a result of an Event of Default, or as a result of any required-
prepayment et-atty oat 0 aHoeation tnder-thetast-paragraph-ofpursuant to
Section 2.6411), (bii) the conversion of any Eufed-e-l-l-afTerm Benchmark or CDOR Loan other than on the last day
of the Interest Period applicable thereto, (eiii) the failure to borrow, convert, continue or prepay any
EuredottarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Loan on the date specified in any notice delivered pursuant hereto
(regardless of whether such notice may be revoked under Section 2.089¢&)— and is revoked in accordance
therewith), or (div) the assignment of any EuredotarTerm Benchmark or CDOR Loan other than on the last day of
the Interest Period applicable thereto as a result of a request by the Borrower Representative pursuant to Section
2.189 or 9.02(d), then, in any such event, the appi-teabeeBorrowers shall compensate each Lender for the loss, cost
and expense attributable to such event. H-th e ny—te
shalt be deemed to include an amount determmed by such Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of
interest which would have accrued on the principal amount of such Loan had such event not occurred, at the
Adjusted LIBO Rate that would have been applicable to such Loan, for the period from the date of such event to the
last day of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the case of a failure to borrow, convert or continue, for
the period that would have been the Interest Period for such Loan), over
(i1) the amount of interest which would accrue on such principal amount for such period at the interest
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mparable-amoun her-banks—in matket— A certificate i reasonable-detatt-of any
Lender setting forth any amount or amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall be
delivered to the Borrowers Representative and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrowers shall pay
such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within ten (10) days after receipt thereof.

mandatory prepayment of Loans), (ii)_the failure to borrow or prepay any RFR Loan on the date specified in any
notice delivered pursuant hereto (regardless of whether such notice may be revoked under Section 2.11 and is

applicable thereto as a result of a request by the Borrowers pursuant to Section 2.18, then,_in any such event, the
Borrowers shall compensate each Lender for the loss, cost and expense attributable to such event. A certificate of

by or on account of any obligation of any Borrower under any Loan Document shall be made without deduction or
withholding for any Taxes, except as required by applicable law. If any applicable law (as determined in the good
faith discretion of an applicable Withholding Agent) requires the deduction or withholding of any Tax from any
such payment by a Withholding Agent, then the applicable Withholding Agent shall be entitled to make such
deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmental
Authority in accordance with applicable law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the sum payable by the
applicable Borrower shall be increased as necessary so that after such deduction or withholding has been made
(including such deductions and withholdings applicable to additional sums payable under this Section 2.16), the
applicable Recipient receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deduction or
withholding been made.

(b) Payment of Other Taxes by _the Borrowers. The Borrowers shall timely pay to the relevant
Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law, or at the option of the Administrative Agent timely
reimburse it for, Other Taxes.

(c) Evidence of Payment. As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by the Borrowers to a
Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.16, the Borrower Representative shall deliver to the
Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority
evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment, or other evidence of such payment
reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

(d) Indemnification by the Borrowers. The Borrowers shall jointly and severally indemnify each
Recipient, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including
Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) payable or paid by
such Recipient or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to such Recipient and any reasonable
expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally
imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or
liability delivered to the Borrower Representative by a Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the
Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.

(¢) Indemnification by the Lenders. Each Lender shall severally indemnify the Administrative Agent,
within ten (10) days after demand therefor, for (i) any Indemnified Taxes attributable to such Lender (but only to
the extent that the Borrowers have not already indemnified the Administrative Agent for such
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Indemnified Taxes and without limiting the obligation of the Borrowers to do so), (ii) any Taxes attributable to such
Lender’s failure to comply with the provisions of Section 9.04(c) relating to the maintenance of a Participant
Register and (iii) any Excluded Taxes attributable to such Lender, in each case, that are payable or paid by the
Administrative Agent in connection with any Loan Document, and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom or
with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant
Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to any Lender by the
Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative
Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Loan Document or
otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to such Lender from any other source against any amount due to the
Administrative Agent under this paragraph (e).

® Status of Lenders.

(i) Any Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding Tax with
respect to payments made under any Loan Document shall deliver to the Borrower Representative and the
Administrative Agent, at the time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower Representative or the
Administrative Agent, such properly completed and executed documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower
Representative or the Administrative Agent as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a
reduced rate of withholding. In addition, any Lender, if reasonably requested by the Borrower Representative or the
Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested
by the Borrower Representative or the Administrative Agent as will enable the Borrower Representative or the
Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information
reporting requirements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the preceding two sentences, the completion,
execution and submission of such documentation (other than such documentation set forth in Section 2.16(f)(ii)(A),
(i1)(B) and (ii)(D) below) shall not be required if in the Lender’s reasonable judgment such completion, execution
or submission would subject such Lender to any material unreimbursed cost or expense or would materially
prejudice the legal or commercial position of such Lender.

(i) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event that any Borrower is a U.S.
Person,

(A)any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to the Borrower Representative and
the Administrative Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender under
this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower
Representative or the Administrative Agent), an executed copy of IRS Form W-9 certifying that
such Lender is exempt from U.S. federal backup withholding tax;

(B)any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the
Borrower Representative and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be
requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a
Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of
the Borrower Representative or the Administrative Agent), whichever of the following is
applicable:

(1) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of an income tax
treaty to which the U.S. is a party (x) with respect to payments of interest under any
Loan Document, an executed copy of IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E,
as applicable, establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal
withholding Tax pursuant to the “interest” article of such tax treaty and (y) with
respect to any other applicable payments under any Loan Document, IRS Form W-
8BEN or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, as applicable, establishing an exemption from, or
reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the “business profits” or
“other income” article of such tax treaty;
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(2) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming that its extension of credit will
generate U.S. effectively connected income, an executed copy of IRS Form W-8ECI;

(3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption
for portfolio interest under Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) a certificate substantially
in the form of Exhibit C-1 to the effect that such Foreign Lender is not a “bank”
within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a “10 percent shareholder”
of a Borrower within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Code, or a
“controlled foreign corporation” described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code (a
“U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate”) and (y) an executed IRS Form W-8BEN or IRS
Form W-8BEN-E, as applicable; or

(4) to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the Beneficial Owner, an executed
copy of IRS Form W-8IMY, accompanied by IRS Form W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN
or IRS Form W-8BEN-E, as applicable, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate
substantially in the form of Exhibit C-2 or Exhibit C-3, IRS Form W-9, and/or other
certification documents from each Beneficial Owner, as applicable; provided that if
the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or more direct or indirect partners of
such Foreign Lender are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign
Lender may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of
Exhibit C-4 on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;

(C)any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the
Borrower Representative and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be
requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a
Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of
the Borrower Representative or the Administrative Agent), executed copies of any other form
prescribed by applicable law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S.
federal withholding Tax, duly completed, together with such supplementary documentation as
may be prescribed by applicable law to permit the Borrower Representative or the
Administrative Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and

(D)if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would be subject to
U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the
applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or
1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower Representative
and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times
reasonably requested by the Borrower Representative or the Administrative Agent such
documentation prescribed by applicable
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law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional
documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower Representative or the Administrative
Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower Representative and the Administrative Agent to
comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied
with such Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and
withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (D), “FATCA” shall include
any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete
or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower
Representative and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.

(g) Treatment of Certain Refunds. If any party determines, in its discretion exercised in good faith,
that it has received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section 2.16
(including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.16), it shall pay to the indemnifying
party an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made under this Section 2.16
with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) of such
indemnified party and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with
respect to such refund). Such indemnifying party, upon the request of such indemnified party, shall repay to such
indemnified party the amount paid over pursuant to this paragraph (g) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges
imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) in the event that such indemnified party is required to repay such
refund to such Governmental Authority. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph (g), in no event
will the indemnified party be required to pay any amount to an indemnifying party pursuant to this paragraph (g)
the payment of which would place the indemnified party in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the
indemnified party would have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not
been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts giving rise
to such refund had never been paid. This paragraph (g) shall not be construed to require any indemnified party to
make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the
indemnifying party or any other Person.

(h)  Survival. Each party’s obligations under this Section 2.16 shall survive the resignation or
replacement of the Administrative Agent or any assignment of rights by, or the replacement of, a Lender, the
termination of the Commitments and the repayment, satisfaction or discharge of all obligations under any Loan
Document (including the Payment in Full of the Secured Obligations).

(i)  Defined Terms. For purposes of this Section 2.16, the term “Lender” includes any Issuing Bank
and the term “applicable law” includes FATCA.

SECTION 2.17. Payments Generally;_Allocation of Proceeds;_Sharing_of Set-offs. (a) The Borrowers
shall make each payment or prepayment required to be made by it hereunder (whether of principal, interest, fees or
reimbursement of LC Disbursements, or of amounts payable under Section 2.14, 2.15 or 2.16, or otherwise) prior to
1:00 p.m., eastern time, on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without set off or counterclaim. Any
amounts received after such time on any date may, in the discretion of the Administrative Agent, be deemed to have
been received on the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. All such payments
shall be made to the Administrative Agent at such office designated by the Administrative Agent, except payments
to be made directly to the Issuing Bank or Swingline Lender as expressly provided herein and except that any
payment pursuant to Section 2.14, 2.15, 2.16 or 9.03 shall be made directly to the Persons entitled
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thereto. The Administrative Agent shall distribute any such payments received by it for the account of any other
Person to the appropriate recipient promptly following receipt thereof. Unless otherwise provided herein, if any
payment hereunder shall be due on a day that is not a Business Day, the date for payment shall be extended to the
next succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be payable
for the period of such extension. All payments hereunder shall be made in dollars.

(b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, all payments and any proceeds of Collateral or
payments on Loan Party Guaranties received by the Administrative Agent (i) not constituting either (A) a specific
payment of principal, interest, fees or other sum payable under the Loan Documents (which shall be applied as
specified by the Borrowers), (B) a mandatory prepayment (which shall be applied in accordance with Section 2.10)
or (C) amounts to be applied from the Collection Account during a Cash Dominion Period (which shall be applied
in accordance with Section 2.09(d)) or
(ii) after an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Administrative Agent so elects or the Required
Lenders so direct, such funds shall be applied ratably in the following order (and applied at each level until the
Secured Obligations at that level are paid in full before proceeding the next lower level) as follows:

first, to pay any fees, indemnities, or expense reimbursements including amounts then due to the
Administrative Agent and the Issuing Bank from the Borrowers (other than in connection with Secured Swap
Obligations),

second, to pay any fees or expense reimbursements then due to the Lenders from the Borrowers (other
than in connection with Secured Swap Obligations),

third, to pay interest and principal then due and payable on the Loans, unreimbursed LC Disbursements
and to pay an amount to the Administrative Agent equal to the aggregate undrawn face amount of all outstanding
Letters of Credit to be held as cash collateral for such Obligations, ratably (with amounts applied to the any Loans
applied to any installments due on any Loans in inverse order of maturity),

fourth, to payment of any amounts owing with respect to Secured Swap Obligations and Banking
Services Obligations (all such amounts under this “fourth” item being applied ratably in accordance with all such
amounts due),

fifth, to the payment of any other Secured Obligation due to the Administrative Agent or any Lender or
any of their Affiliates by any Borrower, and

sixth, to the payment of the surplus, if any, to the Borrowers or whoever else may be lawfully entitled to
receive such surplus.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, unless so directed by the Borrowers, or
unless an Event of Default is in existence, none of the Administrative Agent or any Lender shall apply any payment
which it receives to any EuredotarTerm Benchmark Loan of a Class, except

(a) on the expiration date of the Interest Period applicable to any such EuredetarTerm Benchmark Loan or (b) in
the event, and only to the extent, that there are no outstanding CBFR Loans of the same Class and, in any event,
the Borrowers shall pay any break funding payment required pursuant to Section 2.15. The Administrative Agent
and the Lenders shall have the continuing and exclusive right to apply and reverse and reapply any and all such
proceeds and payments to any portion of the Secured Obligations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Secured
Obligations arising under Banking Services Obligations or Secured Swap Obligations shall be excluded from the
application described above and paid in clause fifth if the Administrative Agent has not received written notice
thereof (other than with respect to
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Banking Services Obligations or Secured Swap Obligations held by any JPMCB Party, of which the Administrative
Agent shall be deemed to automatically have received notice thereof), together with such supporting
documentation as the Administrative Agent may have reasonably requested from the applicable provider of such
Banking Services or Swap Agreements.

(c) Ifany Lender shall, by exercising any right of set off or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment
in respect of any principal of or interest on any of its Loans or participations in LC Disbursements or Swingline
Loans resulting in such Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of the aggregate amount of its Loans and
participations in LC Disbursements and Swingline Loans and accrued interest thereon than the proportion received
by any other Lender, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face value)
participations in the Loans and participations in LC Disbursements and Swingline Loans of other Lenders to the
extent necessary so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with
the aggregate amount of principal of and accrued interest on their respective Loans and participations in LC
Disbursements and Swingline Loans; provided that (i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any
portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price
restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest, and (ii) the provisions of this paragraph shall not be
construed to apply to any payment made by the Borrowers pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of
this Agreement or any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a
participation in any of its Loans or participations in LC Disbursements to any assignee or participant, other than to
any Loan Party or Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this paragraph shall apply). Each Borrower
consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender
acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against any Borrower rights of set-
off and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of such
Borrower in the amount of such participation.

(d)  Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the Borrowers prior to the date on
which any payment is due to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders or the Issuing Bank
hereunder that the Borrowers will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent may assume that the
Borrowers have made such payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such
assumption, distribute to the Lenders or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, the amount due. In such event, if the
Borrowers have not in fact made such payment, then each of the Lenders or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be,
severally agrees to repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such
Lender or the Issuing Bank with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is
distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of the NYFRB
Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank
compensation.

(e) Ifany Lender shall fail to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.04(c),
2.05(d) or (e), 2.06(b), 2.17(c) or 9.03(c), then the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion (notwithstanding any
contrary provision hereof), (i) apply any amounts thereafter received by the Administrative Agent for the account of
such Lender for the benefit of the Administrative Agent, the Swingline Lender or the Issuing Bank to satisfy such
Lender’s obligations to it under such Section until all such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid, and/or (ii) hold any
such amounts in a segregated account as cash collateral for, and application to, any future funding obligations of
such Lender under any such Section, in the case of each of clauses (i) and (ii) above, in any order as determined by
the Administrative Agent in its discretion.

(f) The Administrative Agent may from time to time provide the Borrowers with account statements
or invoices with respect to any of the Secured Obligations (the “Statements”). The Administrative Agent is under
no duty or obligation to provide Statements, which, if provided, will be
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solely for the Borrowers’ convenience. Statements may contain estimates of the amounts owed during the relevant
billing period, whether of principal, interest, fees or other Secured Obligations. If the Borrowers pay the full
amount indicated on a Statement on or before the due date indicated on such Statement, the Borrowers shall not be
in default of payment with respect to the billing period indicated on such Statement; provided, that acceptance by
the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Lenders, of any payment that is less than the total amount actually due
at that time (including but not limited to any past due amounts) shall not constitute a waiver of the Administrative
Agent’s or the Lenders’ right to receive payment in full at another time.

(g) At the election of the Administrative Agent, all payments of principal, interest, LC Disbursements,
fees, premiums, reimbursable expenses (including, without limitation, all reimbursement for fees, costs and
expenses pursuant to Section 9.03), and other sums payable under the Loan Documents, may be paid from the
proceeds of Borrowings made hereunder, whether made following a request by the Borrower Representative
pursuant to Section 2.03 or 2.04 or a deemed request as provided in this Section or may be deducted from any
deposit account of the Borrowers maintained with the Administrative Agent. The Borrowers hereby irrevocably
authorize (i) the Administrative Agent to make a Borrowing for the purpose of paying each payment of principal,
interest and fees as it becomes due hereunder or any other amount due under the Loan Documents and agrees that
all such amounts charged shall constitute Loans (including Swingline Loans and Overadvances, but such a
Borrowing may only constitute a Protective Advance if it is to reimburse costs, fees and expenses as described in
Section 9.03) and that all such Borrowings shall be deemed to have been requested pursuant to Section 2.03 or 2.04,
as applicable, and (ii) the Administrative Agent to charge any deposit account of any Borrower maintained with the
Administrative Agent for each payment of principal, interest and fees as it becomes due hereunder or any other
amount due under the Loan Documents.

SECTION 2.18. Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders.

(a) Ifany Lender requests compensation under Section 2.14, or if any Borrower is required to pay any
Indemnified Taxes or additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any
Lender pursuant to Section 2.16, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending
office for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its
offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would
eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.14 or 2.16, as the case may be, in the future and (ii)
would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to
such Lender. The Borrowers hereby agree to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in
connection with any such designation or assignment.

(b) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.14, or if the Borrowers are required to pay
any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any
Lender) pursuant to Section 2.16, or if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the Borrowers may, at their
sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such Lender to assign
and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 9.04), all its
interests, rights (other than its existing rights to payments pursuant to Sections 2.14 or 2.16) and obligations under
this Agreement and other Loan Documents to an assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may
be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided that (i) the Borrowers shall have received the
prior written consent of the Administrative Agent (and in circumstances where its consent would be required under
Section 9.04, the Issuing Bank and the Swingline Lender), which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld, (ii)
such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal of its Loans and funded
participations in LC Disbursements and Swingline Loans, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other
amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (to the extent of such
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outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrowers (in the case of all other amounts) and (iii) in
the case of any such assignment resulting from a claim for compensation under Section 2.14 or payments required
to be made pursuant to Section 2.16, such assignment will result in a reduction in such compensation or payments.
A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver
by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrowers to require such assignment and delegation
cease to apply. Each party hereto agrees that (i) an assignment required pursuant to this paragraph may be effected
pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption executed by the Borrower Representative, the Administrative Agent
and the assignee (or, to the extent applicable, an agreement incorporating an Assignment and Assumption by
reference pursuant to an Approved Electronic Platform as to which the Administrative Agent and such parties are
participants), and (ii) the Lender required to make such assignment need not be a party thereto in order for such
assignment to be effective and shall be deemed to have consented to and be bound by the terms thereof; provided
that, following the effectiveness of any such assignment, the other parties to such assignment agree to execute and
deliver such documents necessary to evidence such assignment as reasonably requested by the applicable Lender,
provided that any such documents shall be without recourse to or warranty by the parties thereto.

SECTION 2.19. Defaulting Lenders. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, if
any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the following provisions shall apply for so long as such Lender is a
Defaulting Lender:

(a)  fees shall cease to accrue on the unfunded portion of the Commitment of such Defaulting Lender
pursuant to Section 2.11(a);

(b) any payment of principal, interest, fees or other amounts received by the Administrative Agent for
the account of such Defaulting Lender (whether voluntary or mandatory, at maturity, pursuant to Section 2.18(b) or
otherwise) or received by the Administrative Agent from a Defaulting Lender pursuant to Section 9.08 shall be
applied at such time or times as may be determined by the Administrative Agent as follows: first, to the payment of
any amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to the Administrative Agent hereunder; second, to the payment on a
pro rata basis of any amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to any Issuing Bank or Swingline Lender
hereunder; third, to cash collateralize the Issuing Banks’ LC Exposure with respect to such Defaulting Lender in
accordance with this Section; fourth, as the Borrower Representative may request (so long as no Default or Event of
Default exists), to the funding of any Loan in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has failed to fund its portion
thereof as required by this Agreement, as determined by the Administrative Agent; fifth, if so determined by the
Administrative Agent and the Borrower Representative, to be held in a deposit account and released pro rata in
order to (x) satisfy such Defaulting Lender’s potential future funding obligations with respect to Loans under this
Agreement and (y) cash collateralize the Issuing Banks’ future LC Exposure with respect to such Defaulting Lender
with respect to future Letters of Credit issued under this Agreement, in accordance with this Section; sixth, to the
payment of any amounts owing to the Lenders, the Issuing Banks or Swingline Lender as a result of any judgment
of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by any Lender, the Issuing Banks or Swingline Lender against such
Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligations under this Agreement or under
any other Loan Document; seventh, so long as no Default or Event of Default exists, to the payment of any amounts
owing to the Borrowers as a result of any judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction obtained by the Borrowers
against such Defaulting Lender as a result of such Defaulting Lender's breach of its obligations under this
Agreement or under any other Loan Document; and eighth, to such Defaulting Lender or as otherwise directed by a
court of competent jurisdiction; provided that if (x) such payment is a payment of the principal amount of any
Loans or LC Disbursements in respect of which such Defaulting Lender has not fully funded its appropriate share,
and (y) such Loans were made or the related Letters of Credit were issued at a time when the conditions set forth in
Section 4.02 were satisfied or waived, such payment shall be applied solely to pay the Loans of, and LC
Disbursements owed to, all
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non-Defaulting Lenders on a pro rata basis prior to being applied to the payment of any Loans of, or LC
Disbursements owed to, such Defaulting Lender until such time as all Loans and funded and unfunded
participations in the Borrowers’ obligations corresponding to such Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure is and
Swingline Loans are held by the Lenders pro rata in accordance with the Commitments without giving effect to
clause (d) below. Any payments, prepayments or other amounts paid or payable to a Defaulting Lender that are
applied (or held) to pay amounts owed by a Defaulting Lender or to post cash collateral pursuant to this Section
shall be deemed paid to and redirected by such Defaulting Lender, and each Lender irrevocably consents hereto;

(¢)  such Defaulting Lender shall not have the right to vote on any issue on which voting is required
(other than to the extent expressly provided in Section 9.02(b)) and the Commitments and Loans of such Defaulting
Lender shall not be included in determining whether the Required Lenders have taken or may take any action
hereunder or under any other Loan Document; provided that, except as otherwise provided in Section 9.02, this
clause (b) shall not apply to the vote of a Defaulting Lender in the case of an amendment, waiver or other
modification requiring the consent of all Lenders or each Lender directly affected thereby;

(d) if any Swingline Exposure or LC Exposure exists at the time such Lender becomes a Defaulting
Lender then:

(i) all or any part of the Swingline Exposure and LC Exposure of such Defaulting Lender shall
be reallocated among the non-Defaulting Lenders in accordance with their respective Applicable Percentages but
only to the extent the sum of all non-Defaulting Lenders’ Credit Exposures plus such Defaulting Lender’s
Swingline Exposure and LC Exposure does not exceed the total of all non-Defaulting Lenders’ Commitments;

(ii) if the reallocation described in clause (i) above cannot, or can only partially, be effected, the
Borrowers shall within one (1) Business Day following notice by the Administrative Agent
(x) first, prepay such Swingline Exposure and (y) second, cash collateralize for the benefit of the Issuing Bank only
the Borrowers’ obligations corresponding to such Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure (after giving effect to any
partial reallocation pursuant to clause (i) above) in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 2.05(j) for
so long as such LC Exposure is outstanding;

(ii)if the Borrowers cash collateralize any portion of such Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure
pursuant to clause (ii) above, the Borrowers shall not be required to pay any fees to such Defaulting Lender
pursuant to Section 2.11(b)(i) with respect to such Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure during the period such
Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure is cash collateralized;

(iv)if the LC Exposure of the non-Defaulting Lenders is reallocated pursuant to clause (i)
above, then the fees payable to the Lenders pursuant to Section 2.11(a) and Section 2.11(b)(i) shall be adjusted in
accordance with such non-Defaulting Lenders’ Applicable Percentages; and

(v) if all or any portion of such Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure is neither reallocated nor
cash collateralized pursuant to clause (i) or (ii) above, then, without prejudice to any rights or remedies of the
Issuing Bank or any other Lender hereunder, all letter of credit fees payable under Section 2.11(b)(i) with respect to
such Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure shall be payable to the Issuing Bank until and to the extent that such LC
Exposure is reallocated and/or cash collateralized; and

(e)  so long as such Lender is a Defaulting Lender, the Swingline Lender shall not be required to fund
any Swingline Loan and the Issuing Bank shall not be required to issue, amend, renew, extend or increase any
Letter of Credit, unless it is satisfied that the related exposure and the Defaulting Lender’s then outstanding LC
Exposure will be 100% covered by the Commitments of the
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non-Defaulting Lenders and/or cash collateral will be provided by the Borrowers in accordance with Section
2.19(c), and Swingline Exposure related to any such newly made Swingline Loan or LC Exposure related to any
newly issued or increased Letter of Credit shall be allocated among non-Defaulting Lenders in a manner consistent
with Section 2.19(c)(i) (and such Defaulting Lender shall not participate therein).

If (i) a Bankruptcy Event or a Bail-In Action with respect to any Lender or a Parent of any Lender shall
occur following the date hereof and for so long as such event shall continue or (ii) the Swingline Lender or the
Issuing Bank has a good faith belief that any Lender has defaulted in fulfilling its obligations under one or more
other agreements in which such Lender commits to extend credit, the Swingline Lender shall not be required to
fund any Swingline Loan and the Issuing Bank shall not be required to issue, amend or increase any Letter of
Credit, unless the Swingline Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, shall have entered into arrangements
with the Borrowers or such Lender, satisfactory to the Swingline Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, to
defease any risk to it in respect of such Lender hereunder.

In the event that the Administrative Agent, the Borrowers, the Swingline Lender and the Issuing Bank
each agrees that a Defaulting Lender has adequately remedied all matters that caused such Lender to be a
Defaulting Lender, then the Swingline Exposure and LC Exposure of the Lenders shall be readjusted to reflect the
inclusion of such Lender’s Commitment and on such date such Lender shall purchase at par such of the Loans of
the other Lenders (other than Swingline Loans) as the Administrative Agent shall determine may be necessary in
order for such Lender to hold such Loans in accordance with its Applicable Percentage, and such Lender shall cease
to be a Defaulting Lender hereunder. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no adjustments will be made retroactively
with respect to fees accrued or payments made by or on behalf of the Borrowers while a Lender was a Defaulting
Lender; provided, that except to the extent otherwise expressly agreed by the affected parties, no change hereunder
from Defaulting Lender to Lender will constitute a waiver or release of any claim of any party hereunder arising
from such Lender’s having been a Defaulting Lender.

SECTION 2.20. Appointment of Borrower Representative. Each Borrower hereby appoints the Borrower
Representative as its agent, attorney-in-fact and representative for the purpose of (i) making any borrowing
requests or other requests required under this Agreement, (ii) the giving and receipt of notices by and to Borrowers
under this Agreement, (iii) the delivery of all documents, reports, certificates, financial statements